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All references herein to “we”, “us”, “our” or “CenturyLink” refer to CenturyLink, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, including, for 
all references to dates or periods on or after July 1, 2009 (except as otherwise stated herein), Embarq Corporation and its subsidiaries, which we 
acquired on July 1, 2009.  In addition, “access lines” mean telephone lines that connect homes or businesses to the public switched telephone 
network; “competitive local exchange carriers,” or “CLECs,” mean telecommunications providers that compete in a particular local service area 
with the ILEC by providing local voice or other services, frequently by using the ILEC’s network; “FCC” means the Federal Communications 
Commission; “incumbent local exchange carrier,” or “ILEC,” means a traditional telecommunications provider that, prior to the 
Telecommunications Act of 1996, had the exclusive right and responsibility for providing local telecommunications services in its local service 
area; “LEC” means any local exchange carrier; “Notes” means the Notes to the Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report or 
Form 10-K; “SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission; “Universal Service Fund,” or “USF,” refers collectively to federal 
funds established primarily to promote the availability of telecommunications services to all consumers at reasonable and affordable rates; and 
“Voice Over Internet Protocol,” or “VoIP,” means an application that enables broadband Internet subscribers to engage in two-way voice 
communication similar to our traditional voice services.  
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PART I  
 

 
On July 1, 2009, we acquired Embarq Corporation (“Embarq”) in a transaction that substantially expanded the size and scope of 

our business, and on April 1, 2011 we expect to acquire Qwest Communications International Inc. (“Qwest”) in a transaction that will 
similarly impact the size and scope of our business.  Due to the significant size of Embarq, direct comparisons of our recent results of 
operations or operating data to periods prior to July 1, 2009 are less meaningful than usual because most of the variances are due to the 
Embarq acquisition.  Similarly, due to the significant size of Qwest, direct comparisons of our future results and data for periods following 
the upcoming anticipated closing date of the Qwest acquisition to prior periods will be less meaningful than usual for similar reasons.  For 
additional information on our Embarq acquisition, see “ – Embarq acquisition” below, and for additional information on our pending 
Qwest acquisition, see “ – Pending acquisition of Qwest” below.  
 

General .    CenturyLink, together with its subsidiaries, is an integrated communications company engaged primarily in providing a broad 
array of communications services, including voice, Internet, data and video services.  We strive to maintain our customer relationships by, among 
other things, bundling our service offerings to provide a complete offering of integrated communications services.  We primarily conduct our 
operations in 33 states located within the continental United States.  
 

At December 31, 2010, our incumbent local exchange telephone subsidiaries operated approximately 6.5 million telephone access lines in 33 
states, with over 75% of these lines located in Florida, North Carolina, Missouri, Nevada, Ohio, Wisconsin, Virginia, Texas, Pennsylvania, and 
Alabama.  According to published sources, we are currently the fourth largest local exchange telephone company in the United States based on the 
number of access lines served.  
 

We also provide fiber transport, wholesale communications services, competitive local exchange carrier service, security monitoring and 
other communications, professional and business information services in certain local and regional markets.  
 

For information on the amount of revenue derived by our various lines of services, see “Operations - Services” below and Item 7 of this 
annual report.  The financial information included in this Item 1 should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified by reference to, our 
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto in Item 8 and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” in Item 7 of this annual report.  
 

Pending acquisition of Qwest .   On April 21, 2010, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Qwest in a tax-free stock-for-stock 
transaction.  Under the terms of the agreement, Qwest shareholders will receive 0.1664 CenturyLink shares for each share of Qwest common stock 
they own at closing.  CenturyLink shareholders are expected to own approximately 50.5% and Qwest shareholders are expected to own 
approximately 49.5% of the combined company at closing.  As of December 31, 2010, Qwest had outstanding approximately (i) 1.764 billion 
shares of common stock and (ii) $11.947 billion of long-term debt.  
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While we have received most of the necessary approvals from state public service commissions, completion of the transaction is still subject 
to the receipt of approvals from the Federal Communications Commission and several other state public service commissions, as well as other 
customary closing conditions.  Subject to these conditions, we anticipate closing this transaction on April 1, 2011.  During the process of securing 
the required state regulatory approvals, we have committed to spend an aggregate of approximately $400 million in capital expenditures over a five-
year period to expand our broadband deployment.  We anticipate making additional complementary broadband commitments as part of the FCC 
approval process to expand broadband deployment in the Qwest fourteen state region.  If the merger agreement is terminated under certain 
circumstances, we may be obligated to pay Qwest a termination fee of $350 million.  

 
See Item 1A, Risk Factors, for additional information concerning the pending acquisition of Qwest.  Additional information about Qwest is 

included in documents filed by it with the SEC.  See “Where to find additional information” below.  
 

The foregoing description of the pending Qwest merger is not complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to our Current Reports on 
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 22 and April 27, 2010, including the exhibits thereto.  
   

Embarq acquisition .   On July 1, 2009, we acquired Embarq, which was spun-off from Sprint Nextel Corporation in 2006, and is currently a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of CenturyLink.  As a result of this merger transaction, each outstanding share of Embarq common stock was converted 
into 1.37 shares of CenturyLink common stock, with cash paid in lieu of fractional shares.  In addition to delivering the aggregate merger 
consideration valued at $6.1 billion, we also assumed approximately $5.1 billion of Embarq’s indebtedness upon the consummation of the 
transaction.  As of the acquisition date, Embarq served approximately 5.4 million access lines and 1.5 million high-speed Internet customers located 
in 18 states.  
 

See Item 1A, Risk Factors, for additional information concerning the acquisition of Embarq.  Additional information about Embarq is 
included elsewhere herein and in documents that it previously filed with the SEC.  See “Where to find additional information” below.  
 

Other recently completed acquisitions .    On April 30, 2007, we acquired all of the outstanding stock of Madison River Communications Corp. 
(“Madison River”) for approximately $322 million cash.  In connection with the acquisition, we also paid all of Madison River’s existing indebtedness 
(including accrued interest), which approximated $522 million.  At the time of this acquisition, Madison River operated approximately 164,000 

  

Item 1.  Business  



predominantly rural access lines in four states.  
 

In June 2005, we acquired fiber assets in 16 metropolitan markets from KMC Telecom Holdings, Inc. for approximately $75.5 million cash, 
which has enabled us to offer broadband and competitive local exchange services to customers in these markets.   During 2008, we sold the assets 
in six of these markets in two separate transactions.  
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We also acquired approximately 660,000, 490,000 and 650,000 telephone access lines in transactions completed in 1997, 2000 and 2002, 

respectively, each of which substantially expanded our operations.  The 2002 acquisition of telephone access lines was funded primarily from 
proceeds received from the sale of substantially all of our wireless operations in August 2002.  In addition, in 2003 we acquired fiber transport 
assets in the central United States that enabled us to significantly expand our wholesale data transport services.  
 

We continually evaluate the possibility of acquiring additional communications assets in exchange for cash, securities or other properties, 
and at any given time may be engaged in discussions or negotiations regarding additional acquisitions.  We generally do not announce our 
acquisitions or dispositions until we have entered into a preliminary or definitive agreement.  Although our primary focus will continue to be on 
acquiring interests that are proximate to our properties or that serve a customer base large enough for us to operate efficiently, we may also acquire 
other communications interests and these acquisitions could have a material impact upon us.  
 

Where to find additional information .    We make available all of our filings with the SEC (including Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K) on our 
website (www.centurylink.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after we complete such filings with the SEC.  These documents may also be 
obtained from the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov .  You may obtain copies of Embarq’s previous filings with the SEC from our website or the 
SEC’s website.  You may obtain copies of Qwest’s SEC filings from Qwest's website or the SEC’s website.  
 

We also make available on our website our Corporate Governance Guidelines, our corporate ethics and compliance program and the charters 
of our audit, compensation, risk evaluation, and nominating and corporate governance committees.  We will furnish printed copies of these 
materials free of charge upon the request of any shareholder.  If a provision of our corporate ethics and compliance program is amended, other than 
by a technical, administrative or other non-substantive amendment, or a waiver under this program is granted to a director or executive officer, we 
will post notice of such amendment or waiver on our website or disclose the amendment or waiver in a report on Form 8-K filed with the 
SEC.  Only our board of directors, or an authorized committee of the board, may consider a waiver of our corporate ethics and compliance program 
for a director or executive officer.  
 

In connection with filing this annual report, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer made the certifications regarding our 
financial disclosures required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the Act’s related regulations.  In addition, during 2010 our chief executive 
officer certified to the New York Stock Exchange that he was unaware of any violation by us of the New York Stock Exchange’s corporate 
governance listing standards.  
 

Industry information .  Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this annual report and other documents filed by us under the 
federal securities laws concerning our views and expectations regarding the communications industry are based on estimates made by us using data 
from industry sources, and on assumptions made by us based on our management’s knowledge and experience in the markets in which we operate 
and the communications industry generally.  We believe these estimates and assumptions are accurate as of the date made; however, this 
information may prove to be inaccurate because it cannot always be verified with certainty.  You should be aware that we have not independently 
verified data from industry or other third-party sources and cannot guarantee its accuracy or completeness.  Our estimates and assumptions involve 
risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed in Item 1A of this annual report.  
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Other .   As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately 20,300 employees, of which approximately 6,600 were members of 45 different 
bargaining units represented by the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers and the Communications Workers of America.   As of 
December 31, 2010, five of the union contracts that represent approximately 1,600 employees had expired; however, employees continue to 
perform their work activities while contract negotiations continue.  An additional 14 union contracts representing approximately 2,500 employees 
are scheduled to expire in 2011.  We believe that relations with our employees continue to be generally good.  Over the last several years, we 
announced reductions of our workforce primarily due to (i) progress made on our integration efforts from recent acquisitions (including the recently 
completed Embarq acquisition); (ii) increased competitive pressures and the loss of access lines over the last several years, and (iii) the elimination 
of certain customer service personnel due to reduced call volumes.  

 
We were incorporated under Louisiana law in 1968 to serve as a holding company for several telephone companies acquired over the 

previous 15 to 20 years. Our principal executive offices are located at 100 CenturyLink Drive, Monroe, Louisiana 71203 and our telephone number 
is (318) 388-9000.  
   

OPERATIONS  
 

According to published sources, our acquisition of Embarq on July 1, 2009 positioned us as the fourth largest local exchange telephone 
company in the United States, based on the approximately 6.5 million access lines we served at December 31, 2010, all of which are digitally 
switched.  
 

Before the Embarq acquisition, (i) CenturyLink provided local exchange telephone services to predominantly rural areas and small to mid-
size cities in 25 states and (ii) Embarq provided local exchange telephone services to a wide variety of markets in 18 states, including Las Vegas, 
Nevada, and the suburbs of Orlando, Florida and several other large U.S. cities.  At the time of the acquisition, the average population density of 



CenturyLink’s and Embarq’s local exchange markets was 25 and 94 persons per square mile, respectively.  Although the services provided 
by each company prior to the acquisition were substantially similar, the merger resulted in several important changes to our operations, including:  
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If and when we complete our pending Qwest acquisition, it will result in material changes to our operations, including changes similar to 

those listed above and changes in our mix of product and service offerings.  
 

The following table lists information (rounded to the nearest thousand lines) regarding our access lines as of December 31, 2010 and 
December 31, 2009.  
   
   

   
     The following table summarizes certain information related to our customer base, operating revenues and capital expenditures for the past 
five years.  The 2010 and 2009 information includes the impact of the Embarq operations we acquired on July 1, 2009.  Periods subsequent to April 
30, 2007 include the impact of the Madison River properties we acquired on April 30, 2007.  
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   ●  providing services to an expanded number of densely-populated markets, which tend to afford consumers access to a greater range of 
competitive communications products than less dense markets and exposes the incumbent telephone service provider to higher levels of 
service terminations;  

   ●  reducing the percentage of our total revenue derived from governmental support programs, which typically focus on disbursing 
payments to companies operating in less densely-populated areas;  

   ●  expanding and reconfiguring our operating regions to incorporate the Embarq service areas in order to provide day-to-day decision 
making at the regional level as opposed to Embarq’s prior operating model which operated under a more centralized structure; and  

   ●  offering certain services, such as inmate payphone services, that CenturyLink did not historically provide.  

  December 31, 20 10       December 31, 2009    
    Number of      Percent of      Number of      Percent of    
State    access lines      access lines      access lines      access lines    
Florida      1,234,000       19 %     1,352,000       19 % 
North Carolina      910,000       14       997,000       14   
Missouri      516,000       8       548,000       8   
Nevada      463,000       7       523,000       7   
Ohio      354,000       5       388,000       5   
Wisconsin (1)      326,000       5       343,000       5   
Virginia      315,000       5       334,000       5   
Texas      286,000       4       303,000       4   
Pennsylvania      252,000       4       271,000       4   
Alabama      237,000       4       254,000       4   
Washington      189,000       3       200,000       3   
Indiana      172,000       3       186,000       3   
Arkansas      170,000       3       182,000       3   
Tennessee      162,000       2       176,000       2   
Minnesota      133,000       2       144,000       2   
New Jersey      130,000       2       145,000       2   
Oregon      102,000       2       109,000       2   
All other states (2)      553,000       8       584,000       8   
      6,504,000       100 %     7,039,000       100 % 

(1)  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, approximately 43,000 and 45,000, respectively, of these lines were owned and operated by our 89%-
owned affiliate.  

(2)  Includes all of the remaining 16 states in which we operate, each of which has less than 100,000 access lines served.  

  
  



   
   

   
As discussed further below, during the last several years (exclusive of acquisitions and certain non-recurring favorable adjustments), we have 

experienced declines in our voice and network access revenues primarily due to declines in access lines, intrastate access rates, minutes of use, and 
federal support fund payments.  In an attempt to mitigate these declines, we plan to, among other things, continue to (i) promote long-term 
relationships with our customers through bundling of integrated services, (ii) provide new services, such as video and other additional services that 
may become available in the future due to advances in technology, wireless spectrum sales by the FCC, improvements in our infrastructure, or 
agency or reselling arrangements with other carriers, (iii) provide our special access, broadband and premium services to a higher percentage of our 
customers, (iv) pursue acquisitions of additional communications properties if available at attractive prices, (v) increase usage of our networks and 
(vi) market our products and services to new customers.  See “Services” and “Regulation and Competition” for additional information.  
 
Services  
 

We derive revenue from providing (i) local exchange and long distance voice telephone services, (ii) data services, including high-speed 
Internet services, as well as special access and private line services, (iii) wholesale local network access services, and (iv) other related services (as 
more fully described below). The following table reflects the percentage of operating revenues derived from each of these services:  
   

   
Voice .   We offer local calling service to residential and business customers within our local service areas, generally for a fixed monthly 

charge.  While we have achieved significant pricing deregulation over time, the maximum amount that we can charge a customer for local calling 
services is still largely governed by state and federal regulatory authorities and by our competitors.  We offer a number of enhanced voice services 
(such as call forwarding, caller identification, conference calling, voicemail, selective call ringing and call waiting) to our local exchange customers 
for an additional monthly fee.  At December 31, 2010, approximately 68% of both our business and residential customers subscribed to one or more 
enhanced services.  We also offer long distance services to our customers based on either usage or pursuant to flat-rate calling plans.  We anticipate 
that most of our long distance service will continue to be provided as part of an integrated bundle with our other service offerings, including our 
local exchange telephone service offering.  
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Total access lines declined 535,000 (7.6%) during 2010 compared to a decline of 380,000 during 2009 (excluding access lines we acquired 

from Embarq on July 1, 2009 but including access lines lost in Embarq’s markets following such acquisition).  We believe these declines in the 
number of access lines were primarily due to the displacement of traditional wireline telephone services by other competitive services and recent 
economic conditions.  Over the last few years, our recently-acquired Embarq markets have experienced higher rates of access line losses than our 
incumbent markets due principally to such markets being more densely-populated and competitive.  Based on our current retention initiatives, we 
estimate that our access line loss will be between 7.0% and 7.5% in 2011 (excluding access lines acquired upon consummation of the pending 
Qwest acquisition and access lines lost in Qwest’s markets following such acquisition).  

   
Data .   We derive   our data revenues primarily from monthly recurring charges for providing (i) high-speed Internet access services, which 

is also referred to as “broadband” data service, (ii) data transmission services over special circuits and private lines, which we market to business 
customers who require dedicated equipment to transmit large amounts of data between sites, and (iii) switched digital television services.  At 
December 31, 2010, approximately 92% of our access lines were broadband-enabled and we provided high-speed Internet access services to 
approximately 2.4 million customers.  During 2010, we added approximately 158,000 high-speed Internet customers.  
 

We offer a range of data services to businesses, long distance carriers, wireless carriers and CLECs.  Our special access data service consists 
of providing dedicated circuits connecting other carriers’ networks to their customers’ locations, wireless carriers’ cell towers to mobile switching 
centers, or business customers to our network.  Although the traffic handled through special access facilities may include voice as well as data, we 
report revenues associated with special access as data revenue.  

  

    Year ended or as of December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008      2007      2006    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                                
Access lines      6,504,000       7,039,000       2,025,000       2,135,000       2,094,000   

% Residential      67 %     68       73       73       74   
% Business      33 %     32       27       27       26   

Internet customers      2,410,000       2,259,000       683,000       623,000       459,000   
% High-speed Internet service      99 %     99       94       89       80   
% Dial-up service      1 %     1       6       11       20   

                                          
Operating revenues    $ 7,041,534       4,974,239       2,599,747       2,656,241       2,447,730   
Capital expenditures    $ 863,769       754,544       286,817       326,045       314,071   

    2010      2009      2008    
                    
Voice      44.6 %     43.6       40.1   
Data      27.1       24.2       20.2   
Network access      15.3       18.6       25.0   
Other      13.0       13.6       14.7   
      100.0 %     100.0       100.0   



 
     In late 2005, we began providing switched digital television service through our own facilities in a limited number of our operating 
markets.  Currently, we provide these services in LaCrosse, Wisconsin; Columbia, Missouri; Jefferson City, Missouri; Las Vegas, Nevada and Fort 
Myers, Florida.  The access lines that we serve in these markets represent less than 20% of our total access lines at December 31, 2010.  We incur a 
sizable amount of start-up costs when we launch our switched digital television service to new markets.  We expect to launch this service to 
additional markets in the near future.  Should the customer acceptance rate not meet expected levels or the start-up costs exceed our current 
projections, our results of operations may be more adversely impacted in the future than our current expectations.  
 
 

Network access .   We derive our network access revenues primarily from (i) providing wholesale services to various carriers and customers 
in connection with the use of our facilities to originate and terminate their interstate and intrastate voice transmissions; (ii) receiving universal 
support funds which allows us to recover a portion of our costs under federal and state cost recovery mechanisms (as described further below under 
the heading “Regulation and Competition Relating to Incumbent Local Exchange Operations”), (iii) receiving reciprocal compensation from 
CLECs and wireless service providers for terminating their calls on our networks and (iv) offering certain network facilities and related services to 
CLECs.  Our revenues for switched access services depend primarily on the level of call volumes.  
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Substantially all of our interstate network access revenues are based on tariffed access charges prescribed by the FCC.  Certain of our 

intrastate network access revenues are derived through access charges that we bill to intrastate long distance carriers and other LEC customers. 
Such intrastate network access charges are based on tariffed access charges, which are subject to state regulatory commission approval. 
Additionally, certain of our intrastate network access revenues, along with intrastate and intra-LATA (Local Access and Transport Areas) long 
distance revenues, are derived through revenue sharing arrangements with other LECs.  
 

Pursuant to the Telecommunications Act of 1996, we offer certain network facilities to CLEC’s on a resale or unbundled basis and allow 
them to collocate certain of their equipment in our central offices.  The FCC sets general guidelines for pricing of resale, unbundled network 
elements and collocation agreements, while the state regulatory authorities approve the actual prices charged.  
 

Other .   We derive our “other revenues” principally by (i) providing fiber transport, CLEC and security monitoring services, (ii) leasing, 
selling, installing and maintaining customer premise telecommunications equipment and wiring, (iii) providing payphone services primarily within 
our local service territories and at various state and county correctional facilities around the country, (iv) participating in the publication of local 
telephone directories, which allows us to share in revenues generated by the sale of yellow page and related advertising to businesses, (v) providing 
network database services and (vi) offering our new services described below under the heading “Recent Product Developments”.  We also provide 
printing, direct mail services and cable television services.  
 

We sell fiber capacity to other carriers and businesses over a network that encompassed, at December 31, 2010, approximately 13,900 miles 
of fiber in the central United States.  We began our fiber transport business during 2001 and expanded it by acquiring various fiber transport assets 
in 2003 and 2007, which enabled us to expand our fiber network business and further reduce our reliance on third-party transport providers.  
 

During 2008, we paid an aggregate of approximately $149 million for 69 licenses in the FCC’s auction of 700 megahertz wireless 
spectrum.  Our plan has been to use the spectrum to develop wireless voice and data service capabilities in our markets, built upon LTE (Long-
Term Evolution) technology.  The LTE network deployment plans of larger wireless carriers are driving most vendor activity, including the 
availability of handsets and other end-user devices.  Therefore, we are monitoring their deployment efforts to help shape our plans for moving 
forward.   
 

From time to time, we also make investments in other communications companies.  
 

For further information on regulatory, technological and competitive changes that could impact our revenues, see “Regulation and 
Competition” under this Item 1 below and “Risk Factors and Cautionary Statements” under Item 1A below.  For more information on the financial 
contributions of our various services, see Item 7 of this annual report.  
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Recent Product Developments  
 

In late 2010, we signed an agency agreement with DIRECTV that allows us to offer its satellite television service to our residential customers 
throughout our 33-state service area.  Between 2005 and late 2010, we had a similar arrangement with DISH Network Corporation to offer similar 
services.  
 
     Pursuant to a five-year agency agreement with Verizon Wireless entered into in late 2010, we plan to market, sell and bill for Verizon 
wireless voice services under its brand name, primarily to customers who buy these services as part of a bundle including one or more of our other 
products and services.  Subject to several exceptions, we are prohibited under the agreement from (i) selling any other wireless services in Verizon 
Wireless’ markets on behalf of a third party and (ii) engaging in certain other competitive activities.  
 
Federal Financing Programs  
 

Some of our telephone subsidiaries receive long-term financing from the Rural Utilities Service, a federal agency that has historically 
provided long-term financing to telephone companies at relatively attractive interest rates.  For additional information regarding our financings, see 
our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 herein.  
 



Sales and Marketing  
   

Following our acquisition of Embarq on July 1, 2009, we began using the trade name “CenturyLink.”  We formally changed our legal name 
to “CenturyLink, Inc.” in May 2010 upon approval of the name change by our shareholders.  In addition, our satellite television service is offered 
on a co-branded basis under the “DIRECTV” name.  Our switched digital television service offering is branded under the name “PRISM”.  The 
wireless service that we plan to offer under our agency agreement with Verizon Wireless will be marketed under the Verizon brand name.  
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We maintain local offices in most of the larger population centers within our service territories.  These offices provide sales and customer 

support services in the community.  We also rely on our call center personnel to promote sales of services that meet the needs of our 
customers.  Our strategy is to enhance our communications services by offering comprehensive bundling of services and deploying new 
technologies to build upon the strong reputation we enjoy in our markets and to further enhance customer loyalty.  
 

Our consumer marketing approach emphasizes customer-oriented sales, marketing and service with a local presence.  We market our 
products and services primarily through direct sales representatives, local retail stores, telemarketing and third parties.  We support our distribution 
with direct mail, bill inserts, newspaper advertising, website promotions, public relations activities and sponsorship of community events.  Our 
business marketing approach includes a commitment to deliver communications solutions that meet existing and future business customer needs 
through bundles of services and integrated service offerings, focusing on comprehensive customer communications solutions for small businesses to 
large enterprise customers.  
 
Network Architecture  
   

Most of our products and services are provided using our telecommunications network, which consists of voice and data switches, copper 
cables, fiber-optic broadband cables and other equipment.  Our local exchange carrier networks also include central office hosts and remote sites, all 
with advanced digital switches and operating with licensed software.  Our outside plant consists of transport and distribution delivery networks 
connecting each of our host central offices to our remote central offices, and ultimately to our customers.  As of December 31, 2010, we maintained 
over 595,000 miles of copper plant and approximately 73,000 miles of fiber optic plant in our local exchange networks.  Our fiber optic cable is the 
primary transport technology between our host and remote central offices and interconnection points with other incumbent carriers.  Most of our 
long distance service is provided through reselling arrangements with other long distance carriers, with the balance being provided directly through 
CenturyLink’s own switches and network equipment.   All of our satellite television and wireless voice service is provided by other carriers under 
agency agreements.  
 

In our markets, high-speed Internet-enabled technologies are being deployed to provide significant broadband capacity to our customers.  We 
continue to expand and enhance the capabilities of our network to offer high-speed Internet service to more customers.  At the end of 2010, 
approximately 92% of our access lines were capable of providing high-speed Internet service to our customers.  
 

We also maintain networks in connection with providing fiber transport and CLEC services.  
 

Rapid and significant changes in technology are expected in the communications industry.  Our future success will depend, in part, on our 
ability to anticipate and adapt to technological changes.  
 
Regulation and Competition Relating to Incumbent Local Exchange Operations  
 

General . Traditionally, LECs operated as regulated monopolies having the exclusive right and responsibility to provide local telephone 
services in their franchised service territories.  Consequently, most of our intrastate telephone operations have been regulated extensively by various 
state regulatory agencies (generally called public service commissions or public utility commissions) and our interstate operations have been 
regulated by the FCC under the Communications Act of 1934.  As we discuss in greater detail below, passage of the Telecommunications Act of 
1996, coupled with state legislative and regulatory initiatives and technological changes, fundamentally altered the telephone industry by generally 
reducing the regulation of ILECs and creating a substantial increase in the number of competitors. We anticipate that these trends toward reduced 
regulation and increased competition will continue.  
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The following description discusses some of the major industry regulations that affect our traditional telephone operations, but numerous 

other regulations not discussed below could also impact us.  Some legislation and regulations are currently the subject of judicial proceedings, 
legislative hearings and administrative proceedings which could substantially change the manner in which the communications industry operates 
and the amount of revenue we receive for our services.  Neither the outcome of these proceedings, nor their potential impact on us, can be predicted 
at this time.  The impact of regulatory changes in the communications industry could have a substantial impact on our operations.  See Item 1A of 
this annual report below.  
   

State regulation .  In recent years, most states have substantially reduced their regulation of ILECs.  Nonetheless, state regulatory 
commissions generally continue to regulate the local service rates and intrastate access charges of ILECs, and continue to grant and revoke 
certifications authorizing companies to provide communications services.  State commissions traditionally regulated pricing through “rate of return” 
regulation that focused on authorized levels of earnings by LECs.  Only a few states (representing a small portion of our access lines) continue to 
regulate us in this manner.  In most of our states, we are generally regulated under various forms of alternative regulation that typically limit our 
ability to increase rates for local services, but relieve us from the requirement to meet certain earnings tests.  In a few states, we have recently 
gained pricing freedom for the majority of retail services except for the most basic of services, such as stand-alone basic residential service.  In most 
of the states in which we operate, we have gained pricing flexibility for certain enhanced calling services, such as caller identification, and for 
bundled services that include local voice service.  State commissions periodically conduct proceedings to review the rates that we charge other 
telecommunications providers for using our network or reselling our service, and those proceedings can result in reductions in our revenues.  



 
As an ILEC, we generally face “carrier of last resort” obligations which include an ongoing requirement to provide service to all prospective 

and current customers in our service territories who request service and are willing to pay rates prescribed in our tariffs.  In competitively-bid 
situations, such as newly-constructed housing developments or multi-tenant dwellings, this may constitute a competitive disadvantage to us if 
competitors can choose to focus on low-risk profitable customers and withhold service from high-risk unprofitable customers.  Strict adherence to 
carrier of last resort requirements may force us to construct facilities with a low likelihood of positive economic return.  In certain cases, we seek to 
mitigate these risks by receiving regulatory approval to use less costly alternative technologies, such as fixed wireless, or by sharing network 
construction costs with our customers.  In addition, a few of our states provide relief from these obligations under certain specific circumstances, 
and in certain areas our costs to build and maintain network infrastructure are partially offset by payments from universal service programs.  
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     We are responding to carrier complaints, legislation or generic investigations regarding our intrastate switched access rate levels in 
several of our states.  In particular, certain long distance providers have begun to dispute existing intercarrier compensation rates payable to us and 
other ILECs with respect to VoIP traffic or to refuse to pay such rates, based on the contention that tariffed switched access charges should not 
apply to VoIP originated and terminated traffic.  Although outcomes cannot be determined at this time, we believe our intrastate switched access 
rate levels are appropriate and we plan to vigorously defend them. If we are required to reduce our intrastate switched access rates as a result of any 
of these initiatives, we will seek to recover displaced switched access revenues from state universal service funds or other services.  However, the 
amount of such recovery, if any, is not assured.  

 
Under state law, our telephone operating subsidiaries are typically governed by laws and regulations that (i) regulate the purchase and sale of 

LECs, (ii) prescribe depreciation rates and certain accounting procedures, (iii) require LECs to provide service under publicly-filed tariffs setting 
forth the terms, conditions and prices of regulated services, (iv) limit LECs’ ability to borrow and establish asset liens (v) regulate transactions 
between LECs and their affiliates, and (vi) impose various other service standards.  
 

For a discussion of legislative, regulatory and technological changes that have introduced competition into the local exchange industry, see 
“Developments Affecting Competition.”  
 

Federal regulation . Our telephone subsidiaries are required to comply with the Communications Act of 1934, which requires us to offer 
services at just and reasonable rates and on non-discriminatory terms, as well as the Telecommunications Act of 1996, which amended the 
Communications Act to promote competition.  
 

The FCC regulates interstate services provided by our telephone subsidiaries primarily by regulating the interstate access charges that we bill 
to long distance companies, other communications companies and end users for use of our network in connection with the origination and 
termination of interstate voice and data transmissions. Additionally, the FCC has prescribed certain rules and regulations for telephone companies, 
including a uniform system of accounts and rules regarding the separation of costs between jurisdictions and, ultimately, between interstate 
services.  In addition, the FCC has responsibility for maintaining and administering the federal Universal Service Fund, or USF.  LECs must obtain 
FCC approval to use certain radio frequencies, or to transfer control of any such licenses.  The FCC retains the right to revoke these licenses if a 
carrier materially violates relevant legal requirements.  
 

The FCC requires price-cap regulation of interstate access rates for the Regional Bell Operating Companies, and permits it for all other 
LECs. Under price-cap regulation, limits imposed on a company’s interstate rates are adjusted periodically to reflect inflation, productivity 
improvement and changes in certain non-controllable costs.  On July 1, 2009, we converted substantially all of our remaining rate-of-return study 
areas to price cap regulation.  In addition, all of the properties we acquired from Embarq operate under price- cap regulation.  
 

The FCC is currently reviewing the rates and terms under which ILECs provide special access services.  The FCC is also reviewing requests 
by some other carriers to order reductions in some or all ILECs’ rates for special access services.  It is uncertain whether or how the FCC might 
order changes in how special access services are regulated, or in the rates ILECs are able to charge for them.  If the FCC were to adopt significant 
changes in regulations affecting special access services, the proceeding could have an impact on our provision and pricing of special access 
services.  
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Beginning in 2003, the FCC initiated a series of broad intercarrier compensation proceedings designed to create a uniform mechanism to be 
used by the entire telecommunications industry for payments between carriers originating, terminating, or carrying telecommunications traffic.  In 
connection therewith, the FCC has received intercarrier compensation proposals from several industry groups, and solicited public comments on a 
variety of topics related to access charges and intercarrier compensation.  Most recently, on February 8, 2011, the FCC sought comments from the 
public on proposals designed to lower intercarrier compensation rates.  The ultimate outcome of the FCC’s intercarrier compensation proceedings 
could change the way we receive compensation from, and remit compensation to, other carriers, our end user customers and the USF.  As discussed 
further in Item 1A of this annual report, these changes could substantially reduce the amount of revenues we receive with respect to various 
services.  
 

As part of   the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (the “Recovery Act”), in early 2010 the FCC released its National 
Broadband Plan, which is the FCC’s framework to develop a comprehensive plan over the next decade for broadband deployment, intercarrier 
compensation reform and regulatory reform initiatives such as reformation of the USF high cost support fund.  As originally proposed, the Plan is 
likely to reduce our USF support and network access revenues over a reasonable transition period.  Since releasing the Plan, the FCC has 
undertaken various studies and solicited public input on a variety of issues, including its proposal to replace the current legacy USF high cost 
support fund with a new fund to support the provision of broadband services in areas that are unserved or underserved.  Our markets that meet the 
unserved or underserved criteria may be recipients of USF to advance broadband deployment.  The Plan is a blueprint at this time and is subject to 



change as a result of public input, Congressional action or further regulatory action. Given the relatively early stages of the FCC’s 
proceedings, we cannot predict the ultimate outcome nor can we be assured that such Plan will not have a material adverse effect on us or our 
industry in the future.  
 

The Recovery Act also includes certain broadband initiatives that are intended to accelerate broadband deployment across the United States. 
The Recovery Act approved $7.2 billion in funding for broadband stimulus projects across the United States to be administered by two 
governmental agencies.  The programs implemented by the two agencies are expected to provide grants and loans to applicants for construction of 
certain broadband infrastructure, provision of certain broadband services, and support of certain broadband adoption initiatives.  This program has 
attracted a wide range of applicants including states, municipalities, start-up companies and consortiums.  We have not applied for funding under 
the Recovery Act programs.  The participation of other parties in these programs could increase competition in selected areas, which may increase 
our marketing costs and decrease our revenues in those areas.  We cannot at this time estimate the impact these programs may have on our 
operations.  
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For several years, we have been working with other carriers to develop proposals that would advance universal broadband deployment while 
reforming intercarrier compensation and universal service funding at the same time and we plan to continue these efforts.  We cannot predict what 
part, if any, of these proposals will ultimately be adopted.  
 

Our operations and those of all communications carriers also may be impacted by legislation and regulation imposing new or greater 
obligations on us.  The most likely areas of impact include regulations or laws related to bolstering homeland security, increasing disaster recovery 
requirements, minimizing environmental impacts, enhancing privacy, or addressing other issues that impact our business, including the 
Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act, and laws governing local number portability and customer proprietary network information 
requirements.  These laws and regulations may cause us to incur additional costs and could impact our ability to compete effectively.  
 

Universal service support fund and related matters . A number of our telephone subsidiaries recover a portion of their costs from the federal 
USF and from similar state “universal support” mechanisms, which receive their funding from fees charged to interexchange carriers and 
LECs.  Disbursements from these programs traditionally have focused principally on allowing LECs serving small communities and rural areas to 
provide communications services on terms and at prices reasonably comparable to those available in urban areas.  However, use of universal service 
funding for other social policy goals continues to grow and to exert pressure on the size of the fund and the contribution rate.  
 

During 2010, we received approximately $430.6 million (which includes a full year of receipts related to our Embarq properties acquired 
July 1, 2009) of receipts from federal and state universal service programs as compared to $384.9 million in 2009 (which only includes a half year 
of receipts related to our Embarq properties).  Such amounts represented approximately 6.1% and 7.7% of our 2010 and 2009 total operating 
revenues, respectively.  A significant portion of our payments have varied over time based on our average cost to serve customers compared to 
national cost averages.  Under the USF High Cost Loop program, which is the USF’s principal program from which we received $109.3 million in 
2010, our payments from the USF will decrease if national average costs per loop increase at a rate greater than our average cost per 
loop.  Excluding the effects of the additional six months of receipts recorded in 2010 as compared to 2009 due to the July 1, 2009 Embarq 
acquisition, our revenues from the USF High Cost Loop program decreased in 2010 compared to 2009.  We anticipate that such revenues will 
continue to decline in 2011.  See Items 1A and 7 of this annual report for more information.  
 

Federal USF programs have undergone substantial changes since 1997, and are expected to experience more changes in the coming 
years.  Since May 2001, the FCC has administered its existing universal service support programs for rural telephone companies based on 
embedded, or historical, costs.  The FCC, in April 2010, proposed to replace the USF with a broadband “Connect America” fund that would 
modernize the current “voice only” funding mechanism and direct funding away from local voice services to advance broadband deployment in 
areas unserved or underserved by broadband communications, and in February 2011 sought public comments regarding creating this new 
broadband fund.  
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Universal service funds available to ILECs are currently available to local competitors that (i) certify they will serve all customers in a study 

area, (ii) offer nine core services, and (iii) qualify as an “eligible telecommunications carrier.”  Wireless and other competitive service providers 
continue to seek to qualify to receive USF funds although funding for these carriers is undergoing reform.  This trend, coupled with changes in 
usage of telecommunications services, has placed stress on the funding mechanism of the USF, which is subject to annual caps on 
disbursements.  As a result of these developments, there is no assurance that sufficient funds will be available to provide funding to all eligible 
telecommunications carriers.  
 
     Over the past few years, each of the FCC, Universal Service Administrative Company (“USAC”) and certain Congressional committees 
has initiated wide-ranging reviews of the administration of the federal USF.  As part of this process, we, along with a number of other USF 
recipients, have undergone a number of USF audits and have also received requests for information from the FCC’s Office of Inspector General 
(“OIG”) and Congressional committees.  In addition, in July 2008 we received a subpoena from the OIG requesting a broad range of information 
regarding our depreciation rates and methodologies since 2000, and in July 2009 we received a second subpoena requesting information about our 
participation in the E-rate program for Wisconsin schools and libraries since 2004.  The OIG has not identified to us any specific issues with respect 
to our participation in the USF program and all USAC audits are finalized with no material issued reported regarding our participation in the USF 
program.  During 2010, USAC moved from the audit process to a Payment Quality Assessment (“PQA”) program.  We continue to receive and 
respond to these PQAs and to date no material issues have been identified.  While we believe our participation is in compliance with FCC rules and 
in accordance with accepted industry practices, we cannot predict with certainty the timing or outcome of these various reviews.  

 
In 2004, the FCC mandated changes in the administration of the universal service programs that temporarily suspended the disbursement of 

funds under the USF’s E-rate program (for service to Schools and Libraries), and, more significantly, created uncertainty regarding whether these 



administrative changes could similarly delay the disbursement of funds to ILECs from the Universal Service High Cost Loop support 
program.  Congress has passed bills in recent years granting successive one-year exemptions from the federal law that impacted the E-rate program, 
including a bill extending the exemption through December 31, 2011.  Although we expect funding from this program to continue, we cannot 
assure you that the lack of a definitive resolution of this issue will not delay or impede the disbursement of funds in the future.  
 

Several states in which we operate have established their own universal service programs.  In 2010, we received support totaling 
approximately $118.9 million from various state universal service programs (or approximately 27.6% of our total federal and state support 
payments), with the largest amounts received in Texas, Louisiana and Kansas.  Several states have recently implemented and expanded state 
universal service programs and several are currently reviewing their state universal service fund programs, which could change the support we 
receive.  
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Some of our telephone subsidiaries operate in states where traditional cost recovery mechanisms, including rate structures, are under 
evaluation or have been modified. See “ State Regulation.”  There can be no assurance that these states will continue to provide for cost recovery at 
current levels.  
 

Developments affecting competition .  Over the past decade, fundamental technological, regulatory and legislative changes have 
significantly impacted the communications industry, and we expect these changes will continue.  Primarily as a result of regulatory and 
technological changes, competition has been introduced and encouraged in each sector of the communications industry in recent years.  As a result, 
we increasingly face competition from other communication service providers, as further described below.  
 

Wireless telephone services increasingly constitute a significant source of competition with ILEC services, especially since wireless carriers 
have begun to compete effectively on the basis of price with more traditional telephone services.  As a result, some customers have chosen to 
completely forego use of traditional wireline phone service and instead rely solely on wireless service for voice services.  This trend is more 
pronounced among residential customers, which comprise 67% of our access line customers.  We anticipate this trend will continue, particularly if 
wireless service providers continue to expand their coverage areas, reduce their rates, improve the quality of their services, and offer enhanced new 
services.  Substantially all of our access line customers are currently capable of receiving wireless services from at least one competitive service 
provider.  We believe that our new agency agreement with Verizon Wireless may assist us in retaining customers by enabling us to offer Verizon 
Wireless service as part of our service bundles.  Technological and regulatory developments in wireless services, personal communications 
services, digital microwave, satellite, coaxial cable, fiber optics, local multipoint distribution services, WiFi, and other wired and wireless 
technologies are expected to further permit the development of alternatives to traditional landline services.  Moreover, the growing prevalence of 
electronic mail, text messaging, social networking, and similar digital communications continues to reduce the demand for traditional landline voice 
services.  
 

The Telecommunications Act of 1996, which obligates ILECs to permit competitors to interconnect their facilities to the ILEC’s network and 
to take various other steps that are designed to promote competition, imposes several duties on an ILEC if it receives a specific request from another 
entity which seeks to connect with or provide services using the ILEC’s network.  In addition, each ILEC is obligated to (i) negotiate 
interconnection agreements in good faith, (ii) provide nondiscriminatory “unbundled” access to all aspects of the ILEC’s network, (iii) offer resale 
of its telecommunications services at wholesale rates and (iv) permit competitors, on terms and conditions (including rates) that are just, reasonable 
and nondiscriminatory, to collocate their physical plant on the ILEC’s property, or provide virtual collocation if physical collocation is not 
practicable.  Current FCC rules require ILECs to lease a network element only in those situations where competing carriers genuinely would be 
impaired without access to such network elements, and where the unbundling would not interfere with the development of facilities-based 
competition.  
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As a result of these regulatory, consumer and technological developments, ILECs also face competition from CLECs, particularly in densely 

populated areas.  CLECs provide competing services through reselling the ILECs’ local services, through use of the ILECs’ unbundled network 
elements or through their own facilities.  
 

As noted above, wireless and other competitive services providers have been increasingly aggressive in seeking and obtaining USF support 
funds.  This support is likely to encourage additional competitors to enter our high-cost service areas.  
 

Technological developments have led to the development of new services that compete with traditional ILEC services.  Technological 
improvements have enabled cable television companies to provide traditional circuit-switched telephone service over their cable networks, and 
several national cable companies have aggressively pursued this opportunity.  As of December 31, 2010, we believe that approximately 70% of our 
access lines faced competition from cable voice offerings.  
 

Improvements in the quality of VoIP service have led several cable, Internet, data and other communications companies, as well as start-up 
companies, to substantially increase their offerings of VoIP service to business and residential customers.  VoIP providers frequently offer features 
that cannot readily be provided by traditional ILECs and may price their services at or below those prices currently charged for traditional local and 
long distance telephone services for several reasons, including lower operating costs and regulatory advantages.  Although over the past several 
years the FCC has increasingly subjected portions of VoIP operations to federal regulation, VoIP services currently operate under fewer regulatory 
constraints than LEC services.  For all these reasons, we cannot assure you that VoIP providers will not successfully compete for our customers.  
 

In December 2010, the FCC adopted an order imposing “network neutrality” rules that it believes will preserve the openness of the 
Internet.  The rules apply to all providers of wireline broadband Internet access services, and, to a lesser extent, providers of wireless broadband 
Internet access services.  The rules do not apply to providers of applications, content or other services.  The order provides that (i) wireline 



broadband providers may not block lawful traffic, applications, services or non-harmful devices, subject to reasonable network management 
practices, (ii) wireless broadband providers may not block lawful websites and competing voice and video telephony services, subject to reasonable 
network management practices, (iii) wireline broadband providers may not engage in “unreasonable discrimination,” and (iv) all wireline or 
wireless broadband providers must disclose their network management practices, performance and commercial terms.  The order indicates that 
broadband providers can price their services based on usage, subject to continued FCC oversight.  Assuming the order is not overturned, amended 
or stayed by the U.S. Congress or the courts, we believe the impact of the order on us may depend in part on how the order is implemented by the 
FCC and interpreted by the courts.  
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Our industry has witnessed an increase in disputes about the intercarrier compensation rules applicable to various categories of traffic 
exchanged between carriers.  These disputes are subject to review by the FCC, state commissions and federal courts.  Rulings in such proceedings, 
whether or not we are a party, may influence our exposure to disputes about our wholesale charges or to claims against us for prior wholesale 
billings.  We cannot assure you that regulatory or court rulings on such issues will not have a material adverse effect on us or our industry.  
 

Similar to us, many cable, technology or other communications companies that previously offered a limited range of services are now 
offering diversified bundles of services, either through their own networks, reselling arrangements or joint ventures.  As such, a growing number of 
companies are competing to serve the communications needs of the same customer base.   Such activities will continue to place downward pressure 
on the demand for our access lines and the pricing of our services.  
 

In addition to facing direct competition from those providers described above, ILECs increasingly face competition from alternate 
communication systems constructed by long distance carriers, large customers or alternative access vendors.  These systems are capable of 
originating or terminating calls without use of the ILECs’ networks or switching services.  Other potential sources of competition include non-
carrier systems that are capable of bypassing ILECs’ local networks, either partially or completely, through various means, including the provision 
of special access or independent switching services and the concentration of telecommunications traffic on a few of the ILECs’ access lines.  We 
anticipate that all these trends will continue and lead to decreased use of our networks.  
 

Significant competitive factors in the local telephone industry include pricing, packaging of services and features, quality and convenience of 
service and meeting customer needs such as simplified billing and timely response to service calls.  
 

As the telephone industry increasingly experiences competition, the size and resources of each respective competitor may increasingly 
influence its prospects.  Some companies currently providing or planning to provide competitive communication services have substantially greater 
financial and marketing resources than we do or own larger or more diverse networks than ours.  In addition, many of them are not subject to the 
same regulatory constraints we are.  Consequently, some competitors may be able to charge lower prices for their products and services, develop 
and expand their communications and network infrastructure more quickly, adapt more swiftly to new or emerging technologies and changes in 
customer requirements and devote greater resources to the marketing and sale of their products and services than we can.  
 

Competition can harm us by causing us to lose customers, or by causing us to lower prices or increase our capital or operating expenses to 
retain customers.  Competing communications services, such as wireless, VoIP, electronic mail, text messaging and optional calling services, can 
also reduce usage of our network and thereby decrease our network access revenues.  Competition can also cause customers to reduce either usage 
of our services or switch to less profitable services, and could impede our ability to diversify into new lines of business dominated by incumbent 
providers.  
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We anticipate that the traditional operations of LECs will continue to be impacted by changes in regulation, technology, and consumer 

preferences affecting the ability of LECs to attract and retain customers and the capability of wireless companies, CLECs, cable television 
companies, VoIP providers, electric utilities and others to provide competitive LEC services. Competition relating to traditional LEC services has 
thus far affected large urban areas to a greater extent than less dense areas.  
 

Exclusive of acquisitions, we expect our operating revenues in 2011 to decline as we continue to experience downward pressure primarily 
due to continued access line losses, reduced universal service funding and lower network access revenues.   We expect such declines to be partially 
offset primarily due to increased demand for our high-speed Internet service offering and special access services.  
   
Regulation and Competition Relating to Other Operations  
 

Long Distance Operations .  We offer intra-LATA, intrastate and interstate long distance voice services.  State public service commissions 
generally regulate intra-LATA toll calls within the same LATA and inter-LATA toll calls between different LATAs located in the same 
state.  Federal regulators have jurisdiction over interstate toll calls.  Recent state regulatory changes have increased competition to provide intra-
LATA toll services in our local exchange markets.  Competition for intrastate and interstate long distance services has been intense for several 
years, and focuses primarily on price and pricing plans, and secondarily on customer service, reliability and communications quality.  Our principal 
competitors for providing long distance services include wireless companies offering attractively-priced calling plans, as well as large national 
carriers, regional phone companies, cable companies and dial-around resellers.  Technological substitutions, including VoIP, text messaging and 
electronic mail, have further reduced demand for traditional long distance voice services.  To counter such competition, we now offer unlimited 
long distance calling plans.  
 

Data Operations .  In connection with our data business, we face competition from Internet service providers, satellite companies and cable 
companies which use wired or wireless technologies to offer high-speed broadband services.  As of December 31, 2010, we believe approximately 
85% of our local exchange markets were overlapped by cable systems offering data services competitive with ours.  Many of these competitors 
offer content or other features that we cannot match.   Moreover, many of these providers have traditionally been subject to less rigorous regulatory 



scrutiny than our subsidiaries, a trend that was recently reaffirmed when the FCC issued in December 2010 “network neutrality” rules that 
regulate mobile broadband operators less rigorously than our wireline providers.  Additionally, the federal broadband stimulus programs discussed 
above could result in greater competition in some of our markets.  During 2006, all of CenturyLink’s and Embarq’s operating companies elected to 
either deregulate or detariff their high-speed Internet services, which decreased regulatory oversight and increased our retail pricing flexibility.  
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Fiber Transport Operations .  When our fiber transport networks are used to provide intrastate telecommunications services, we must 

comply with state requirements for telecommunications utilities, including state tariffing requirements.  To the extent our facilities are used to 
provide interstate communications, we are subject to federal regulation as a non-dominant common carrier.  Our primary competitors in the fiber 
transport industry are from other communications companies, some of whom operate networks and have resources much larger than ours.   Over the 
last few years, several large communications companies have merged and have implemented strategies to transfer a significant portion of their 
voice and data traffic from our fiber network to their networks.  We expect this trend to continue as companies seek opportunities to reduce their 
transport-related costs.  In addition, new IP-based services may enable new entrants to transport data at prices lower than we currently offer.  
 

CLEC Operations .  Competitive local exchange carriers are subject to certain reporting and other regulatory requirements imposed by the 
FCC and state public service commissions, although the degree of regulation is much less substantial than that imposed on ILECs operating in the 
same markets.  Local governments also frequently require competitive local exchange carriers to obtain licenses or franchises regulating the use of 
rights-of-way necessary to install and operate their networks.  In each of our limited number of CLEC markets, we face competition from the ILEC, 
which traditionally has long-standing relationships with its customers.  Over time, we may also face competition from one or more other CLECs, or 
from other communications providers who can provide comparable services.  
 

Other Operations .  Similar to our CLEC business, we may be required to obtain licenses or franchises to enter new markets for our switched 
digital television and wireless broadband services, which could delay our rollout of these offerings.  Both the video and wireless broadband markets 
have been highly competitive in recent years.  In particular, television service providers have recently had to compete against Internet video 
services, some of which are free.  This development could constrain our ability to attract and retain paying customers for our switched digital 
television service offering.  In reselling Verizon Wireless services, we compete with national and regional wireless carriers, as well as other sales 
agents and resellers.  
 
Environmental Compliance  
 

As discussed in greater detail in Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, several decades ago one of our subsidiaries acquired entities 
that may have owned or operated seven former “manufactured gas” plant sites that may require environmental remediation.  From time to time we 
may incur other environmental compliance and remediation expenses, mainly resulting from the ownership of other prior industrial sites or the 
operation of vehicle fleets or power supplies for our communications equipment. Although we cannot assess with certainty the impact of any future 
compliance and remediation obligations, we do not believe that future environmental compliance and remediation expenditures will have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.  
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Patents, Trademarks and Licenses  
 

We own several patents, patent applications, trade names, service marks and trademarks in the U.S., including our “CenturyLink” and 
“PRISM” brand names.  Our services often use the intellectual property of others, including licensed software.  We occasionally license our 
intellectual property to others.  
 

We have incurred claims in the past, and may in the future incur claims alleging that we infringe on the intellectual property of others.  These 
claims can be time-consuming and costly to defend and divert management resources.  If these claims are successful, we could be forced to pay 
significant damages or stop selling certain products or services.  
 
Seasonality  
 

Overall, our business is not significantly impacted by seasonality.  However, in our Florida markets, we typically experience increased 
demand for new service orders in the late fall months and a decline in access lines in the early spring months due to seasonal population trends.  In 
certain of our other markets servicing colleges or universities, we experience increased demand for our services while school is in 
session.  Additionally, from time to time weather-related problems have resulted in increased costs to repair our network and respond to service 
calls in some of our markets.  The amount and timing of the costs are subject to the weather patterns of any given year, but have generally been 
highest during the third quarter and have been related to damage from severe storms, including hurricanes, tropical storms and tornadoes in our 
markets along the lower Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico coastlines.  
 

OTHER DEVELOPMENTS OR MATTERS  
 

In recent years, our board of directors has approved various stock repurchase programs under which we have repurchased approximately 
$401.0 million, $186.7 million, $437.5 million, $1.028 billion and $503.9 million of our shares under separate repurchase programs approved in 
February 2004, February 2005, May 2005, February 2006 and August 2007, respectively.  For additional information, see “Liquidity and Capital 
Resources” included in Item 7 of this annual report.  
 

In June 2008, our board of directors increased our quarterly cash dividend rate from $.0675 to $.70 per share and in February 2010 our board 
further increased our quarterly dividend to $.725 per share.  See “Risk Factors” below for additional information regarding our current dividend 
practice.  
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For additional information concerning our business and properties, see Items 2 and 7 elsewhere herein, and the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Notes 2, 3, 5, 6 and 18 thereto set forth in Item 8 elsewhere herein.  
 

   
   

RISK FACTORS AND CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS  
 
Risk Factors  
 

Any of the following risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or 
prospects.  The risks described below are not the only risks facing us.  Please be aware that additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us 
or that we currently deem to be immaterial could also materially and adversely affect our business operations.  
 
Risks Related to Our Business  
   

If we continue to experience access line losses similar to the past several years, our revenues, earnings and cash flows may be adversely 
impacted.  
   

Our business generates a substantial portion of its revenues by delivering voice and data services over access lines.  We have experienced 
substantial access line losses over the past several years due to a number of factors, including increased competition and wireless and broadband 
substitution.  We expect to continue to experience access line losses in our markets for the foreseeable future.  Our inability to retain access lines 
could adversely impact our revenues, earnings and cash flow from operations.  
   
 

We face competition, which we expect to intensify and which may reduce market share and lower profits.  
   

As a result of various technological, regulatory and other changes, the telecommunications industry has become increasingly 
competitive.  We face competition from (i) wireless telephone services, which is expected to increase as wireless providers continue to expand and 
improve their network coverage and offer enhanced services, (ii) cable television operators, (iii) CLECs, (iv) VoIP and broadband service 
providers, (v) alternative networks or non-carrier systems designed to reduce demand for our switching or access services and (vi) resellers, sales 
agents and facilities-based providers that either use their own networks or lease parts of our networks.  Over time, we expect to face additional local 
exchange competition from electric utilities, satellite communications providers and municipalities.  The recent proliferation of companies offering 
integrated service offerings has intensified competition in Internet, long distance and data services markets, and we expect that competition will 
further intensify in these markets.  
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Our competitive position could be weakened in the future by strategic alliances or consolidation within the communications industry or the 

development of new technologies. Our ability to compete successfully will depend on how well we market our products and services and on our 
ability to anticipate and respond to various competitive and technological factors affecting the industry, including changes in regulation (which may 
affect us differently from our competitors), changes in consumer preferences or demographics, and changes in the product offerings or pricing 
strategies of our competitors.  
 

Some of our current and potential competitors (i) offer a more comprehensive range of communications products and services, (ii) have 
market presence, engineering and technical capabilities, and financial and other resources substantially greater than ours, (iii) own larger and more 
diverse networks, (iv) conduct operations or raise capital at a lower cost than us, (v) are subject to less regulation, (vi) offer greater online content 
services or (vii) have substantially stronger brand names. Consequently, these competitors may be better equipped to charge lower prices for their 
products and services, to provide more attractive offerings, to develop and expand their communications and network infrastructures more quickly, 
to adapt more swiftly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements, and to devote greater resources to the marketing and 
sale of their products and services.  
 

Competition could adversely impact us in several ways, including (i) the loss of customers and market share, (ii) the possibility of customers 
reducing their usage of our services or shifting to less profitable services, (iii) reduced traffic on our networks, (iv) our need to expend substantial 
time or money on new capital improvement projects, (v) our need to lower prices or increase marketing expenses to remain competitive and (vi) our 
inability to diversify by successfully offering new products or services.  
 

Changes in technology could harm us.  
   

The communications industry is experiencing significant technological changes, particularly in the areas of VoIP, data and video 
transmission and electronic and wireless communications.  The growing prevalence of electronic mail and other non-voice communications 
continues to reduce demand for many of our products and services.  Other changes in technology could result in the development of additional 
products or services that compete with or displace those offered by ILECs, or that enable current customers to reduce or bypass use of our 
networks.  Some of our competitors may enjoy network advantages that will enable them to provide services that have a greater market acceptance 
than ours.  Technological change could also require us to expend capital or other resources in excess of currently contemplated levels, or to forego 
the development or provision of products or services that others can provide more efficiently.  We cannot predict with certainty which technological 
changes will provide the greatest threat to our competitive position.  We may not be able to obtain timely access to new technology on satisfactory 
terms or incorporate new technology into our systems in a cost effective manner, or at all.  If we cannot develop new products to keep pace with 
technological advances, or if such products are not widely embraced by our customers, we could be adversely impacted.  

Item 1A.  Risk Factors  
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We cannot assure you that our diversification efforts will be successful.  

   
The telephone industry has recently experienced a decline in access lines and intrastate minutes of use, which, coupled with the other 

changes resulting from competitive, technological and regulatory developments, could materially adversely affect our core business and future 
prospects.  As explained in greater detail elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our access lines (excluding the effect of acquisitions) have 
decreased over the last several years, and we expect this trend to continue.  We have also earned less network access revenues in recent years due to 
reductions in access rates and minutes of use (partially due to the displacement of minutes of use by wireless, electronic mail, text messaging, 
arbitrage and other optional calling services).  We believe that our access rates and minutes of use will continue to decline, although the magnitude 
of such decrease is uncertain.  
   

Recently, we broadened the scope of our service bundles by offering satellite television provided by DIRECTV and wireless voice services 
provided by Verizon Wireless.  As noted in further detail below, our reliance on other companies and their networks to provide these services could 
constrain our flexibility and limit the profitability of these new offerings.  We also provide facilities-based digital video services to select markets 
and may initiate other new service or product offerings in the future.  We anticipate that these new offerings will generate lower profit margins than 
many of our traditional services.  Moreover, our new product or service offerings could be constrained by intellectual property rights held by others, 
or could subject us to the risk of infringement claims brought against us by others.  For these and other reasons, we cannot assure you that our 
recent or future diversification efforts will be successful.  
   

Future deterioration in our financial performance could adversely impact our credit ratings, our cost of capital and our access to the capital 
markets.  
   

Our ability to attract more customers or expand our services may be constrained.  
   

To partially offset the loss of revenues from declining access lines, we have relied over the past several years upon growth in the number of 
customers subscribing to our long distance, broadband and enhanced telephone service offerings.  As increasing numbers of our existing or 
potential customers have subscribed to these services over the past several years, the growth rate in our revenues derived therefrom has slowed.  We 
expect this trend to continue as we increasingly saturate our markets with these services.  
   

Weakness in the economy and capital markets may adversely affect our future results of operations.  
   

To date, we have not been materially impacted by weaknesses in the credit markets over the past few years; however, these weaknesses may 
negatively impact our operations in the future if overall borrowing rates increase.  In addition, if the economy and credit markets continue to remain 
weak, it may impact our ability to collect our receivables.  This weakness may also cause our customers to reduce or terminate their receipt of 
service offerings from us.  Economic weakness could also negatively affect our vendors.  We cannot predict with certainty the impact to us of any 
further weakness in the overall economy and credit markets.  
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We are also exposed to market risk from changes in the fair value of our pension plan assets.  Should our actual return on plan assets be 

significantly lower than our anticipated return, our net periodic pension expense and our required cash contribution to our pension plan will increase in 
future periods.  Such events would negatively impact our results of operations and cash flow.  
 

We may not be able to continue to grow through acquisitions.  
   

We have traditionally sought growth largely through acquisitions of properties similar to those currently operated by us, such as those that 
we acquired from Embarq in 2009 and those that we have agreed to acquire from Qwest.  However, no assurance can be given that additional 
properties will in the future be available for purchase on terms attractive to us, particularly if they are burdened by regulations, pricing plans or 
competitive pressures that are new or different from those historically applicable to our incumbent properties.  Moreover, no assurance can be given 
that we will be able to arrange additional financing on terms acceptable to us or to obtain timely federal and state governmental approvals on terms 
acceptable to us, or at all.  
   

Our future results will suffer if we do not effectively adjust to changes in our business, and will further suffer if we do not effectively 
manage our expanded operations.  
   

The above-described changes in our industry have placed a higher premium on marketing, technological, engineering and provisioning 
skills.  Our acquisition of Embarq also significantly changed the composition of our markets and product mix, and completion of the pending Qwest 
merger would result in similar changes.  Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to retrain our staff to acquire or strengthen skills 
necessary to address these changes, and, where necessary, to attract and retain new personnel that possess these skills.  
   

Following our pending acquisition of Qwest, we may continue to expand our operations through additional acquisitions, other strategic 
transactions, and new product and service offerings, some of which could involve complex technical, engineering, and operational challenges. Our 
future success depends, in part, upon our ability to manage our expansion opportunities, which pose substantial challenges for us to integrate new 
operations into our existing business in an efficient and timely manner, to successfully monitor our operations, costs, regulatory compliance and 
service quality, and to maintain other necessary internal controls.  We cannot assure you that our expansion or acquisition opportunities will be 
successful, or that we will realize our expected operating efficiencies, cost savings, revenue enhancements, synergies or other benefits.  
   

Our relationships with other communications companies are material to our operations and expose us to a number of risks.  
   



We originate and terminate calls for long distance carriers and other interexchange carriers over our networks in exchange for access charges 
that represent a significant portion of our revenues. If these carriers go bankrupt or experience substantial financial difficulties, or are otherwise 
unable to or unwilling to pay our access charges, our inability to timely collect access charges from them could have a negative effect on our 
business and results of operations.  
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In addition, certain of our operations carry a significant amount of voice and data traffic for larger communications companies.  As these 
larger communications companies consolidate or expand their networks, it is possible that they could transfer a significant portion of this traffic 
from our fiber network to their networks, which could have a negative effect on our business and results of operations.  
   

We rely on certain reseller and sales agency arrangements with other companies to provide some of the services that we sell to our 
customers.  If we fail to extend or renegotiate these arrangements as they expire from time to time or if these other companies fail to fulfill their 
contractual obligations, we may have difficulty finding alternative arrangements. In addition, as a reseller or sales agent, we do not control the 
availability, retail price, design, function, quality, reliability, customer service or branding of these products and services, nor do we directly control 
all of the marketing and promotion of these products and services. To the extent that these other companies make decisions that negatively impact 
our ability to market and sell our products and services, our business plans and reputation could be negatively impacted.  
   

Network disruptions or system failures could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.  
   

To be successful, we will need to continue providing our customers with a high capacity, reliable and secure network.  Some of the risks to 
our network and infrastructure include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   
Disruptions or system failures may cause interruptions in service or reduced capacity for customers.  If service is not restored in a timely 

manner, agreements with our customers or service standards set by state regulatory commissions could obligate us to provide credits or other 
remedies.  If network security is breached, confidential information of our customers or others could be lost or misappropriated, and we may be 
required to expend additional resources modifying network security to remediate vulnerabilities.  The occurrence of any disruption or system failure 
may result in a loss of business, increase expenses, damage our reputation, subject us to additional regulatory scrutiny or expose us to litigation and 
possible financial losses, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.  
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We face hurricane and other natural disaster risks, which can disrupt our operations and cause us to incur substantial additional capital 
costs.  
   

A substantial number of our access lines are located in Florida, Alabama, Louisiana, Texas, North Carolina, and South Carolina, and our 
operations there are subject to the risks associated with severe tropical storms, hurricanes and tornadoes, including downed telephone lines, power-
outages, damaged or destroyed property and equipment, and work interruptions.  
   

Although we maintain property and casualty insurance on our plant (excluding our outside plant) and may under certain circumstances be 
able to seek recovery of some additional costs through increased rates, only a portion of our additional costs directly related to such hurricanes and 
natural disasters have historically been recoverable. We cannot predict whether we will continue to be able to obtain insurance for hazard-related 
damages or, if obtainable and carried, whether this insurance will be adequate to cover our losses. In addition, we expect any insurance of this 
nature to be subject to substantial deductibles and to provide for premium adjustments based on claims. Any future hazard-related costs and work 
interruptions could adversely affect our operations and our financial condition.  
   

Any failure or inadequacy of our information technology infrastructure could harm our business.  
   

The capacity, reliability and security of our internal information technology hardware and software infrastructure (including our billing 
systems) are important to the operation of our current business, which would suffer in the event of system failures.  Likewise, our ability to expand 
and update our information technology infrastructure in response to our growth and changing needs is important to the continued implementation of 
our new service offering initiatives.  Our inability to expand or upgrade our technology infrastructure could have adverse consequences, which 
could include the delayed implementation of new service offerings, increased acquisition integration costs, service or billing interruptions, and the 
diversion of development resources.  
   

We rely on a limited number of key suppliers and vendors to operate our business.  
   

We depend on a limited number of suppliers and vendors for equipment and services relating to our network infrastructure.  Our local 
exchange carrier networks consist of central office and remote sites, all with advanced digital switches.  If any of these suppliers experience 

   •  breaches of security, including sabotage, tampering, computer viruses and break-ins  

   •  power losses or physical damage, whether caused by fire, adverse weather conditions (including those described immediately below), 
terrorism or otherwise  

   •  capacity limitations  

   •  software and hardware defects or malfunctions, and  

   •  other disruptions that are beyond our control.  



interruptions or other problems delivering or servicing these network components on a timely basis, our operations could suffer 
significantly.  To the extent that proprietary technology of a supplier is an integral component of our network, we may have limited flexibility to 
purchase key network components from alternative suppliers.  In addition, we rely on a limited number of software vendors to support our business 
management systems.  In the event it becomes necessary to seek alternative suppliers and vendors, we may be unable to obtain satisfactory 
replacement supplies or services on economically attractive terms, on a timely basis, or at all, which could increase costs or cause disruptions in our 
services.  
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We may not own or have a license to use all technology that may be necessary to expand our product offerings, either of which could 

adversely affect our business and profitability.  
   

From time to time, we may need to obtain the right to use certain patents or other intellectual property from third parties to be able to offer 
new products and services.  If we cannot license or otherwise obtain rights to use any required technology from a third party on reasonable terms, 
our ability to offer new products and services, including IP-based offerings, may be restricted, made more costly or delayed.  Our inability to 
implement IP-based or other new offerings on a cost-effective basis could impair our ability to successfully meet increasing competition from 
companies offering voice or integrated communications services.  Our inability to deploy new technologies could also prevent us from successfully 
diversifying, modifying or bundling our service offerings and result in accelerated loss of access lines and revenues or otherwise adversely affect 
our business and profitability.  
   

Portions of our property, plant and equipment are located on property owned by third parties.  
   

Over the past few years, certain utilities, cooperatives and municipalities in certain of the states in which we operate have requested 
significant rate increases for attaching our plant to their facilities.  To the extent that these entities are successful in increasing the amount we pay 
for these attachments, our future operating costs will increase.  
   

In addition, we rely on rights-of-way, collocation agreements and other authorizations granted by governmental bodies and other third parties 
to locate our cable, conduit and other network equipment on their respective properties.  If any of these authorizations terminate or lapse, our 
operations could be adversely affected.  
   

We depend on key members of our senior management team.  
   

Our success depends largely on the skills, experience and performance of a limited number of senior officers.  Competition for senior 
management in our industry is intense and we may have difficulty retaining our current senior officers or attracting new ones in the event of 
terminations or resignations.  For a discussion of similar retention concerns relating to the Embarq merger and the pending Qwest merger, please 
see the risks described below under the headings “– Risks Related to our Acquisition of Embarq on July 1, 2009” and “ – Risks Relating to Our 
Pending Acquisition of Qwest.”  
   

We could be affected by certain changes in labor matters.  
   

A substantial number of our employees are members of various bargaining units represented by two different unions.  From time to time, our 
labor agreements with these unions lapse, and we typically negotiate the terms of new agreements.  We cannot predict the outcome of these 
negotiations.  We may be unable to reach new agreements, and union employees may engage in strikes, work slowdowns or other labor actions, 
which could materially disrupt our ability to provide services.  In addition, new labor agreements may impose significant new costs on us, which 
could impair our financial condition or results of operations in the future.  To the extent they contain benefit provisions, these agreements also limit 
our flexibility to change benefits in response to industry or competitive changes.  In particular, the post-employment benefits provided under these 
agreements cause us to incur costs not faced by many of our competitors, which could ultimately hinder our competitive position.  
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Risks Relating to Our Pending Acquisition of Qwest  
   

Our ability to complete the Qwest merger is subject to the receipt of consents and approvals from government entities, which may impose 
conditions that could have an adverse effect on us or could cause us to abandon the merger.  
   

We are unable to complete the merger until we receive approvals from the FCC and various state governmental entities.  In deciding whether 
to grant some of these approvals, the relevant governmental entity will make a determination of whether, among other things, the merger is in the 
public interest.  Regulatory entities may impose certain requirements or obligations as conditions for their approval or in connection with their 
review.  
   

The Qwest merger agreement may require us to accept conditions from these regulators that could adversely impact the combined company 
without us having the right to refuse to close the merger on the basis of those regulatory conditions.  We can provide no assurance that we will 
obtain the necessary approvals or that any required conditions will not materially adversely effect us following the merger.  In addition, we can 
provide no assurance that these conditions will not result in the abandonment of the merger.  
   

Failure to complete the Qwest merger could negatively impact us.  
   

If the merger is not completed, our ongoing businesses may be adversely affected and we will be subject to several risks, including the 
following:  
   
   



   

   

   

   

 
in each case, without realizing any of the benefits of having the merger completed.  

   
The Qwest merger agreement contains provisions that could discourage a potential acquirer of CenturyLink or could result in any 

proposal being at a lower price than it might otherwise be.  
   

The merger agreement contains “no shop” provisions that restrict our ability to solicit, encourage, facilitate or discuss third-party proposals to 
acquire all or a significant part of CenturyLink.  This and other provisions in the Qwest merger agreement could discourage a potential acquirer that 
might have an interest in acquiring all or a significant part of CenturyLink from considering or proposing that acquisition, or might result in a 
potential acquirer proposing to pay a lower price than it might otherwise have proposed to pay.  
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The pendency of the Qwest merger could adversely affect our business and operations.  
   

In connection with the pending Qwest merger, some of our customers or vendors may delay or defer decisions, which could negatively 
impact our revenues, earnings, cash flows and expenses, regardless of whether the merger is completed.  Similarly, our current and prospective 
employees may experience uncertainty about their future roles with the combined company following the merger, which may materially adversely 
affect our ability to attract and retain key personnel during the pendency of the merger.  In addition, due to operating covenants in the merger 
agreement, we may be unable, during the pendency of the merger, to pursue strategic transactions, undertake significant capital projects, undertake 
certain significant financing transactions and pursue other actions that are not in the ordinary course of business, even if such actions would prove 
beneficial.  
   

We expect to incur substantial expenses related to the Qwest merger.  
   

We expect to incur substantial expenses in connection with completing the Qwest merger and integrating Qwest’s business, operations, 
networks, systems, technologies, policies and procedures of Qwest with ours.  There are a large number of systems that must be integrated, 
including billing, management information, purchasing, accounting and finance, sales, payroll and benefits, fixed asset, lease administration and 
regulatory compliance.  While we have assumed that a certain level of transaction and integration expenses will be incurred, there are a number of 
factors beyond our control that could affect the total amount or the timing of our integration expenses.  Many of the expenses that will be incurred, 
by their nature, are difficult to estimate accurately at the present time.  Moreover, we expect to commence these integration initiatives before we 
have completed a similar integration of our business with the business of Embarq, acquired in 2009, which could cause both of these integration 
initiatives to be delayed or rendered more costly or disruptive than would otherwise be the case.  Due to these factors, we expect the transaction and 
integration expenses associated with the Qwest merger to exceed in the near term our anticipated post-merger integration savings resulting from the 
elimination of duplicative expenses and the realization of economies of scale, many of which cannot be attained until several months or years after 
the merger.  As a result of these expenses, we expect to take charges against our earnings before and after the completion of the merger.  The 
charges taken after the merger are expected to be significant, although the aggregate amount and timing of such charges are uncertain at present.  
   

Following the Qwest merger, the combined company may be unable to integrate successfully our business and Qwest’s business and 
realize the anticipated benefits of the merger.  
   

The Qwest merger involves the combination of two companies which currently operate as independent public companies.  The combined 
company will be required to devote significant management attention and resources to integrating the business practices and operations of 
CenturyLink and Qwest. We may encounter difficulties in the integration process, including the following:  
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   •  breaches of security, including sabotage, tampering, computer viruses and break-ins  

   •  power losses or physical damage, whether caused by fire, adverse weather conditions (including those described immediately below), 
terrorism or otherwise  

   •  capacity limitations  

   •  software and hardware defects or malfunctions, and  

   •  other disruptions that are beyond our control.  

   •  the inability to successfully combine our business and Qwest’s business in a manner that permits the combined company to achieve 
the cost savings and operating synergies anticipated to result from the merger, either due to technological challenges, personnel 
shortages, strikes or otherwise, any of which would result in the anticipated benefits of the merger not being realized partly or wholly 
in the time frame currently anticipated or at all;  

   •  lost sales as a result of customers of either of the two companies deciding not to do business with the combined company;  

   •  the complexities associated with managing the combined businesses out of several different locations and integrating personnel from 
the two companies, while at the same time attempting to provide consistent, high quality products and services under a unified culture; 

   •  the additional complexities of combining two companies with different histories, regulatory restrictions, markets and customer bases, 



   

   

   

   
For all these reasons, you should be aware that it is possible that the integration process could result in the distraction of the combined 

company’s management, the disruption of the combined company’s ongoing business or inconsistencies in the combined company’s products, 
services, standards, controls, procedures and policies, any of which could adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with customers, 
vendors and employees or to achieve the anticipated benefits of the merger, or could otherwise adversely affect our business and financial results.  
   

The Qwest merger will change the profile of our local exchange markets to include more large urban areas, with which we have limited 
operating experience.  
   

Prior to the Embarq acquisition, we provided local exchange telephone services to predominantly rural areas and small to mid-size 
cities.  Although Embarq’s local exchange markets include Las Vegas, Nevada and suburbs of Orlando and several other large U.S. cities, we have 
operated these more dense markets only since mid-2009.  Qwest’s markets include Phoenix, Arizona, Denver, Colorado, Minneapolis — St. Paul, 
Minnesota, Seattle, Washington, Salt Lake City, Utah, and Portland, Oregon.  Compared to our legacy markets, these urban markets, on average, 
are substantially denser and have experienced greater access line losses in recent years.  While we believe our strategies and operating models 
developed serving rural and smaller markets can successfully be applied to larger markets, we can not assure you of this.  Our business, financial 
performance and prospects could be harmed if our current strategies or operating models cannot be successfully applied to larger markets following 
the merger, or are required to be changed or abandoned to adjust to differences in these larger markets.  
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Following the Qwest merger, we may be unable to retain key employees.  
   

Our success after the merger will depend in part upon our ability to retain key Qwest and CenturyLink employees.  Key employees may 
depart either before or after the merger because of issues relating to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration or a desire not to remain with us 
following the merger.  Accordingly, no assurance can be given that we will be able to retain key employees to the same extent that we or Qwest 
have been able to in the past.  
   

Following the Qwest merger, we will conduct branding or rebranding initiatives that are likely to involve substantial costs and may not be 
favorably received by customers.  
   

Prior to the merger, each of us will each continue to market our respective products and services using the “CenturyLink” and “Qwest” brand 
names and logos.  Following the merger, our Board of Directors has approved “CenturyLink” as the name and brand for the combined 
company.  As a result, we expect to incur substantial capital and other costs in rebranding the CenturyLink name in those markets that previously 
used the Qwest name.  The failure of any of these initiatives could adversely affect our ability to attract and retain customers after the merger, 
resulting in reduced revenues.  
   

Any adverse outcome of the KPNQwest litigation or other material litigation of Qwest or CenturyLink could have a material adverse 
impact on our financial condition and operating results following the Qwest merger.  
   

As described in further detail in Qwest’s reports filed with the SEC, the pending KPNQwest litigation presents material and significant risks 
to Qwest, and, following the merger, to the combined company. In the aggregate, the plaintiffs in these matters have sought billions of dollars in 
damages.  
   

There are other material proceedings pending against Qwest and CenturyLink, as described in their respective reports filed with the 
SEC.  Depending on their outcome, any of these matters could have a material adverse effect on the financial position or operating results of Qwest, 
CenturyLink or, following the merger, the combined company.  We can give you no assurances as to the impact of these matters on our operating 
results or financial condition.  
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Counterparties to certain significant agreements with Qwest may exercise contractual rights to terminate such agreements following the 
Qwest merger.  
   

Qwest is a party to certain agreements that give the counterparty a right to terminate the agreement following a “change in control” of 
Qwest.  Under most such agreements, the Qwest merger will constitute a change in control of Qwest and therefore the counterparty may terminate 
the agreement upon the closing of the merger.  Qwest has agreements subject to such termination provisions with significant customers, major 
suppliers and service providers.  In addition, certain Qwest customer contracts, including those with state or federal government agencies, allow the 
customer to terminate the contract at any time for convenience, which would allow the customer to terminate its contract before, at or after the 
closing of the merger.  Any such counterparty may request modifications of their respective agreements as a condition to their agreement not to 
terminate.  There is no assurance that such agreements will not be terminated, that any such terminations will not result in a material adverse effect, 

and initiating this process before we have fully completed the integration of our operations with those of Embarq;  

   •  the failure to retain key employees of either of the two companies, some of whom could be critical to integrating the companies;  

   •  potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses or regulatory conditions associated with the merger; and  

   •  performance shortfalls at one or both of the two companies as a result of the diversion of management’s attention caused by 
completing the merger and integrating the companies’  operations.  



or that any modifications of such agreements to avoid termination will not result in a material adverse effect.  
   

We may be unable to obtain security clearances necessary to perform certain Qwest government contracts.  
   

Certain Qwest legal entities and officers have security clearances required for Qwest’s performance of customer contracts with various 
government entities.  Following the merger, it may be necessary for us to obtain comparable security clearances.  If we or our officers are unable to 
qualify for such security clearances, we may not be able to continue to perform such contracts.  
   

We cannot assure you whether, when or in what amounts we will be able to use Qwest’s net operating losses following the Qwest merger.  
   

As of December 31, 2010, Qwest had $5.6 billion of net operating losses, or NOLs, which for federal income tax purposes can be used to 
offset future taxable income, subject to certain limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations.  Our ability to 
use these NOLs following the Qwest merger may be further limited by Section 382 if Qwest is deemed to undergo an ownership change as a result 
of the merger or we are deemed to undergo an ownership change following the merger, either of which could potentially restrict use of a material 
portion of the NOLs.  Determining the limitations under Section 382 is technical and highly complex.  As a result, we cannot assure you that we 
will be able to use the NOLs after the merger in the amounts we project.  
   

The pending Qwest merger raises other risks.  
   

For information on other risks raised by the pending Qwest merger, please see (i) the risks described below under the heading “– Other 
Risks” and (ii) the joint proxy statement – prospectus filed by us with the SEC on July 19, 2010.  
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Risks Related to our Acquisition of Embarq on July 1, 2009  
   

We have not yet fully integrated Embarq’s operations into our operations, which involves several risks.  
   

We continue to incur substantial expenses in connection with integrating the business, operations, networks, systems, technologies, policies 
and procedures of Embarq with ours, which will likely result in us continuing to take significant charges against earnings in future quarters.  We 
cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully integrate our legacy business with Embarq’s business, or that we will be able to retain key 
employees affected by the Embarq merger.  For more information on these risks, please see (i) the risk factors included in Item 1A of our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 and (ii) the risks described above under the heading “– Risks Relating to Our Pending 
Acquisition of Qwest” that discuss the costs and uncertainties associated with integrating Qwest’s operations into ours.  
   

In connection with completing the Embarq merger, we launched branding initiatives that may not be favorably received by customers.  
   

Upon completion of the Embarq merger, we changed our brand name to CenturyLink.  We have incurred substantial capital and operating 
costs in re-branding our products and services.  There is no assurance that we will be able to achieve name recognition or status under our new 
brand that is comparable to the recognition and status previously enjoyed.  The failure of these initiatives could adversely affect our ability to attract 
and retain customers after the merger, resulting in reduced revenues.  
   

In connection with approving the Embarq merger, the Federal Communications Commission imposed conditions that could increase our 
future capital costs and limit our operating flexibility.  
   

In connection with approving the Embarq merger, the FCC issued a publicly-available order that imposed a comprehensive set of conditions 
on our operations over periods ranging from one to three years following the closing date.  Among other things, these conditions commit us (i) to 
make broadband service available to all of our residential and single line business customers within three years of the closing, (ii) to meet various 
targets regarding the speed of our broadband services, and (iii) to enhance the wholesale service levels in our legacy markets to match the service 
levels in Embarq’s markets.  Although most of these commitments largely correspond to our business strategies, they could increase our overall 
future capital or operating costs or limit our flexibility to deploy capital in response to changing market conditions.    
   

In connection with completing the Embarq merger, we assumed various contingent liabilities and a sizable underfunded pension plan of 
Embarq, which could negatively impact our future financial position or performance.  
   

Upon consummating the merger, Embarq became our wholly-owned subsidiary and remains responsible for all of its pre-closing contingent 
liabilities, including Embarq’s previously-disclosed tax sharing, retiree benefit litigation and environmental risks.  Embarq also remains responsible 
for benefits under its existing qualified defined benefit pension plan, which as of December 31, 2010 was in an underfunded position.  If any of 
these matters give rise to material liabilities, our consolidated operating results or financial position will be negatively affected.  Additional 
information regarding these risks is available in (i) Items 3 and 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and (ii) the periodic reports filed by Embarq 
with the SEC through the date of the merger.  
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Risks Related to Our Regulatory Environment  
   

Our revenues could be materially reduced or our expenses materially increased by changes in state or federal regulations.  
   

The majority of our revenues are substantially dependent upon regulations which, if changed, could result in material revenue 
reductions.  Laws and regulations applicable to us and our competitors have been and are likely to continue to be subject to ongoing changes and 



court challenges, which could also affect our financial performance.  
   

Risk of loss or reduction of network access charge revenues or support fund payments .   A significant portion of our revenues is derived 
from switched or special access charge revenues that are paid to us by other carriers based largely on rates set by federal and state regulatory 
bodies.  Interexchange carriers have filed complaints in various forums requesting reductions in our access rates.  In addition, several long distance 
providers have begun disputing amounts owed to us for carrying VoIP traffic, or refusing to pay such amounts.  Several state public service 
commissions are investigating intrastate access rates and the ultimate outcome and impact of such investigations are uncertain.  
   

The FCC regulates tariffs for interstate switched access, special access and subscriber line charges, all of which are components of our 
revenue.  The FCC has been considering comprehensive reform of its intercarrier compensation rules for several years, including proposals 
included in its recently-released National Broadband Plan that, as proposed, are likely to reduce network access payments.  Any reform eventually 
adopted by the FCC will likely involve significant changes in the current access charge system and could potentially result in a significant decrease 
or elimination of access charges altogether.  In addition, we could be harmed if carriers that use our access services become financially distressed or 
bypass our networks, either due to changes in regulation or other factors.  Action or inaction by the FCC on intercarrier compensation could lead to 
disputes with other carriers that delay or prevent us from collecting the full amount of our established access charges.  
   

The FCC and Congress may take actions that would impact our video programming access and pricing, which could adversely affect our 
ability to continue to expand our video business and our competitive position in our existing video markets.  
   

We receive revenues from the USF, and, to a lesser extent, intrastate support funds.  These governmental programs are reviewed and 
amended from time to time, and we cannot provide assurance that they will not be changed or impacted in a manner adverse to us.  Over the past 
few years, high cost support fund payments to our operating subsidiaries have decreased due to increases in the nationwide average cost per loop 
factor used to determine payments to program participants, as well as declines in the overall size of the high cost support fund.  In addition, the 
number of eligible telecommunications carriers receiving support payments from this program has increased substantially in recent years, which, 
coupled with other factors, has placed additional financial pressure on the amount of money that is available to provide support payments to all 
eligible recipients, including us.  For several years, the FCC and others have considered comprehensive reforms of the federal USF contribution and 
distribution rules.  In April 2010, the FCC proposed to replace the USF with a broadband “Connect America” fund, the impact of which on us is 
currently unclear.  
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The FCC’s National Broadband Plan released on March 16, 2010 seeks comprehensive changes in federal communications regulations and 
programs that could, among other things, reduce or eliminate USF and access revenues for our local exchange companies.  We cannot predict the 
ultimate outcome of this plan or provide any assurances that its implementation will not have a material adverse effect on our business, operating 
results or financial condition.  
   

Risks posed by state regulations .   We are also subject to the authority of state regulatory commissions which have the power to regulate 
intrastate rates and services, including local, in-state long-distance and network access services.  Under certain circumstances, our ILECs could be 
ordered to reduce rates or could experience rate reductions following the lapse of regulatory plans currently in effect.  Our business could also be 
materially adversely affected by the adoption of new laws, policies and regulations or changes to existing state regulations.  In particular, we cannot 
assure you that we will succeed in obtaining or maintaining all requisite state regulatory approvals for our operations without the imposition of 
adverse conditions on our business that impose additional costs or limit our revenues.  
   

Risks posed by costs of regulatory compliance .   Regulations continue to create significant compliance costs for us.  Challenges to our 
tariffs by regulators or third parties or delays in obtaining certifications and regulatory approvals could cause us to incur substantial legal and 
administrative expenses, and, if successful, such challenges could adversely affect the rates that we are able to charge our customers.  Our business 
also may be impacted by legislation and regulation imposing new or greater obligations related to regulations or laws related to bolstering homeland 
security, increasing disaster recovery requirements, minimizing environmental impacts, enhancing privacy, or addressing other issues that impact 
our business, including the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act (which requires communications carriers to ensure that their 
equipment, facilities, and services are able to facilitate authorized electronic surveillance), and laws governing local number portability and 
customer proprietary network information requirements.  We expect our compliance costs to increase if future laws or regulations continue to 
increase our obligations to assist other governmental agencies.  
   

Regulatory changes in the communications industry could adversely affect our business by facilitating greater competition against us.  
   

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 fundamentally changed the communications industry, and resulted in increased competition among 
service providers.  This Act and the FCC’s implementing regulations remain subject to judicial review and additional rulemakings, thus making it 
difficult to predict what effect the legislation will ultimately have on us and our competitors.  Several regulatory and judicial proceedings 
addressing communications issues have recently concluded, are underway or may soon be commenced.  Moreover, certain communities nationwide 
have expressed an interest in establishing municipal telephone utilities that would compete for customers.  Finally, we could be adversely affected 
by programs or initiatives recently undertaken by Congress or the FCC, including (i) the federal broadband stimulus projects authorized by 
Congress in 2009; (ii) the FCC’s above-described National Broadband Plan; (iii) new “network neutrality” rules and; (iv) the proposed broadband 
“Connect America” replacement support fund.  
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We are subject to significant regulations that limit our flexibility.  

   
As a diversified full service ILEC, we have traditionally been subject to significant regulation that does not apply to many of our 

competitors.  For instance, unlike many of our competitors, we are subject to federal mandates to share facilities, file and justify tariffs, maintain 
certain accounts and file reports, and state requirements that obligate us to offer service to all eligible customers in our service territories, require us 



to maintain service standards and limit our ability to change tariffs in a timely manner.  This regulation imposes substantial compliance costs 
on us and restricts our ability to change rates, to compete and to respond rapidly to changing industry conditions.  Although newer alternative forms 
of regulation permit us greater freedoms in several states in which we operate, they nonetheless typically impose caps on the rates that we can 
charge our customers.  As our business becomes increasingly competitive, regulatory disparities between us and our competitors could impede our 
ability to compete.  Litigation and different objectives among federal and state regulators could create uncertainty and impede our ability to respond 
to new regulations.  Moreover, changes in tax laws, regulations or policies could increase our tax rates, particularly if state regulators continue to 
search for additional revenue sources to address budget shortfalls.  We are unable to predict the future actions of the various regulatory bodies that 
govern us, but such actions could materially affect our business.  
   

We are subject to franchising requirements that could impede our expansion opportunities.  
   

We may be required to obtain from municipal authorities operating franchises to install or expand facilities.  Some of these franchises may 
require us to pay franchise fees.  These franchising requirements generally apply to our fiber transport and CLEC operations, and to our emerging 
switched digital television and wireless broadband businesses.  These requirements could delay us in expanding our operations or increase the costs 
of providing these services.  
   

We will be exposed to risks arising out of recent legislation affecting U.S. public companies, including risks relating to evaluations of 
controls required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.  
   

Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, and related regulations implemented by the SEC, the New York Stock Exchange 
and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, are increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some activities more time 
consuming.  Any future failure to successfully or timely complete annual assessments of our internal controls required by Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act could subject us to sanctions or investigation by regulatory authorities.  Any such action could adversely affect our financial 
results or investors’ confidence in us, and could cause our stock price to fall.  If we fail to maintain effective controls and procedures, we may be 
unable to provide financial information in a timely and reliable manner, which could in certain instances limit our ability to borrow or raise capital.  
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Our current or prior operations could subject us to liabilities under laws governing the environment, health and safety.  
   

Our operations are subject to a variety of environmental, safety, health and other governmental regulations.  We monitor our compliance with 
federal, state and local regulations governing the use, discharge and disposal of hazardous and environmentally sensitive materials.  Although we 
believe that we are in compliance with these regulations, the current or prior use, discharge or disposal of these materials by us or companies we 
have acquired could expose us to claims or actions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating 
results.  
   

For a more thorough discussion of the regulatory issues that may affect our business, see Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
   
Other Risks  
   

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness and may need to incur more in the future.  
   

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness, which could have material adverse consequences for us, including (i) hindering our ability to 
adjust to changing market, industry or economic conditions, (ii) limiting our ability to access the capital markets to refinance maturing debt or to 
fund acquisitions or emerging businesses, (iii) limiting the amount of free cash flow available for future operations, acquisitions, dividends, stock 
repurchases or other uses, (iv) making us more vulnerable to economic or industry downturns, including interest rate increases, and (v) placing us at 
a competitive disadvantage to those of our competitors that have less indebtedness.  
   

As a result of assuming Qwest’s indebtedness in connection with the pending Qwest merger, we will become more leveraged.  This could 
reduce our credit ratings and thereby raise our borrowing costs.  
   

In connection with executing our business strategies following the Qwest merger, we expect to continue to evaluate the possibility of 
acquiring additional communications assets and making strategic investments, and we may elect to finance future acquisitions by incurring 
additional indebtedness.  Moreover, to respond to competitive challenges, we may be required to raise substantial additional capital to finance new 
product or service offerings.  Other events that are currently unforeseen, such as higher than expected cash contributions to our benefit plans or 
significant payments arising out of the matters discussed in Items 1A or 3 of this annual report, could also require us to obtain additional financing 
or investigate other methods to generate cash.  Our ability to arrange additional financing will depend on, among other factors, our financial 
position and performance, as well as prevailing market conditions and other factors beyond our control.  We cannot assure you that we will be able 
to obtain additional financing on terms acceptable to us or at all.  If we are able to obtain additional financing, our credit ratings could be adversely 
affected, which could further raise our borrowing costs and further limit our future access to capital and our ability to satisfy our debt obligations.  
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Adverse changes in the value of assets or obligations associated with our employee benefit plans could negatively impact our financial 
results or financial position.  
   

We maintain one or more qualified pension plans, non-qualified pension plans and post-retirement benefit plans, several of which are 
currently underfunded.  Adverse changes in interest rates or market conditions, among other assumptions and factors, could cause a significant 



increase in the benefit obligations under these plans or a significant decrease in the value of plan assets.  With respect to our qualified 
pension plans, adverse changes could require us to contribute a material amount of cash to the plans or could accelerate the timing of any required 
cash payments.  The process of calculating benefit obligations is complex.  The amount of required contributions to these plans in future years will 
depend on earnings on investments, prevailing discount rates, changes in the plans and funding laws and regulations.  Any future material cash 
contributions could have a negative impact on our financial results or financial position.  
   

We have a significant amount of goodwill and other intangible assets on our balance sheet.  If our goodwill or other intangible assets 
become impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings and reduce our stockholders’ equity.  
   

Under generally accepted accounting principles, intangible assets are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently 
whenever events or circumstances indicate that its carrying value may not be recoverable.  If our intangible assets are determined to be impaired in 
the future, we may be required to record a significant, non-cash charge to earnings during the period in which the impairment is determined.  
   

We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue paying dividends at the current rate.  
   

Based on current circumstances, we plan to continue our current dividend practices.  However, you should be aware that these practices are 
subject to change for reasons that may include any of the following factors:  
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Our Board of Directors is free to change or suspend our dividend practices at any time.  Our common shareholders should be aware that they 

have no contractual or other legal right to dividends.  
   

Our current dividend practices could limit our ability to pursue growth opportunities .  
   

The current practice of our Board of Directors to pay an annual $2.90 per common share dividend reflects an intention to distribute to our 
shareholders a substantial portion of our free cash flow.  As a result, we may not retain a sufficient amount of cash to finance a material expansion 
of our business in the future.  In addition, our ability to pursue any material expansion of our business, through acquisitions or increased capital 
spending, will depend more than it otherwise would on our ability to obtain third party financing.  We cannot assure you that such financing will be 
available to us at all, or at an acceptable cost.  
   

As a holding company, we rely on payments from our operating companies to meet our obligations.  
   

As a holding company, substantially all of our income and operating cash flow is dependent upon the earnings of our subsidiaries and their 
distribution of those earnings to us in the form of dividends, loans or other payments.  As a result, we rely upon our subsidiaries to generate the 
funds necessary to meet our obligations, including the payment of amounts owed under our long-term debt.  Our subsidiaries are separate and 
distinct legal entities and have no obligation to pay any amounts owed by us or, subject to limited exceptions for tax-sharing purposes, to make any 
funds available to us to repay our obligations, whether by dividends, loans or other payments.  Certain of our subsidiaries may be restricted under 
loan agreements or regulatory orders from transferring funds to us, including certain restrictions on the amount of dividends that may be paid to 
us.  Moreover, our rights to receive assets of any subsidiary upon its liquidation or reorganization will be effectively subordinated to the claims of 
creditors of that subsidiary, including trade creditors.  The notes to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K describe these matters in additional detail.  
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If conditions or assumptions differ from the judgments, assumptions or estimates used in our critical accounting policies, the accuracy of 
our financial statements and related disclosures could be affected.  
   

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us 
to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying 
notes.  For a discussion of our critical accounting policies, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

   •  we may not have enough cash to pay such dividends due to changes in our cash requirements, capital spending plans, cash flows or 
financial position;  

   •  decisions on whether, when and in which amounts to make any future distributions will remain at all times entirely at the discretion of 
our board of directors, which reserves the right to change our dividend practices at any time and for any reason;  

   •  the effects of regulatory reform, including any changes to intercarrier compensation, Universal Service Fund or special access rules;  

   •  our desire to maintain or improve the credit ratings on our senior debt;  

   •  the amount of dividends that we may distribute to our shareholders is subject to restrictions under Louisiana law and is limited by 
restricted payment and leverage covenants in our credit facilities and, potentially, the terms of any future indebtedness that we may 
incur; and  

   •  the amount of dividends that our subsidiaries may distribute to CenturyLink is subject to restrictions imposed by state law, restrictions 
that have been or may be imposed by state regulators in connection with obtaining necessary approvals for the Embarq merger and 
pending Qwest merger, and restrictions imposed by the terms of credit facilities applicable to certain subsidiaries and, potentially, the 
terms of any future indebtedness that these subsidiaries may incur.  



Operations – Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” in Item 7 of this annual report.  If future events or assumptions differ significantly 
from the judgments, assumptions and estimates in our critical accounting policies, these events or assumptions could have a material impact on our 
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.  
   

Taxing authorities may determine we owe additional taxes relating to various matters, which could adversely affect our financial results.  
   

As a significant taxpayer, we are subject to frequent and regular audits and examinations by the Internal Revenue Service, as well as state 
and local tax authorities.  These tax audits and examinations may result in tax liabilities that differ materially from those that we have recorded in 
our consolidated financial statements.  Because the ultimate outcomes of these matters are uncertain, we can give no assurance as to whether an 
adverse result from one or more of them will have a material effect on our financial results.  
   

Our agreements and organizational documents and applicable law could limit another party’s ability to acquire us.  
   

Our articles of incorporation provide for a classified board of directors, which limits the ability of an insurgent to rapidly replace the 
board.  In addition, a number of other provisions in our agreements and organizational documents and various provisions of applicable law may 
delay, defer or prevent a future takeover of CenturyLink unless the takeover is approved by our Board of Directors.  This could deprive our 
shareholders of any related takeover premium.  
   

We face other risks.  
   

The list of risks above is not exhaustive, and you should be aware that we face various other risks discussed in this or other reports, proxy 
statements or documents filed by us with the SEC.  
   
Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  
 

This report and other documents filed by us under the federal securities laws include, and future oral or written statements or press releases 
by us and our management may include, certain forward-looking statements relating to CenturyLink or Qwest, the operations of either such 
company or our pending acquisition of Qwest, including without limitation statements with respect to CenturyLink’s or Qwest’s anticipated future 
operating and financial performance, financial position and liquidity, tax position, contingent liabilities, growth opportunities and growth rates, 
acquisition and divestiture opportunities, merger synergies, business prospects, regulatory and competitive outlook, investment and expenditure 
plans, investment results, financing opportunities and sources (including the impact of financings on our financial position, financial performance or 
credit ratings), pricing plans, strategic alternatives, business strategies, and other similar statements of expectations or objectives or accompanying 
statements of assumptions that are highlighted by words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “projects,” “seeks,” 
“estimates,” “hopes,” “likely,” “should,” “could,” and “may,” and variations thereof and similar expressions.  Such forward-looking statements are 
based upon our judgment and assumptions as of the date such statements are made concerning future developments and events, many of which are 
outside of our control.  These forward-looking statements, and the assumptions upon which such statements are based, are inherently speculative 
and are subject to uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from such statements.  Anticipated events may not occur and 
the actual results or performance of CenturyLink or Qwest may differ materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected if one or more of 
these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if underlying assumptions prove incorrect.  Factors that could impact the actual results of CenturyLink or 
Qwest include but are not limited to:  
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   •  the extent, timing, success and overall effects of competition from wireless carriers, VoIP and broadband providers, CLECs, cable 
television companies and others, including without limitation the risks that these competitors may offer less expensive or more 
innovative products and services;  

   •  the risks inherent in rapid technological change, including without limitation the risk that new technologies will displace our products 
and services;  

   •  the effects of ongoing changes in the regulation of the communications industry, including without limitation (i) increased competition 
resulting from regulatory changes, (ii) the final outcome of various federal, state and local regulatory initiatives, disputes and 
proceedings that could impact our competitive position, revenues, compliance costs, capital expenditures or prospects, (iii) the effect 
of the National Broadband Plan, (iv) the reduction or elimination of revenues received from the federal Universal Service Fund or 
other current or future federal and state support programs designed to compensate communications companies operating in high-cost 
markets, (v) changes in the regulatory treatment of VoIP traffic, and (vi) changes in the regulation of special access;  

   •  our ability to effectively adjust to changes in the communications industry and changes in the composition of our markets and product 
mix caused by the Embarq merger and the pending Qwest merger;  

   •  the possibility that the anticipated benefits from the Embarq merger cannot be fully realized in a timely manner or at all, or that 
integrating Embarq’s operations into ours will be more difficult, disruptive or costly than anticipated;  

   •  our ability to (i) successfully complete our pending acquisition of Qwest, including timely receipt of the required regulatory approvals 
for the merger free of detrimental conditions, and (ii) timely realize the anticipated benefits of the transaction, including our ability 
after the closing to use the net operating losses of Qwest in the amounts projected;  

   •  our ability to effectively manage our expansion opportunities, including without limitation our ability to (i) effectively integrate 
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newly-acquired or newly-developed businesses into our operations, (ii) attract and retain technological, managerial and other key 
personnel, (iii) achieve projected growth, revenue and cost savings targets from the Embarq acquisition and the pending Qwest 
acquisition within the timeframes anticipated, and (iv) otherwise monitor our operations, costs, regulatory compliance, and service 
quality and maintain other necessary internal controls;  

   •  possible changes in the demand for, or pricing of, our products and services, including without limitation reduced demand for our 
traditional telephone or access services caused by greater use of wireless, electronic mail or Internet communications, or other factors;  

   •  our ability to successfully introduce new product or service offerings on a timely and cost-effective basis, including without limitation 
our ability to (i) successfully roll out our new video and broadband services, (ii) expand successfully our full array of service offerings 
to new or acquired markets and (iii) offer bundled service packages on terms attractive to our customers;  

   •  our continued access to credit markets on favorable terms, including our continued access to financing in amounts, and on terms and 
conditions, necessary to support our operations and refinance existing indebtedness when it becomes due;  

   •  our ability to collect receivables from financially troubled communications companies;  

   •  the inability of third parties to discharge their commitments to us;  

   •  the outcome of pending litigation in which CenturyLink, Embarq or Qwest is involved, including the KPNQwest litigation matters in 
which plaintiffs have sought, in the aggregate, billions of dollars in damages from Qwest;  

   •  our ability to pay a $2.90 per common share dividend annually, which may be affected by changes in our cash requirements, capital 
spending plans, cash flows or financial position;  

   •  unanticipated increases in our capital expenditures;  

   •  our ability to successfully negotiate collective bargaining agreements on reasonable terms without work stoppages;  

   •  our ownership of or access to technology that may be necessary for us to operate or expand our business;  

   •  regulatory limits on our ability to change the prices for telephone services in response to industry changes;  

   •  impediments to our ability to expand through attractively priced acquisitions, whether caused by regulatory limits, financing 
constraints, a decrease in the pool of attractive target companies, or competition for acquisitions from other interested buyers;  

   •  uncertainties relating to the implementation of our business strategies, including the possible need to make abrupt and potentially 
disruptive changes in our business strategies due to changes in competition, regulation, technology, product acceptance or other 
factors;  

   •  the lack of assurance that we can compete effectively against better-capitalized competitors;  

   •  the impact of equipment failure, including potential network disruptions;  

   •  declines in the value of our business that result in non-cash earnings charges for goodwill impairment;  

   •  general worldwide economic conditions and related uncertainties;  

   •  the effects of adverse weather on our customers or properties;  

   •  other risks referenced in this report and from time to time in our other filings with the SEC;  

   •  the effects of more general factors, including without limitation:  

   •  changes in general industry and market conditions and growth rates  

   •  changes in labor conditions, including workforce levels and labor costs  

   •  changes in interest rates or other general national, regional or local economic conditions  

   •  changes in legislation, regulation or public policy, including changes that increase our tax rate  

   •  increases in capital, operating, medical, pension or administrative costs, or the impact of new business opportunities requiring 
significant up-front investments  

   •  changes in our relationships with vendors, or the failure of these vendors to provide competitive products on a timely basis  

   •  failures in our internal controls that could result in inaccurate public disclosures or fraud  



   

   
47  

   

   

   

   

   
For additional information, see the risk factors listed above in this report and the description of our business included as Item 1 of this 

Annual Report on Form 10-K.  Due to these uncertainties, we cannot assure you that our anticipated results will occur, that our judgments or 
assumptions will prove correct, or that unforeseen developments will not occur.  Accordingly, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance upon 
any of our forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made.  Additional risks that we currently deem immaterial or that are not 
presently known to us could also cause our actual results to differ materially from our expected results.  We undertake no obligation to update or 
revise any of our forward-looking statements for any reason, whether as a result of new information, future events or developments, changed 
circumstances, or otherwise.  
   

Any information about our intentions contained in this annual report is a statement of our intentions as of the date of this document and is 
based upon, among other things, the regulatory, industry, competitive, economic and market conditions as of such date, as well as various of our 
assumptions at such time.  We may change our intentions, at any time and without notice, based upon any changes in such factors, in our 
assumptions or otherwise.  
   

Investors should also be aware that while we do, at various times, communicate with securities analysts, it is against our policy to disclose to 
them selectively any material non-public information or other confidential information.  Accordingly, investors should not assume that we agree 
with any statement or report issued by an analyst irrespective of the content of the statement or report.  To the extent that reports issued by 
securities analysts contain any projections, forecasts or opinions, such reports are not our responsibility.  
   
   

 
Not applicable.  
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Our properties consist principally of telephone lines, central office equipment, and land and buildings related to telephone operations. As of 

December 31, 2010 and 2009, our gross property, plant and equipment of approximately $16.3 billion and $15.6 billion, respectively, consisted of the 
following:  
 

   
“Cable and wire” facilities consist primarily of buried cable and aerial cable, poles, wire, conduit and drops used in providing local and long 

distance services.  “Central office” consists primarily of switching equipment, circuit equipment and related facilities.  “General support” consists 
primarily of land, buildings, tools, furnishings, fixtures, motor vehicles and work equipment.  “Fiber transport” consists of network assets and 
equipment to provide fiber transport services.  “Construction in progress” includes property of the foregoing categories that has not been placed in 
service because it is still under construction.  
 

The properties of certain of our telephone subsidiaries are subject to mortgages securing the debt of such companies.  We own substantially 
all of the central office buildings, local administrative buildings, warehouses, and storage facilities used in our telephone operations.  
 

For further information on the location and type of our properties, see the descriptions of our operations in Item 1 of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.  

   
   

   •  changes in our debt ratings  

   •  unfavorable outcomes of regulatory proceedings and investigations, including rate proceedings and tax audits  

   •  losses or unfavorable returns on our investments in other communications companies  

   •  delays in the construction of our networks  

   •  changes in accounting policies, assumptions, estimates or practices adopted voluntarily or as required by generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments  

Item 2.  Properties.  

    December 31,    
    2010      2009    
              
Cable and wire      50.2 %     52.3   
Central office      31.1       29.6   
General support      13.5       12.0   
Fiber transport      2.3       2.2   
Construction in progress      1.7       2.8   
Other      1.2       1.1   
      100.0 %     100.0   
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Over 60 years ago, one of our indirect subsidiaries, Centel Corporation, acquired entities that may have owned or operated seven former 

plant sites that produced “manufactured gas” under a process widely used through the mid-1900s.  Centel has been a subsidiary of Embarq since 
being spun-off in 2006 from Sprint Nextel, which acquired Centel in 1993.  None of these plant sites are currently owned or operated by either 
Sprint Nextel, Embarq or their subsidiaries.  On three sites, Embarq and the current landowners are working with the Environmental Protection 
Agency (“EPA”) pursuant to administrative consent orders.  Remediation expenditures pursuant to the orders are not expected to be material. On 
five sites, including the three sites where the EPA is involved, Centel has entered into agreements with other potentially responsible parties to share 
remediation costs. Further, Sprint Nextel has agreed to indemnify Embarq for most of any eventual liability arising from all seven of these 
sites.  Based upon current circumstances, we do not expect this issue to have a material adverse impact on our results of operations or financial 
condition.  
   

In William Douglas Fulghum, et al. v. Embarq Corporation, et al. , filed on December 28, 2007 in the United States District Court for the 
District of Kansas (Civil Action No. 07-CV-2602), a group of retirees filed a putative class action lawsuit challenging the decision to make certain 
modifications to Embarq’s retiree benefits programs generally effective January 1, 2008 (which resulted in a $300 million reduction to the liability 
for retiree benefits at the time of the modifications). Defendants include Embarq, certain of its benefit plans, its Employee Benefits Committee and 
the individual plan administrator of certain of its benefits plans. Additional defendants include Sprint Nextel and certain of its benefit 
plans.  Recently, the Court certified a class on certain of plaintiffs’ claims, but rejected class certification as to other claims.  Embarq and other 
defendants continue to vigorously contest these claims and charges.   Given that this litigation is still in discovery, it is premature to estimate the 
impact this lawsuit could have to our results of operation or financial condition.  In 2009, a ruling in Embarq’s favor was entered in an arbitration 
proceeding filed by 15 former Centel executives, similarly challenging the benefits changes.  
   

In April 2010, a series of lawsuits were filed by shareholders of Qwest Communications International Inc. in Colorado state and federal 
courts and in Delaware federal court, alleging that Qwest’s officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties by failing to maximize the value to 
be received by Qwest’s stockholders in connection with CenturyLink’s recently announced acquisition of Qwest.  CenturyLink was also named as a 
defendant in most of the lawsuits.  On July 16, 2010, the parties entered into a memorandum of understanding reflecting the terms of their 
agreement-in-principle for a settlement of all of the claims asserted in these actions. Pursuant to this agreement, defendants included additional 
disclosures in the final joint proxy statement-prospectus dated July 19, 2010, in response to allegations and claims asserted in certain of the 
complaints.  At a hearing in late February 2011, the Court gave final approval to this settlement, and all lawsuits challenging the transaction will be 
dismissed with prejudice effective March 17, 2011.  We do not expect the settlement to have a material adverse impact to our results of operations 
or financial condition.  

 
In December 2009, subsidiaries of CenturyLink filed two lawsuits against subsidiaries of Sprint Nextel to recover terminating access charges 

for VoIP traffic owed under various interconnection agreements and tariffs which presently approximate $33 million.  The lawsuits allege that 
Sprint Nextel has breached contracts, violated tariffs, and violated the Federal Communications Act by failing to pay these charges.  One lawsuit, 
filed on behalf of all legacy Embarq operating entities, was tried in federal court in Virginia in August 2010 and a ruling is expected in the first 
quarter of 2011.  The other lawsuit, filed on behalf of all legacy CenturyLink operating entities, is pending in federal court in Louisiana.  In that 
case, the Court recently dismissed certain of CenturyLink’s claims, referred other claims to the FCC, and stayed the litigation for 12 months.  We 
have not recorded a reserve related to these lawsuits.  
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From time to time, we are involved in other proceedings incidental to our business, including administrative hearings of state public utility 

commissions relating primarily to rate making, actions relating to employee claims, various tax issues, occasional grievance hearings before labor 
regulatory agencies and miscellaneous third party tort actions.   The outcome of these other proceedings is not predictable.  However, based on 
current circumstances, we do not believe that the ultimate resolution of these other proceedings, after considering available insurance coverage and 
current levels of reserves, will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  
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Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and is traded under the symbol CTL.  The following table sets forth 

the high and low sales prices, along with the quarterly dividends, for each of the quarters indicated.  
   

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings.  

Item 4.  [Reserved]  

   PART II  

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and  
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

    Sales prices        Dividend per    
    High      Low        common share   
2010:                      
First quarter    $ 37.00       32.98       .725   
Second quarter    $ 36.73       14.16   (1 ) .725   



 ________________     
(1)  During the widely-publicized temporary market disruption that occurred on the afternoon of May 6, 2010, our common stock momentarily traded as 
low as $14.16 in markets other than the NYSE.  The opening and closing prices of our common stock on May 6, 2010, were $34.48 and $33.52, 
respectively.  
  
 

Common stock dividends during 2010 and 2009 were paid each quarter.  
 

In June 2008, our board of directors increased our quarterly cash dividend rate from $.0675 to $.70 per share.  In February 2010, our board of 
directors further increased our quarterly cash dividend rate to $.725 per share.  
 

As described in greater detail in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the declaration and payment of dividends is at the discretion of 
our Board of Directors, and will depend upon our financial results, cash requirements, future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by the Board 
of Directors.  
   

As of February 28, 2011, there were approximately 35,000 stockholders of record of our common stock.  As of February 28, 2011, the closing 
stock price of our common stock was $41.18.  

                                                                                                                   
During the fourth quarter of 2010, we  withheld 50,823 shares of stock at an average price of $43.07 per share to pay taxes due upon the vesting of 

restricted stock for certain of our employees in October, November and December 2010.  
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For information regarding shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans, see Item 12.  
                                                                                   

   
            The following table presents certain selected consolidated financial data as of and for each of the years ended in the five-year period ended 
December 31, 2010.  The results of operations of the Embarq properties are included herein subsequent to its July 1, 2009 acquisition date.  
 

The selected consolidated financial data shown below is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements.  These historical results are 
not necessarily indicative of results that you can expect for any future period. You should read this data in conjunction with Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our full consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained elsewhere in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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Selected Income Statement Data  
   

Third quarter    $ 40.00       32.92       .725   
Fourth quarter    $ 46.87       39.18       .725   
                          
                          
2009:                          
First quarter    $ 29.22       23.41       .70   
Second quarter    $ 33.62       25.26       .70   
Third quarter    $ 34.00       28.90       .70   
Fourth quarter    $ 37.15       32.25       .70   

Item 6.  Selected Financial Data.  

    Year ended December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008      2007      2006    
    (Dollars, except per share amounts, and shares expressed in thousands)    
                                
Operating revenues    $ 7,041,534       4,974,239       2,599,747       2,656,241       2,447,730   

                                          
Operating income    $ 2,059,944       1,233,101       721,352       793,078       665,538   

                                          
                                          
Net income attributable to CenturyLink, Inc.    $ 947,705       647,211       365,732       418,370       370,027   

                                          
Basic earnings per share    $ 3.13       3.23       3.53       3.79       3.15   

                                          
Diluted earnings per share    $ 3.13       3.23       3.52       3.71       3.07   

                                          
Dividends per common share    $ 2.90       2.80       2.1675       .26       .25   

                                          
Average basic shares outstanding      300,619       198,813       102,268       109,360       116,671   

                                          



 
   
Selected Balance Sheet Data  
 

   
   

The following table presents certain selected consolidated operating data as of the following dates:  
 

(1)       In connection with our Embarq acquisition in July 2009, we acquired approximately 5.4 million telephone access lines and 1.5 million high-
speed Internet customers.  In connection with our Madison River acquisition in April 2007, we acquired approximately 164,000 telephone access 
lines and 57,000 high-speed Internet customers.  
 
 

See Items 1 and 2 in Part I and Items 7 and 8 elsewhere herein for additional information.  
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All references to “Notes” in this Item 7 refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this annual report.  
 
 
 

OVERVIEW  
 

On July 1, 2009, we acquired Embarq Corporation (“Embarq”) in a transaction that substantially expanded the size and scope of our 
business.  The results of operations of Embarq are included in our consolidated results of operations beginning July 1, 2009.  Due to the significant 
size of Embarq, direct comparisons of our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2010 (which includes a full year of results of 
operations from our Embarq properties) and December 31, 2009 (which only includes a half year of results of operations from our Embarq 
properties) with prior periods are less meaningful than usual since most of the significant period over period variances are caused by the Embarq 
acquisition.  We discuss below certain trends that we believe are significant, even if they are not necessarily material to the combined company.  
   

We are an integrated communications company primarily engaged in providing a broad array of communications services to customers in 33 
states, including local and long distance voice, wholesale network access, special access, high-speed Internet access, other data services, and video 
services.  In certain local and regional markets, we also provide fiber transport, competitive local exchange carrier, security monitoring, and other 
communications, professional and business information services.   We operate approximately 6.5 million access lines and serve approximately 2.4 
million broadband customers, based on operating data as of December 31, 2010.  For additional information on our revenue sources, see 
Note 20.  For additional information on our acquisition of Embarq, see Note 2.  

 
During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, we incurred a significant amount of one-time expenses, the vast majority of which are 

directly attributable to our acquisition of Embarq and our pending acquisition of Qwest Communications International Inc. (“Qwest”).  In 2010, we 
also recognized a $20.9 million reduction to operating expenses related to a curtailment gain upon the freezing of benefit accruals for non-represented 
employees under our defined benefit pension plans.  See Note 12 for additional information.  Such one-time expenses are summarized in the table 
below.  
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Average diluted shares  outstanding      301,297       199,057       102,560       112,787       121,990   

    December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008      2007      2006    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                                
Net property, plant and  equipment    $ 8,754,476       9,097,139       2,895,892       3,108,376       3,109,277   
Goodwill    $ 10,260,640       10,251,758       4,015,674       4,010,916       3,431,136   
Total assets    $ 22,038,098       22,562,729       8,254,195       8,184,553       7,441,007   
Long-term debt, including  current portion and short-  
  term debt    $ 7,327,587       7,753,718       3,314,526       3,014,255       2,590,864   
Stockholders' equity    $ 9,647,159       9,466,799       3,167,808       3,415,810       3,198,964   

    December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008      2007      2006    
                                
Telephone access lines (1)      6,504,000       7,039,000       2,025,000       2,135,000       2,094,000   
High-speed Internet customers (1)      2,394,000       2,236,000       641,000       555,000       369,000   

Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  

    Year ended December 31,    
Description    2010      2009    

    (Dollars in thousands)    



   
   

Based on current plans and information, we expect to incur approximately $80-90 million of additional non-recurring integration related 
operating expenses associated with our Embarq acquisition in 2011 and $400-500 million of non-recurring transaction and integration related 
operating expenses associated with our Qwest acquisition in 2011, although actual amounts could vary significantly.  
   

In addition, due to executive compensation limitations pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code, a portion of the lump sum distributions related 
to the termination of an executive retirement plan made in the first quarter of 2009 is reflected as non-deductible for income tax purposes and thus 
increased our effective income tax rate.  Certain merger-related costs incurred during 2010 and 2009 are also non-deductible for income tax 
purposes and similarly increased our effective income tax rate.  In 2009, such increase in our effective tax rate was partially offset by a $7.0 million 
reduction to our deferred tax asset valuation allowance associated with state net operating loss carryforwards.  In addition, in 2009 and 2008, we 
recognized net after-tax benefits of approximately $15.7 million and $12.8 million, respectively, primarily related to the recognition of previously 
unrecognized tax benefits.  See Note 13 and “Income Tax Expense” below for additional information.  
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Upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting effective July 1, 2009, we recorded a one-time, non-cash extraordinary gain that aggregated 

approximately $218.6 million before income tax expense and noncontrolling interests ($136.0 million after-tax and noncontrolling interests).  See Note 
16 for additional information.  
   

During the last several years (exclusive of acquisitions and certain non-recurring favorable adjustments), we have experienced revenue 
declines in our voice and network access revenues primarily due to declines in access lines, intrastate access rates, minutes of use, and federal 
support fund payments.  In an attempt to mitigate these declines, we plan to, among other things, (i) promote long-term relationships with our 
customers through bundling of integrated services, (ii) provide new services, such as video and other additional services that may become available 
in the future due to advances in technology, wireless spectrum sales by the FCC or improvements in our infrastructure, or agency or reselling 
arrangements with other carriers, (iii) provide our special access, broadband and premium services to a higher percentage of our customers, (iv) 
pursue acquisitions of additional communications properties if available at attractive prices, (v) increase usage of our networks and (vi) market our 
products and services to new customers.  
 

In addition to historical information, this management’s discussion and analysis includes certain forward-looking statements that are based 
on current expectations only, and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, many of which are beyond our control.  Actual 
events and results may differ materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected if one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or 
if underlying assumptions prove incorrect.  Factors that could affect actual results include but are not limited to:  the timing, success and overall 
effects of competition from a wide variety of competitive providers; the risks inherent in rapid technological change; the effects of ongoing changes 
in the regulation of the communications industry (including those arising out of the FCC’s proposed rules regarding intercarrier compensation and 
the Universal Service Fund and the FCC’s related Notice of Proposed Rulemaking released on February 8, 2011); our ability to effectively adjust 
to changes in the communications industry and changes in the composition of our markets and product mix caused by our recent acquisitions; our 
ability to successfully integrate Embarq into our operations, including the possibility that the anticipated benefits from the Embarq merger cannot 
be fully realized in a timely manner or at all, or that integrating Embarq’s operations into ours will be more difficult, disruptive or costly than 
anticipated; our ability to successfully complete our pending acquisition of Qwest, including timely receiving all regulatory approvals and realizing 
the anticipated benefits of the transaction; our ability to effectively manage our expansion opportunities, including retaining and hiring key 
personnel; possible changes in the demand for, or pricing of, our products and services; our ability to successfully introduce new product or 
service offerings on a timely and cost-effective basis; our continued access to credit markets on favorable terms; our ability to collect our 
receivables from financially troubled communications companies; our ability to pay a $2.90 per common share dividend annually, which may be 
affected by changes in our cash requirements, capital spending plans, cash flows or financial position; unanticipated increases in our capital 
expenditures; our ability to successfully negotiate collective bargaining agreements on reasonable terms without work stoppages; the effects of 
adverse weather; other risks referenced from time to time in this report or other of our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or 
SEC; and the effects of more general factors such as changes in interest rates, in tax rates, in accounting policies or practices, in operating, 

Cost of services and products              
     Integration related costs associated with our acquisition of Embarq    $ 36,573       -  
     Severance costs and accelerated recognition of share-based compensation and pension costs due to workforce 
reductions      13,702       5,704   
     Curtailment gain related to changes in our defined benefit pension plan      (5,895 )     -  
Selling, general and administrative                  
     Integration related costs associated with our acquisition of Embarq      54,941       86,371   
     Severance costs and accelerated recognition of share-based compensation and pension costs due to workforce 
reductions      16,490       114,462   
     Transaction and other costs associated with our pending acquisition of Qwest      22,265       -  
     Curtailment gain related to changes in our defined benefit pension plan      (15,013 )     -  
     Transaction related costs associated with our acquisition of Embarq, including investment banker and legal 
fees      -      47,154   
     Settlement and curtailment loss related to certain executive retirement plans      -      17,834   
                  
Interest expense                  
     Credit associated with certain debt extinguishments      -      (11,119 ) 
                  
Other income (expense)                  
     Net charge associated with certain debt extinguishments      -      71,968   
     Charge incurred in connection with terminating our $800 million bridge facility      -      8,000   
    $ 123,063       340,374   



medical, pension or administrative costs, in general market, labor or economic conditions, or in legislation, regulation or public policy. 
These and other uncertainties related to our business, our pending acquisition of Qwest and our July 2009 acquisition of Embarq are described in 
greater detail in Item 1A of this report, as updated and supplemented by our subsequent SEC reports. You should be aware that new factors may 
emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to identify all such factors nor can we predict the impact of each such factor on the business 
or the extent to which any one or more factors may cause actual results to differ from those reflected in any forward-looking statements.  You are 
further cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report.  We undertake no 
obligation to update any of our forward-looking statements for any reason.  
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
   

Net income attributable to CenturyLink, Inc. for 2010 was $947.7 million, compared to $647.2 million during 2009 and $365.7 million 
during 2008.  Net income before extraordinary item was $947.7 million, $511.3 million and $365.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 
2009 and 2008, respectively.  Diluted earnings per share for 2010 was $3.13 compared to $3.23 in 2009 and $3.52 in 2008.  Diluted earnings per 
share before extraordinary item for 2009 was $2.55.   As mentioned in the “Overview” section above, we incurred a significant amount of one-time 
expenses in 2010 and 2009 related principally to our acquisition of Embarq and our pending acquisition of Qwest.  The increase in the number of 
average shares outstanding in 2010 and 2009 is primarily attributable to the common stock issued in connection with our acquisition of Embarq on 
July 1, 2009 (such shares are included for a full year in 2010 and a half year in 2009).      

   

 
Operating income increased $826.8 million in 2010 due to a $2.067 billion increase in operating revenues and a $1.240 billion increase in 

operating expenses.  Operating income increased $511.7 million in 2009 due to a $2.374 billion increase in operating revenues and a $1.863 billion 
increase in operating expenses.  Such increases in operating revenues, operating expenses and operating income in 2010 and 2009 were 
substantially due to our July 1, 2009 acquisition of Embarq.  
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As mentioned in Note 16, we discontinued the application of regulatory accounting effective July 1, 2009.  As a result of such 

discontinuance, since the third quarter of 2009 we have eliminated all intercompany transactions with regulated affiliates that previously were not 
eliminated under the application of regulatory accounting.  This has caused our revenues and operating expenses to be lower by equivalent amounts 
(approximately $104 million) for the year ended December 31, 2010 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2009.  Similarly, our revenues 
and operating expenses for 2009 are lower than 2008 by approximately $108 million due to the mid-year discontinuance of regulatory accounting.  

   
   

OPERATING REVENUES  
 

Year ended December 31,    2010      2009      2008    

    
(Dollars, except per share amounts, and shares in 

thousands)    
                    
Operating income    $ 2,059,944       1,233,101       721,352   
Interest expense      (557,478 )     (370,414 )     (202,217 ) 
Other income (expense)      29,619       (48,175 )     42,252   
Income tax expense      (582,951 )     (301,881 )     (194,357 ) 
Income before noncontrolling interests and  
extraordinary item      949,134       512,631       367,030   
Noncontrolling interests      (1,429 )     (1,377 )     (1,298 ) 
Net income before extraordinary item      947,705       511,254       365,732   
Extraordinary item, net of income tax expense and 
noncontrolling interests      -      135,957       -  
Net income attributable to CenturyLink, Inc .    $ 947,705       647,211       365,732   

                          
Basic earnings per share                          
      Before extraordinary item    $ 3.13       2.55       3.53   
      Extraordinary item    $ -      .68       -  
      Basic earnings per share    $ 3.13       3.23       3.53   
                          
Diluted earnings per share                          
      Before extraordinary item    $ 3.13       2.55       3.52   
      Extraordinary item    $ -      .68       -  
      Diluted earnings per share    $ 3.13       3.23       3.52   
                          
Average basic shares outstanding      300,619       198,813       102,268   

                          
Average diluted shares outstanding      301,297       199,057       102,560   

Year ended December 31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                    
Voice    $ 3,137,921       2,168,480       1,043,386   



   
Beginning in 2010, we have reclassified revenues generated from subscriber line charges to “Voice” revenues from “Network access” 

revenues to better align our presentation of such revenues with others in our industry and we have included revenues generated from our fiber 
transport, CLEC and security monitoring operations in “Other” revenues.  Prior periods have been adjusted to reflect the new presentation.  
 

Voice revenues.   We derive voice revenues by providing local exchange telephone services and retail long distance services to customers in our 
service areas.  The $969.4 million increase in voice revenues is primarily due to $1.047 billion of additional revenues attributable to the Embarq 
properties acquired July 1, 2009.  The remaining $77.8 million decrease is primarily due to (i) a $35.3 million decrease due to a 6.2% decline in the 
average number of access lines in our legacy CenturyLink markets; (ii) a $13.7 million decrease in custom calling feature revenues primarily due to the 
continued migration of customers to bundled service offerings at a lower rate; (iii) an $11.1 million reduction in long distance revenues due primarily 
to a decrease in minutes of use; and (vi) a $9.1 million reduction due to the elimination of all intercompany transactions due to the above-described 
discontinuance of regulatory accounting.  
 

The $1.125 billion increase in voice revenues in 2009 is primarily due to $1.199 billion of revenues attributable to the Embarq properties 
acquired July 1, 2009.  The remaining $73.9 million decrease is primarily due to (i) a $42.0 million decrease due to a 6.6% decline in the average 
number of access lines in our incumbent markets; (ii) a $14.5 million decrease in custom calling feature revenues primarily due to the continued 
migration of customers to bundled service offerings at a lower effective rate and (iii) an $8.1 million reduction due to the elimination of all 
intercompany transactions due to the discontinuance of regulatory accounting.  

   
Total access lines declined 535,000 during 2010 compared to a decline of 380,000 during 2009 (excluding access lines we acquired from 

Embarq on July 1, 2009 but including access lines lost in Embarq’s markets following such acquisition).  We believe the decline in the number of 
access lines during 2010 is primarily due to the displacement of traditional wireline telephone services by other competitive services and recent 
economic conditions.  Based on our current retention initiatives, we estimate that our access line loss will be between 7.0% and 7.5% in 2011 
(exclusive of the impact of access line loss in the properties we expect to acquire from Qwest in 2011).  
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Data revenues .  We derive our data revenues primarily by providing high-speed Internet access services and data transmission services over 

special circuits and private lines.  Data revenues increased $706.6 million in 2010 due to $735.1 million of additional revenues attributable to 
Embarq.  Excluding Embarq, data revenues decreased $28.5 million due to a $52.9 million reduction due to the elimination of all intercompany 
transactions due to the discontinuance of regulatory accounting.  The remaining $24.4 million increase is primarily attributable to an increase in DSL
related revenues principally due to growth in the number of DSL customers and an increase in special access revenues due to increased demand for 
such services.  
 

Data revenues increased $678.1 million in 2009 due to $689.8 million of revenues attributable to Embarq.  Excluding Embarq, data revenues 
decreased $11.7 million due to a $51.4 million reduction due to the elimination of all intercompany transactions resulting from the discontinuance 
of regulatory accounting.  Such decrease was partially offset by a $38.5 million increase in DSL-related revenues primarily due to growth in the 
number of DSL customers in our incumbent markets.  

   
Network access revenues.   We derive our network access revenues primarily from (i) providing services to various carriers and customers in 

connection with the use of our facilities to originate and terminate their interstate and intrastate voice transmissions; (ii) receiving universal support 
funds which allows us to recover a portion of our costs under federal and state cost recovery mechanisms; (iii) receiving reciprocal compensation 
from competitive local exchange carriers and wireless service providers for terminating their calls; and (iv) offering certain network facilities and 
related services to CLECs.  Substantially all of our interstate network access revenues are based on tariffed access charges prescribed by the 
FCC.  Certain of our intrastate network access revenues are derived through access charges that we bill to intrastate long distance carriers and other 
LEC customers.  
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Network access revenues increased $151.8 million in 2010 and $276.9 million in 2009 due to the following factors:  

   

   
As mentioned above, upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting effective July 1, 2009, we began eliminating all intercompany 

Data      1,908,901       1,202,284       524,194   
Network access      1,079,678       927,905       651,038   
Other      915,034       675,570       381,129   
Operating revenues    $ 7,041,534       4,974,239       2,599,747   

    2010      2009    
    increase      increase    
    (decrease)      (decrease)    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
              
Acquisition of Embarq on July 1, 2009    $ 247,615       347,680   
Reduced recoveries from the federal Universal Service High Cost Loop support program      (35,815 )     (12,964 ) 
Reduced intrastate revenues due to decreased minutes of use, decreased access rates in certain states and 
recoveries from state support funds      (17,275 )     (35,406 ) 
Elimination of all intercompany transactions due to the discontinuance of regulatory accounting      (21,509 )     (26,031 ) 
Reduced partial recovery of operating costs through revenue sharing arrangements with other telephone 
companies, interstate access revenues and return on rate base      (13,441 )     (5,930 ) 
Prior year revenue settlement agreements and other      (7,802 )     9,518   
    $ 151,773       276,867   



transactions with regulated affiliates that previously were not eliminated under the application of regulatory accounting.  
 

We believe that access rates and minutes of use will continue to decline in conjunction with losses of access lines and substitution of other 
alternatives, although we cannot precisely estimate the magnitude of such decrease.  Complaints filed by interexchange carriers in several of our 
operating states or state initiated legislation could, if successful, place further downward pressure on our intrastate access rates.  We also expect our 
network access revenues to continue to be negatively impacted in 2011 by a reduction in Universal Service Fund receipts.  In addition, delays in the 
migration of traffic of a wireless carrier off our networks in 2010 will reduce our operating revenues in 2011.  Based on our current estimates, we 
believe these items in the aggregate will reduce network access revenues approximately $160-180 million in 2011 as compared to 2010.  
   

Other revenues.   We derive other revenues primarily by (i) providing fiber transport, CLEC and security monitoring services; (ii) leasing, 
selling, installing and maintaining customer premise telecommunications equipment and wiring; (iii) providing payphone services primarily within our 
local service territories and various correctional facilities around the country; (iv) participating in the publication of local directories, which allows us 
to share in revenues generated by the sale of yellow page and related advertising to businesses; (v) providing network database services; and (vi) 
providing certain other new product and service offerings.  Other revenues increased $239.5 million in 2010 due to $272.1 million of additional 
revenues attributable to Embarq.  Excluding Embarq, other revenues decreased $32.7 million primarily due to a $20.8 million reduction due to the 
elimination of all intercompany transactions as a result of the discontinuance of regulatory accounting, a $7.1 million decrease in directory revenues 
and a $5.5 million decrease in certain non-regulated product sales and service offerings.  
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Other revenues increased $294.4 million in 2009, of which approximately $326.5 million related to our acquisition of Embarq.  Excluding 

Embarq, other revenues decreased $32.1 million primarily as a result of a $22.0 million reduction due to the elimination of all intercompany 
transactions resulting from the discontinuance of regulatory accounting and a $10.5 million decrease in certain non-regulated product sales and 
service offerings.  
   
 
   
OPERATING EXPENSES  
   

   
Cost of services and products.    Cost of services and products increased $658.0 million (37.6%) in 2010 primarily due to a $758.2 million 

increase in expenses incurred by Embarq (which includes approximately $36.6 million of integration costs and an incremental $8.0 million of costs 
associated with employee severance benefits and is partially offset by a curtailment gain of approximately $5.9 million associated with freezing 
certain future benefit accruals related to our defined benefit pension plans).  The remaining $100.3 million decrease is primarily due to (i) an $89.4 
million reduction in expenses resulting from the elimination of all intercompany transactions resulting from the discontinuance of regulatory 
accounting; (ii) a $13.1 million decrease in access expense and (iii) a $10.4 million decrease in transport costs associated with our long distance 
operations.  
 

Cost of services and products increased $796.6 million (83.4%) in 2009 primarily due to $888.8 million of expenses attributable to the 
Embarq properties acquired on July 1, 2009.  The remaining $92.2 million decrease is primarily due to (i) a $88.7 million reduction in expenses 
resulting from the elimination of all intercompany transactions resulting from the discontinuance of regulatory accounting; (ii) a $4.9 million 
decrease in customer service related expenses; (iii) a $4.6 million decrease in access expense; and (iv) a $4.1 million decrease in CLEC expenses 
as a result of the divestiture of six CLEC markets in 2008.  Such decreases were partially offset by a $15.8 million increase in salaries, wages and 
benefits primarily due to increases in pension expense and share-based compensation expense and a $12.4 million increase in DSL-related 
expenses due to an increase in the number of DSL customers served.  
 
            Selling, general and administrative.   Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $123.6 million in 2010 primarily due to a 
$170.4 million increase in expenses incurred by Embarq. The $170.4 million increase is net of (i) a $98.0 million reduction of severance costs and 
accelerated recognition of share based compensation and pension costs due to workforce reductions incurred during 2010 as compared to similar 
expenses incurred during 2009; (ii) $47.2 million of transaction related costs incurred in 2009 related to the Embarq acquisition; (iii) a $31.4 
million reduction in integration costs related to our acquisition of Embarq and (iv) a 2010 curtailment gain of approximately $15.0 million 
associated with freezing certain future defined benefit pension accruals.  During 2010, we also incurred approximately $22.3 million of transaction 
and other costs associated with our pending acquisition of Qwest.  Such increases were partially offset by (i) a $31.5 million reduction in salaries 
and benefits (which includes $16.6 million of one-time charges related to a supplemental executive pension plan in 2009); (ii) a $17.4 million 
decrease in legal costs, and (iii) a $14.9 million reduction in expenses due to the elimination of all intercompany transactions due to the 
discontinuance of regulatory accounting.  
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Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $615.2 million in 2009 primarily due to $500.6 million of expenses attributable to 

operating Embarq for the second half of 2009 (which includes approximately $106.0 million of costs associated with employee termination 
benefits, primarily due to severance and retention benefits, contractual pension benefits and acceleration of share-based compensation expense 
associated with Embarq employee terminations).  The remaining $114.6 million increase is primarily due to (i) $86.4 million of integration costs 

Year ended December 31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)     
                    
Cost of services and products (exclusive of 
depreciation and amortization)    $ 2,410,048       1,752,087       955,473   
Selling, general and administrative      1,137,989       1,014,341       399,136   
Depreciation and amortization      1,433,553       974,710       523,786   
Operating expenses    $ 4,981,590       3,741,138       1,878,395   



associated with our acquisition of Embarq, primarily related to system conversion efforts; (ii) $47.2 million of transaction related merger 
costs, including investment banker and legal fees associated with our acquisition of Embarq; and (iii) $13.8 million of higher employee benefit 
costs, primarily due to higher pension expense (primarily due to accelerated expense recognition due to change of control provisions triggered 
upon our acquisition of Embarq and the termination of a supplemental executive retirement plan) and share-based compensation expense (due to 
the accelerated vesting of equity grants of our employees upon the acquisition of Embarq).  Such increases were partially offset by (i) a $19.5 
million reduction in expenses resulting from the elimination of all intercompany transactions due to the discontinuance of regulatory accounting; 
(ii) a $10.7 million reduction in operating taxes primarily due to the favorable resolution of certain transaction tax audit issues; and (iii) an $8.1 
million reduction in marketing expenses.  

   
Depreciation and amortization .  Depreciation and amortization increased $458.8 million in 2010 primarily due to $480.8 million of 

additional depreciation and amortization attributable to Embarq (including $69.3 million of additional amortization expense related to the customer 
list and other intangible assets acquired in connection with the Embarq transaction) and a $22.4 million increase due to higher levels of plant in 
service in our legacy markets.  The remaining decrease was primarily due to a $19.1 million decrease in depreciation expense due to a change in 
certain depreciation rates effective July 1, 2009 upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting and a $24.5 million decrease due to certain 
assets becoming fully depreciated.  
 

Depreciation and amortization increased $450.9 million in 2009 primarily due to $492.6 million of depreciation and amortization 
attributable to Embarq (including $118.4 million of amortization expense related to its customer list and other intangible assets).  The remaining 
$41.7 million decrease was primarily due to a $59.8 million decrease in depreciation expense resulting from a reduction in certain depreciation 
rates effective July 1, 2009 upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting (see Note 16) and due to certain assets becoming fully 
depreciated.  Such decreases were partially offset by an $18.8 million increase due to higher levels of plant placed in service in our incumbent 
markets.  
   

64  
   
Other.    For additional information regarding certain matters that have impacted or may impact our operations, see “Regulation and 

Competition”.  
            

   
INTEREST EXPENSE  
   

Interest expense increased $187.1 million in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to interest expense attributable to Embarq’s indebtedness 
assumed in connection with our acquisition of Embarq.  
 

Interest expense increased $168.2 million in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to $179.9 million of interest expense attributable to 
Embarq’s indebtedness assumed in connection with our acquisition of Embarq.  The remaining $11.7 million decrease is primarily attributable to a 
$4.6 million decrease in interest expense due to favorable resolution of certain transaction tax audit issues and a $4.7 million one-time reduction in 
interest expense in 2009 related to debt extinguishment transactions consummated in October 2009.  See Note 6 for additional information.  
 
   
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)  
   

Other income (expense) includes the effects of certain items not directly related to our core operations, including gains or losses from 
nonoperating asset dispositions and impairments, our share of the income from our 49% interest in a cellular partnership, interest income and 
allowance for funds used during construction.  Other income (expense) was $29.6 million for 2010 compared to $(48.2) million for 2009 and $42.3 
million in 2008.  
 

Included in 2009 is (i) a $72.0 million pre-tax charge related to certain debt extinguishment transactions consummated in October 2009 (see 
Note 6 for additional information) and (ii) an $8.0 million pre-tax charge associated with terminating our $800 million bridge credit facility (see 
Note 2 for additional information).  Included in 2008 is (i) approximately $10.0 million related to the recognition of previously accrued transaction 
related and other contingencies; (ii) a pre-tax gain of $4.5 million upon the liquidation of our investments in marketable securities in our SERP 
trust; (iii) a pre-tax gain of approximately $7.3 million from the sales of certain nonoperating investments; and (iv) a $3.4 million pre-tax charge 
related to terminating all of our existing derivative instruments in the first quarter of 2008.  Our share of income from our 49% interest in a cellular 
partnership decreased $2.7 million in 2010 compared to 2009 and increased $7.0 million in 2009 compared to 2008. We record our share of the 
partnership income based on unaudited results of operations until the time we receive audited financial statements for the partnership from the 
unaffiliated general partner.  In 2008, we recorded unfavorable adjustments upon receipt of the partnership’s audited financial statements for 2007.  
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE  
            
     The effective income tax rate was 38.1%, 37.2%, and 34.7% for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Certain executive compensation 
amounts, including the lump sum distributions paid to certain executive officers in connection with discontinuing the Supplemental Executive 
Retirement Plan (see Note 12), are reflected as non-deductible for income tax purposes pursuant to executive compensation limitations prescribed 
by the Internal Revenue Code.  Our inability to deduct these amounts resulted in the recognition of approximately $3.3 million and $9.8 million of 
income tax expense in 2010 and 2009 above amounts that would have been recognized had such payments been deductible for income tax 
purposes.  Our 2010 and 2009 effective tax rate is also higher because a portion of our merger-related transaction costs incurred during those years 
are non-deductible for income tax purposes (with such treatment resulting in a $3.9 million and $7.4 million increase to income tax expense in 2010 
and 2009, respectively).  In 2009, such increase in our effective tax rate was partially offset by a $7.0 million reduction to our deferred tax asset 
valuation allowance associated with state net operating loss carryforwards.  



 
Income tax expense was reduced by approximately $15.7 million in 2009 and $12.8 million in 2008 due to the recognition of previously 

unrecognized tax benefits (see Critical Accounting Policies below and Note 13) and other adjustments upon finalization of tax returns.    
 
EXTRAORDINARY ITEM  
 

Upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting on July 1, 2009, we recorded a one-time extraordinary gain of approximately $136.0 
million after-tax.  See Note 16 for additional information related to this extraordinary gain.  
 
    
ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS  
   
     In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board updated the accounting standard regarding revenue recognition for 
multiple deliverable arrangements, such as the service bundles that we offer to our customers. This update requires the use of the relative selling 
price method when allocating revenue in these types of arrangements. This method allows a vendor to use its best estimate of selling price if neither 
vendor specific objective evidence nor third party evidence of selling price exists when evaluating multiple deliverable arrangements. This standard 
update is effective January 1, 2011 and may be adopted prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified after the date of 
adoption or retrospectively for all revenue arrangements for all periods presented.  We currently do not expect this standard update to have a 
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  
 

We are subject to certain accounting standards that define fair value, establish a framework for measuring fair value and expand the 
disclosures about fair value measurements required or permitted under other accounting pronouncements.  The fair value accounting guidance 
establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value.  These tiers include: Level 1 (defined as 
observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets), Level 2 (defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are 
either directly or indirectly observable), and Level 3 (defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists).   See Note 19 for 
additional information.  In January 2010, we adopted the accounting standard update regarding fair value measurements and disclosures, which 
requires additional disclosures and explanations for transfers of financial assets and liabilities between certain levels in the fair value hierarchy. The 
adoption of this accounting standard update did not have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.  
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
   
     Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles that are generally accepted in the United States.  The 
preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses.  We continually evaluate our estimates and assumptions including those related to (i) revenue recognition, (ii) 
allowance for doubtful accounts, (iii) pension and postretirement benefits, (iv) intangible and long-lived assets, (v) depreciation and amortization of 
long-lived assets; (vi) business combinations and (vii) income taxes.  Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions and these 
differences may be material.  We believe these critical accounting policies discussed below involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity.  
   
     Revenue recognition.   We collect in advance fees for fixed rate services, such as local service, unlimited long distance, high-speed 
Internet and certain data services, and defer revenue recognition until these services are provided to the customer.  We bill in arrears variable rate 
billing services, including usage-based long distance, data and access revenues. We have multiple billing cycles spread throughout each month 
resulting in accounts receivables and deferred revenue balances at the end of each reporting period.  In the event that the variable rate usage data is 
not available at the end of a reporting period, we estimate revenue based on historic usage and other relevant factors.  Service activation and 
installation fees are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over our average customer lives.  Operating revenues include certain revenue 
reserves for billing disputes and contract interpretations.  These reserves require management’s judgment and are based on many factors including 
historical trends, contract and tariff interpretations and developments during the resolution process.    
   
     Allowance for doubtful accounts .  We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses that result from the failure of our 
customers to make required payments.  In evaluating the collectibility of our accounts receivable, we assess a number of factors, including a 
specific customer’s or carrier’s ability to meet its financial obligations to us, the length of time the receivable has been past due and historical 
collection experience.  Based on these assessments, we record both specific and general reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable to reduce the 
related accounts receivable to the amount we ultimately expect to collect from customers and carriers.  Our reserves for accounts receivable 
generally increase as the receivable ages.  If circumstances change or economic conditions worsen such that our past collection experience is no 
longer relevant, we may need to increase our reserves from the levels reflected in our accompanying consolidated balance sheet.  
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     Pension and postretirement benefits.   Accounting for pensions and postretirement benefits involves estimating the cost of benefits to be 
provided well into the future and attributing that cost over the time period each employee provides service to us.  To accomplish this, extensive use 
is made of various assumptions, such as discount rates, investment returns, mortality, turnover, medical costs and inflation through a collaborative 
effort by management and independent actuaries.  These efforts are designed to provide management with the necessary information on which to 
base its judgment and develop the estimates used to prepare the financial statements.  Changes in assumptions used could result in a material impact 
to our financial results in any given period.  Our actuarial estimates of retiree benefit expense and the associated significant assumptions are 
discussed in Notes 11 and 12.  
   

A significant assumption used in determining our pension and postretirement expense is the expected long-term rate of return on plan 
assets.  For 2010 and 2009, we utilized an expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 8.25% for our incumbent pension plan and 8.50% for 
the pension plan we assumed in connection with the Embarq acquisition.  In setting the long-term assumed rate of return, management considers 



capital markets’ future expectations and the asset mix of the plans’ investments.  If all other factors were to remain unchanged, a 50 basis 
point decrease in the assumed long-term rate of return would cause combined pension and postretirement cost to increase by approximately $18 
million.  Should we experience asset returns that are significantly below our long-term rate of return assumptions, we may experience in the future 
higher levels of pension expense, higher levels of required contributions and lower stockholders’ equity balances (due to accumulated other 
comprehensive losses).  For 2011, we are reducing our long-term assumed rate of return assumption to 7.5% for our legacy CenturyLink pension 
plan and 8.0% for our legacy Embarq pension plan.  Such reduction in our assumed rate of asset return is primarily due to lower prevailing bond 
yields.  

   
Another assumption used in the determination of our pension and postretirement benefit plan obligations is the appropriate discount 

rate.  The discount rate is an assumed rate of return derived from high-quality debt securities that, if applicable at the measurement date to a 
specified amount of principal, would provide the necessary future cash flows to pay our pension benefit obligations when they become due.  For our 
pension plan, the discount rate used for the December 31, 2010 measurement date was derived by matching projected benefit payments to bond 
yields obtained from a hypothetical yield curve from Aa-rated corporate bonds.  For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we utilized a 
similar process using as a reference the CitiGroup Pension Discount Curve (Above Median) to derive our discount rate.  Our discount rate for 
determining benefit obligations under our pension plans at December 31, 2010 ranged from 5.0 to 5.5% compared to 5.5 to 6.0% at December 31, 
2009.  The discount rate can change from year to year based on market conditions that impact corporate bond yields.  We use a similar 
methodology to determine the discount rate for our postretirement plan by utilizing as a reference the Hewitt Top Quartile Yield Curve as of the end 
of the year.  Our discount rate for determining benefit obligations under our postretirement plans at December 31, 2010 was 5.30% compared to 
5.70-5.80% at December 31, 2009.  We estimate that a 25 basis point decrease in the assumed discount rate would increase our combined pension 
and postretirement benefit obligations by approximately $148 million.  
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     Intangible and l ong-lived assets.   We are subject to testing for impairment of long-lived assets (including goodwill, intangible assets and 
other long-lived assets) based on applicable accounting guidelines.  
 

We are required to review goodwill recorded in business combinations for impairment at least annually and are required to write-down the 
value of goodwill only in periods in which the recorded amount of goodwill exceeds the fair value.  As disclosed in the table below, substantially all 
of our goodwill is associated with our local exchange telephone operations.  Subsequent to our acquisition of Embarq on July 1, 2009, we have 
managed our local exchange telephone operations based on five geographic regions (which we internally refer to as Mid-Atlantic, Southern, South 
Central, Northeast and Western) and have considered these five operating regions to be our reporting units in testing for goodwill impairment of our 
telephone operations.  The remainder of our goodwill is associated with our competitive local exchange carrier (CLEC), fiber transport, security 
monitoring and other operations of our business, all of which we treat as separate reporting units in our goodwill impairment testing.  
 

The breakdown of our goodwill balances as of December 31, 2010 by reporting unit is as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

   
We estimate the fair value of our telephone operations reporting units using multiples of earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation 

(EBITDA).  For each telephone reporting unit, we compare its estimated fair value to its carrying value.  If the estimated fair value of the reporting 
unit is greater than the carrying value, we conclude that no impairment exists.  If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, a 
second calculation is required in which the implied fair value of goodwill is compared to its carrying value.  If the implied fair value of goodwill is 
less than its carrying value, goodwill must be written down to its implied fair value.  
   

The multiple of EBITDA we utilize in our goodwill impairment testing for our telephone operations is supported by an independent 
valuation analysis performed by a major investment banking firm.  For the past several years, we have utilized EBITDA multiples derived from 
comparable independent analysis.  The EBITDA multiple derived in the independent reports and utilized in our goodwill impairment testing was 
5.8 in 2010, 5.6 in 2009 and 6.5 in 2008.  We believe the decline in EBITDA multiples since 2008 is primarily due to, among other factors, the 
continued erosion of access lines.  
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We estimate the fair value of our other reporting units using various methods, including multiples of EBITDA (as described above) and 
multiples of revenues.  
 

As of September 30, 2010, we completed the required annual test of goodwill impairment and concluded that our goodwill was not impaired 
as of that date.  However, as of that date, the estimated fair value of the Southern region exceeded its carrying value by less than 10%.  Should 
events occur (such as continued access line losses or other revenue reductions) that would cause the fair value to decline below its carrying value, 
we may be required to record a non-cash charge to earnings during the period in which the impairment is determined.  

Telephone operations (Mid-Atlantic)    $ 2,227,596   
Telephone operations (Southern)      2,297,064   
Telephone operations (South Central)      2,487,536   
Telephone operations (Northeast)      2,252,288   
Telephone operations (Western)      946,367   
CLEC operations      29,935   
Fiber transport operations      10,607   
Security monitoring operations      4,966   
All other operations      4,281   
Total goodwill    $ 10,260,640   



   
     The carrying value of long-lived assets other than goodwill is reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that 
such carrying amount cannot be recoverable by assessing the recoverability of the carrying value through estimated undiscounted net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the assets.  If the undiscounted net cash flows are less than the carrying value, an impairment loss would be measured 
as the excess of the carrying value of a long-lived asset over its fair value.   
 

Depreciation and amortization of long-lived assets.   Our depreciation of property, plant and equipment, including the use of group 
depreciation for our telephone operations and estimates of useful lives, is discussed in Note 1.  We assign useful lives based on annual studies of 
actual asset lives, taking into account actual usage, replacement history and assumptions about technology evolution and access line losses.  No 
significant changes to our remaining useful lives occurred as a result of our study performed in 2010.  
 

We also have significant customer list intangible assets, the vast majority of which is attributable to our July 1, 2009 Embarq 
acquisition.  The customer list intangible assets from our Embarq acquisition are finite-lived intangible assets and are amortized using an 
accelerated method over the period in which those relationships are expected to contribute to our future cash flows.  The accelerated method 
employed is a process of allocation which reflects our belief that we expect greater revenue generation from these customer relationships during the 
earlier years of their lives.  Amortization of other intangible assets is determined using the straight-line method of amortization over the expected 
remaining useful lives.  
 

We periodically evaluate our intangible assets to insure that our current amortization method and remaining useful lives are appropriate.  
 

Business combinations. The new accounting guidance for business combinations was effective for us for all business combinations 
consummated on or after January 1, 2009 and requires an acquiring entity to recognize all of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the 
acquisition date fair value.  The allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from Embarq (and the related 
estimated lives of depreciable tangible and identifiable intangible assets) was finalized during 2010 at the end of the one-year measurement period 
and required a significant amount of judgment.   Such allocation of certain aspects of the purchase price to items that are more complex to value 
was performed by an independent valuation firm based on information provided by management.   See Note 2 for additional information concerning 
the assignment of fair values to the assets and assumed liabilities of Embarq.  We will similarly assign fair values to the assets and liabilities 
acquired from our pending acquisition of Qwest, which we expect to close during 2011.  
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Income taxes.   We estimate our current and deferred income taxes based on our assessment of the future tax consequences of transactions 
that have been reflected in our financial statements or applicable tax returns.  Actual income taxes paid could vary from these estimates due to 
several factors, including future changes in income tax law or the resolution of audits by federal and state taxing authorities.  We maintain liabilities 
for unrecognized tax benefits for various uncertain tax positions taken in our tax returns.  These liabilities are estimated based on our judgment of 
the probable outcome of the uncertain tax positions and are adjusted periodically based on changing facts and circumstances.  Changes to the 
liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits could materially affect operating results in the period of change.  During 2009 and 2008, we recognized 
approximately $15.7 million and $12.8 million, respectively, of previously unrecognized tax benefits (including related interest and net of federal 
tax benefit) and other adjustments upon finalization of tax returns.  Such benefits were recorded primarily as a result of the favorable resolution of 
audits, administrative practices and the lapse of statute of limitations in certain jurisdictions.  See Note 13 for additional information regarding our 
unrecognized tax benefits.  
   
     For additional information on our critical accounting policies, see “Accounting Pronouncements” and “Regulation and Competition – 
Other Matters” below, and the Notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere herein.  
               
  

MARKET RISK  
   

   
     We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates on our long-term debt obligations.  We have estimated our market risk 
using sensitivity analysis.  Market risk is defined as the potential change in the fair value of a fixed-rate debt obligation due to a hypothetical 
adverse change in interest rates.  We determine fair value of long-term debt obligations based on a discounted cash flow analysis, using the rates 
and maturities of  these obligations compared to terms and rates currently available in the long-term financing markets.  The results of the 
sensitivity analysis used to estimate market risk are presented below, although the actual results may differ from these estimates.  
 

At December 31, 2010, we estimated the fair value of our long-term debt to be $8.0 billion based on the overall weighted average interest 
rate of our debt of  7.0% and an overall weighted maturity of 11 years compared to terms and rates currently available in long-term financing 
markets.  As of December 31, 2010, approximately 95% of our long-term debt obligations were fixed rate.  Market risk is estimated as the 
potential decrease in fair value of our long-term debt resulting from a hypothetical increase of 70 basis points in prevailing interest rates (ten 
percent of our overall weighted average borrowing rate).  Such an increase in interest rates would result in approximately a $331.9 million 
decrease in the fair value of our fixed-rate long-term debt at December 31, 2010, but would have no impact on our interest expense or cash 
flows.    A 100 basis point increase in prevailing variable interest rates would have had a negative pre-tax impact of approximately $1.7 million on 
our results of operations and cash flows for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, but would have no impact on the fair value of our long-
term variable-rate debt.  
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From time to time over the past several years, we have used derivative instruments to (i) lock-in or swap our exposure to changing or 
variable interest rates for fixed interest rates or (ii) to swap obligations to pay fixed interest rates for variable interest rates.  We have established 



policies and procedures for risk assessment and the approval, reporting and monitoring of derivative instrument activities.  We do not hold or 
issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.  Management periodically reviews our exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations and implements strategies to manage the exposure.   Currently, we have no derivative instruments in place.  
 

We are also exposed to market risk from changes in the fair value of our pension plan assets.   The pension plan we assumed in connection 
with the Embarq acquisition was underfunded by approximately $667 million with respect to the projected benefit obligation as of December 31, 
2010.  We contributed $300 million and $115 million to the legacy Embarq pension plan during 2010 and the last half of 2009, respectively.  We 
currently expect to contribute approximately $100 million to the legacy Embarq pension plan in 2011.  Based on current actuarial estimates as of 
December 31, 2010 that assume a $100 million contribution in 2011 and the utilization of our existing remaining credit balance to partially satisfy 
future required cash contributions, our estimated future contributions for the 2012-2014 time period ranges from approximately $75-185 million per 
year for all of our pension plans.  The actual level of contributions required in future years can change significantly depending on discount rates and 
actual returns on plan assets.  See “Critical Accounting Policies – Pension and Postretirement Benefits”  
 

Certain shortcomings are inherent in the method of analysis presented in the computation of fair value of financial instruments.  Actual 
values may differ from those presented if market conditions vary from assumptions used in the fair value calculations.  The analysis above 
incorporates only those risk exposures that existed as of December 31, 2010.  
 
   
 
   

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  
   
 

Excluding cash used for acquisitions, we rely on cash provided by operations to fund our operating and capital expenditures as well as our 
dividend payments.   Our operations have historically provided a stable source of cash flow which has helped us continue our long-term program 
of capital improvements.  
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Operating activities.   Net cash provided by operating activities was $2.045 billion, $1.574 billion and $853.3 million in 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively.  Payments for income taxes aggregated $431.7 million, $258.9 million and $208.8 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.  In 2009, we paid approximately $54 million to fund lump sum distributions under our frozen supplemental executive retirement plan 
upon the discontinuance of such plan and under change of control provisions triggered upon the acquisition of Embarq.  We also contributed $300 
million and $115 million to the legacy Embarq pension plan during 2010 and the last half of 2009, respectively.  Our accompanying consolidated 
statements of cash flows identify major differences between net income and net cash provided by operating activities for each of these periods.  
 For additional information relating to our operations, see “Results of Operations” above.  
   
     Investing activities.   Net cash used in investing activities was $859.1 million, $678.8 million and $389.0 million in 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively.  Payments for property, plant and equipment were $863.8 million in 2010, $754.5 million in 2009 (which includes $396.1 
million of capital expenditures attributable to our Embarq operations subsequent to our July 1, 2009 acquisition of Embarq) and $286.8 million in 
2008.  Capital expenditures for 2010 and 2009 include approximately $29.0 million and $75.1 million, respectively, of one-time capital 
expenditures related to the integration of Embarq.      
 

On July 1, 2009, we consummated the acquisition of Embarq Corporation by issuing approximately $6.0 billion of CenturyLink common 
stock (valued as of June 30, 2009). We financed our merger transaction expenses with (i) available cash of the combined company and (ii) proceeds 
from CenturyLink’s and Embarq’s existing revolving credit facilities.  We acquired $76.9 million of cash in connection with our acquisition of 
Embarq.  
 

During 2008, we paid an aggregate of approximately $149 million for 69 licenses in the FCC’s auction of 700 megahertz wireless 
spectrum.  Our plan has been to use the spectrum to develop wireless voice and data service capabilities in our markets, built upon LTE (Long-
Term Evolution) technology.  The LTE network deployment plans of larger wireless carriers are driving most vendor activity, including the 
availability of handsets and other end-user devices.  Therefore, we are monitoring their deployment efforts to help shape our plans for moving 
forward.   
   

In anticipation of making lump sum distributions to certain participants of our SERP in early 2009, we liquidated our investments in 
marketable securities in the SERP trust during the second quarter of 2008 and thereby increased our cash and cash equivalents by $34.9 million.  As 
noted above, the lump sum distributions were paid in 2009 and aggregated approximately $54 million.  
   
     Financing activities.   Net cash used in financing activities was $1.175 billion during 2010, $976.4 million during 2009 and $255.4 
million in 2008.   In October 2010, we repaid our $482.5 million Series H Senior Notes at its scheduled maturity using borrowings under our 
existing credit facility.  In September 2009, we received net proceeds of $644.4 million from the issuance of $250 million of 10-year, 6.15% senior 
notes and $400 million of 30-year, 7.6% senior notes.  In October 2009, the proceeds from these note offerings, along with additional borrowings 
under our existing credit facility, were used to repurchase an aggregate of $746.1 million of CenturyLink, Inc. and Embarq indebtedness (see Note 
6 for additional information).  During 2008, we paid our $240 million Series F Senior Notes at maturity primarily using borrowings from our 
credit facility.  
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In June 2008, our Board of Directors (i) increased our annual cash dividend to $2.80 from $.27 per share and (ii) declared a one-time 



dividend of $.6325 per share, which was paid in July 2008, effectively adjusting the total second quarter dividend to the new $.70 quarterly 
dividend rate. In February 2010, our Board of Directors further increased our quarterly dividend to $.725 per share.  We paid dividends of $878.0 
million in 2010, $560.7 million in 2009 and $220.3 million in 2008.  Such increase is primarily attributable to the dividend rate increases 
mentioned above and the substantial increase in shares outstanding as a result of the common stock issued in connection with our Embarq 
acquisition on July 1, 2009.  Based on current circumstances, we intend to continue our current dividend practice, subject to any other factors that 
our Board in its discretion deems relevant.  
 

In accordance with previously announced stock repurchase programs, we repurchased 9.7 million shares (for $347.3 million) in 2008.  
 

As of December 31, 2010, we had available two unsecured revolving credit facilities, (i) a five-year, $750 million facility of CenturyLink 
and (ii) an $800 million facility of Embarq.   As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately $365.0 million outstanding under these credit 
facilities (all of which related to CenturyLink’s facility).  
 

In January 2011, we entered into a new four-year revolving credit facility that allows us to borrow up to $1.0 billion initially with the total 
capacity of the credit facility increasing to $1.7 billion upon the consummation of our pending acquisition of Qwest.  Up to $400 million of this new 
credit facility can be used for letters of credit.  Interest will be assessed on future borrowings using the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) 
plus an applicable margin between .5% and 2.5% per annum depending on the type of loan and our then current senior unsecured long-term debt 
rating.  Upon the execution of the new credit facility, the two credit facilities mentioned above were terminated.  As of February 28, 2011, we had 
$280 million outstanding under the new credit facility.  For additional information regarding our new credit facility, see Note 22.  
 

As was the case with our predecessor credit facilities, (i) outstanding letters of credit directly reduce the amount available for other 
extensions of credit under our new credit facility and (ii) outstanding borrowings under our commercial paper program, which effectively cannot 
exceed the amount available under our new facility, effectively have the same result on our borrowing capacity under the new facility.  As of 
February 28, 2011, approximately $61 million of letters of credit were outstanding and no amounts were outstanding under our commercial paper 
program.  
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     Other.    For 2011, we have budgeted approximately $1.0 billion for capital expenditures (excluding any capital related to the integration 
of the Embarq acquisition or the pending Qwest acquisition).  Such increase over the $863.8 million of capital expenditures in 2010 is due to our 
planned incremental fiber to the tower investment in 2011.  Our 2011 capital expenditure budget also includes amounts for expanding our new 
service offerings and our data networks.  We currently expect aggregate integration-related capital expenditures associated with our pending 
Qwest acquisition will approximate $200 million over the next two years.  
 

The pension plan we assumed in our acquisition of Embarq was approximately $667 million underfunded as compared to the projected 
benefit obligation as of December 31, 2010.  If this underfunded status continues, we may be required to contribute additional funds to our pension 
plan in the near future.  To reduce the underfunded position, in March 2010 we contributed $300 million to the legacy Embarq pension plan using 
cash on hand and borrowings from our credit facility.  We currently expect to contribute approximately $100 million to the legacy Embarq pension 
plan in 2011.  For further information, see Item 1A - Risk Factors, of this annual report.  
 

The following table contains certain information concerning our material contractual obligations as of December 31, 2010.  
                                                                                                                    

(1)  For additional information on the terms of our outstanding debt instruments, see Note 6.  
(2)  Represents the amount of tax and interest we would pay assuming we are required to pay the entire amount that we have reserved for our 
unrecognized tax benefits (see Note 13 for additional information).  The timing of any payments for our unrecognized tax benefits cannot be 
predicted with certainty; therefore, such amount is reflected in the “After 2015 and Other” column in the above table.  
   
     We continually evaluate the possibility of acquiring additional communications operations and expect to continue our long-term strategy 
of pursuing the acquisition of attractively-priced communications properties in exchange for cash, securities or both.  At any given time, we may 
be engaged in discussions or negotiations regarding additional acquisitions.  We generally do not announce our acquisitions or dispositions until 
we have entered into a preliminary or definitive agreement.  We may require additional financing in connection with any such acquisitions, the 
consummation of which could have a material impact on our financial condition or operations.  Approximately 4.1 million shares of our common 
stock and 200,000 shares of our preferred stock remain available for future issuance in connection with acquisitions under our acquisition shelf 
registration statement.  We also have access to debt and equity capital markets.  
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    Payments due by period    

Contractual  
obligations    Total      2011        2012-2013       2014-2015     

After  
2015 and 

Other    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                                    
Long-term debt,  including current maturities and capital 
lease obligations  (1)    $ 7,327,587       376,583       1,146,064       381,794       5,423,146   
                                          
Interest on long- term debt obligations    $ 6,175,641       506,858       946,277       834,095       3,888,411   
                                          
Unrecognized tax benefits (2)    $  76,997       -      -      -      76,997   



   
     Following our announcement of our pending acquisition of Qwest, (i) Standard & Poor’s indicated that our current long-term debt rating 
of BBB- had been placed under watch for a possible downgrade; (ii) Moody’s Investors Service affirmed our current long-term debt rating of Baa3, 
but downgraded its outlook from stable to negative; and (iii) Fitch Ratings has rated our long-term debt BBB- with a negative watch.  It is expected 
that any downgrades would be made only following the completion of the Qwest acquisition.  Our commercial paper program is rated P-3 by 
Moody’s and A-3 by S&P.  Any downgrade in our credit ratings will increase our borrowing costs and commitment fees under our new revolving 
credit facility.  Downgrades could also restrict our access to the capital markets, increase our borrowing costs under new or replacement debt 
financings, or otherwise adversely affect the terms of future borrowings by, among other things, increasing the scope of our debt covenants and 
decreasing our financial or operating flexibility.  
 
     The following table reflects our debt to total capitalization percentage and ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred stock dividends 
as of and for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.  The debt to total capitalization ratio for 2010 and 2009 reflects our Embarq 
acquisition.  The ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred stock dividends calculation for 2009 reflects the operations of Embarq only since 
July 1, 2009.  
   

* For purposes of the chart above, “earnings” consist of income before income taxes (before extraordinary item) and fixed charges, and “fixed 
charges” include our interest expense, including amortized debt issuance costs, and our preferred stock dividend costs.  
   

Our debt to capitalization percentage will increase upon acquiring Qwest, which has $11.947 billion of long-term debt at December 31, 2010. 
   

 
76  
   
   

REGULATION AND COMPETITION  
   
     The communications industry continues to undergo various fundamental regulatory, legislative, competitive and technological 
changes.  These changes may have a significant impact on the future financial performance of all communications companies.  
   
     Events affecting the communications industry.   Wireless telephone services increasingly constitute a significant source of competition 
with ILEC services, especially since wireless carriers have begun to compete effectively on the basis of price with more traditional telephone 
services.  Similarly, the growing prevalence of electronic mail, text messaging, social networking, and similar digital communications continue to 
reduce the demand for traditional landline voice services.  We anticipate these trends will continue.  
   

Federal USF programs have undergone substantial changes since 1997, and are expected to experience more changes in the coming 
years.  Since May 2001, the FCC has administered its existing universal service support programs for rural telephone companies based on 
embedded, or historical, costs.  The FCC, in April 2010, proposed to replace the USF with a broadband “Connect America” fund that would 
modernize the current “voice only” funding mechanism and direct funding away from local voice services to advance broadband deployment in 
areas unserved or underserved by broadband communications, and in February 2011 sought public comments regarding creating this new 
broadband fund.  These developments have placed additional financial pressure on the amount of money that is necessary and available to provide 
support to all eligible service providers, including payments we receive from the USF High Cost Loop program.  Increases in the nationwide 
average cost per loop factor used to allocate funds among all USF recipients caused our revenues from the USF High Cost Loop program 
(excluding the effects of the additional six months of receipts recorded in 2010 as compared to 2009 due to the July 1, 2009 acquisition of Embarq) 
to decrease in 2010 when compared to 2009.  We anticipate that such revenues will continue to decline in 2011.  See Item 7 of Part II of this annual 
report for more information.  
   

Technological developments have led to the development of new services that compete with traditional ILEC services.  Technological 
improvements have enabled cable television companies to provide alternatives to traditional circuit-switched telephone service over their cable 
networks, and several national cable companies have aggressively pursued this opportunity.  Improvements in the quality of VoIP service have led 
several cable, Internet, data and other communications companies, as well as start-up companies, to substantially increase their offerings of VoIP 
service to business and residential customers.  VoIP providers frequently offer features that cannot readily be provided by traditional ILECs and 
may price their services at or below those prices currently charged for traditional local and long distance telephone services.  Although over the past 
several years the FCC has increasingly subjected portions of VoIP operations to federal regulation, VoIP services currently operate under fewer 
regulatory constraints than LEC services.  For all these reasons, we cannot assure you that VoIP providers will not successfully compete for our 
customers.  

   
Beginning in 2003, the FCC initiated a series of broad intercarrier compensation proceedings designed to create a uniform mechanism to be 

used by the entire telecommunications industry for payments between carriers originating, terminating, or carrying telecommunications traffic.  In 
connection therewith, the FCC has received intercarrier compensation proposals from several industry groups, and solicited public comments on a 
variety of topics related to access charges and intercarrier compensation.  Most recently, on February 8, 2011, the FCC sought comments from the 
public on proposals designed to lower intercarrier compensation rates.  The ultimate outcome of the FCC’s intercarrier compensation proceedings 
could change the way we receive compensation from, and remit compensation to, other carriers, our end user customers and the USF.  As discussed 
further in Item 1A of this annual report, these changes could substantially reduce the amount of revenues we receive with respect to various 
services.  
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    2010      2009      2008    
Debt to total capitalization      43.2 %     45.0       51.2   
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges  and preferred stock dividends*      3.74       3.20       3.78   



 
During 2010, the FCC released its National Broadband Plan and adopted an order imposing “network neutrality” rules governing Internet 

services, both of which are discussed in further detail in Item 1 of this annual report.    
   
As discussed further in such item, we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these actions, but believe that these and other FCC initiatives 

could have a material impact on our operations and those of other communications companies.  
   

Many cable, technology or other communication companies that previously offered a limited range of services are now, like us, offering 
diversified bundles of services.  As such, a growing number of companies are competing to serve the communications needs of the same customer 
base.  Several of these companies may be able to provide more comprehensive or less costly service bundles than ours.  Such activities will 
continue to place downward pressure on the demand for our access lines.  
 
     Recent events affecting us .   During the last few years, most of the states in which we provide telephone services have taken legislative 
or regulatory steps to further introduce competition into the ILEC business.  
 
     At the state level, we are responding to carrier complaints, legislation or generic investigations regarding our intrastate switched access 
rate levels in several of our states.  Although outcomes cannot be determined at this time, we believe our intrastate switched access rate levels are 
appropriate and we vigorously plan to defend them. If we are required to reduce our intrastate switched access rates as a result of any of these 
initiatives, we will seek to recover displaced switched access revenues from state universal service funds or other services.  However, the amount 
of such recovery, if any, is not assured.  
   
     Over the past few years, each of the FCC, Universal Service Administrative Company (“USAC”) and certain Congressional committees 
has initiated wide-ranging reviews of the administration of the federal USF.  As part of this process, we, along with a number of other USF 
recipients, have undergone a number of USF audits and have also received requests for information from the FCC’s Office of Inspector General 
(“OIG”) and Congressional committees.  In addition, in July 2008 we received a subpoena from the OIG requesting a broad range of information 
regarding our depreciation rates and methodologies since 2000, and in July 2009 we received a second subpoena requesting information about our 
participation in the E-rate program for Wisconsin schools and libraries since 2004.  The OIG has not identified to us any specific issues with respect 
to our participation in the USF program and all USAC audits are finalized with no material issued reported regarding our participation in the USF 
program.  During 2010, USAC moved from the audit process to a Payment Quality Assessment (“PQA”) program.  We continue to receive and 
respond to these PQAs and to date no material issues have been identified.  While we believe our participation is in compliance with FCC rules and 
in accordance with accepted industry practices, we cannot predict with certainty the timing or outcome of these various reviews.  
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 Excluding our pending acquisition of Qwest, we expect our operating revenues in 2011 to decline from 2010 levels as we continue to 
experience downward pressure primarily due to continued access line losses, reduced universal service funding and lower network access 
revenues.   We expect such revenue declines to be partially offset primarily due to increased demand for our high-speed Internet service offering 
and special access services.  
 

For a more complete description of regulation and competition impacting our operations and various attendant risks, please see Items 1 and 
1A of this annual report.  
   
     Other matters.    Through June 30, 2009, CenturyLink accounted for its regulated telephone operations (except for the properties 
acquired from Verizon in 2002) in accordance with the provisions of codification ASC 980-10 (formerly SFAS 71) which addresses regulatory 
accounting under which actions by regulators can provide reasonable assurance of the recognition of an asset, reduce or eliminate the value of an 
asset and impose a liability on a regulated enterprise.  On July 1, 2009, we discontinued the accounting requirements of regulatory accounting 
upon the conversion of substantially all of our rate-of-return study areas to federal price cap regulation (based on the FCC’s approval of our 
petition to convert our study areas to price cap regulation).  
 

In the third quarter of 2009, we recorded a net non-cash extraordinary after-tax gain of approximately $136.0 million upon the 
discontinuance of regulatory accounting.  See Note 16 for additional information.  
   
     We have certain obligations based on federal, state and local laws relating to the protection of the environment.  Costs of compliance 
through 2010 have not been material, and we currently do not believe that such costs will become material.  
   
   

 
   

For information pertaining to the our market risk disclosure, see “Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations – Market Risk”.  
 

   
   

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk  
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Report of Management  
The Shareholders  
CenturyLink, Inc.:  
   
     Management has prepared and is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of our consolidated financial statements.  The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and 
necessarily include amounts determined using our best judgments and estimates.  
   

Our consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, who have 
expressed their opinion with respect to the fairness of the consolidated financial statements.  Their audit was conducted in accordance with 
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  

   
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, a process designed to 

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our 
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on our evaluation under the framework of COSO , management concluded that our internal control over 
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2010.  The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2010 has been audited by KPMG LLP, as stated in their report which is included herein.  

   
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, projections of 

any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

   
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed of independent directors who are not officers or employees.  The Committee 

meets periodically with the external auditors, internal auditors and management.  The Committee considers the independence of the external 
auditors and the audit scope and discusses internal control, financial and reporting matters.  Both the external and internal auditors have free access 
to the Committee.  
 
 
/s/  R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  
R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  
March 1, 2011  
   
   
                                                                                              
   

  

Item 8 .  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
CenturyLink, Inc.:  
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CenturyLink, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 
2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows, and stockholders’ equity for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have 
audited the financial statement schedule as listed in Item 15a(2). These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial 
statement schedule based on our audits.  

   
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

   
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period 
ended December 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement 
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the 
information set forth therein.  

   
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 1, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  

   
 
/s/ KPMG LLP  
KPMG LLP  
Shreveport, Louisiana  
March 1, 2011  
   
   
   

  

81 

  
  



   
   

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
 
   
The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
CenturyLink, Inc.:  
   

We have audited CenturyLink, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) . The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Report of Management . Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.  

   
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting 
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our 
audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.  

   
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

   
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 

any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

   
In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 

2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.  
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 

consolidated balance sheets of CenturyLink, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of 
income, comprehensive income, cash flows, and stockholders’ equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010 and 
our report dated March 1, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.  
   
   
/s/ KPMG LLP  
   
KPMG LLP  
Shreveport, Louisiana  
March 1, 2011  
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  
Consolidated Statements of Income  

   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
   
   
   

  

    Year ended December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008    

    
(Dollars, except per share amounts, and shares in 

thousands)    
                    
OPERATING REVENUES    $ 7,041,534       4,974,239       2,599,747   
                          
OPERATING EXPENSES                          
         Cost of services and products (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)      2,410,048       1,752,087       955,473   
         Selling, general and administrative      1,137,989       1,014,341       399,136   
         Depreciation and amortization      1,433,553       974,710       523,786   
                 Total operating expenses      4,981,590       3,741,138       1,878,395   
                          
OPERATING INCOME      2,059,944       1,233,101       721,352   
                          
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)                          
         Interest expense      (557,478 )     (370,414 )     (202,217 ) 
         Other income (expense)      29,619       (48,175 )     42,252   
                 Total other income (expense)      (527,859 )     (418,589 )     (159,965 ) 
                          
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE      1,532,085       814,512       561,387   
Income tax expense      582,951       301,881       194,357   
                          
INCOME BEFORE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS AND EXTRAORDINARY ITEM      949,134       512,631       367,030   
Noncontrolling interests      (1,429 )     (1,377 )     (1,298 ) 
NET INCOME BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY ITEM      947,705       511,254       365,732   
Extraordinary item, net of income tax expense and noncontrolling interests (see Note 16)      -      135,957       -  
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO CENTURYLINK, INC.    $ 947,705       647,211       365,732   
                          
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE                          
   Before extraordinary item    $ 3.13       2.55       3.53   
   Extraordinary item    $ -      .68       -  
   Basic earnings per share    $ 3.13       3.23       3.53   
                          
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE                          
   Before extraordinary item    $ 3.13       2.55       3.52   
   Extraordinary item    $ -      .68       -  
   Diluted earnings per share    $ 3.13       3.23       3.52   
                          
DIVIDENDS PER COMMON SHARE    $ 2.90       2.80       2.1675   

AVERAGE BASIC SHARES OUTSTANDING      300,619       198,813       102,268   

AVERAGE DILUTED SHARES OUTSTANDING      301,297       199,057       102,560   
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income  
   
   

   
   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
   
   
   

  

    Year ended December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                    
NET INCOME BEFORE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS    $ 949,134       650,133       367,030   
                          
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAXES                          
      Marketable securities:                          
               Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of   ($332) tax      -      -      (533 ) 
               Reclassification adjustment for gain included in  net income, net of ($1,730) tax      -      -      (2,776 ) 
      Derivative instruments:                          
               Reclassification adjustment for gains included in net income, net of $267, $267 and 
$267 tax      429       429       429   
      Items related to employee benefit plans:                          
               Change in net actuarial loss, net of ($37,908),  $30,100 and ($48,656) tax      (62,321 )     39,209       (82,505 ) 
               Change in net prior service credit, net of ($1,328),   ($5,798) and ($589) tax      (2,130 )     (9,301 )     (945 ) 
               Reclassification adjustment for gains (losses)   included in net income:                          
                          Amortization of net actuarial loss, net of   $5,845, $6,161 and $1,198 tax      9,376       9,883       1,921   
                          Amortization of net prior service credit, net   of ($749), ($1,270) and $2,261 
tax      ( 1,201 )     (2,037 )     3,627   
                                 Net change in other comprehensive income (loss) (net of reclassification  
adjustment), net of taxes      (55,847 )     38,183       (80,782 ) 
                          
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME      893,287       688,316       286,248   
Comprehensive income attributable to  noncontrolling interests      ( 1,429 )     (2,922 )     (1,298 ) 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE  TO CENTURYLINK, INC.    $ 891,858       685,394       284,950   

  
85  



   
CENTURYLINK, INC.  

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
   

   
   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
   
   
   

  

    December 31,    
    2010      2009    
    (Dollars in thousands)    

ASSETS              
CURRENT ASSETS              
      Cash and cash equivalents    $ 172,943       161,807   
      Accounts receivable, less allowance of $60,086 and $47,450      712,814       685,589   
      Income tax receivable     102,465       115,684   
      Materials and supplies, at average cost     32,717       35,755   
      Deferred income tax asset     81,341       83,319   
      Other     40,849        41,437   
              Total current assets     1,143,129        1,123,591   
                  
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT      8,754,476       9,097,139   
                  
GOODWILL AND OTHER ASSETS                  
      Goodwill     10,260,640       10,251,758   
      Other intangible assets                  
              Customer list     929,907       1,130,817   
              Other      310,170       315,601   
      Other asse ts      639,776        643,823    
              Total goodwill and other assets      12,140,493       12,341,999   
TOTAL ASSETS    $ 22,038,098       22,562,729   

                  
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY                  

CURRENT LIABILITIES                  
      Current maturities of long-term debt   $ 11,583       500,065   
      Accounts payable     299,619       394,687   
      Accrued expenses and other current liabilities                 
              Salaries and benefits     159,258       255,103   
              Other taxes     124,155       98,743   
              Interest     104,156       108,020   
              Other      121,828       168,203   
      Advance billings and customer deposits     190,443       182,374   
              Total current liabilities     1,011,042       1,707,195   
                  
LONG-TERM DEBT      7,316,004       7,253,653   
                  
DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES                  
      Deferred income taxes     2,368,698       2,256,579   
      Benefit plan obligations     1,305,997       1,485,643   
      Other deferred credits     389,198       392,860   
              Total deferred credits and other liabilities     4,063,893       4,135,082   
                  
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY                  
      Common stock, $1.00 par value, authorized 800,000,000 shares, issued and outstanding 304,947,538 and 
299,189,279 shares     304,948       299,189   
      Paid-in capital     6,174,741       6,014,051   
      Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax     (141,153 )     (85,306 ) 
      Retained earnings     3,302,469       3,232,769   
      Preferred stock - non-redeemable     236       236   
      Noncontrolling interests     5,918       5,860   
              Total stockholders' equity     9,647,159       9,466,799   
                  
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    $ 22,038,098       22,562,729   
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  
   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
   
   
   

  

    Year ended December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
OPERATING ACTIVITIES                    
      Net income    $ 949,134       648,588       367,030   
      Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:                          
              Depreciation and amortization      1,433,553       974,710       523,786   
              Extraordinary item      -      (135,957 )     -  
              Gains on asset dispositions and liquidation of marketable securities      -      -      (12,452 ) 
              Deferred income taxes      131,768       153,950       67,518   
              Share-based compensation      38,168       55,153       16,390   
              Income from unconsolidated cellular entity      (16,369 )     (19,087 )     (12,045 ) 
              Distributions from unconsolidated cellular entity      16,029       20,100       15,960   
              Changes in current assets and current liabilities:                          
                         Receivables      (27,225 )     (23,778 )     (7,978 ) 
                         Accounts payable      (95,068 )     (32,209 )     14,043   
                         Accrued taxes      38,194       (150,073 )     (64,778 ) 
                         Other current assets and other current liabilities, net      (127,539 )     121,380       (15,612 ) 
              Retirement benefits      (271,308 )     (82,114 )     (26,066 ) 
              Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation      (11,884 )     (4,194 )     (1,123 ) 
              (Increase) decrease in noncurrent assets      (22,980 )     (2,347 )     9,744   
              Increase (decrease) in other noncurrent liabilities      10,231       41,649       (27,561 ) 
              Other, net      -      7,944       6,444   
                         Net cash provided by operating activities      2,044,704       1,573,715       853,300   
                          
INVESTING ACTIVITIES                          
      Payments for property, plant and equipment      (863,769 )     (754,544 )     (286,817 ) 
      Cash acquired from Embarq acquisition      -      76,906       -  
      Purchase of wireless spectrum      -      (2,000 )     (148,964 ) 
      Proceeds from liquidation of marketable securities      -      -      34,945   
      Proceeds from sale of assets      -      1,595       15,809   
      Other, net      4,716       (801 )     (3,968 ) 
                         Net cash used in investing activities      (859,053 )     (678,844 )     (388,995 ) 
                           
FINANCING ACTIVITIES                          
      Payments of debt      (499,931 )     (1,097,064 )     (285,401 ) 
      Net proceeds from issuance of debt      73,800       644,423       563,115   
      Cash dividends      (878,005 )     (560,697 )     (220,266 ) 
      Repurchase of common stock      (16,515 )     (15,563 )     (347,264 ) 
      Net proceeds from settlement of hedges      -      -      20,745   
      Proceeds from issuance of common stock      130,260       56,823       14,599   
      Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation      11,884       4,194       1,123   
      Other, net      3,992       (8,507 )     (2,031 ) 
                        Net cash used in financing activities      (1,174,515 )     (976,391 )     (255,380 ) 
                          
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents      11,136       (81,520 )     208,925   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year      161,807       243,327       34,402   
                          
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR    $ 172,943       161,807       243,327   
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity  
   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
 
 
   

  

    Year ended December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008    

    
(Dollars, except per share amounts, and shares in 

thousands)    
                    
COMMON STOCK (represents dollars and shares)                    
      Balance at beginning of year    $ 299,189       100,277       108,492   
      Issuance of common stock to acquire Embarq Corporation      -      196,083       -  
      Repurchase of common stock      -      -      (9,626 ) 
      Conversion of preferred stock into common stock      -      -      367   
      Shares withheld to satisfy tax withholdings      (460 )     (503 )     (50 ) 
      Issuance of common stock through dividend reinvestment, incentive and benefit plans      6,219       3,332       1,094   
                         Balance at end of year      304,948       299,189       100,277   
PAID-IN CAPITAL                          
      Balance at beginning of year      6,014,051       39,961       91,147   
      Issuance of common stock to acquire Embarq Corporation, including  
         portion of share-based  compensation awards assumed by CenturyLink      -      5,873,904       -  
      Repurchase of common stock      -      -      (91,408 ) 
      Shares withheld to satisfy tax withholdings      (16,055 )     (15,060 )     (1,667 ) 
      Conversion of preferred stock into common stock      -      -      6,368   
      Issuance of common stock through dividend reinvestment, incentive and benefit plans      124,041       53,491       13,505   
      Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation      11,884       4,194       1,123   
      Share-based compensation      38,168       55,153       16,390   
      Other      2,652       2,408       4,503   
                         Balance at end of year      6,174,741       6,014,051       39,961   
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS, 
  NET OF TAX                          
      Balance at beginning of year      (85,306 )     (123,489 )     (42,707 ) 
      Net change in other comprehensive loss (net of reclassification adjustment), net of tax      (55,847 )     38,183       (80,782 ) 
      Balance at end of year      (141,153 )     (85,306 )     (123,489 ) 
RETAINED EARNINGS                          
      Balance at beginning of year      3,232,769       3,146,255       3,245,302   
      Net income attributable to CenturyLink, Inc.      947,705       647,211       365,732   
      Repurchase of common stock      -      -      (244,513 ) 
      Cash dividends declared                          
            Common stock - $2.90, $2.80 and $2.1675 per share      (877,993 )     (560,685 )     (220,086 ) 
            Preferred stock      (12 )     (12 )     (180 ) 
                         Balance at end of year      3,302,469       3,232,769       3,146,255   
PREFERRED STOCK - NON-REDEEMABLE                          
      Balance at beginning of year      236       236       6,971   
      Conversion of preferred stock into common stock      -      -      (6,735 ) 
                         Balance at end of year      236       236       236   
NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS                          
      Balance at beginning of period      5,860       4,568       6,605   
      Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests      1,429       1,377       1,298   
      Extraordinary gain attributable to noncontrolling interests      -      1,545       -  
      Distributions to noncontrolling interests      (1,371 )     (1,630 )     (3,335 ) 
                         Balance at end of period      5,918       5,860       4,568   
                          
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY    $ 9,647,159       9,466,799       3,167,808   
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

December 31, 2010  
 
(1)           SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
 
Principles of consolidation - Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CenturyLink, Inc. (“CenturyLink”) and its majority-
owned subsidiaries.  
 
Embarq acquisition - On July 1, 2009, we acquired Embarq Corporation (“Embarq”) through a merger transaction, with Embarq surviving the merger 
as a wholly-owned subsidiary of CenturyLink.  The results of operations of Embarq are included in our consolidated results of operations beginning 
July 1, 2009.  See Note 2 for additional information related to the Embarq acquisition.  
 
Discontinuance of regulatory accounting – Through June 30, 2009, CenturyLink accounted for its regulated telephone operations (except for the 
properties acquired from Verizon in 2002) in accordance with the provisions of regulatory accounting under which certain of our assets and 
liabilities were required to be recorded and, accordingly, reflected in the balance sheets of our regulated entities.  On July 1, 2009, we discontinued 
the accounting requirements of regulatory accounting upon the conversion of substantially all of our rate-of-return study areas to federal price cap 
regulation.  In the third quarter of 2009, upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting, we recorded a non-cash extraordinary gain in our 
consolidated statements of income of $136.0 million after-tax.  See Note 16 for additional information.  
 

Subsequent to the July 1, 2009 discontinuance of regulatory accounting, all intercompany transactions with affiliates have been eliminated 
from the consolidated financial statements.  Prior to July 1, 2009, intercompany transactions with regulated affiliates subject to regulatory 
accounting were not eliminated in connection with preparing the consolidated financial statements, as allowed by the provisions of regulatory 
accounting.   The amount of intercompany revenues and costs that were not eliminated related to the first half of 2009 approximated $114 million.  
   
Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results may differ from those 
estimates.  
 
Revenue recognition - Revenues are generally recognized when services are provided or when products are delivered to customers.  Revenue that is 
billed in advance includes monthly recurring network access services, special access services and monthly recurring local line charges.  The 
unearned portion of this revenue is initially deferred as a component of advance billings and customer deposits on our balance sheet and recognized 
as revenue over the period that the services are provided.  Revenue that is billed in arrears includes switched access services, nonrecurring network 
access services, nonrecurring local services and long distance services.  The earned but unbilled portion of this revenue is recognized as revenue in 
the period that the services are provided.  We offer bundle discounts to our customers who receive certain groupings of services.  These bundle 
discounts are recognized concurrently with the associated revenues and are allocated to the various services in the bundled offering based on the 
relative fair value of services included in each bundled combination.  Revenues from installation activities are deferred and recognized as revenue 
over the estimated life of the customer relationship.  The costs associated with such installation activities, up to the related amount of deferred 
revenue, are deferred and recognized as an operating expense over the same period.  We offer some products and services that are provided by 
third-party vendors.  We review the relationship between us, the vendor and the end customer to assess whether revenue should be reported on a 
gross or net basis.  In assessing whether revenue should be reported on a gross or net basis, we consider whether we act as a principal in the 
transaction, take title to the products, have risk and rewards of ownership, and act as an agent or broker.  
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Allowance for doubtful accounts .  In evaluating the collectibility of our accounts receivable, we assess a number of factors, including a specific 
customer’s or carrier’s ability to meet its financial obligations to us, the length of time the receivable has been past due and historical collection 
experience.  Based on these assessments, we record both specific and general reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable to reduce the stated amount 
of applicable accounts receivable to the amount we ultimately expect to collect.  
 
Property, plant and equipment – As discussed in Note 2, the property acquired in connection with the acquisition of Embarq was recorded based on 
its fair value.  Substantially all other telephone plant is stated at original cost.  Normal retirements of telephone plant are charged against 
accumulated depreciation, along with the costs of removal, less salvage, with no gain or loss recognized.  Renewals and betterments of plant and 
equipment are capitalized while repairs, as well as renewals of minor items, are charged to operating expense.  Depreciation of telephone plant is 
provided on the straight line method using class or overall group rates; such average annual rates range from 2% to 29%.  
   
     Non-telephone property is stated at cost and, when sold or retired, a gain or loss is recognized.  We depreciate such property on the 
straight line method over estimated service lives ranging from two to 35 years.  
 

We perform annual internal studies to determine the depreciable lives for our property, plant and equipment.  Our studies utilize models that 
take into account actual usage, replacement history and assumptions about technology evolution to estimate the remaining life of our asset 
base.  The changes in our estimates incorporated as a result of our 2010 internal study did not have a material impact on the level of our 
depreciation expense.  
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Goodwill and other long-lived assets – Goodwill recorded in a business combination is required to be reviewed for impairment and to be written 
down only in periods in which the recorded amount of goodwill exceeds its fair value.  Applicable accounting guidance also stipulates certain 
factors to consider regarding  whether or not a triggering event has occurred that would require performance of an interim goodwill impairment 
test.  We test impairment of goodwill at least annually by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value (including goodwill). 
We base our estimates of the fair value of the reporting unit on valuation models using criterion such as multiples of earnings.  See Note 4 for 
additional information.  Other long-lived assets (exclusive of goodwill) are reviewed for impairment whenever events and circumstances indicate 
that such carrying amount cannot be recoverable by assessing the recoverability of the carrying value through undiscounted net cash flows expected 
to be generated by the assets.  
   
Income taxes - We file a consolidated federal income tax return with our eligible subsidiaries.  We use the asset and liability method of accounting 
for income taxes under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.   We establish valuation allowances when necessary 
to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amounts that we believe are more likely than not to be recovered.    
   
Postretirement and pension plans – We recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of our defined benefit and postretirement plans as an asset 
or a liability on our balance sheet, with an adjustment to stockholders’ equity (reflected as an increase or decrease in accumulated other 
comprehensive income or loss) for the accumulated actuarial gains or losses.   Pension and postretirement benefit expenses are recognized over the 
period in which the employee renders service and becomes eligible to receive benefits.   We make significant assumptions (including the discount 
rate, expected rate of return on plan assets and health care trend rates) in computing the pension and postretirement benefits expense and 
obligations.  See Notes 11 and 12 for additional information.  
 
Stock-based compensation – We measure our cost of awarding employees with equity instruments based upon allocations of the fair value of the 
award on the grant date.  See Note 15 for additional information.  
 
Derivative financial instruments – We account for derivative instruments and hedging activities in accordance with applicable accounting guidance 
which requires that all derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps, be recognized in the financial statements and measured at fair value 
regardless of the purpose or intent of holding them.  On the date a derivative contract is entered into, we designate the derivative as either (i) a fair 
value hedge, which involves a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment or (ii) a cash flow 
hedge, which involves a hedge of a forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or 
liability.  We also formally assess, both at the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. If we determine that a derivative is not, or is no 
longer, highly effective as a hedge, we would discontinue hedge accounting prospectively.  We recognize all derivatives on the balance sheet at 
their fair value.  Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are either recognized in income or stockholders’ equity (as a 
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)), depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge 
accounting.  We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.  Management periodically reviews 
our exposure to interest rate fluctuations and implements strategies to manage the exposure.  See Note 7 for additional information.  
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Earnings per share – We determine basic earnings per share amounts on the basis of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the applicable accounting period.  Diluted earnings per share gives effect to all potential dilutive common shares that were outstanding 
during the period .  See Note 14 for additional information.        
 
Cash equivalents - We consider short-term investments with a maturity at date of purchase of three months or less to be cash equivalents.  
 
Recent accounting pronouncements - In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board updated the accounting standard regarding 
revenue recognition for multiple deliverable arrangements, such as the service bundles we offer to our customers. This update requires the use of 
the relative selling price method when allocating revenue in these types of arrangements. This method allows a vendor to use its best estimate of 
selling price if neither vendor specific objective evidence nor third party evidence of selling price exists when evaluating multiple deliverable 
arrangements. This standard update is effective January 1, 2011 and may be adopted prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or 
materially modified after the date of adoption or retrospectively for all revenue arrangements for all periods presented. We currently do not expect 
this standard update to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  
 
In January 2010, we adopted the accounting standard update regarding fair value measurements and disclosures, which requires additional 
disclosures and explanations for transfers of financial assets and liabilities between certain levels in the fair value hierarchy.  The adoption of this 
accounting standard update did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  
 
Reclassifications – Certain amounts for prior periods have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation, including the reclassification of 
certain revenue components as more fully described in Note 20.  
   
   
(2)           EMBARQ ACQUISITION  
   

On July 1, 2009, we acquired Embarq through a merger transaction, with Embarq surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
CenturyLink.  We accounted for such acquisition pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board guidance on business combinations, which 
requires an acquiring entity to recognize all of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a transaction at the acquisition date fair value with 
limited exceptions.  Such guidance also changed the accounting treatment for certain specific items, including acquisition costs, acquired contingent 
liabilities, restructuring costs, deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date and is effective for us 
for all business combinations with acquisition dates after January 1, 2009.  
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As a result of the acquisition, each outstanding share of Embarq common stock was converted into the right to receive 1.37 shares of 
CenturyLink common stock (“CTL common stock”), with cash paid in lieu of fractional shares. Based on the number of CenturyLink common 
shares issued to consummate the merger (196.1 million), the closing stock price of CTL common stock as of June 30, 2009 ($30.70) and the pre-
combination portion of share-based compensation awards assumed by CenturyLink ($50.2 million), the aggregate merger consideration 
approximated $6.1 billion.  The premium paid by us in this transaction is attributable to strategic benefits, including enhanced financial and 
operational scale, market diversification, leveraged combined networks and improved competitive positioning.  None of the goodwill associated 
with this transaction is deductible for income tax purposes.  

   
The results of operations of Embarq are included in our consolidated results of operations beginning July 1, 2009.  Approximately $4.866 

billion and $2.563 billion of operating revenues of Embarq are included in our consolidated results of operations for 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.  CenturyLink was the accounting acquirer in this transaction.  We have recognized Embarq’s assets and liabilities at their acquisition 
date estimated fair values.  The assignment of a fair value to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Embarq (and the related estimated lives 
of depreciable tangible and identifiable intangible assets) require a significant amount of judgment.  The fair value of property, plant and equipment 
and identifiable intangible assets were determined based upon analysis performed by an independent valuation firm.  The fair value of pension and 
postretirement obligations was determined by independent actuaries.  The fair value of long-term debt was determined by management based on a 
discounted cash flow analysis, using the rates and maturities of these obligations compared to terms and rates currently available in the long-term 
financing markets at the time of acquisition.  All other fair value determinations, which consisted primarily of Embarq’s current assets, current 
liabilities and deferred income taxes, were made by management.  Upon the end of the measurement period in June 2010, we assigned the following 
final fair value amounts to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the Embarq acquisition.  
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_________________  
* Includes a fair value of $440 million assigned to accounts receivable which had a gross contractual value of $492 million as of July 1, 2009. The 
$52 million difference represents our best estimate as of July 1, 2009 of the contractual cash flows that would not be collected.  
 

We recognized approximately $88 million of liabilities arising from contingencies as of the acquisition date on the basis that it was probable 
that a liability had been incurred and the amount could be reasonably estimated.  Such contingencies primarily relate to transaction and property tax 
contingencies and contingencies arising from billing disputes with various parties in the communications industry.  
 

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of CenturyLink and Embarq as though the acquisition 
had been consummated as of January 1, 2009 and 2008, respectively, for the two periods presented below.  
 

   
These results include certain adjustments, primarily due to adjustments to depreciation and amortization associated with the property, plant 

and equipment and identifiable intangible assets, increased retiree benefit costs due to the remeasurement of the benefit obligations, and the related 
income tax effects.  Pro forma operating revenues for the year ended December 31, 2009 include approximately $104 million of revenues that 
would have been eliminated had our July 1, 2009 discontinuance of the application of regulatory accounting been effective as of January 1, 
2009.  The pro forma information does not necessarily reflect the actual results of operations had the acquisition been consummated at the 

    Fair value    

    
as of July 1, 

2009    

    
(Dollars in 
thousands)    

        
Current assets*    $ 675,720   
Property, plant and equipment      6,077,672   
Identifiable intangible assets          
      Customer list      1,098,000   
      Rights of way      268,472   
      Other (trademarks, internally developed software, licenses)      26,817   
Other non-current assets      24,131   
Current liabilities      (837,132 ) 
Long-term debt, including current maturities      (4,886,708 ) 
Other long-term liabilities      (2,621,493 ) 
Goodwill      6,244,966   
Total purchase price    $ 6,070,445   

    Twelve months    
    ended December 31,    
    2009      2008    

    
(Dollars, except per share  
amounts, in thousands)    

              
Operating revenues    $ 7,645,000       8,289,000   
Income before extraordinary item    $ 895,000       1,087,000   
Basic earnings per share before extraordinary item    $ 3.00       3.55   
Diluted earnings per share before extraordinary item    $ 2.99       3.53   



beginning of the period indicated nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results.  Other than those actually realized during the last 
half of 2009, the pro forma information does not give effect to any potential revenue enhancements or cost synergies or other operating efficiencies 
that have resulted or could result from the acquisition.  
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During 2010 and 2009, we recognized an aggregate of approximately $121.7 million and $253.7 million, respectively, of integration, 
transaction and other costs related to the Embarq acquisition, including costs associated with system and customer conversions, employee-related 
severance and benefit costs, investment banker and legal fees associated with the merger closing, and branding costs associated with changing our 
trade name to CenturyLink.  
   

In connection with consummating the Embarq acquisition, on July 1, 2009, we amended our charter to (i) eliminate our time-phase voting 
structure, which previously entitled persons who beneficially owned shares of our common stock continuously since May 30, 1987 to ten votes per 
share, and (ii) increase the authorized number of shares of our common stock from 350 million to 800 million.  As so amended and restated, our 
charter provides that each share of our common stock is entitled to one vote per share with respect to each matter properly submitted to shareholders 
for their vote, consent, waiver, release or other action.  
   

On January 23, 2009, Embarq amended its Credit Agreement to effect, upon completion of the merger, a waiver of the event of default that 
would have arisen under the Credit Agreement solely as a result of the merger and enabled the Credit Agreement, as amended, to remain in place after 
the merger.  Previously, in connection with agreeing to acquire Embarq, we had entered into a commitment letter with various lenders which provided 
for an $800 million bridge facility that would have been available to, among other things, refinance borrowings under the Credit Agreement in the 
event a waiver of the event of default arising from the consummation of the merger could not have been obtained and other financing was 
unavailable.  On January 23, 2009, we terminated the commitment letter and paid an aggregate of $8.0 million to the lenders.  Such amount is reflected 
as an expense (in Other income (expense)) in 2009.  

   
   
(3)           PENDING ACQUISITION OF QWEST  
 

On April 21, 2010, we entered into a definitive agreement under which we propose to acquire Qwest Communications International Inc. 
(“Qwest”) in a tax-free stock-for-stock transaction.  Under the terms of the agreement, Qwest shareholders will receive 0.1664 CenturyLink shares 
for each share of Qwest common stock they own at closing.  CenturyLink shareholders are expected to own approximately 50.5% and Qwest 
shareholders are expected to own approximately 49.5% of the combined company at closing.  As of December 31, 2010, Qwest had outstanding 
approximately (i) 1.764 billion shares of common stock and (ii) $11.947 billion of long-term debt.  
 

Completion of the transaction is subject to the receipt of regulatory approvals, including approvals from the Federal Communications 
Commission and certain state public service commissions, as well as other customary closing conditions.  Subject to these conditions, we anticipate 
closing this transaction on April 1, 2011.  If the merger agreement is terminated under certain circumstances, we may be obligated to pay Qwest a 
termination fee of $350 million or Qwest may be obligated to pay CenturyLink a termination fee of $350 million.  
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(4)           GOODWILL AND OTHER ASSETS  
   
           Goodwill and other assets at December 31, 2010 and 2009 were composed of the following:  
 

   
Our goodwill was derived from numerous previous acquisitions whereby the purchase price exceeded the fair value of the net assets 

acquired.   The change in the balance of goodwill from December 31, 2009 is attributable to the finalization of the assignment of fair value to 
Embarq’s assets and liabilities acquired (primarily certain contingent liabilities and deferred income taxes finalized within the measurement period) in 
connection with our July 1, 2009 acquisition of Embarq.  
 

December 31,    2010      2009    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
              
Goodwill    $ 10,260,640       10,251,758   
Intangible assets subject to amortization                  
      Customer list, less accumulated amortization of 
$349,402 and $148,491      929,907       1,130,817   
      Other, less accumulated amortization of $8,297 
and $22,466      41,670       47,101   
Intangible assets not subject to amortization      268,500       268,500   
Billing system development costs, less accumulated 
amortization  
   of $73,735 and $61,672      162,809       174,872   
Investment in 700 MHz wireless spectrum licenses      149,425       149,425   
Deferred costs associated with installation activities      114,375       91,865   
Cash surrender value of life insurance contracts      99,462       100,945   
Investment in unconsolidated cellular partnership      33,019       32,679   
Other      80,686       94,037   
    $ 12,140,493       12,341,999   



The vast majority of our goodwill is attributable to our telephone operations, which we internally operate and manage based on five geographic 
regions which were established in connection with our acquisition of Embarq.   We test for goodwill impairment for our telephone operations at the 
region level due to the similar economic characteristics of the individual reporting units that comprise each region.  Impairment of goodwill is tested by 
comparing the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value (including goodwill).  Estimates of the fair value of the reporting unit of our 
telephone operations are based on valuation models using techniques such as multiples of earnings (before interest, taxes and depreciation and 
amortization).  We also evaluate goodwill impairment of our other operations primarily based on multiples of earnings and revenues.  If the fair value 
of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, a second calculation is required in which the implied fair value of goodwill is compared to its 
carrying value.  If the implied fair value of goodwill is less than its carrying value, goodwill must be written down to its implied fair value.  
 

As of September 30, 2010, we completed our annual impairment test of goodwill and concluded that our goodwill was not impaired as of that 
date and we believe that no events have occurred subsequent to that date that would impact our analysis.  However, as of September 30, 2010, the 
estimated fair value of the Southern region exceeded its carrying value by less than 10%.  Should events occur (such as continued access line losses 
or other revenue reductions) that would cause the fair value to decline below its carrying value, we may be required to record a non-cash charge to 
earnings during the period in which the impairment is determined.  
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We are amortizing our customer list intangible asset associated with our Embarq acquisition over an average of 10 years using an accelerated 

method of amortization (sum-of-the-years digits) to more closely match the estimated cash flow generated by such asset.  Our remaining customer list 
intangible assets are being amortized over a range of 5-15 years using the straight-line amortization method.  Effective July 1, 2009 we changed the 
assessment of useful life for our franchise rights from indefinite to 20 years (straight-line).  We periodically evaluate our customer list intangible asset 
to insure that our current amortization method and remaining useful lives are appropriate.  
 

Total amortization expense related to the intangible assets subject to amortization for 2010 was $206.3 million and is expected to be $185.6 
million for 2011, $164.5 million for 2012, $145.2 million for 2013, $126.0 million in 2014 and $106.9 million in 2015 (based on intangible assets held 
at December 31, 2010).  
   

In connection with our acquisition of Embarq, we established an intangible asset associated with right-of-way and other real estate 
agreements of approximately $268.5 million.  We have concluded that such asset has an indefinite life and therefore is currently not being 
amortized.  We annually review this asset for potential impairment.  
 

We accounted for the costs to develop an integrated billing and customer care system in accordance with applicable accounting guidance 
related to internally developed software.  Aggregate capitalized costs (before accumulated amortization) totaled $236.5 million and are being 
amortized over a twenty-year period.  
 

The costs associated with installation activities are deferred and recognized as an operating expense over the estimated life of the customer 
relationship (10 years).  Such costs are only deferred to the extent of the related deferred revenue.  
 

During 2008, we paid an aggregate of approximately $149 million for 69 licenses in the FCC’s auction of 700 megahertz wireless 
spectrum.    We annually review this asset for potential impairment.  

   
97  

   
(5)           PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 
     Net property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2010 and 2009 was composed of the following:  
   

   
Depreciation expense was $1.227 billion, $838.8 million and $506.9 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  
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(6)           Long-term Debt  
   
           Our long-term debt as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:  
   

December 31,    2010      2009    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
              
Cable and wire    $ 8,194,393       8,133,830   
Central office      5,082,850       4,611,407   
General support      2,199,525       1,873,525   
Fiber transport      370,196       343,208   
Information origination/termination      104,831       85,029   
Construction in progress      271,736       430,119   
Other      105,713       79,645   
      16,329,244       15,556,763   
Accumulated depreciation      (7,574,768 )     (6,459,624 ) 
Net property, plant and equipment    $ 8,754,476       9,097,139   

December 31,    2010      2009    



* Weighted average interest rate at December 31, 2010  
   

The approximate annual debt maturities for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2010 are as follows: 2011 - $11.6 million; 2012 - 
$327.6 million; 2013 - $818.5 million; 2014 - $31.5 million and 2015 $715.3 million.  
   
            Certain of our loan agreements contain various restrictions, among which are limitations regarding issuance of additional debt, payment of 
cash dividends, reacquisition of capital stock and other matters.  In addition, the transfer of funds from certain consolidated subsidiaries to 
CenturyLink is restricted by various loan agreements.  Subsidiaries which have loans from government agencies and cooperative lending 
associations, or have issued first mortgage bonds, generally may not loan or advance any funds to CenturyLink, but may pay dividends if certain 
financial ratios are met.  At December 31, 2010, all of our consolidated retained earnings reflected on the balance sheet was available under our 
loan agreements for the declaration of dividends.  
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The senior notes and debentures of CenturyLink referred to above were issued under an indenture dated March 31, 1994.  This indenture 

does not contain any financial covenants, but does include restrictions that limit our ability to (i) incur, issue or create liens upon our property and 
(ii) consolidate with or merge into, or transfer or lease all or substantially all of its assets to, any other party.  The indenture does not contain any 
provisions that are impacted by our credit ratings, or that restrict the issuance of new securities in the event of a material adverse change to us.  
 

Embarq’s senior notes were issued pursuant to an indenture dated as of May 17, 2006.  While Embarq is generally prohibited from creating 
liens on its property unless its senior notes are secured equally and ratably, Embarq can create liens on its property without equally and ratably 
securing its senior notes so long as the sum of all indebtedness so secured does not exceed 15% of Embarq’s consolidated net tangible assets.  The 
indenture contains customary events of default, none of which are impacted by Embarq’s credit rating.  The indenture does not contain any financial 
covenants or restrictions on the ability to issue new securities in accordance with the terms of the indenture.  
 

Various of our other subsidiaries have outstanding first mortgage bonds or unsecured debentures.  Each issue of these first mortgage bonds 
are secured by substantially all of the property, plant and equipment of the issuing subsidiary.   Approximately 50% of our property, plant and 
equipment is pledged to secure the long-term debt of subsidiaries.  
 

In September 2009, CenturyLink and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Embarq, commenced joint debt tender offers under which they offered to 

    (Dollars in thousands)    
CenturyLink              
      .82%* Senior credit facility    $ 365,000       291,200   
      Senior notes and debentures:                  
              7.20% Series D, due 2025      100,000       100,000   
              6.875% Series G, due 2028      425,000       425,000   
              8.375% Series H      -      482,470   
              7.875% Series L, due 2012      317,530       317,530   
              5.0% Series M, due 2015      350,000       350,000   
              6.0% Series N, due 2017      500,000       500,000   
              5.5% Series O, due 2013      175,665       175,665   
              7.6% Series P, due 2039      400,000       400,000   
              6.15% Series Q, due 2019      250,000       250,000   
      Unamortized net discount      (4,205 )     (5,331 ) 
      Unamortized premium associated with 
derivative instruments:                  
              Series H senior notes      -      2,240   
              Series L senior notes      5,739       9,182   
                      Total CenturyLink      2,884,729       3,297,956   
                  
Subsidiaries                  
      Embarq Corporation                  
              Senior notes                  
                      6.738% due 2013      528,256       528,256   
                      7.1%, due 2016      2,000,000       2,000,000   
                      8.0%, due 2036      1,485,000       1,485,000   
              8.1%* Other, due through 2025      522,223       524,273   
              Unamortized net discount      (174,991 )     (178,155 ) 
      First mortgage debt                  
              5.40%* notes, payable to agencies of the 
U. S. government and  
                cooperative lending associations, due in 
installments through 2028      82,270       94,603   
      Other debt                  
              10.0% notes      100       100   
              Capital lease obligations      -      1,685   
                      Total subsidiaries      4,442,858       4,455,762   
Total long-term debt      7,327,587       7,753,718   
Less current maturities      11,583       500,065   
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities    $ 7,316,004       7,253,653   



purchase up to $800 million of their outstanding notes.   In October 2009, (i) Embarq purchased for cash $471.7 million principal amount of 
its 6.738% Notes due 2013 and (ii) CenturyLink purchased for cash $74.3 million principal amount of its 5.5% Series O Senior Notes, due 2013, 
$182.5 million principal amount of its 7.875% Series L Senior Notes, due 2012, and $17.5 million principal amount of its 8.375% Series H Senior 
Notes, due 2010.  Due primarily to the premiums paid in connection with these debt extinguishments, we recorded a one-time pre-tax charge of 
approximately $61 million in the fourth quarter of 2009 related to the completion of the tender offers (which is reflected in other income (expense) 
and interest expense on our consolidated statements of income).  
 

We funded these debt tender offers with net proceeds of $644.4 million from the September 2009 issuance of (i) $250 million of 10-year, 
6.15% Series Q senior notes and $400 million of 30-year, 7.6% Series P senior notes and (ii) additional borrowings under our existing revolving 
credit facility.  
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As of December 31, 2010, we had available two unsecured revolving credit facilities, (i) a five-year, $750 million facility of CenturyLink 
and (ii) an $800 million facility of Embarq.   As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately $365.0 million outstanding under these credit 
facilities (all of which related to CenturyLink’s facility).  
 

In January 2011, we entered into a new four-year revolving credit facility that allows us to borrow up to $1.0 billion initially with the total 
capacity of the credit facility increasing to $1.7 billion upon the consummation of our pending acquisition of Qwest.  Up to $400 million of this new 
credit facility can be used for letters of credit.  Interest will be assessed on future borrowings using the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) 
plus an applicable margin between .5% and 2.5% per annum depending on the type of loan and our then current senior unsecured long-term debt 
rating.  Upon the execution of the new credit facility, the two credit facilities mentioned above were terminated.  As a result of the execution of the 
new credit facility in early 2011, the amount outstanding under our predecessor credit facility as of December 31, 2010 has been reflected in long-
term debt.  As of February 28, 2011, we had $280 million outstanding under the new credit facility.  For additional information regarding our new 
replacement credit facility, see Note 22.  
 

As was the case with our predecessor credit facilities, (i) outstanding letters of credit directly reduce the amount available for other 
extensions of credit under our new credit facility and (ii) outstanding borrowings under our commercial paper program, which effectively cannot 
exceed the amount available under our new facility, effectively have the same result on our borrowing capacity under the new facility.  As of 
February 28, 2011, approximately $61 million of letters of credit were outstanding and no amounts were outstanding under our commercial paper 
program.  

 
 
(7)           DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS  
 
     In 2003, we entered into four separate fair value interest rate hedges associated with the full $500 million principal amount of our Series L 
senior notes, due 2012, that pay interest at a fixed rate of 7.875%.  These hedges were “fixed to variable” interest rate swaps that effectively 
converted our fixed rate interest payment obligations under these notes into obligations to pay variable rates.  In January 2008, we terminated all of 
our existing “fixed to variable” interest rate swaps associated with the full $500 million principal amount of our Series L senior notes.  In 
connection with the termination of these derivatives, we received aggregate cash payments of approximately $25.6 million, which has been 
reflected as a premium of the associated long-term debt and is being amortized as a reduction of interest expense through 2012 using the effective 
interest method.  In addition, in January 2008, we also terminated certain other derivatives that were not deemed to be effective hedges.  Upon the 
termination of these derivatives, we paid an aggregate of approximately $4.9 million (and recorded a $3.4 million pre-tax charge in the first quarter 
of 2008 related to the settlement of these derivatives).  During 2010 and as of December 31, 2010, we had no derivative instruments outstanding.  
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(8)           DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES  
   
     Deferred credits and other liabilities at December 31, 2010 and 2009 were composed of the following:  
 

   
     For additional information on deferred federal and state income taxes, accrued pension costs and accrued postretirement benefit costs, see 
Notes 13, 12 and 11, respectively.  
 
(9)           REDUCTIONS IN WORKFORCE  
 

December 31,    2010      2009    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
              
Deferred federal and state income 
taxes    $ 2,368,698       2,256,579   
Accrued pension costs      802,090       960,610   
Accrued postretirement benefit costs     503,907       525,033   
Deferred revenue      147,759       136,969   
Unrecognized tax benefits for 
uncertain tax positions      66,501       83,931   
Casualty insurance reserves      64,183       60,666   
Other      110,755       111,294   
    $ 4,063,893       4,135,082   



During each of the last three years, we have announced workforce reductions primarily due to (i) increased competitive pressures and the 
loss of access lines over the last several years; (ii) progression or completion of our Embarq and Madison River integration plans; and (iii) the 
elimination of certain customer service personnel due to reduced call volumes.  In connection therewith, we incurred pre-tax operating expense 
charges of approximately $27.3 million in 2010, $80.6 million in 2009 and $2.0 million in 2008 for severance and related costs.  
 

The following table reflects additional information regarding the severance-related liability for 2010, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):  
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(10)           STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
 
Common stock - Unissued shares of CenturyLink common stock were reserved as follows:  
 

   
In January 2009, in connection with the special meeting of shareholders to approve share issuances in connection with our acquisition of 

Embarq, our shareholders approved a charter amendment to eliminate certain special voting rights of long-term shareholders upon the 
consummation of the Embarq acquisition. On July 1, 2009, we issued 196.1 million shares of CenturyLink common stock in connection with the 
acquisition of Embarq.    See Note 2 for additional information.  
   
     In accordance with previously-announced stock repurchase programs, we repurchased 9.7 million shares (for $347.3 million) in 2008.  
 
     In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued guidance regarding noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial 
statements, which requires noncontrolling interests to be recognized as equity in the consolidated financial statements.  In addition, net income 
attributable to such noncontrolling interests is required to be included in consolidated net income.  This guidance was effective for our 2009 fiscal 
year and prior periods have been adjusted to reflect this presentation.  
   
Preferred stock - As of December 31, 2010, we had 2.0 million shares of authorized preferred stock, $25 par value per share.  At December 31, 
2010 and 2009, there were approximately 9,400 shares of outstanding convertible preferred stock.  Holders of outstanding CenturyLink preferred 
stock are entitled to receive cumulative dividends, receive preferential distributions equal to $25 per share plus unpaid dividends upon 
CenturyLink’s liquidation and vote as a single class with the holders of common stock.  
   
(11)           POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS  
 

Our postretirement health care plan provides postretirement benefits to qualified retirees.  The postretirement health care plan we assumed as 
part of our acquisition of Embarq provides postretirement benefits to qualified legacy Embarq retirees and allows (i) eligible employees retiring before 
certain dates to receive benefits at no or reduced cost and (ii) eligible employees retiring after certain dates to receive benefits on a shared cost 
basis.  The postretirement health care plan is generally funded by us and we expect to continue funding these postretirement obligations as benefits are 
paid.  Our plan uses a December 31 measurement date.  
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The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the benefit obligation and the plan assets.  
   

Balance at December 31, 2007    $ 1,835   
Amount accrued to expense      2,046   
Amount paid      (2,083 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2008      1,798   
Severance-related liability assumed   in Embarq acquisition      31,086   
Amount accrued to expense      80,580   
Amount paid      (44,895 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2009      68,569   
Amount accrued to expense      27,258   
Amount paid      (77,823 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2010    $ 18,004   

December 31,    2010    
    (In thousands)   
        
Incentive compensation 
programs      25,245   
Acquisitions      4,064   
Employee stock purchase plan      3,990   
Dividend reinvestment plan      595   
Conversion of convertible 
preferred stock      13   
      33,907   

December 31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Change in benefit obligation                    



  
The following table sets forth the amounts recognized as liabilities on the balance sheet for postretirement benefits at December 31, 2010, 

2009 and 2008.  
 

   
     Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2010, 2009 (which only includes the effects of our Embarq acquisition subsequent to July 1, 
2009) and 2008 included the following components:  
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     The unamortized prior service credit ($11.7 million as of December 31, 2010) and unrecognized net actuarial loss ($30.6 million as of 
December 31, 2010) components have been reflected as a $12.3 million after-tax decrease to accumulated other comprehensive loss within 
stockholders’ equity.  The estimated amount of net amortization income of the above unrecognized items that will be amortized from accumulated 
other comprehensive loss and reflected as a component of net periodic postretirement cost during 2011 is $2.3 million income for the prior service 
credit.  
 
     Assumptions used in accounting for postretirement benefits as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 were:  
 

         Benefit obligation at beginning 
of year    $ 582,345       292,887       306,633   
         Service cost      14,680       8,764       4,926   
         Interest cost      32,118       26,693       19,395   
         Participant contributions      14,382       3,013       2,789   
         Plan amendments      (846 )     -      (9,093 ) 
         Acquisitions      -      228,200       -  
         Direct subsidy receipts      1,092       626       1,092   
         Actuarial (gain) loss      (31,977 )     58,455       (11,992 ) 
         Benefits paid      (54,073 )     (36,293 )     (20,863 ) 
Benefit obligation at end of year    $ 557,721       582,345       292,887   

                          
Change in plan assets                          
         Fair value of plan assets at 
beginning of year    $ 57,312       16,805       28,324   
         Return (loss) on plan assets      5,916       6,405       (6,166 ) 
         Acquisitions      -      33,200       -  
         Employer contributions      30,277       34,182       12,721   
         Participant contributions      14,382       3,013       2,789   
         Benefits paid      (54,073 )     (36,293 )     (20,863 ) 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year   $ 53,814       57,312       16,805   

December 31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                    
Benefit obligation    $ (557,721 )     (582,345 )     (292,887 ) 
Fair value of plan 
assets      53,814       57,312       16,805   
Accrued benefit cost    $ (503,907 )     (525,033 )     (276,082 )  

Year ended December 31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                    
Service cost    $ 14,680       8,764       4,926   
Interest cost      32,118       26,693       19,395   
Expected return on plan assets      (3,435 )     (2,386 )     (2,337 ) 
Amortization of unrecognized prior 
service credit      (3,433 )     (3,546 )     (2,606 ) 
Amortization of unrecognized net loss     942       -      -  
Net periodic postretirement benefit 
cost    $ 40,872       29,525       19,378   

    2010      2009    
Determination of benefit obligation              
         Discount rate      5.30 %     5.7-5.8 % 
         Healthcare cost increase trend rates                  
             Following year      8.50 %     8.0 % 
             Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate cost trend rate)      5.0 %     5.0 % 
             Year that the rate reaches the ultimate cost trend rate      2018       2014   
                  
Determination of benefit cost                  
         Discount rate      5.7-5.8 %     6.4-6.90 % 



   
Our discount rate is based on a hypothetical portfolio of bonds rated AA- or better that produces a cash flow matching the projected benefit 

payments of the plans.  In determining the expected return on plan assets, we study historical markets and apply the widely-accepted capital market 
principle that assets with higher volatility and risk generate a greater return over the long term.  We evaluate current market factors such as inflation 
and interest rates before determining long-term capital market assumptions.  We also review peer data and historical returns to check for 
reasonableness.  
 

Assumed health care cost trends have an impact on the amounts reported for postretirement benefit plans.  A one-percentage-point change in 
assumed health care cost rates would have the following effects:  
 

   
We employ a total return investment approach whereby a mix of equities and fixed income investments are used to maximize the long-

term return of plan assets for a prudent level of risk.  Risk tolerance is established through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded 
status and corporate financial condition.  We measure and monitor investment risk on an ongoing basis through annual liability measurements, 
periodic asset studies and periodic portfolio reviews.  
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Our weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2010 and 2009 by asset category are as follows:  
   

 
   

As of December 31, 2010, we used the following valuation techniques to measure fair value for assets.  There were no changes to these 
methodologies during 2010:  
   

Level 1 - Assets were valued using the closing price reported in the active market in which the individual security was traded.  
   

Level 2 - Assets were valued using quoted prices in markets that are not active, broker dealer quotations, net asset value of shares held by 
the plans and other methods by which all significant input were observable at the measurement date.  

   
Level 3 - Assets were valued using valuation reports from the respective institutions at the measurement date.  

   
     The following table presents the hierarchy levels for our postretirement benefit plan’s investments as of December 31, 2010:  
   

   
   

The following table presents the hierarchy levels for our postretirement benefit plan’s investments as of December 31, 2009:  
   

 

         Expected return on plan assets      7.25 %     8.25-8.50 % 

    1-Percentage      1-Percentage    

    Point Increase     
Point 

Decrease    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
              
Effect on annual total of service and interest cost components    $ 108       (132 ) 
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation    $ 1,285       (1,527 ) 

    2010      2009    
Equity securities      19.9 %     18.6   
Debt securities      72.2       64.5   
Cash and cash equivalents      7.9       16.9   
Total      100.0 %     100.0   

    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3      Total    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Equity securities                          
       Common stocks, preferred stocks, equity funds and related 
securities    $ 5,204       5,487       -      10,691   
Debt securities      35,222       3,648       -      38,870   
Cash      4,253       -      -      4,253   
Total    $ 44,679       9,135       -      53,814   

    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3      Total    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Equity securities                          
       Common stocks, preferred stocks, equity funds and related 
securities    $ 4,967       5,688       -      10,655   
Debt securities      32,900       4,075       -      36,975   
Cash      9,682       -      -      9,682   
Total    $ 47,549       9,763       -      57,312   



Our plan invests in various securities, some of which are exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market and credit risks.  Due to 
the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment 
securities will occur in the near term and that those changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the statement of net assets available 
for benefits.  
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Based on current estimates, we expect to contribute approximately $47.9 million to our postretirement benefit plan in 2011.  

 
Our estimated future projected benefit payments under our postretirement benefit plan are as follows:  
   

 
(12)           DEFINED BENEFIT AND OTHER RETIREMENT PLANS  
 

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans for substantially all employees, including separate plans for legacy CenturyLink employees and 
legacy Embarq employees.   Until such time as we elect to integrate Embarq’s benefit plans with ours, we plan to continue to operate these plans 
independently.  Pension benefits for participants of these plans who are represented by a collective bargaining agreement are based on negotiated 
schedules.  All other participants’ pension benefits are based on each individual participant’s years of service and compensation.  Both 
CenturyLink and Embarq have previously sponsored, or continue to sponsor, supplemental executive retirement plans providing certain officers 
with supplemental retirement, death and disability benefits.  We use a December 31 measurement date for all our plans.  
 

To align our benefit structure closer to those offered by our competitors, in late 2010 we froze pension benefit accruals for our non-
represented employees as of December 31, 2010.  Such action resulted in a reduction of our benefit obligation of approximately $110.2 million 
and resulted in the recognition of a curtailment gain of approximately $20.9 million in 2010.  
 

In late February 2008, our Board of Directors approved certain actions related to CenturyLink’s Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, 
including (i) freezing benefit accruals effective February 29, 2008 and (ii) amending the plan in the second quarter of 2008 to permit participants 
to receive in 2009 a lump sum distribution of the present value of their accrued plan benefits based on their election.  We also enhanced plan 
termination benefits by (i) crediting each active participant with three additional years of service and (ii) crediting each participant who was not in 
pay status under the plan with three additional years of age in connection with calculating the present value of any lump sum distribution.  We 
recorded an aggregate curtailment loss of approximately $8.2 million in 2008 related to the above-described items.  In addition, principally due to 
the payment of the lump sum distributions in early 2009, we also recognized a settlement loss (which is included in selling, general and 
administrative expense) of approximately $7.7 million in 2009.  
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Due to change of control provisions that were triggered upon the consummation of the Embarq acquisition on July 1, 2009, certain retirees 

who were receiving monthly annuity payments under a CenturyLink supplemental executive retirement plan were paid a lump sum distribution 
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the plan.  A settlement expense of approximately $8.9 million was recognized in the third quarter of 
2009 as a result of these actions.  
 

The legacy Embarq pension plan contains a provision that grants early retirement benefits for certain participants affected by workforce 
reductions.  During 2009, we recognized approximately $14.7 million of additional pension expense related to these contractual benefits.  
   
     The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the aggregate benefit obligation and the assets for our above-
referenced defined benefit plans.  
   

    
Before 

Medicare      Medicare      Net of    

Year    Subsidy      Subsidy      
Medicare 
Subsidy    

    (Dollars in thousands)   
                    
2011    $ 49,206       (1,351 )     47,855   
2012    $ 51,186       (1,600 )     49,586   
2013    $ 47,751       (1,852 )     45,899   
2014    $ 46,281       (2,099 )     44,182   
2015    $ 45,620       (2,351 )     43,269   
2016-
2020    $ 203,780       (5,537 )     198,243   

December 31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Change in benefit obligation                    
         Benefit obligation at beginning of 
year    $ 4,181,582       462,701       469,437   
         Service cost      61,156       36,223       13,761   
         Interest cost      245,753       134,898       29,373   
         Plan amendments      4,304       16,016       2,393   
         Acquisitions      -      3,467,260       -  
         Actuarial (gain) loss      426,700       231,663       (24,819 ) 
         Contractual retirement benefits      -      14,676       -  



   
108  

   
The following table sets forth the combined plans’ funded status and amounts recognized in our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 

2010, 2009 and 2008.  
 

   
Amounts recognized on the balance sheet consist of:  

 

   
     Our aggregate accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $4.509 billion and $4.042 billion, respectively.  
 

Net periodic pension expense for 2010, 2009 (which only includes the effects of our Embarq acquisition subsequent to July 1, 2009) and 
2008 included the following components:  
   
 

   
The unamortized prior service cost ($18.9 million as of December 31, 2010) and unrecognized net actuarial loss ($187.5 million as of 

December 31, 2010) components have been reflected as a $206.4 million net reduction ($127.1 million after-tax) to accumulated other 
comprehensive loss within stockholders’ equity.  The estimated amount of amortization expense of the above unrecognized amounts that will be 
amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss and reflected as a component of net periodic pension cost for 2011 are (i) $2.4 million for 
the prior service cost and (ii) $13.4 million for the net actuarial loss.  
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         Curtailment (gain) loss      (110,169 )     -      8,235   
         Settlements      -      8,294       (1,945 ) 
         Benefits paid      (275,357 )     (190,149 )     (33,734 ) 
Benefit obligation at end of year    $ 4,533,969       4,181,582       462,701   

                          
Change in plan assets                          
         Fair value of plan assets at 
beginning of year    $ 3,219,706       352,830       459,198   
         Return (loss) on plan assets      482,709       473,878       (123,210 ) 
         Acquisitions      -      2,407,200       -  
         Employer contributions      304,811       175,946       52,521   
         Settlements      -      -      (1,945 ) 
         Benefits paid      (275,357 )     (190,148 )     (33,734 ) 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year    $ 3,731,869       3,219,706       352,830   

December 31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                    
Benefit obligation    $ (4,533,969 )     (4,181,582 )     (462,701 ) 
Fair value of plan assets      3,731,869       3,219,706       352,830   
Net amount recognized    $ (802,100 )     (961,876 )     (109,871 ) 

December 31,    2010      2009    
              
    (Dollars in thousands)    
              
Accrued expenses and other 
current liabilities    $ (10 )     (1,266 ) 
Other deferred credits      (802,090 )     (960,610 ) 
Net amount recognized    $ (802,100 )     (961,876 ) 

Year ended December 31 ,   2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                    
Service cost    $ 61,156       36,223       13,761   
Interest cost      245,753       134,898       29,373   
Expected return on plan 
assets      (283,026 )     (127,613 )     (36,667 ) 
Curtailment (gain) loss      (20,908 )     -      8,235   
Settlements      -      17,834       410   
Contractual retirement 
benefits      -      14,676       -  
Net amortization and 
deferral      18,765       16,271       3,377   
Net periodic pension 
expense    $ 21,740       92,289       18,489   



 
Assumptions used in accounting for pension plans as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 were:  

 

*  For 2011, we are reducing our long-term assumed rate of return assumption to 7.5% for our legacy CenturyLink pension plan and 8.0% for our 
legacy Embarq pension plan.  
   

Our discount rate is based on a hypothetical portfolio of bonds rated AA- or better that produces a cash flow matching the projected benefit 
payments of the plans.  In determining the expected return on plan assets, we study historical markets and apply the widely-accepted capital market 
principle that assets with higher volatility and risk generate a greater return over the long term.  We evaluate current market factors such as inflation 
and interest rates before determining long-term capital market assumptions.  We also review peer data and historical returns to check for 
reasonableness.  
   
     W e employ a total return investment approach whereby a mix of equities and fixed income investments are used to maximize the long-
term return of plan assets for a prudent level of risk.  Risk tolerance is established through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded 
status and corporate financial condition.  We measure and monitor investment risk on an ongoing basis through annual liability measurements, 
periodic asset studies and periodic portfolio reviews.  The fair value of most of our pension plan assets is determined by reference to observable 
market data consisting of published market quotes.  
 
     Our pension plans weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2010 and 2009 by asset category are as follows:  
   

   
As of December 31, 2010, we used the following valuation techniques to measure fair value for assets.  There were no changes to these 

methodologies during 2010:  
   

Level 1 - Assets were valued using the closing price reported in the active market in which the individual security was traded.  
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Level 2 - Assets were valued using quoted prices in markets that are not active, broker dealer quotations, net asset value of shares held by 
the plans and other methods by which all significant input were observable at the measurement date.  

   
Level 3 - Assets were valued using valuation reports from the respective institutions at the measurement date.  

   
The following table presents the hierarchy levels for our defined benefit pension plans’ investments as of December 31, 2010:  

   

 
 
   

The following table presents the hierarchy levels for our defined benefit pension plans’ investments as of December 31, 2009:  
   

    2010      2009    
Determination of benefit obligation              
     Discount rate      5.0-5.5 %     5.5-6.0   
     Weighted average rate of compensation increase      3.25-4.0 %     3.5-4.0   
                  
Determination of benefit cost                  
     Discount rate      5.5-6.0 %     6.60-6.90   
     Weighted average rate of compensation increase      3.5-4.0 %     4.0   
     Expected return on plan assets*      8.25-8.50 %     8.25-8.50   

    2010      2009    
Equity securities      52.3 %     49.3   
Debt securities      33.4       28.8   
Hedge funds      4.3       8.5   
Real estate      4.9       5.0   
Cash equivalents and other      5.1       8.4   
Total      100.0 %     100.0   

    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3      Total    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Equity securities                          
    Common stocks, preferred stocks,  equity funds and related 
securities    $ 1,675,565       277,269       -      1,952,834   
Debt securities                                  
    Corporate bonds  and related securities      -      911,122       1,589       912,711   
    Government bonds, municipal  bonds and related securities      -      331,937       2,899       334,836   
Hedge funds      -       -      161,612       161,612   
Real estate      -      -      181,581       181,581   
Cash and cash equivalents      26,041       -      -      26,041   
Other      13,473       146,172       2,609       162,254   
Total    $ 1,715,079       1,666,500       350,290       3,731,869   
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The following sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of our defined benefit pension plans’ Level 3 assets for the year ended 

December 31, 2010:  
   

   
The following sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of our defined benefit pension plans’ Level 3 assets for the year ended 

December 31, 2009:  
   

   
Our plans invest in various securities, some of which are exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market and credit risks.  Due to 

the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment 
securities will occur in the near term and that those changes could materially affect the value of our pension plan assets.  
 

Some of our plans’ investment securities have contractual cash flows, such as asset backed securities, collateralized mortgage 
obligations, and commercial and government mortgage backed securities, including securities backed by sub-prime mortgage loans.  The value, 
liquidity, and related income of these securities are sensitive to changes in economic conditions, including real estate values, delinquencies or 
defaults, or both, and may be adversely affected by shifts in the market’s perception of the issuers and changes in interest rates.  
   

During 2010, we contributed $300 million to the legacy Embarq pension plan.  Based on current actuarial estimates, we expect to contribute 
approximately $100 million to the legacy Embarq pension plan in 2011.    
 

Our estimated future projected benefit payments under our defined benefit pension plans are as follows: 2011 - $268.0 million; 2012 - $272.6 
million; 2013 - $280.3 million; 2014 - $284.7 million; 2015 - $289.8 million; and 2016-2020 - $1.526 billion.  
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We also sponsor qualified profit sharing plans pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code which are available to 
substantially all employees.  Our matching contributions to these plans were $16.7 million in 2010, $13.8 million in 2009 and $10.5 million in 
2008.  
   
 

    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3      Total    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Equity securities                          
    Common stocks, preferred stocks, equity funds and related securities    $ 1,345,669       242,852       -      1,588,521   
Debt securities                                  
    Corporate bonds and related securities      -      798,143       1,005       799,148   
    Government bonds, municipal bonds and related securities      -      129,129       -      129,129   
Hedge funds      -      113,340       159,886       273,226   
Real estate      -      -      161,336       161,336   
Cash and cash equivalents      21,210       -      -      21,210   
Other      67,156       181,116       (1,136 )     247,136   
Total    $ 1,434,035       1,464,580       321,091       3,219,706   

          Hedge      All          

    
Real 
estate      funds      other      Total    

    (Dollars in thousand)    
                          
Balance, beginning of year    $ 161,336       159,886       (131 )     321,091   
Realized gain (loss) in investments, net      (1,677 )     2,102       92       517   
Unrealized gain (loss) in investments, net      20,038       8,851       169       29,058   
Purchases and sales, net      1,884       (9,227 )     6,967       (376 ) 
Balance, end of year    $ 181,581       161,612       7,097       350,290   

          Hedge      All          

    
Real 
estate      funds      other      Total    

    (Dollars in thousand)    
                          
Balance, beginning of year    $ -      -      -      -  
                                  
Level 3 assets acquired in the Embarq acquisition      182,819       146,335       (4,875 )     324,279   
Transfers to (from) Level 3      -      -      (3,458 )     (3,458 ) 
Realized gain (loss) in investments, net      21       -      70       91   
Unrealized gain (loss) in investments, net      (24,223 )     13,551       31       (10,641 ) 
Purchases and sales, net      2,719       -      8,101       10,820   
Balance, end of year    $ 161,336       159,886       (131 )     321,091   



(13)           INCOME TAXES  
 

Income tax expense included in the Consolidated Statements of Income was as follows:  
   

   
Income tax expense was allocated as follows:  
   

   
     The following is a reconciliation from the statutory federal income tax rate to our effective income tax rate:  
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Included in income tax expense in 2010 is a $4.0 million charge related to the change in the tax treatment of the Medicare Part D subsidy as a 

result of the comprehensive health care reform legislation signed into law in March 2010.  In addition, a portion of our transaction costs associated 
with our pending acquisition of Qwest is considered non-deductible for income tax purposes.  The treatment of these costs as non-deductible 
resulted in the recognition of approximately $3.9 million of higher income tax expense in 2010 than would have been recognized had such costs 
been deductible for income tax purposes.  Certain executive compensation amounts, including the lump sum distributions paid to certain executive 
officers upon discontinuing the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (see Note 12), are reflected as nondeductible for income tax purposes 
pursuant to executive compensation limitations of the Internal Revenue Code.  The treatment of these amounts as non-deductible resulted in the 
recognition of approximately $3.3 million and $9.8 million of income tax expense in 2010 and 2009, respectively, above amounts that would have 
been recognized had such payments been deductible for income tax purposes.  Our 2009 effective tax rate was also higher because a portion of our 
Embarq merger-related transaction costs incurred during 2009 are nondeductible for income tax purposes (with such treatment resulting in a $7.4 
million increase to income tax expense).  
 

In 2009, our effective tax rate was reduced by a $7.0 million reduction to our net deferred tax asset valuation allowance associated with state 
operating loss carryforwards.  

 
During 2009 and 2008, we recognized net after-tax benefits of approximately $15.7 million and $12.8 million, respectively, which include (i) 

the recognition of previously unrecognized tax benefits primarily due to certain issues being effectively settled through examinations or the lapse of 
statute of limitations and (ii) other adjustments needed upon finalization of tax returns.  
 
     The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:  
 

Year ended December 31,   2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Federal                    
     Current    $ 384,443       158,248       141,604   
     Deferred      145,166       210,202       59,669   
State                          
     Current      66,740       2,285       (14,765 ) 
     Deferred      (13,398 )     12,206       7,849   
    $ 582,951       382,941       194,357   

Year ended December 31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income:                    
     Attributable to income before extraordinary item    $ 582,951       301,881       194,357   
     Attributable to extraordinary item      -      81,060       -  
Stockholders’  equity:                          
     Compensation expense for tax purposes  in excess of amounts 
recognized for financial reporting purposes      (11,884 )     (4,194 )     (1,123 ) 
     Tax effect of the change in accumulated other comprehensive loss      (33,873 )     29,460       (47,581 ) 

Year ended December 31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Percentage of pre-tax income)    
                    
Statutory federal income tax rate      35.0 %     35.0       35.0   
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit      1.9       2.0       2.0   
Change in tax treatment of Medicare subsidy      0.3       -      -  
Nondeductible acquisition related costs      0.2       0.7       0.3   
Nondeductible compensation pursuant to executive compensation 
limitations      0.2       0.9       0.2   
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax benefits      -      (1.5 )     (2.3 ) 
Other, net      0.5       0.1       (0.5 ) 
Effective income tax rate      38.1 %     37.2       34.7   

December 31,    2010      2009    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Deferred tax assets              
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     Of the $2.287 billion net deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2010, approximately $2.369 billion is reflected as a long-term liability 
and approximately $81.3 million is reflected as a net current deferred tax asset.  
 

We establish valuation allowances when necessary to reduce the deferred tax assets to amounts we expect to realize.  As of December 31, 
2010, we had available tax benefits associated with net state operating loss carryforwards, which expire through 2030, of $74.9 million.  The 
ultimate realization of the benefits of the carryforwards is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those 
temporary differences become deductible.  We consider our scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax 
planning strategies in making this assessment.  As of December 31, 2010, a valuation allowance of $42.9 million was established as it is more likely 
than not that this amount of net operating loss carryforwards will not be utilized prior to expiration.  

   
The following table reflects the activity of our gross unrecognized tax benefits (excluding both interest and any related federal benefit) during 

2010 (amounts expressed in thousands).  
 

   
Approximately $246 million of the above unrecognized tax benefits represents refund claims related to the treatment of universal service fund 

receipts of certain subsidiaries acquired in connection with our Embarq acquisition, which due to the uncertainty of these claims have not been 
recognized in current or deferred taxes in our consolidated financial statements.  Of the remaining gross balance of $65.5 million, approximately $58.2 
million is included as a component of “Deferred credits and other liabilities” and the remainder is included in “Accrued income taxes”.  If we were to 
prevail on all unrecognized tax benefits recorded on our balance sheet, we would recognize approximately $37.0 million (including interest and net of 
federal benefit), which would lower our effective tax rate.  
 

Our policy is to reflect interest expense associated with unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.  We had accrued interest (presented 
before related tax benefits) of approximately $11.5 million and $9.9 million as of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009.  
 

We file income tax returns, including returns for our subsidiaries, with federal, state and local jurisdictions.  Our uncertain income tax 
positions are related to tax years that are currently under or remain subject to examination by the relevant taxing authorities.  Our open income tax 
years by major jurisdiction are as follows.  
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Additionally, Embarq, its subsidiaries, and their predecessors have filed amended returns on a specific tax issue relating to years as early as 

1990. These amended returns have been audited by the IRS, and the refund claims contained therein have all been denied by the Exam Division 
and the Appeals Division of the IRS.  Embarq has filed suit for refund in U.S. District Court for a portion of the years, and is considering litigation 

      Postretirement and pension benefit costs    $ 509,950       479,163   
      Net state operating loss carryforwards      74,933       64,782   
      Other employee benefits      45,458       67,048   
      Other      115,750       127,306   
         Gross deferred tax assets      746,091       738,299   
         Less valuation allowance      (42,894 )     (41,533 ) 
         Net deferred tax assets      703,197       696,766   
                  
Deferred tax liabilities                  
      Property, plant and equipment, primarily due to 
depreciation differences      (1,761,500 )     (1,573,986 ) 
      Goodwill and other intangible assets      (1,158,525 )     (1,189,141 ) 
      Other      (70,529 )     (106,900 ) 
         Gross deferred tax liabilities      (2,990,554 )     (2,870,027 ) 
Net deferred tax liability    $ (2,287,357 )     (2,173,261 ) 

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2009    $ 327,227   
Increase in tax positions taken in the current year      320   
Increase due to tax positions taken in a prior year      7,272   
Decrease due to the reversal of tax positions taken in a prior year      (22,525 ) 
Decrease from the lapse of statute of limitations      (1,232 ) 
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2010    $ 311,062   

Jurisdiction    Open tax years  
Federal    2007-current  
State      
    Florida    2006-current  
    Georgia    2003-current  
    Louisiana    2007-current  
    North Carolina    2003-current  
    Oregon    2002-current  
    Texas    2001-current  
    Other states    2002-current  



for the rest.  
 

Since the period for assessing additional liability typically begins upon the filing of a return, it is possible that certain jurisdictions could 
assess tax for years prior to the open tax years disclosed above.  Additionally, it is possible that certain jurisdictions in which we do not believe we 
have an income tax filing responsibility, and accordingly did not file a return, may attempt to assess a liability, or that other jurisdictions to which 
we pay taxes may attempt to assert that we owe additional taxes.  
 

Based on our current assessment of various factors, including (i) the potential outcomes of these ongoing examinations, (ii) the expiration of 
statute of limitations for specific jurisdictions, (iii) the negotiated settlement of certain disputed issues, and (iv) the administrative practices of 
applicable taxing jurisdictions, it is reasonably possible that the related unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax positions previously taken may 
decrease by up to $213.0 million within the next 12 months.  The actual amount of such decrease, if any, will depend on several future 
developments and events, many of which are outside our control.  
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(14)             EARNINGS PER SHARE  
 
     The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:  
   

   
 

The weighted average number of shares of common stock subject to issuance under outstanding options that were excluded from the 
computation of diluted earnings per share (because the exercise price of the option was greater than the average market price of the common stock) 
was 2.9 million for 2010, 4.1 million for 2009 and 2.1 million for 2008.  
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In June 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued guidance in determining whether instruments granted in share-based payment 
transactions are participating securities.  Based on this guidance, we have concluded that our outstanding non-vested restricted stock is a participating 
security and therefore should be included in the earnings allocation in computing earnings per share using the two-class method.  The guidance 

Year ended December 31,    2010      2009      2008    

    
(Dollars, except per share amounts, and shares in 

thousands)    
Income (Numerator):                    
Net income before extraordinary item    $ 947,705       511,254       365,732   
Extraordinary item, net of income tax expense and noncontrolling interests      -      135,957       -  
Net income attributable to CenturyLink, Inc.      947,705       647,211       365,732   
Dividends applicable to preferred stock      (12 )     (12 )     (155 ) 
Earnings applicable to unvested restricted stock awards:                          
    Income before extraordinary item      (5,525 )     (3,559 )     (4,240 ) 
    Extraordinary item      -      (946 )     -  
Net income as adjusted for purposes of computing basic earnings per share      942,168       642,694       361,337   
Dividends applicable to preferred stock      12       12       155   
Net income as adjusted for purposes of computing diluted earnings per share    $ 942,180       642,706       361,492   

                          
Shares (Denominator):                          
Weighted average number of shares:                          
    Outstanding during period      301,428       199,177       103,467   
    Unvested restricted stock      (1,756 )     (1,387 )     (1,199 ) 
    Unvested restricted stock units      947       1,023       -  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during period for computing basic earnings 
per share      300,619       198,813       102,268   
                          
Incremental common shares attributable to dilutive securities:                          
    Shares issuable under convertible securities      13       13       169   
    Shares issuable under incentive compensation plans      665       231       123   
Number of shares as adjusted for purposes of computing diluted earnings per share      301,297       199,057       102,560   

                          
Basic earnings per share                          
    Before extraordinary item    $ 3.13       2.55       3.53   
    Extraordinary item    $ -      .68       -  
    Basic earnings per share    $ 3.13       3.23       3.53   
                          
                          
Diluted earnings per share                          
    Before extraordinary item    $ 3.13       2.55       3.52   
    Extraordinary item    $ -      .68       -  
    Diluted earnings per share    $ 3.13       3.23       3.52   



was effective for us beginning in first quarter 2009 and required us to adjust our previously reported earnings per share.    
   
 
(15)           STOCK COMPENSATION PROGRAMS  
   
     We recognize as compensation expense our cost of awarding employees with equity instruments by allocating the fair value of the award 
on the grant date over the period during which the employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award.  
 

We currently maintain programs which allow the Board of Directors (through its Compensation Committee) and the Chief Executive Officer to 
grant incentives to certain employees and our outside directors in any one or a combination of several forms, including incentive and non-qualified 
stock options; stock appreciation rights; restricted stock; restricted stock units and performance shares.  As of December 31, 2010, we had reserved 
approximately 25.2 million shares of common stock which may be issued in connection with awards under our current incentive programs.  We also 
offer an Employee Stock Purchase Plan whereby employees can purchase our common stock at a 15% discount based on the lower of the beginning or 
ending stock price during recurring six-month periods stipulated in such program.  
 

Upon the consummation of the Embarq acquisition on July 1, 2009 (see Note 2), outstanding Embarq stock options and restricted stock units 
were converted to 7.2 million CenturyLink stock options and 2.4 million restricted stock units based on the exchange ratio stipulated in the Embarq 
merger agreement.  The fair value of the former Embarq stock option awards that were converted to CenturyLink stock options was estimated as of the 
July 1, 2009 conversion date using a Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following assumptions: dividend yield – 9.12%; expected volatility 
– 27-50%; weighted average risk free interest rate – 0.5-2.6% and expected term - 0.3-6 years.  Other than in connection with converting the former 
Embarq stock options into CenturyLink stock options, we did not grant any stock options to employees in 2010 or 2009.  
 

In late February 2008, the Compensation Committee authorized all long-term incentive grants for 2008 to be in the form of restricted stock 
instead of a mix of stock options and restricted stock as had been granted in recent years.  During 2008, prior to this authorization, 25,700 options were 
granted with a weighted average grant date fair value of $8.85 per share using a Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following 
assumptions:  dividend yield - 0.6%; expected volatility - 25%; weighted average risk free interest rate - 2.9%; and expected term - 4.5 years.  The 
expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of our common stock over the 4.5- year term mentioned above.  The expected term was 
determined based on the historical exercise and forfeiture rates for similar grants.  
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Our outstanding stock options have been granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of CenturyLink’s shares at the date of 

grant.  The exercise price of former Embarq stock options were converted by applying the exchange ratio stipulated in the Embarq merger 
agreement.  Our outstanding options generally have a three-year vesting period and all of them expire ten years after the date of grant.  The fair value 
of each stock option award is estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.  
 

Stock option transactions during 2010 were as follows:  
   

________________________  
* Equals the difference between the market price on such date and the average exercise price multiplied by the number of shares subject to the 
options.  
   

Our outstanding restricted stock awards generally vest over a three- or five-year period (for employees) or a three-year period (for outside 
directors).  
 

During the first quarter of 2010, we granted 396,753 shares of restricted stock to certain executive-level employees, of which 198,374 were 
time-vested restricted stock that vests over a three-year period and 198,379 were performance-based restricted stock.   The performance-based 
restricted stock will vest over time only if specific performance measures are met for the applicable periods.  One half of the performance-based 
restricted stock will vest in March 2012 based on our two-year total shareholder return for 2010 and 2011 as measured against the total shareholder 
return of the companies comprising the S&P 500 Index for the same period.  The other half will vest in March 2013 based on our three-year total 
shareholder return for 2010, 2011 and 2012 as measured against the total shareholder return of the companies comprising the S&P 500 Index for 
the same period.  The 198,379 shares of performance-based restricted stock issued represent the target award.  Each recipient has the opportunity 
to ultimately receive between 0% and 200% of the target restricted stock award depending on our total shareholder return in relation to that of the 
S&P 500 Index.   We valued these performance-based awards using Monte-Carlo simulations.  In addition, we granted 525,377 shares of time-
vested restricted stock during 2010 (which, subject to certain limited exceptions, vest over a three-year period) to certain other key employees and 
our outside directors as part of our normal recurring annual equity compensation programs.  
 

          Average      Remaining     Aggregate   
    Number      exercise      contractual     intrinsic    
    of options      price      term (in years)     value*    

                          
Outstanding December 31, 2009      9,318,553     $ 37.85               
Exercised      (3,507,895 )     32.25               
Forfeited/Cancelled         (770,373 )     55.40               
Outstanding December 31, 2010      5,040,285     $ 39.06       4.16     $ 49,225,000   

Exercisable December 31, 2010      4,739,732     $ 39.60       3.97     $ 44,554,000   



During the third quarter of 2010, we granted 407,236 shares of restricted stock and approximately $15.2 million of deferred cash 
compensation awards to certain executive officers and other key employees as part of a retention program in connection with our pending 
acquisition of Qwest.  The shares of restricted stock will vest in equal installments on the first, second and third anniversaries of the closing 
date.  Each employee receiving a deferred cash award will be entitled to receive one-half of the award on the closing date of the Qwest merger and 
the other half on the first anniversary of the closing date.  Both the restricted stock grant and the deferred cash award will accelerate if we 
terminate the recipient without cause or under certain other conditions, and will be forfeited if the Qwest merger is not consummated.  No 
compensation expense has been recorded to date related to the retention program since recognition is contingent upon consummation of the Qwest 
merger.  In addition to the above retention awards, 75,000 shares of restricted stock were granted to an incoming executive officer during the third 
quarter of 2010 (which vests fully at the end of the officer’s term of employment).  
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Nonvested restricted stock and restricted stock unit transactions during 2010 were as follows:  
   

   
During 2009, we issued 820,234 shares of restricted stock to certain employees and our outside directors at a weighted-average price of $27.34 

per share.  During 2008, we issued 643,397 shares of restricted stock to certain employees and our outside directors at a weighted-average price of 
$34.86 per share.  
 

The total compensation cost for all share-based payment arrangements in 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $38.2 million, $55.2 million and $16.4 
million, respectively.  Upon the consummation of the acquisition of Embarq on July 1, 2009, the vesting schedules of certain of our equity-based 
grants issued prior to 2009 were accelerated due to change of control provisions in the respective share-based compensation plans (with the exception 
of grants to certain officers who waived such acceleration right).  In addition, the vesting of certain other awards was accelerated upon the termination 
of employment of certain employees.  As a result of accelerating the vesting schedules of these awards, we recorded share-based compensation 
expense of approximately $21.2 million in 2009 above amounts that would have been recognized absent the triggering of these acceleration provisions. 
 

We recognized a tax benefit related to such arrangements of approximately $14.1 million in 2010, $20.5 million in 2009 and $5.8 million in 
2008.  As of December 31, 2010, there was $60.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to the share-based payment arrangements, 
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.  
 

We received net cash proceeds of $113.1 million during 2010 in connection with option exercises.  The total intrinsic value of options exercised 
(the amount by which the market price of the stock on the date of exercise exceeded the market price of the stock on the date of grant) was $28.1 
million during 2010, $6.0 million during 2009 and $208,000 during 2008.  The excess tax benefit realized from share-based compensation transactions 
during 2010 was $11.9 million. The total fair value of restricted stock that vested during 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $47.9 million, $45.2 million and 
$6.2 million, respectively.  
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(16)          DISCONTINUANCE OF REGULATORY ACCOUNTING  
 

Through June 30, 2009, we accounted for our regulated telephone operations (except for the properties acquired from Verizon in 2002) in 
accordance with the provisions of regulatory accounting under which actions by regulators can provide reasonable assurance of the recognition of 
an asset, reduce or eliminate the value of an asset and impose a liability on a regulated enterprise.  Such regulatory assets and liabilities were 
required to be recorded and, accordingly, reflected in the balance sheet of entities subject to regulatory accounting.  
 

On July 1, 2009, we discontinued the accounting requirements of regulatory accounting upon the conversion of substantially all of our rate-
of-return study areas to federal price cap regulation (based on the FCC’s approval of our petition to convert our study areas to price cap regulation).  
 

Upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting, we reversed previously established regulatory assets and liabilities.  Depreciation rates of 
certain assets established by regulatory authorities for our telephone operations subject to regulatory accounting have historically included a 
component for removal costs in excess of the related salvage value.  Notwithstanding the adoption of accounting guidance related to the accounting 
for asset retirement obligations, regulatory accounting required us to continue to reflect this accumulated liability for removal costs in excess of 
salvage value even though there was no legal obligation to remove the assets.  Therefore, we did not adopt the asset retirement obligation provisions 
for our telephone operations that were subject to regulatory accounting.  Upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting, such accumulated 
liability for removal costs included in accumulated depreciation was removed and an asset retirement obligation was established.  Upon the 
discontinuance of regulatory accounting, we were required to adjust the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment only to the extent the 
assets are impaired, as judged in the same manner applicable to nonregulated enterprises. We did not record an impairment charge related to the 
carrying value of the property, plant and equipment of our regulated telephone operations as a result of the discontinuance of regulatory accounting. 
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    Number      Average grant   
    of shares      date fair value   

Nonvested at December 31, 2009      2,922,855     $ 31.04   
Granted      1,404,366       36.56   
Vested      (1,343,171 )     31.04   
Forfeited      (92,391 )     31.79   
Nonvested at December 31, 2010      2,891,659     $ 33.69   



In the third quarter of 2009, upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting, we recorded a non-cash extraordinary gain in our consolidated 
statements of income comprised of the following components (dollars, except per share amounts, in thousands):  
   

   
Upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting, we revised the lives of our property, plant and equipment to reflect the economic 

estimated remaining useful lives of the assets.  In general, the estimated remaining useful lives of our telephone property were lengthened as 
compared to the rates used that were established by regulatory authorities.  
 

Upon the discontinuance of regulatory accounting, we eliminated certain intercompany transactions with regulated affiliates that previously 
were not eliminated under the application of regulatory accounting.  This has caused our operating revenues and operating expenses to be lower by 
equivalent amounts beginning in the third quarter of 2009.  
 
                                                                            
(17)           GAIN ON ASSET DISPOSITIONS  
   

In third quarter 2008, we sold our interest in a non-operating investment for approximately $7.2 million and recorded a pre-tax gain of 
approximately $3.2 million.  In anticipation of making the lump sum plan distributions in early 2009 discussed in Note 12, we liquidated our 
investments in marketable securities in the SERP trust and recognized a $4.5 million pre-tax gain in the second quarter of 2008.  In first quarter 
2008, we sold a non-operating investment for approximately $4.2 million and recorded a pre-tax gain of approximately $4.1 million.   Such gains 
are included in “Other income (expense)” on our Consolidated Statements of Income.  
 
 
(18)           SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW AND OTHER DISCLOSURES  
   
     The amount of interest actually paid, net of amounts capitalized of $12.9 million, $3.5 million, and $2.4 million during 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively, was $548.4 million, $391.8 million, and $204.1 million during 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Income taxes paid were 
$431.7 million in 2010, $258.9 million in 2009, and $208.8 million in 2008.  Income tax refunds totaled $7.6 million in 2010, $2.1 million in 2009, 
and $4.6 million in 2008.  
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     In connection with our July 1, 2009 acquisition of Embarq, the following assets were acquired and liabilities assumed:  
   

 
See Note 2 for additional information related to our acquisition of Embarq in 2009.  

 
We collect various taxes from our customers and subsequently remit such funds to governmental authorities.  Substantially all of these taxes 

are recorded through the balance sheet.  We are required to contribute to several universal service fund programs and generally include a surcharge 
amount on our customers’ bills which is designed to recover our contribution costs.  Such amounts are reflected on a gross basis in our statement of 
income (included in both operating revenues and expenses) and aggregated approximately $115 million for 2010, $84 million for 2009 and $42 
million for 2008.  
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(19)           FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
   

    Gain (loss)    
Elimination of removal costs embedded in accumulated depreciation    $ 222,703   
Establishment of asset retirement obligation      (1,556 ) 
Elimination of other regulatory assets and liabilities      (2,585 ) 
Net extraordinary gain before income tax expense and noncontrolling interests      218,562   
Income tax expense associated with extraordinary gain      (81,060 ) 
Net extraordinary gain before noncontrolling interests      137,502   
Less: extraordinary gain attributable to noncontrolling interests      (1,545 ) 
Extraordinary gain attributable to CenturyLink, Inc.    $ 135,957   

          
Basic earnings per share of extraordinary gain    $ .68   
Diluted earnings per share of extraordinary gain    $ .68   

Year ended December 31,    2009    

    
(Dollars in 
thousands)    

        
Property, plant and equipment, net    $ 6,077,672   
Goodwill      6,236,084   
Long-term debt, deferred credits and other liabilities      (7,508,066 ) 
Other assets and liabilities, excluding   cash and cash 
equivalents      1,187,849   
Common equity issued for acquisition      (6,070,445 ) 
Increase in cash due to acquisition    $ (76,906 ) 



     The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of certain of our financial instruments at December 31, 2010 
and 2009.  
 
  

   

   
We believe the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term debt, accounts payable and accrued expenses 

approximates the fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments, which have not been reflected in the above table.  
 

We are subject to certain accounting standards that define fair value, establish a framework for measuring fair value and expand the 
disclosures about fair value measurements required or permitted under other accounting pronouncements.  The fair value accounting guidance 
establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value.  These tiers include: Level 1 (defined as 
observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets); Level 2 (defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are 
either directly or indirectly observable); and Level 3 (defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists).  
 

As of December 31, 2010, we held life insurance contracts with cash surrender value that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis.  The following table depicts those assets held and the related tier designation pursuant to the accounting guidance related to fair value disclosure. 
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See Notes 11 and 12 for the tier designation related to our postretirement and pension plan assets.  

 
 
(20)           BUSINESS SEGMENTS  
   
     We re an integrated communications company engaged primarily in providing an array of communications services to our customers, 
including local exchange, long distance, Internet access and broadband services.  We strive to maintain our customer relationships by, among other 
things, bundling our service offerings to provide our customers with a complete offering of integrated communications services.  Because of the 
similar economic characteristics of our operations, we have utilized the aggregation criteria specified in the segment accounting guidance and 
concluded that we operate as one reportable segment.  
 

Our operating revenues for our products and services include the following components:  
 

    Carrying      Fair    
    Amount      value    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
December 31, 2010              
              
Financial assets              
         Other    $ 110,178       110,178 (2) 
Financial liabilities                  
         Long-term debt (including current 
maturities)    $ 7,327,587       8,006,508 (1) 
         Other    $ 190,443       190,443 (2) 
                  
December 31, 2009                  
                  
Financial assets                  
         Other    $ 111,809       111,809 (2) 
Financial liabilities                  
         Long-term debt (including current 
maturities)    $ 7,753,718       8,408,943 (1) 
         Other    $ 182,374       182,374 (2) 

(1)   Fair value was estimated by discounting the scheduled payment streams to present value based upon  
   rates currently available to us for similar debt.  
(2)  Fair value was estimated by us to approximate carrying value or is based on current market information.  

    Balance                      
Description    Dec. 31, 2010     Level 1      Level 2      Level 3    

    (Dollars in thousands)    
                          
Cash surrender value of life insurance 
contracts    $ 99,462       99,462       -      -  

Year ended December 
31,    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)   
                    
Voice    $ 3,137,921       2,168,480       1,043,386   
Data      1,908,901       1,202,284       524,194   



   
     Beginning in 2010, we have reclassified revenues generated from subscriber line charges to “Voice” revenues from “Network access” 
revenues to better align our presentation of such revenues with others in our industry and we have included revenues generated from our fiber 
transport, CLEC and security monitoring operations in “Other” revenues.  Prior periods have been adjusted to reflect this new presentation.  
 
(21)           COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 
     Over 60 years ago, one of our indirect subsidiaries, Centel Corporation, acquired entities that may have owned or operated seven former 
plant sites that produced “manufactured gas” under a process widely used through the mid-1900s.  Centel has been a subsidiary of Embarq since 
being spun-off in 2006 from Sprint Nextel, which acquired Centel in 1993.  None of these plant sites are currently owned or operated by either 
Sprint Nextel, Embarq or their subsidiaries.  On three sites, Embarq and the current landowners are working with the Environmental Protection 
Agency (“EPA”) pursuant to administrative consent orders.  Remediation expenditures pursuant to the orders are not expected to be material. On 
five sites, including the three sites where the EPA is involved, Centel has entered into agreements with other potentially responsible parties to share 
remediation costs. Further, Sprint Nextel has agreed to indemnify Embarq for most of any eventual liability arising from all seven of these 
sites.  Based upon current circumstances, we do not expect this issue to have a material adverse impact on our results of operations or financial 
condition.  
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In William Douglas Fulghum, et al. v. Embarq Corporation, et al. , filed on December 28, 2007 in the United States District Court for the 
District of Kansas (Civil Action No. 07-CV-2602), a group of retirees filed a putative class action lawsuit challenging the decision to make certain 
modifications to Embarq’s retiree benefits programs generally effective January 1, 2008 (which resulted in a $300 million reduction to the liability 
for retiree benefits at the time of the modifications). Defendants include Embarq, certain of its benefit plans, its Employee Benefits Committee and 
the individual plan administrator of certain of its benefits plans. Additional defendants include Sprint Nextel and certain of its benefit 
plans.  Recently, the Court certified a class on certain of plaintiffs’ claims, but rejected class certification as to other claims.  Embarq and other 
defendants continue to vigorously contest these claims and charges.   Given that this litigation is still in discovery, it is premature to estimate the 
impact this lawsuit could have to our results of operation or financial condition.  In 2009, a ruling in Embarq’s favor was entered in an arbitration 
proceeding filed by 15 former Centel executives, similarly challenging the benefits changes.  
   

In April 2010, a series of lawsuits were filed by shareholders of Qwest Communications International Inc. in Colorado state and federal 
courts and in Delaware federal court, alleging that Qwest’s officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties by failing to maximize the value to 
be received by Qwest’s stockholders in connection with CenturyLink’s recently announced acquisition of Qwest.  CenturyLink was also named as a 
defendant in most of the lawsuits.  On July 16, 2010, the parties entered into a memorandum of understanding reflecting the terms of their 
agreement-in-principle for a settlement of all of the claims asserted in these actions. Pursuant to this agreement, defendants included additional 
disclosures in the final joint proxy statement-prospectus dated July 19, 2010, in response to allegations and claims asserted in certain of the 
complaints.  At a hearing in late February 2011, the Court gave final approval to this settlement, and all lawsuits challenging the transaction will be 
dismissed with prejudice effective March 17, 2011.  We do not expect the settlement to have a material adverse impact to our results of operations 
or financial condition.  
 

In December 2009, subsidiaries of CenturyLink filed two lawsuits against subsidiaries of Sprint Nextel to recover terminating access charges 
for VoIP traffic owed under various interconnection agreements and tariffs which presently approximate $33 million.  The lawsuits allege that 
Sprint Nextel has breached contracts, violated tariffs, and violated the Federal Communications Act by failing to pay these charges.  One lawsuit, 
filed on behalf of all legacy Embarq operating entities, was tried in federal court in Virginia in August 2010 and a ruling is expected in the first 
quarter of 2011.  The other lawsuit, filed on behalf of all legacy CenturyLink operating entities, is pending in federal court in Louisiana.  In that 
case, the Court recently dismissed certain of CenturyLink’s claims, referred other claims to the FCC, and stayed the litigation for 12 months.  We 
have not recorded a reserve related to these lawsuits.  
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From time to time, we are involved in other proceedings incidental to our business, including administrative hearings of state public utility 
commissions relating primarily to rate making, actions relating to employee claims, various tax issues, occasional grievance hearings before labor 
regulatory agencies and miscellaneous third party tort actions.   The outcome of these other proceedings is not predictable.  However, based on 
current circumstances, we do not believe that the ultimate resolution of these other proceedings, after considering available insurance coverage 
and current levels of reserves, will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  
 
   
(22)           SUBSEQUENT EVENT  
 

On January 19, 2011, we entered into a four-year revolving credit facility with various lenders.  This credit facility allows CenturyLink to 
borrow up to $1.0 billion initially with the total capacity of the credit facility increasing to $1.7 billion upon the consummation of our pending 
acquisition of Qwest.  Up to $400 million of the credit facility can be used for letters of credit, which reduces the amount available for other 
extensions of credit.  
 

Interest will be assessed on future borrowings using the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus an applicable margin between .5% to 

Network access      1,079,678       927,905       651,038   
Other      915,034       675,570       381,129   
Total operating 
revenues    $ 7,041,534       4,974,239       2,599,747   



2.5% per annum depending on the type of loan and CenturyLink’s then current senior unsecured long-term debt rating.  CenturyLink’s 
obligations under the credit facility are currently guaranteed by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Embarq Corporation, and upon consummation of the 
Qwest acquisition will also be guaranteed by Qwest and one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries.  
 

CenturyLink’s ability to borrow under the credit facility is conditioned upon its continued compliance with various loan covenants, including 
financial covenants that stipulate that CenturyLink shall not permit (i) the ratio of consolidated debt to consolidated EBITDA to exceed 4.0 to 1.0 
and (ii) the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to the sum of consolidated interest expense and preferred stock dividends to be less than 1.5 to 1.0 (with 
all of the above terms having the meanings stipulated in the agreement).  Amounts outstanding under the credit facility may be accelerated upon 
specified events of default, including failures to make payments when due, defaults of obligations under certain other debt, breaches of 
representations, warranties or covenants, commencement of bankruptcy proceedings and certain other failures to discharge specified obligations or 
comply with specified laws.  
 

CenturyLink’s previously existing $750 million credit facility and Embarq’s previously existing $800 million credit facility (which 
CenturyLink assumed upon its acquisition of Embarq on July 1, 2009) were both terminated upon the execution of this new credit facility.  
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  
Consolidated Quarterly Income Statement Information  

(Unaudited)  
   

   
The results of operations of Embarq are reflected subsequent to its July 1, 2009 acquisition date.  

 
We incurred a significant amount of integration related expenses in each quarter of 2010 related to our acquisition of Embarq.  Such pre-tax 

operating expenses aggregated approximately $24.1 million in first quarter 2010, $31.1 million in second quarter 2010, $26.9 million in third 
quarter 2010 and $27.2 million in fourth quarter 2010.  We also incurred pre-tax operating expenses related to our pending acquisition of Qwest of 
approximately $10.0 million in second quarter 2010, $5.1 million in third quarter 2010 and $7.1 million in fourth quarter 2010.  In addition, during 
the fourth quarter of 2010 we recognized a curtailment gain of approximately $20.9 million upon the freezing of certain future defined benefit 
pension plan accruals.  
 

During the third and fourth quarters of 2009, we incurred a significant amount of one-time expenses related to our acquisition of 
Embarq.  Such expenses included (i) severance, retention and early retirement pension benefit costs due to workforce reductions, (ii) transaction 
related costs, including legal and investment banker costs, (iii) integration related costs associated with our acquisition of Embarq, (iv) accelerated 
recognition of share-based compensation expense due to change of control provisions and terminations of employment and (v) settlement expenses 
related to certain executive retirement plans.  Such expenses aggregated approximately $195.5 million (pre-tax) in the third quarter of 2009 and 
approximately $37.6 million (pre-tax) in the fourth quarter of 2009.  
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During the fourth quarter of 2009, we recognized a pre-tax charge of approximately $60.8 million due primarily to the premiums paid in 

connection with certain debt extinguishments consummated in October 2009.  
 

In the first quarter of 2008, we recognized a $4.1 million pre-tax gain upon the sale of a non-operating investment.  In the second quarter of 
2008, we recognized an $8.2 million curtailment loss in connection with amending our SERP.  We also recognized a $4.5 million pre-tax gain upon 
liquidation of our investments in marketable securities in the SERP trust in the second quarter of 2008.  In the third quarter of 2008, we recorded a 
one-time pre-tax gain of approximately $3.2 million related to the sale of a non-operating investment.  In the fourth quarter of 2008, we recognized 
(i) a net benefit of approximately $12.8 million after-tax related to the recognition of previously unrecognized tax benefits, (ii) a pre-tax benefit of 
approximately $10.0 million related to the recognition of previously accrued transaction and other contingencies and (iii) a $5.0 million charge 
associated with costs associated with our then pending acquisition of Embarq.  
   
 

 
None.  
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    First      Second      Third      Fourth    
    quarter      quarter      quarter      quarter    

    (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)    
                          
2010    (unaudited)    
                          
Operating revenues    $ 1,800,426       1,772,030       1,747,101       1,721,977   
Operating income    $ 545,230       522,988       505,355       486,371   
Net income attributable to CenturyLink    $ 252,601       238,771       231,167       225,166   
Basic earnings per share    $ .84       .79       .76       .74   
Diluted earnings per share    $ .84       .79       .76       .74   
                                  
2009                                  
                                  
Operating revenues    $ 636,385       634,469       1,874,325       1,829,060   
Operating income    $ 164,337       149,443       378,983       540,338   
Net income before extraordinary item    $ 67,154       69,030       147,635       227,436   
Basic earnings per share before extraordinary item    $ .67       .68       .49       .76   
Diluted earnings per share before extraordinary item    $ .67       .68       .49       .76   
                                   
2008                                  
                                  
Operating revenues    $ 648,614       658,106       650,073       642,954   
Operating income    $ 183,493       180,690       180,727       176,442   
Net income attributable to CenturyLink    $ 88,760       92,167       84,733       100,072   
Basic earnings per share    $ .83       .88       .83       1.00   
Diluted earnings per share    $ .82       .88       .83       1.00   

Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting  
   and Financial Disclosure  



 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.    We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurances that 
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is timely recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported as required.  Our Chief Executive Officer, Glen F. Post, III, and our Chief Financial Officer, R. Stewart Ewing, Jr., have evaluated our 
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2010.  Based on the evaluation, Messrs. Post and Ewing concluded that our disclosure controls 
and procedures have been effective in providing reasonable assurance that they have been timely alerted of material information required to be filed in 
this annual report.  Since the date of Messrs. Post’s and Ewing’s most recent evaluation, we did not make any change to our internal control over 
financial reporting that materially affected, or that we believe is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  The 
design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events and contingencies, and there can be no 
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals.  Because of inherent limitations in any control system, misstatements due to error 
or fraud could occur and not be detected.  
 
Reports on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.   We incorporate by reference into this Item 9A the reports appearing at the forefront of Item 8, 
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”.  
   

 
Not applicable.  

 
 

PART III  
   

 

   
     The name, age and office(s) held by each of our executive officers are shown below.  Each of the executive officers listed below serves at the 
pleasure of the Board of Directors.  
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With the exception of Mr. Cheek and Mr. Huber, ea ch of our executive officers has served for more than five years as an officer of 

CenturyLink and one or more of its subsidiaries in varying capacities substantially similar to their current positions.  Mr. Post has served as President 
since July 1, 2009, and served as Chairman of the Board between June 2002 and June 2009.  Prior to being named to her current positions on July 1, 
2009, Ms. Puckett served as President and Chief Operating Officer since 2002.  Mr. Goff was promoted from Senior Vice President to Executive 
Vice President on July 1, 2009.  
 

Prior to CenturyLink’s acquisition of Embarq, Mr. Cheek previously served as Embarq’s President - Wholesale Markets since May 2006.  He 
served in this role at Sprint Nextel’s local telecommunications division from August 2005 until May 2006. He served as Assistant Vice President—
Strategic Sales and Account Management in Sprint Business Solutions from January 2004 until July 2005.  
 

Mr. Huber has served as Executive Vice President – Network Services since July 1, 2009 (excluding the period beginning on his resignation 
date of May 3, 2010 and ending on the date he rejoined us at our request on September 7, 2010).  Prior to CenturyLink’s acquisition of Embarq, 
Mr. Huber previously served as Embarq’s Chief Technology Officer and Senior Vice President since July 2008. He served as Senior Vice President -
Corporate Strategy and Development from December 2007 through June 2008. Mr. Huber served as Senior Vice President of Product Development 
from October 2006 until December 2007. Before that, he served as Senior Vice President of Wireless Solutions from August 2006 until October 
2006. From January 2003 to August 2005 he served as President of Sprint North Supply Company, a Sprint subsidiary that procured and distributed 
materials to the communications industry.  
   
     The balance of the information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2011 
annual meeting of stockholders (the "Proxy Statement"), which Proxy Statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within the first 120 days 
of 2011.  

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures  

Item 9B. Other Information  

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance  

Name  Age  Office(s) held with CenturyLink  
      
Glen F. Post, III  58  Chief Executive Officer and President  
      
Karen A. Puckett  50  Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer  
      
R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  59  Executive Vice President and  

Chief Financial Officer  
      
Stacey W. Goff  45  Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary  
      
William E. Cheek  55  President – Wholesale Operations  
      
David D. Cole  53  Senior Vice President –  

Operations Support  
      
Dennis G. Huber  50  Executive Vice President, Network Services  
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Item 11.                 Executive Compensation  
 

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.  
 
Item 12.                 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management  
                                                           

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.  
 
Item 13.                 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  
 

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.  
   
Item 14.           Principal Accountant Fees and Services  
 

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.  
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PART IV  

 
Item 15.                Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K  
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(3)          Exhibits:  
 

 

 

 

 

   (a).  Documents filed as a part of this report  

   (1)  The following Reports and Consolidated Financial Statements are included in Part II, Item 8:  

   Report of Management, including its assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting  

   Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Consolidated Financial  
    Statements, Financial Statement Schedule and Effectiveness of the Company’s Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

   Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008  

   Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008  

   Consolidated Balance Sheets - December 31, 2010 and 2009  

   Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008  

   Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008  

   Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

   Consolidated Quarterly Income Statement Information (unaudited)  

   (2)  The attached Schedule II, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts, is the only applicable schedule that we are required to file. 

2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 26, 2008, among CenturyLink, Inc., Embarq Corporation and Cajun Acquisition 
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 30, 2008).  

2.2  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 21, 2010, among CenturyLink, Inc., its subsidiary SB44 Acquisition Company, and 
Qwest Communications International Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by 
CenturyLink with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 27, 2010).  

3.1  Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of CenturyLink, Inc., as amended through May 21, 2010 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010).  

3.2  Bylaws of CenturyLink, Inc., as amended and restated through November 4, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of our 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010).  

4.1  Form of common stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
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June 30, 2010).  

4.2  Instruments relating to CenturyLink’s Revolving Credit Facility  

   a.  Four-Year Revolving Credit Facility, dated January 19, 2011, between CenturyLink, Inc. and the lenders named therein 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. on January 24, 2011).  

   b.  Form of related Guarantee Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed be 
CenturyLink, Inc. on January 24, 2011).  

4.3  Indebtedness of Embarq Corporation.  

   a.  Indenture, dated as of May 17, 2006, by and between Embarq Corporation and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, a 
national banking association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by 
Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32732) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 18, 2006).  

   b.  6.738% Global Note due 2013 of Embarq Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed by Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on March 9, 2007).  

   c.  7.082% Global Note due 2016 of Embarq Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed by Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on March 9, 2007).  

   d.  7.995% Global Note due 2036 of Embarq Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed by Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on March 9, 2007).  

4.4  Instruments relating to CenturyLink’s public senior debt.  

   a.  Indenture dated as of March 31, 1994 between CenturyLink and Regions Bank (formerly First American Bank & Trust of 
Louisiana), as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Registration Statement on Form S-3, Registration No. 33-
52915).  

   b.  Form of CenturyLink’s 7.2% Senior Notes, Series D, due 2025 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.27 to our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995).  

   c.  Form of CenturyLink’s 6.875% Debentures, Series G, due 2028, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).  

   d.  Form of CenturyLink’s 7.875% Senior Notes, Series L, due 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of our Registration 
Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-100480).  

   e.  Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 14, 2005 between CenturyLink and Regions Bank, as Trustee, designating and 
outlining the terms and conditions of CenturyLink’s 5% Senior Notes, Series M, due 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 
of our Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 15, 2005).  

   f.  Form of 5% Senior Notes, Series M, due 2015 (included in Exhibit 4.4(e)).  

   g.  Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 26, 2007 between CenturyLink and Regions Bank, as Trustee, designating and 
outlining the terms and conditions of CenturyLink’s 6.0% Senior Notes, Series N, due 2017 and 5.5% Senior Notes, Series O, due 
2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 29, 2007).  

   h.  Form of 6.0% Senior Notes, Series N, due 2017 and 5.5% Senior Notes, Series O, due 2013 (included in Exhibit 4.4(g)).  

   i.  Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 21, 2009 between CenturyLink and Regions Bank, as Trustee, designating and 
outlining the terms and conditions of CenturyLink’s 7.60% Senior Notes, Series P, due 2039 and 6.15% Senior Notes, Series Q, due 
2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 21, 2009).  

   j.  Form of 7.60% Senior Notes, Series P, due 2019 and 6.15% Senior Notes, Series Q, due 2019 (included in Exhibit 4.4(i)).  

10.1**  Qualified Employee Benefit Plans of CenturyLink, Inc. (excluding several narrow-based qualified plans that cover union 
employees or other limited groups of employees).  

   a.  CenturyLink Dollars & Sense 401(k) Plan and Trust, as amended and restated through December 31, 2006 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. 
(File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2007), as amended by the First Amendment and 
the Second Amendment thereto, each dated December 31, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) of the Annual Report 
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on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on February 29, 2008), as amended by the Third Amendment thereto dated November 20, 2008 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed by 
CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2009), as amended by the 
Fourth Amendment thereto dated June 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009), as amended by the Fifth Amendment thereto dated September 15, 
2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the year ended 
December 31, 2009), as amended by the Sixth Amendment thereto, dated December 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1(a) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009), as amended by the 
Seventh Amendment thereto, effective May 20, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) to the Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended September 30, 2010) and as amended by the Eighth Amendment thereto, 
effective January 1, 2011, included herein.  

   b.  CenturyLink Union 401(k) Plan and Trust, as amended and restated through December 31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1(b) of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-
07784) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2007), as amended by the First Amendment thereto dated 
May 29, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File 
No. 001-07784) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 2008), as amended by the Second Amendment thereto 
dated December 31, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 
2008), as amended by the Third Amendment thereto dated November 20, 2008 (incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on February 27, 2009), as amended by the Fourth Amendment thereto dated June 30, 2009 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009), 
as amended by the Fifth Amendment thereto dated September 15, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) to the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009), as amended by the Sixth Amendment 
thereto, dated December 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by 
CenturyLink, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009), as amended by the Seventh Amendment thereto, effective May 20, 2010 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended 
September 30, 2010) and as amended by the Eighth Amendment thereto, effective January 1, 2011, included herein.  

   c.  CenturyLink Retirement Plan, as amended and restated through December 31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) of 
the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2007), as amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto dated April 2, 2007 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 2008), as amended by Amendment No. 2 thereto dated as of 
December 31, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 
2008), as amended by Amendment No. 3 thereto dated October 24, 2008 (incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on February 27, 2009), as amended by Amendment No. 4 dated June 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1(c) to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009), as amended 
by Amendment No. 5 thereto dated September 15, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) to the Annual Report on Form 
10-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009), as amended by Amendment No. 6 thereto, dated December 
30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the year 
ended December 31, 2009), as amended by Amendment No. 7 thereto, effective at various dates during 2010 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended September 30, 
2010) and as amended by Amendment No. 8 thereto, effective January 1, 2011, included herein.  

10.2**  Stock-based Incentive Plans and Agreements of CenturyLink, Inc.  

   a.  Amended and Restated 1983 Restricted Stock Plan, as amended and restated through February 23, 2010 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2(a) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009).  

          b.    Amended and Restated 2000 Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended through May 23, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000) and amendment thereto dated May 29, 2003 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003).  

   (i)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the 2000 Incentive Compensation Plan and dated as of May 21, 2001, entered 
into by CenturyLink and its officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2001).  

   (ii)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the 2000 Incentive Compensation Plan and dated as of February 25, 2002, 
entered into by CenturyLink and its officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(d)(ii) of our Annual Report on Form 
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10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002).  

   c.  Amended and Restated 2002 Directors Stock Option Plan, dated as of February 25, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
(e) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003) and amendment thereto dated October 24, 2008 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(d) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).  

   (i)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into by CenturyLink in connection with options 
granted to the outside directors as of May 10, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2002).  

   (ii)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into by CenturyLink in connection with options 
granted to the outside directors as of May 9, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e)(ii) of our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).  

   (iii)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into by CenturyLink in connection with options 
granted to the outside directors as of May 7, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(d)(iii) of our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005).  

   d.  Amended and Restated 2002 Management Incentive Compensation Plan, dated as of February 25, 2004 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2(f) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003) and amendment thereto dated 
October 24, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 
31, 2008).  

   (i)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink and certain of its 
officers and key employees at various dates during 2002 following May 9, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of 
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2002).  

   (ii)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to foregoing plan and dated as of February 24, 2003, entered into be CenturyLink 
and its officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(f)(ii) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2002).  

   (iii)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to foregoing plan and dated as of February 25, 2004, entered into be CenturyLink 
and its officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(f)(iii) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2003).  

   (iv)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 24, 2003, entered into by 
CenturyLink and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the period ended March 31, 2003).  

   (v)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 25, 2004, entered into by 
CenturyLink and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(f)(v) of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the period ended March 31, 2004).  

   (vi)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to foregoing plan and dated as of February 17, 2005, entered into be CenturyLink 
and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e)(v) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2004).  

   (vii)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 17, 2005, entered into by 
CenturyLink and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e)(vi) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the period ended December 31, 2004).  

   e.  Amended and Restated 2005 Directors Stock Plan, as amended and restated through February 23, 2010 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2(f) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009).  

   (i)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink and each of its outside 
directors as of May 13, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of our Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 13, 2005).  

   (ii)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink and each of its outside 
directors as of May 12, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
June 30, 2006).  

   (iii)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink and each of its outside 
directors as of May 11, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(f)(iii) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period 
ended December 31, 2008).  

   (iv)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink and each of its outside 
directors as of May 9, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(f)(iv) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period 
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ended December 31, 2008).  

   (v)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 8, 2009, entered into between 
CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its outside directors on such date who remained on the Board following July 1, 2009 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2(b) to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009).  

   (vi)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 8, 2009, entered into between 
CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its outside directors who retired on July 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(c) to the 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009).  

   (vii)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of July 2, 2009, entered into between 
CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its outside directors named to the Board on July 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(d) 
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009).  

   (viii)  Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of July 2, 2009, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. 
and William A. Owens in payment of Mr. Owens’ 2009 supplemental chairman’s fees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e) 
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009).  

   (ix)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 21, 2010, entered into between 
CenturyLink, Inc. and seven of our outside directors on such date (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2010).  

   f.  Amended and Restated 2005 Management Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated through February 23, 2010 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(g) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the year ended 
December 31, 2009)  

   (i)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink and certain officers and 
key employees at various dates since May 12, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2005).  

   (ii)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink and certain officers 
and key employees at various dates since May 12, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2005).  

   (iii)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 21, 2006, entered into between 
CenturyLink and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(g)(iii) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2005).  

   (iv)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 21, 2006, entered into between 
CenturyLink and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(g)(iv) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2005).  

   (v)  Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 26, 2007, entered into between 
CenturyLink and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended March 31, 2007).  

   (vi)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 26, 2007, entered into between 
CenturyLink and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended March 31, 2007).  

   (vii)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 21, 2008, entered into between 
CenturyLink and its executive officers ((incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended March 31, 2008).  

   (viii)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 26, 2009 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2(g) of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009).  

   (ix)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of March 8, 2010 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010).  

   g.  Amended and Restated CenturyLink Legacy Embarq 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated through February 23, 
2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(h) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the year 
ended December 31, 2009).  

   (i)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 21, 2010, entered into between CenturyLink 
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and four of its outside directors as of such date (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the period ended June 30, 2010).  

   (ii)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 21, 2010, entered into between 
CenturyLink and William A. Owens in payment of Mr. Owens’ 2010 supplemental chairman’s fees (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010).  

   (iii)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, dated as of September 7, 2010 by and between CenturyLink, Inc. and Dennis G. Huber 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010).  

   h.  Form of Retention Award Agreement, pursuant to the equity incentive plans of CenturyLink or Embarq and dated August 23, 2010, 
entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and certain officers and key employees as of such date (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010).  

10.3  Key Employee Incentive Compensation Plan, dated January 1, 1984, as amended and restated as of November 16, 1995 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1(f) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995) and amendment thereto 
dated  November 21, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(f) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 
31, 1996), amendment thereto dated February 25, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the quarter ended March 31, 1997), amendment thereto dated  April 25, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001), amendment thereto dated April 17, 2000 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3(a) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001) and amendment thereto dated 
February 27, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007).  

10.4*  Supplemental Dollars & Sense Plan, 2008 Restatement, effective January 1, 2008, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3(c) of our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007) and amendment thereto dated October 24, 2008 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3(c) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008) and amendment thereto dated 
December 27, 2010, included herein.  

10.5*  Supplemental Defined Benefit Plan, 2008 Restatement, effective as of January 1, 2008, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3(d) of 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007) and amendment thereto dated October 24, 2008 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3(d) of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008) and amendment thereto dated 
December 27, 2010, included herein.  

10.6  Amended and Restated Salary Continuation (Disability) Plan for Officers, dated November 26, 1991 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.16 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1991).  

10.7  2010 Executive Officer Short-Term Incentive Program (incorporated by reference to our 2010 Proxy Statement filed on Form 14A with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2010).  

10.8  Amended and Restated CenturyLink 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, dated as of June 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009).  

10.9  Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its directors as of July 1, 2009 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 99.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on July 1, 2009).  

10.10  Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its officers as of July 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009).  

10.11*  Change of Control Agreement, effective January 1, 2011, by and between Glen F. Post, III and CenturyLink, included herein.  

10.12*  Form of Change of Control Agreement, effective January 1, 2011 by and between CenturyLink and each of its other executive officers, 
included herein.  

10.13  Amended and Restated CenturyLink, Inc. Bonus Life Insurance Plan for Executive Officers, dated as of April 3, 2008 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008) and First Amendment thereto 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010).  

10.14  Certain Material Agreements and Plans of Embarq Corporation.  

   a.  Employment Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2008, between Thomas A. Gerke and Embarq Corporation (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on March 4, 2008).  

   b.  Amendment to the Employment Agreement among Thomas A. Gerke, Embarq Corporation and CenturyLink, Inc. dated 
October 26, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Embarq Corporation (File 
No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 26, 2008).  
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   c.  Amendment 2008-2 to the Employment Agreement between Embarq Corporation and Thomas A. Gerke, dated December 20, 2008 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed by 
Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) on February 13, 2009).  

   d.*  Letter agreement, dated as of December 15, 2010, by and between Embarq Corporation, CenturyLink, Inc. and Thomas A. Gerke, 
designating Mr. Gerke’s last day of employment, included herein.  

   e.  Agreement Regarding Special Compensation and Post Employment Restrictive Covenants, dated December 12, 1995, by and 
between Sprint Corporation and Dennis G. Huber, which continues to govern certain payments being made to Mr. Huber as of the 
date of this report (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by Embarq Corporation 
(File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 30, 2008).  

   f.  Amendment 2008-1 to the Employment Agreement between Embarq Corporation and Dennis G. Huber, dated December 22, 2008 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed by 
Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) on February 13, 2009).  

   g.  Embarq Corporation 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the 
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on July 1, 2009).  

   h.  Form of 2007 Award Agreement for executive officers of Embarq Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
February 27, 2007).  

   i.  Form of 2008 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-
K filed by Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 4, 2008).  

   j.  Form of 2009 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-
K filed by Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32732) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 5, 2009).  

   k.  Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by 
Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 4, 2008).  

   l.  Amendment to Outstanding RSUs granted in 2007 and 2008 under the Embarq Corporation 2006 Equity Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed by 
Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) on February 13, 2009).  

   m.  Form of 2006 Award Agreement between Embarq Corporation and Richard A. Gephardt (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 
to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on August 1, 2006), as amended by the amendment thereto dated June 26, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.6 (m) to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2009).  

   n.  Amended and Restated Executive Severance Plan, including Form of Participation Agreement entered into between Embarq 
Corporation and William E. Cheek (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by 
Embarq Corporation (File No. 001-32372) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 30, 2008).  

   o.  Embarq Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated as of January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.27 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed by Embarq Corporation (File 
No. 001-32372) on February 13, 2009) and amendment thereto dated December 27, 2010, included herein.  

10.15  Employment Agreement, dated as of September 7, 2010 by and between CenturyLink, Inc. and Dennis G. Huber (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.15 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010).  

12*  Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.  

21*  Subsidiaries of CenturyLink, Inc.  

23*  Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Consent.  

31.1*  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of CenturyLink, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

31.2*  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of CenturyLink, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

32*  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of CenturyLink, Inc. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.  

*  Exhibit filed herewith.  



   
   
   
   

**  Portions of Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2 filed herewith.  
Note:  Our Corporate Governance Guidelines and Charters of our Board of Director Committees are located on our website at 

www.centurylink.com .  
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SIGNATURES  

 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
 
 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 

the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.  
 

  

     CenturyLink, Inc  
      
      
Date:   March 1, 2011    By: /s/ Glen F. Post, III  
    Glen F. Post, III  
    Chief Executive Officer and President  
      

      
/s/ Glen F. Post, III  Chief Executive Officer,    
Glen F. Post, III    President and Director  March 1, 2011  
      
      
/s/ William A. Owens  Chairman of the Board    
William A. Owens    March 1, 2011  
      
      
 /s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  Executive Vice President and    
R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      Chief Financial Officer  March 1, 2011  
      
      
/s/ Neil A. Sweasy  Vice President and Controller    
Neil A. Sweasy    March 1, 2011  
      
      
/s/ Virginia Boulet  Director    
Virginia Boulet    March 1, 2011  
      
      
/s/ Peter C. Brown  Director    
Peter C. Brown    March 1, 2011  
      
      
/s/ Richard A. Gephardt  Director    
Richard A. Gephardt    March 1, 2011  
      
      
/s/ W. Bruce Hanks  Director    
W. Bruce Hanks    March 1, 2011  
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/s/ Gregory J. McCray  Director    
Gregory J. McCray    March 1, 2011  
      
      
 /s/ C. G. Melville, Jr.  Director  March 1, 2011  
C. G. Melville, Jr.      
      
      
/s/ Fred R. Nichols  Director  March 1, 2011  
Fred R. Nichols      
      
      
 /s/ Harvey P. Perry  Director  March 1, 2011  
Harvey P. Perry      
      
      



 
   
   

/s/ Laurie A. Siegel  Director  March 1, 2011  
Laurie A. Siegel      
      
      
/s/ Joseph R. Zimmel  Director  March 1, 2011  
Joseph R. Zimmel      
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SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  

CENTURYLINK, INC.  
 

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008  
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          Additions                     
    Balance at     charged to     Deductions           Balance   
    beginning     costs and     from      Other      at end   
Description    of period     expenses     allowance     changes     of period   
    (Dollars in thousands)    
Year ended December 31, 2010                                
Allowance for doubtful accounts    $ 47,450       91,202       (78,566 ) (1)     -      60,086   
                                          
  Valuation allowance for  deferred 
tax assets    $ 41,533       3,681       (2,320 )     -      42,894   
                                          
Year ended December 31, 2009                                          
Allowance for doubtful accounts    $ 16,290       56,609       (25,449 ) (1)     -      47,450   
                                          
Valuation allowance for deferred tax 
assets    $ 33,858       3,886       (6,329 )     10,118   (2)     41,533   
                                          
Year ended December 31, 2008                                          
Allowance for doubtful accounts    $ 20,361       9,866       (13,524 ) (1)     (413 ) (2)     16,290   
                                          
Valuation allowance for  deferred tax 
assets    $ 30,907       1,603       -      1,348       33,858   

(1)  Customers’  accounts written-off, net of recoveries.  

(2)  Allowances at the date of acquisition of purchased subsidiaries, net of  allowances at the date of disposition of subsidiaries sold.  



EXHIBIT 10.1(A) 
   
 
   

EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE  
CENTURYLINK DOLLARS & SENSE 401(K) PLAN  

   
   

WHEREAS ,   the CenturyLink Dollars & Sense 401(k) Plan (“Plan”) was amended and restated by CenturyLink, Inc. (the “Company”) 
effective December 31, 2006;  
   

WHEREAS , the Company wishes to amend the Plan to include safe harbor and qualified automatic contribution features, extend 
eligibility to participate in the Plan to those employees of Embarq Corporation who were participants in the Embarq Retirement Savings Plan and 
make other necessary changes; and  
   

WHEREAS , the Company reserved the right to amend the Plan in Section 14.2 of the Plan;  
   

NOW, THEREFORE, the Plan is amended effective January 1, 2011, as follows:  
   

I.  
The fourth sentence of the third paragraph of the Preamble to the Plan is amended and restated to read in its entirety as 

follows:  
   

The Trustee of the Dollars & Sense Trust is Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.  
   
   

II.  
   

The Preamble to the Plan is amended by adding the following as the last paragraph thereof to read in its entirety as 
follows: 

   
Effective January 1, 2011, non-represented employees of Embarq Corporation (“Embarq”) and the subsidiaries 

of Embarq that sponsored the Embarq Retirement Savings Plan are eligible to participate in the Plan, in accordance with 
the adoption of the Plan by such entities as Participating Employers as of such date.  

 
III.  

 
The second paragraph of Section 1.18, Employee , is amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:  

 
The term Employee shall not include any individual who, as of the effective date of the acquisition of Embarq 

Corporation (“Embarq”) by the Company, was a common law employee of Embarq, but who transfers to a work location 
of an Employer after such acquisition, if such individual remains on a payroll of Embarq or another entity that, 
immediately prior to such acquisition, was required to be aggregated with Embarq under Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) 
of the Code (an “Embarq Entity”) (“Embarq Employee”).  This paragraph shall not apply to individuals covered by a 
collective bargaining agreement that provides for participation in the Plan.  

 
Nevertheless, effective January 1, 2011, the date Embarq and its subsidiaries that sponsored the Embarq 

Retirement Savings Plan became Participating Employers in accordance with Article 14, the immediately preceding 
paragraph shall cease to apply and the term Employee shall include such Embarq Employees described above who 
otherwise meet the requirement to be considered an Employee under this Section 1.18.  

 
IV.  

 
Section 2.1,   Active Participation , is amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:  

 
2.1            Active Participation .  Each Employee shall be eligible to participate in the Plan upon the first day of the first month 

after the thirtieth (30th) day following his or her date of employment or reemployment.  
 

Section 3.1(a),  Participant Election , is amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:  
 

   
(2)            Automatic Contribution Arrangement . The Plan is intended to meet the requirements applicable to a Qualified 
Automatic Contribution Arrangement (as defined in Section 401(k)(13)(B) of the Code) and an Eligible Automatic 
Contribution Arrangement (as defined in Section 414(w)(3) of the Code), effective as of January 1, 2011.  

   
(3)            Automatic Compensation Reduction Election . If a Participant becomes a Participant on or after January 1, 
2011 and   does not affirmatively elect to contribute to this Plan, his or her Compensation shall be automatically reduced 

   (a)  (1)  Participant Deferral Election .  A Participant may elect to defer Compensation that would otherwise be paid to him but 
for the deferral of such Compensation, in an amount expressed as a whole percentage from one percent (1%) to fifty 
percent (50%) of his Compensation as he shall elect in the manner prescribed by the Employer.  



by three percent (3%) each pay period and this amount shall be contributed to the Plan as a Pre-Tax Elective Deferral 
(the “Automatic Compensation Reduction Election”).  

   
If on or before January 1, 2011 an eligible Employee has affirmatively elected to make Elective Deferrals (i.e., Pre-Tax 
Elective Deferral and/or Roth Elective Deferral) of less than three percent (3%) (during such election period and under 
such procedures as are prescribed by the Committee), the Automatic Compensation Reduction Election shall equal the 
difference between the eligible Employee’s affirmative election and three percent (3%).  Such contributions shall be 
contributed to the Plan as a Pre-Tax Elective Deferral, unless the eligible Employee’s affirmative election was 
exclusively a Roth Elective Deferral, in which case the Automatic Compensation Reduction Election shall be a Roth 
Elective Deferral.  

   
Example 1.   If an eligible Employee had affirmatively elected to make Pre-Tax Elective Deferrals of one percent (1%) 
of his or her Compensation each pay period, as well as one percent (1%) Roth Elective Deferrals, the Automatic 
Compensation Reduction Election shall be one percent (1%), contributed as Pre-Tax Elective Deferrals, so that the 
eligible Employee’s total Elective Deferrals will be three percent (3%) of Compensation each pay period (one percent 
(1%) Roth Elective Deferral and two percent (2%) Pre-Tax Elective Deferral).  

   
Example 2.   If an eligible Employee had affirmatively elected to make Roth Elective Deferrals of two percent (2%) of 
his or her Compensation each pay period, the Automatic Compensation Reduction Election shall be one percent (1%), 
contributed as Roth Elective Deferrals, so that the eligible Employee’s initial total Elective Deferrals will be three 
percent (3%) of Compensation each pay period, all of which shall be Roth Elective Deferrals.  

   
A Participant may change the Automatic Compensation Reduction Election, and may change the classification of future 
deferrals from Pre-Tax Elective Deferrals to Roth Elective Deferrals, at any time.  Automatic Compensation Reductions 
that are not changed by the Participant are subject to change in accordance with paragraph (5) below.  

   
(4)            Withdrawal Right .  A Participant may withdraw Contributions made on his or her behalf pursuant to the 
Automatic Compensation Reduction Election, adjusted for allocable gains or losses to the date of distribution, during an 
initial ninety (90) day period after such Contributions were first made on the Participant’s behalf. A Participant who 
withdraws Contributions pursuant to this subparagraph shall be treated as having made an affirmative election to stop 
having Elective Deferrals made on his or her behalf as of the effective date of the withdrawal.  

   
(5)            Automatic Escalations .   If the Participant to whom an Automatic Compensation Reduction Election applies 
does not change the election prior to the following April 1 which is at least six (6) months after the date on which the 
Automatic Compensation Reduction Election first applies to the Participant, such Participant’s Pre-Tax or Roth Elective 
Deferrals shall be increased at a rate of one percent (1%) per year, commencing as of such April 1, and continuing each 
subsequent April 1 until the Participant’s deferral rate equals six percent (6%).  A Participant may stop the automatic 
escalations or otherwise change his or her deferral election at any time.  Automatic Escalation contributions shall have 
the same character ( i.e. Pre-Tax or Roth) as the Participant’s Automatic Compensation Reduction Election.  Thus, under 
Example 1 in paragraph (3) above, the Automatic Escalations will be contributed as Pre-Tax Elective Deferrals, while 
under Example 2 the Automatic Escalations will be contributed as Roth Elective Deferrals.  

   
(6)            Voluntary Automatic Escalations .  Any Participant who has affirmatively elected a contribution rate of at 
least one percent (1%) may elect, in the manner prescribed by the Employer and under such procedures as are 
determined by the Employer, for his Pre-Tax Elective Deferrals and/or Roth Elective Deferrals to be automatically 
increased according to a pre-determined schedule. A Participant may stop or change the voluntary automatic escalations 
or otherwise change his or her deferral election at any time.  

   
(7)            Vesting .  A Participant shall at all times have a nonforfeitable interest in his Elective Deferral Account.  

   
Contributions shall be subject to the following rules:  

   

   

   

   

   (i)  Change .  A Participant may change the specified deferral percentage and the classification of future deferrals 
from Pre-Tax Elective Deferrals to Roth Elective Deferrals (or vice-versa) at any time.  Said change in 
percentage shall be made by such means as is acceptable to the Committee.  If the election is made after the 
Employee’s date of hire and before the Employee becomes eligible to participate in this Plan, such election shall 
be effective for the Employee’s first pay period following eligibility and for subsequent pay periods (until 
superseded by a subsequent election).  Elections filed at a later date shall be effective for the payroll period as 
soon as administratively feasible following the date the election is filed.  

   (ii)  Suspension .  A Participant may suspend his election at any time, effective for the payroll period beginning in 
the month following the date the election is filed.  

   (iii)  Salary Reduction .  The amount of a Participant’s Compensation for a Plan Year shall be reduced by the amount 
of the contribution that is contributed to the Plan pursuant to his election or the Automatic Compensation 
Reduction Election.  

   (iv)  Election .  All elections shall be made at the time, in the manner, and subject to the conditions specified by the 
Committee, which shall prescribe uniform and nondiscriminatory rules for such elections.  The Employer shall 
pay over to the Plan all Elective Deferrals as soon as is practicable (but in no event later than the 15th business 



   

   
Section 3.2,   Employer Match Contributions , is amended to read in its entirety as follows and internal references shall be corrected 

accordingly:  
 

3.2            E mployer Match Contributions  
 

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
   

VII.  
   

Section 3.3, Additional Match Contributions , is amended to include the following sentence at the end thereof to read in its entirety as 
follows:  
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in accordance with Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(m)-3(d), any such Additional Match 
Contribution shall not be made with respect to Elective Deferrals or employee contributions that exceeds 6% of the Participant’s 
Compensation.  Furthermore, any such Additional Match Contribution shall not exceed 4% of the Participant’s Compensation.  

   
VIII.  

   
Paragraph (d), Participant Election , of Section 4.7, Investment of Funds , is amended to add a second paragraph to read in its entirety as 

follows:  
 

The default fund designated by the Committee is intended to satisfy the U.S. Department of Labor’s rules for a qualified default investment 
alternative (“QDIA”).  The QDIA rules specify that, because the Participant had an option to make an investment election and chose not to 
do so, the Company and other Plan fiduciaries are protected from liability under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 
(“ERISA”) for placing such Participant’s contributions in the default investment fund.  A Participant may choose to transfer all or any 
portion of his or her balance out of a default investment fund by giving appropriate notice of his election in accordance with rules 
established by the Committee.  

day of the month following the month in which the Elective Deferrals would have otherwise been payable to the 
Participant in cash).  Contributions made by the Employer under this subsection shall be allocated to the Pre-
Tax Elective Deferral Account or the Roth Elective Deferral Account in accordance with the Participant’s 
irrevocable designation, unless the election is an Automatic Compensation Reduction Election, in which case 
such Contributions shall be allocated to the Participant’s Pre-Tax Elective Deferral Account (unless and until 
the Participant elects to make Roth Elective Deferrals).  

   (v)  Notice .  At least 30 days (but not more than 90 days) before the beginning of the Plan Year, the Employer will 
provide each Participant a comprehensive notice of the Participant’s rights and obligations regarding the 
Automatic Compensation Reduction Election.  If an Employee becomes a Participant after the 90th day before 
the beginning of the Plan Year and does not receive the notice for that reason, the notice will be provided no 
more than 90 days before the Employee becomes a Participant but not later than the date the Employee becomes 
a Participant.  The notice will accurately describe: (A) the amount of the Elective Deferrals that will be made on 
the Participant’s behalf; (B) the Participant’s right to elect to have no Elective Deferrals made on his or her 
behalf or to have a different amount of Elective Deferrals made; (C) how Elective Deferrals will be invested in 
the absence of the Participant’s investment instructions; and (D) the Participant’s rights to make a permissible 
withdrawal, if applicable, and the procedures to elect such a withdrawal.  

   (a)  Effective January 1, 2011, Employer Match Contributions shall be made in cash.  

   (b)  Effective January 1, 2011, each Participant will receive an Employer Match Contribution in an amount equal to the sum 
of –  

   (1)  100% of the amount of the Participant’s Elective Deferrals that do not exceed 1% of the Participant’s 
Compensation; plus  

   (2)  50% of the amount of the Participant’s Elective Deferrals that do exceed 1% of the Participant’s Compensation 
but that do not exceed 6% of the Participant’s Compensation.  

   (c)  Employer Match Contributions will be calculated on a payroll period basis.  No contributions will be made to “true up” 
the Employer Match Contributions after the end of the Plan Year.  

   (d)  Employer Match Contributions made on behalf of a Participant, as adjusted for withdrawals thereof, investment gain and 
losses, and income or expenses, shall be credited to such Participant’s Employer Match Account.  

   (e)  Any Employer Match Contributions that are attributable to Excess Deferrals shall be forfeited and applied to reduce 
Employer Contributions to the Plan.  

   (f)  Any Employer Match Contribution with respect to Excess Contributions that are distributed shall be forfeited.  

   (g)  Employer Match Contributions shall be fully vested at all times except as provided in paragraphs (e) and (f) above.  

   (h)  The Employer Match Contribution formula shall continue in effect until otherwise changed by resolution of the 
Employer’s Board of Directors.  



   
IX.  

 
   

The second sentence of paragraph (e), Company Stock , of Section 4.7, Investment of Funds , is amended and restated to 
read in its entirety as follows:  

   
The Plan shall include Company Stock as an Investment Option for assets that are invested in Company Stock as of December 31, 
2010, however, once Company Stock in the Plan is transferred to another Investment Option, it cannot be reinvested in Company 
Stock.  

   
   

X.  
The first paragraph of Section 6.4(a), Hardship , is amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:  

 

 
   

XI.  
   

The last paragraph under Subparagraph (3) of Section 6.4(a), Hardship , is amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:  
 

A Participant who receives a distribution on account of hardship shall be prohibited from making Elective Deferrals and employee 
contributions under this and all other plans of the Employer and any Affiliated Employer (including the Company’s Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan and Supplemental Dollars & Sense Plan) for six (6) months after the distribution.  

   
XII.  

Section 9.1, Loans , is amended by adding a new Paragraph (h) to read in its entirety as follows:  
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has executed this amendment on this 27th day of December, 2010.  

 

   (a)  Hardship .  By filing the required form, a Participant may withdraw on account of hardship all or a portion of his vested Accrued 
Benefit held in the Participant’s Elective Deferral Account and Rollover Account only,   except earnings thereon.  The amount 
distributed will be withdrawn pro rata across eligible money types.  

   (h)  A Participant may not have more than two loans outstanding at one time from all plans of the Employer and any Affiliated 
Employer.  

  CENTURYLINK, INC.  
    
    
  By :/s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Name:   R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Title:   EVP, CFO and Assistant Secretary  



EXHIBIT 10.1(B) 
   
 
   

EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE  
CENTURYLINK UNION 401(K) PLAN  

 
WHEREAS , the CenturyTel Union 401(k) Plan (“Plan”) was amended and restated by CenturyLink, Inc. (the “Company”) effective 

December 31, 2006;  
 

WHEREAS , on May 20, 2010, the shareholders of the Company approved a change of the Company's name from CenturyTel, Inc. to 
CenturyLink, Inc., and the Company changed the Plan name to reflect the new Company name;  
 

WHEREAS , the Company wishes to revise the Plan’s Preamble to reflect the Plan’s new Trustee, restrict hardship distributions to 
employee contributions only, revise in-service distributions from Rollover Accounts and After-Tax Accounts; and  
 

WHEREAS , the Company reserved the right to amend the Plan in Section 13.2 of the Plan.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE , the Plan is amended as follows, effective January 1, 2011:  
 

I.  
 

The third sentence of the sixth paragraph of the Preamble to the Plan is amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:  
 

The Trustee of the Union 401(k) Trust is Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.  
 

II.  
 

The first paragraph of Section 6.6(a), Hardship , is amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:  
 

Hardship . By filing the required form, a Participant may withdraw on account of hardship all or a portion of his vested Accrued Benefit 
held in the Participant’s Elective Deferral Account, except earnings thereon.  The amount distributed will be withdrawn pro rata across eligible 
money types.  
 

III.  
 

Paragraph (c), Rollover Account , of Section 6.6, Other Permitted Distributions , is amended by adding the following sentence at 
the end thereof:  
 

Effective January 1, 2011, Participants in Groups A, B and C may withdraw any amount from their Rollover Accounts in accordance with 
this Section 6.6(c).  
 

IV.  
 

Paragraph (d), Voluntary After -Tax Account , of Section 6.6, Other Permitted Distributions , is amended by adding the following 
sentence at the end thereof:  
 

Effective January 1, 2011, Participants in Groups A, B and C may withdraw any amount from their Voluntary After-Tax Accounts in 
accordance with this Section 6.6(d).  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has executed this amendment on this 27th day of December, 2010.  
   
   

  CENTURYLINK, INC.  
    
    
  By :/s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Name:   R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Title:   EVP, CFO and Assistant Secretary  



EXHIBIT 10.1(C) 
 

AMENDMENT NO. 8  
TO THE  

CENTURYLINK RETIREMENT PLAN  
 
 

WHEREAS , the CenturyTel Retirement Plan (“Plan”) was amended and restated by CenturyTel, Inc. (the “Company”) effective 
December 31, 2006;  
 

WHEREAS , effective May 20, 2010, the name of the Plan changed to CenturyLink Retirement Plan to correspond with the change in the 
Company’s name to CenturyLink, Inc.;  
 

WHEREAS , the Company desires to amend the Plan to limit the eligibility of nonrepresented employees to participate in the Plan, to 
curtail accrual of benefits for the existing nonrepresented participants, and to provide a 5-year transition period during which specified benefits that 
have already accrued will be increased by a fixed percentage each year; and  
 

WHEREAS , pursuant to Section 12.2 of the Plan, the Company reserves the right to amend the Plan in whole or in part;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE , the Plan is amended effective as of January 1, 2011 unless otherwise provided below, as follows:  
 
   

I.  
   

Section 2.14, Compensation , is amended by adding a new paragraph at the end to read in its entirety as follows:  
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective January 1, 2011, no amounts paid after December 31, 2010 shall be considered in 
determining a Participant’s Compensation.  The previous sentence shall not apply to Grandfathered Represented Employees.  

 
 

II.  
   

Effective December 31, 2010, the following new Sections 2.26, Grandfathered Participants , and 2.27 , Grandfathered 
Represented Employees , are inserted immediately following the existing Section 2.25, Final Average Pay , to read in their entirety as 
follows. The remainder of Section 2 (beginning with the existing Section 2.26, Hours of Service ) is renumbered and the relevant cross-
references in the Plan are re-referenced accordingly:  

 
2.26  Grandfathered Participants means Employees as of December 31, 2010 who are not Grandfathered Represented 

Employees and who have accrued a Normal Retirement Benefit as of such date.  
 

2.27  Grandfathered Represented Employees means Eligible Employees who participate in the Plan pursuant to a collective 
bargaining agreement that requires the Employer to provide benefit accruals to such employees under any portion of the Plan.  Eligible 
Employees may be Grandfathered Represented Employees even though their collective bargaining agreement provides for benefit accruals 
equivalent to the accruals that were, as of December 31, 2010, provided to Employees who are not covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement.  Employees who are covered by a collective bargaining agreement that does not require the Employer to provide benefit 
accruals pursuant to the Plan, or who are covered by a collective bargaining agreement that ceases to require such accruals, are not 
Grandfathered Represented Employees.  

 
   

III.  
   

Section 3.1, Eligible Employee , is amended by adding a paragraph at the end thereof to read in its entirety as follows:  
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Employee is not an Eligible Employee  if his employment with an Employer   began after 
December 31, 2010.  

 
IV.  

   
Section 3.4, Reassignment and Reemployment , is amended by adding a fourth and fifth paragraph to read in their entirety as follows:  

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.4, effective January 1, 2011, no person whose employment with the 

Employer begins after December 31, 2010 shall become a Participant in the Plan.  
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.4, effective January 1, 2011, a person whose employment with the 
Employer resumes after December 31, 2010 may resume status as a Participant in the Plan in accordance with Section 4.4.  Such a 
Participant shall not however resume accrual of benefits under the Plan after resuming employment, nor shall he or she resume accrual of 
the transition benefit set forth in Section 6.1(g)(2).  

 
   

V.  



   
Section 4.3,   Credited Service ,   is amended by adding new paragraphs (h) and (i) to read in their entirety as follows:  

 
(h)  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 4.3, effective January 1, 2011, no Credited Service shall be earned 

by a Participant or Eligible Employee with respect to any period of employment after December 31, 2010 for the purpose of determining 
the amount of the Accrued Benefit.  This Section 4.3(h) shall not apply to Grandfathered Represented Employees.  

 
(i) Credited Service will continue to be earned by a Participant or Eligible Employee with respect to periods of employment after 

December 31, 2010 for the purpose of determining eligibility for a Retirement Benefit (such as eligibility for Early Retirement pursuant to 
Section 5.2).  

 
   

VI.  
   

Section 4.7, Transfers Between Company, Affiliates and Adopting Entities , is amended by adding new paragraphs (f) and (g) to read 
in their entirety as follows:  
 

(f)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, and except as provided in Section 2.22 (Employee), in the case of an individual who transfers 
employment as described under (a) above on or after January 1, 2011, such individual shall not be entitled to an Accrued Benefit under this 
Plan with respect to any period of employment after December 31, 2010.  

 
(g)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, and except as provided in Section 2.22 (Employee), in the case of a Grandfathered Participant 

who transfers employment to or from an Affiliate on or after January 1, 2011, such individual shall continue to accrue benefits pursuant to 
Section 6.1(g)(2).  

 
   

VII.  
   

Article 6.1 is amended by adding a new paragraph (g) to read in its entirety as follows:  
 

Section 6.1, Freezing of Normal Retirement Benefit (and all Benefits Based Thereon); Exceptions .  
 

(g)    Plan Freeze .  Except as otherwise stated in Sections 6.1(g)(1) and (2), and notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan 
to the contrary, the Normal Retirement Benefit of all Participants shall be frozen at the level accrued as of December 31, 2010, and shall 
not increase after such date.  The freezing of benefits pursuant to this Section 6.1(g) (as modified below) also applies to all Plan benefits 
that are determined by reference to the Normal Retirement Benefit (including but not limited to Early Retirement Benefits under Section 
6.2, Deferred Retirement Benefits under Section 6.3, Disability Retirement Benefits under Section 6.4, Spouse’s Benefits under Section 
6.5, and Benefits for Terminated Vested Participants under Section 6.6), and to any benefits provided pursuant to Schedules 6.1(a)(3) and 
6.1(a)(4).  Benefits provided under Schedule 6.1(a)(5) are not determined by reference to the Normal Retirement Benefit and are 
unaffected by the Plan freeze under this Section 6.1(g).  

 
(1)    Exception:  Grandfathered Represented Employees .  Grandfathered Represented Employees shall receive the Normal 
Retirement Benefit required under the terms of the applicable collective bargaining agreement, as reflected in such agreement 
and/or the Plan (including the Constituent Plans and Appendices to the Plan) for as long as required pursuant to such collective 
bargaining agreement.  Grandfathered Represented Employees, including those who cease to be Grandfathered Represented 
Employees on or after January 1, 2011, shall not be eligible for the limited annual increases to the Normal Retirement Benefit set 
forth in Section 6.1(g)(2), unless specifically provided under a collective bargaining agreement.  

 
(2)    Exception:  Grandfathered Participants .  Grandfathered Participants shall receive a four percent (4%) increase to their 
Normal Retirement Benefit each year that they are a Grandfathered Participant, until the earlier of: (i) December 31, 2015 or (ii) 
the date of the Participant’s initial termination of employment with the Employer and all Affiliates.  If a Grandfathered Participant 
terminates employment with the Employer and all Affiliates prior to the end of a Plan Year, the increase in the prior sentence for 
the applicable Plan Year shall be based on the number of months credited in such Plan Year, where the increase is calculated 
using compound interest.  If the Grandfathered Participant works at least one day in a calendar month, he or she shall receive full 
credit for that month.  If any Grandfathered Participant terminates employment with the Employer and all Affiliates after 
December 31, 2010 and becomes reemployed with the Employer or any Affiliate before December 31, 2015, such Participant 
shall receive no additional increases to his or her Normal Retirement Benefit after such reemployment, and his or her Normal 
Retirement Benefit shall remain frozen as of his or her initial termination date after December 31, 2010.  The increases in benefits 
provided pursuant to this Section 6.1(g)(2) shall not apply to any benefits provided pursuant to Schedules 6.1(a)(3), 6.1(a)(4), or 
6.1(a)(5).  

 
(3)    Vesting .  The provisions of this Section 6.1(g) shall have no effect on the continued vesting of benefits pursuant to Article 
IV of the Plan.  

   
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Employer has caused this Amendment No. 8 to be executed this 27 th day of December, 2010 by its 

authorized representative.  
   
   
   
  CENTURYLINK, INC.  



    
    
  By :/s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Name:   R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Title:   EVP, CFO and Assistant Secretary  



EXHIBIT 10.4 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO  
THE CENTURYLINK, INC.  

SUPPLEMENTAL DOLLARS & SENSE PLAN  
2008 RESTATEMENT  

 
WHEREAS , CenturyLink, Inc. (the “Company”) maintains the CenturyTel, Inc. Supplemental Dollars & Sense Plan (the “Plan”), which 

was most recently restated effective January 1, 2008;  
 

WHEREAS ,   on May 20, 2010, the shareholders of the Company approved a change of the Company’s name from CenturyTel, Inc. to 
CenturyLink, Inc., and the Company wishes to change the Plan name to reflect the Company’s new name;  
 

WHEREAS , effective January 1, 2011, the Company amended the CenturyLink, Inc. Dollars & Sense Plan to increase the maximum 
percentage of pay that may be deferred thereunder, and the Company desires to amend the Plan to make a corresponding change thereto;  
 

WHEREAS , the Company reserved the right to amend the Plan in Section 16.02 of the Plan;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE , the Plan is amended effective as of the dates specified below, as follows:  
 
   
I.  
   

Effective May 20, 2010, “CenturyTel” is deleted each place it appears in the Plan and “CenturyLink” is substituted therefor.  
 

II.  
   

Effective January 1, 2011, the second sentence of Section 5.01 is amended to read as follows:  
 

The amount of allowable deferral pursuant to each of the Participant’s elections shall be a whole percentage, not to exceed 50% (25% prior 
to January 1, 2011).  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has executed this amendment on this 27th day of December, 2010.  

 
   
  CENTURYLINK, INC.  
    
    
  By :/s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Name:   R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Title:   EVP, CFO and Assistant Secretary  



Exhibit 10.5 
 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT  
TO  

THE CENTURYLINK, INC.  
SUPPLEMENTAL DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN  

2008 RESTATEMENT  
 

WHEREAS , CenturyLink, Inc. (the “Company”) maintains the CenturyTel, Inc. Supplemental Defined Benefit Plan (the “Plan”), which 
was most recently restated effective January 1, 2008;  
 

WHEREAS ,   on May 20, 2010, the shareholders of the Company approved a change of the Company’s name from CenturyTel, Inc. to 
CenturyLink, Inc., and the Company wishes to change the Plan name to reflect the Company’s new name;  
 

WHEREAS , the Company desires to freeze the Plan effective January 1, 2011 in connection with the amendment of the CenturyLink, 
Inc. Retirement Plan (the “Retirement Plan”) freezing the benefit accruals thereunder as of December 31, 2010;  
 

WHEREAS , the Company reserved the right to amend the Plan in Section 18.02 of the Plan;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE , the Plan is amended effective as of the dates specified below, as follows:  
 
   

I.  
   

Effective May 20, 2010, “CenturyTel” is deleted each place it appears in the Plan and “CenturyLink” is substituted therefor.  
   
   

II.  
   

Effective January 1, 2011, Article III, Participation , is amended by adding a new Section 3.04 to read as follows:  
 

3.04    Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective January 1, 2011, no employee shall be eligible to participate in the Plan if his 
employment with the Employer began after December 31, 2010.  

 
   

III.  
Effective January 1, 2011, Article IV, Normal Retirement , is amended and restated to read as follows:  

 
IV. Normal Retirement  

 
4.01   Subject to the provisions of Articles XII and XIII, the monthly retirement benefit payable to a Participant shall commence 

on his Normal Retirement Date and shall be the excess, if any, of the sum of the amounts determined pursuant to Sections 6.1(a)(1) and (a)
(2) of the Retirement Plan (as modified by Section 6.1(g) of the Retirement Plan, which freezes Retirement Plan benefits at the level 
accrued as of December 31. 2010, with the exception of limited transition benefits under Section 6.1(g)(2) of such plan),  computed 
without taking into account the limitations contained in Sections 2.14(d) and (e) and 5.7 thereof over the amount so determined taking into 
account such limitations; the resulting benefit shall be further reduced by the amount determined pursuant to Section 6.1(a)(3) of the 
CenturyTel Retirement Plan, if any.  

 
4.02   In accordance with Section 6.1 of the Retirement Plan, the Normal Retirement benefit under the Plan shall be frozen at the 

level accrued as of December 31, 2010, and shall not increase after such date, with the exception of any applicable transition benefit 
increases in accordance with Section 4.01 of the Plan.  The freezing of benefits pursuant to this Section 4.02 of the Plan also applies to all 
Plan benefits that are determined by reference to the Normal Retirement benefit under Section 6.1 of the Retirement Plan (including but 
not limited to benefits under the following Articles of the Plan: Late Retirement under Article V; Early Retirement under Article VI; 
Disability Retirement under Article VII; Spouses’ Benefits under Article VIII; and Benefits for Terminated Vested Participants under 
Article X).  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has executed this amendment on this 27th day of December, 2010.  

   
   
  CENTURYLINK, INC.  
    
    
  By :/s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Name:   R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Title:       CFO       



EXHIBIT 10.11 
   

CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT  
   

CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”), effective as of January 1, 2011 (the “ Agreement Date ”), between 
CenturyLink, Inc., a Louisiana corporation (the “ Company ”), and Glen F. Post, III (the “ Employee ”).  
   
W I T N E S S E T H:  
   

WHEREAS , on December 31, 2010, the change of control agreement between the Company and the Employee (the “ Predecessor 
Agreement ”) lapsed;  
   

WHEREAS , the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board ”) has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and its 
shareholders to enter into a replacement change of control agreement providing the Employee with benefits substantially comparable to those 
previously afforded to the Employee under the Predecessor Agreement, subject to a reduction of the period of time during which the Employee will 
hold contingent severance rights following a change of control of the Company, the elimination of certain tax “gross-up” rights, the elimination of 
certain events or conditions triggering the payment of severance benefits, the addition of certain restrictive covenants applicable to the Employee, 
and certain other changes curtailing the Employee’s rights to receive severance benefits upon a change of control of the Company, each on the 
terms and conditions provided below; and  
   

WHEREAS , the Board believes that this Agreement is reasonably designed to retain the services of the Employee and to assure the full 
dedication of the Employee, free from personal distraction, in the event of an actual or pending change of control of the Company;  
   

NOW , THEREFORE , the parties agree as follows:  
   

ARTICLE I  
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS  

   
1.1            Affiliate.   “Affiliate” (and variants thereof) shall mean a Person that controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control 

with, another specified Person, either directly or indirectly.  
   

1.2            Beneficial Owner.   “Beneficial Owner” (and variants thereof), with respect to a security, shall mean a Person who, directly or 
indirectly (through any contract, understanding, relationship or otherwise), has or shares (i) the power to vote, or direct the voting of, the security, 
or (ii) the power to dispose of, or direct the disposition of, the security.  
   

1.3            Business .  “Business” shall mean, as of any particular date, the business of (i) providing local or long distance voice, network 
access, Internet access, data or video services, (ii) selling communications products in connection with providing such services or (iii) providing 
any other material services or selling any other material products then performed or sold by the Company or its Affiliates.  
   

1.4            Cause.   (a)  “Cause” shall mean the Employee’s (i) willful breach of Section 4.1 or 4.2 of this Agreement; (ii) conviction of, or 
plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, a felony or other crime involving dishonesty or moral turpitude; (iii) workplace conduct resulting in the 
payment of civil monetary penalties or the incurrence of civil non-monetary penalties that will materially restrict or prevent the Employee from 
discharging his obligations to the Company; (iv) habitual intoxication during working hours or habitual abuse of or addiction to a controlled 
substance; (v) material breach of the Company’s insider trading, corporate ethics and compliance policies and programs or any other Board-adopted 
policies applicable to management conduct; (vi) participation in the public reporting of any information contained in any report filed by the 
Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission that was impacted by the Employee’s knowing or intentional fraudulent or illegal conduct; 
or (vii) substantial, willful and repeated failure to perform duties as instructed by or on behalf of the Board in writing.  
   

(b)         The Employee’s employment shall not be deemed terminated for Cause unless the Company shall have delivered to the 
Employee a termination notice with a copy of a resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-quarters of the entire Board at a 
meeting called partly or wholly for such purpose (after reasonable notice is provided to the Employee and the Employee has had an opportunity, 
with counsel, to be heard by the Board) finding that the Employee should be terminated for Cause and specifying in reasonable detail the grounds 
therefor.  
   

(c)         No action or inaction shall be deemed the basis for Cause unless the Employee is terminated therefor prior to the first 
anniversary of the date on which such action or omission is first known to the Chairman of the Board or the Chair of any standing committee of the 
Board.  
   

1.5            Change of Control.   “Change of Control” shall mean:  
   

(a)           the acquisition by any Person of Beneficial Ownership of 30% or more of the outstanding shares of the Company’s 
Common Stock, $1.00 par value per share (the “ Common Stock ”), or 30% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then 
outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (a), the following 
acquisitions shall not constitute a Change of Control:  
   

(i)           any acquisition (other than a Business Combination which constitutes a Change of Control under Section 1.5(c) 
hereof) of Common Stock directly from the Company,  

   
(ii)           any acquisition of Common Stock by the Company or its subsidiaries,  

   



(iii)           any acquisition of Common Stock by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the 
Company or any corporation controlled by the Company, or  

   
(iv)           any acquisition of Common Stock by any entity pursuant to a Business Combination that does not constitute a 

Change of Control under Section 1.5(c) hereof; or  
   

(b)           individuals who, as of the Agreement Date, constitute the Board (the “ Incumbent Board ”) cease for any reason to 
constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the Agreement Date whose 
election, or nomination for election by the Company’s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then comprising 
the Incumbent Board shall be considered a member of the Incumbent Board, unless such individual’s initial assumption of office occurs as a result 
of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or 
consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Incumbent Board; or  
   

(c)           consummation of a reorganization, share exchange, merger or consolidation (including any such transaction involving 
any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company), or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company (a “ Business 
Combination ”); provided, however, that in no such case shall any such transaction constitute a Change of Control if immediately following such 
Business Combination,  
   

(i)           the individuals and entities who were the Beneficial Owners of the Company’s outstanding common stock and the 
Company’s voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors immediately prior to such Business Combination have 
direct or indirect Beneficial Ownership, respectively, of more than 50% of the then outstanding shares of common stock, and more than 
50% of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, of the 
Post-Transaction Company (as defined in Section 1.13 hereof), and  

   
(ii)           except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business Combination, no Person (excluding the Post-

Transaction Company and any employee benefit plan or related trust of the Company, the Post-Transaction Company or any subsidiary of 
either corporation) Beneficially Owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the then outstanding shares of common stock of the 
corporation resulting from such Business Combination or 20% or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting 
securities of such corporation, and  

   
(iii)           at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the Post-Transaction Company were members of the 

Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business 
Combination; or  

   
(d)           approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.  

   
1.6            Code.   “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.  

   
1.7            Confidential Information .  “Confidential Information” shall mean any information, knowledge or data of any nature and in 

any form (including information that is electronically transmitted or stored on any form of magnetic or electronic storage media) that directly or 
indirectly relates to the past, current or prospective business of the Company and its Affiliates, whether generated by the Company, any of its 
Affiliates, or any of their respective employees, officers, directors, representatives, consultants, agents or independent contractors, and whether or 
not marked confidential, including without limitation information relating to operations, products, services, assets, liabilities, franchises, customers, 
financial condition, results of operations, finances, prospects, strategies, business plans, budgets, projections, pricing information, business 
acquisitions, joint ventures, processes, research and development ideas, trade secrets, supplier lists, supplier information, distribution and sales data, 
consultants’ reports, marketing strategies, proprietary computer software, and internal notes and memoranda relating to any of the foregoing; 
provided , however , that “Confidential Information” shall not include any information that (i) is or becomes generally available to the public other 
than as a result of a breach of this Agreement, or (ii) is or becomes available to the Employee on a non-confidential basis from a source other than 
the Company, its Affiliates or their respective representatives, provided that such source is not known by the Employee to have violated any 
confidentiality agreement with the Company in connection with such disclosure.  
   

1.8            Company.   “Company” shall mean CenturyLink, Inc. and shall include any successor to or assignee of (whether direct or 
indirect, by purchase, share exchange, merger, consolidation or otherwise) all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company that 
assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise.  
   

1.9            Disability.   “Disability” shall mean a condition that would entitle the Employee to receive benefits under the long-term 
disability insurance policy applicable to the Company’s officers at the time because the Employee is totally disabled or partially disabled, as such 
terms are defined in the policy then in effect.  If the Company has no long-term disability plan in effect, “Disability” shall occur if (a) the Employee 
is rendered incapable because of physical or mental illness of satisfactorily discharging his duties and responsibilities to the Company for a period 
of 90 consecutive days, (b) a duly qualified physician chosen by the Company and acceptable to the Employee or his legal representatives so 
certifies in writing, and (c) the Board determines that the Employee has become disabled.  
   

1.10            Employment Term.   “Employment Term” shall mean the period commencing on the date of a Change of Control and ending 
on the 24-month anniversary of such date.  
   

1.11            Good Reason.   “Good Reason” shall mean any of the following events or conditions described in this Section 1.11, but only if 
the Employee shall have provided written notice to the Company within 90 days of the initial existence or occurrence of such event or condition and 
the Company shall have failed to cure such event or condition within 30 days of its receipt of such notice:  
   

(a)           Any failure of the Company or its Affiliates to provide the Employee with a position, authority, duties and 



responsibilities at least commensurate in all material respects with the most significant of those held, exercised and assigned at 
any time during the 180-day period immediately preceding the Change of Control.  The Employee’s position, authority, duties and responsibilities 
after a Change of Control shall not be considered commensurate in all material respects with the Employee’s position, authority, duties and 
responsibilities prior to a Change of Control unless after the Change of Control the Employee holds an equivalent position with, and exercises 
substantially equivalent authority, duties and responsibilities on behalf of, the Post-Transaction Company;  
   

(b)           The assignment to the Employee of any duties inconsistent in any material respect with the Employee’s position 
(including status, offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by Section 3.1(b) of this 
Agreement, or any other action that results in a diminution in any material respect in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities;  
   

(c)           A reduction of the Employee’s base salary in effect as of the date of the Change of Control without the Employee’s 
consent, except for across-the-board salary reductions similarly affecting all or substantially all similarly-situated officers of the Company and the 
Post-Transaction Company;  
   

(d)           The Employee is advised of, manifests an awareness of, or becomes aware of facts that would cause a reasonable person 
to inquire into any failure in any material respect by the Company or its Affiliates to comply with any of the provisions of this Agreement; or  
   

(e)           Any directive requiring the Employee to be based at any office or location other than as provided in Section 3.1(b)(ii) 
hereof or requiring the Employee to travel on business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately prior to the Change of Control.  
   

1.12            Person.   “Person” shall mean a natural person or entity, and shall also mean the group or syndicate created when two or more 
Persons act as a syndicate or other group (including, without limitation, a partnership or limited partnership) for the purpose of acquiring, holding, 
or disposing of a security, except that “Person” shall not include an underwriter temporarily holding a security pursuant to an offering of the 
security.  
   

1.13            Post-Transaction Company.   Unless a Change of Control results from a Business Combination (as defined in Section 1.5(c) 
hereof), “Post-Transaction Company” shall mean the Company after the Change of Control.  If a Change of Control results from a Business 
Combination, “Post-Transaction Company” shall mean the corporation or other entity resulting from the Business Combination unless, as a result of 
such Business Combination, an ultimate parent entity controls such resulting entity, the Company or all or substantially all of the Company’s assets 
either directly or indirectly, in which case “Post-Transaction Company” shall mean such ultimate parent entity.  
   

1.14            Specified Employee.  “ Specified Employee” shall mean the Employee if the Employee is a key employee under Treasury 
Regulations Section 1.409A-1(i) because of final and binding action taken by the Board or its Compensation Committee, or by operation of law or 
such regulation.  
   

ARTICLE II  
STATUS OF CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENTS  

   
This Agreement supersedes the Predecessor Agreement and any and all other prior agreements or arrangements between the Company and 

the Employee that provide for severance benefits in the event of a Change of Control of the Company, as defined therein, and is effective as of the 
Agreement Date for any Change of Control of the Company occurring after such date; provided, however , that the Employee shall continue to be 
entitled to severance benefits, if any, payable to the Employee under the Predecessor Agreement or any other prior agreements or arrangements 
between the Employee and the Company in connection with the change of control of the Company as a result of its business combination with 
Embarq Corporation effected on July 1, 2009 (subject to any waiver of benefits under such agreements or arrangements furnished in writing by the 
Employee to the Company).  
   

ARTICLE III  
CHANGE OF CONTROL BENEFITS  

   
3.1            Terms of Employment after Change of Control.   (a) This Agreement shall commence on the Agreement Date and continue 

in effect through December 31, 2012; provided, however , that, commencing on January 1, 2013 and each January 1 thereafter, the term of this 
Agreement shall automatically be extended for one additional year unless, not later than June 30 of the preceding year, the Company or the 
Employee shall have given written notice that it does not wish to extend this Agreement; provided, further, that, notwithstanding any such non-
extension notice by the Company, if a Change of Control of the Company shall have occurred during the original or extended term of this 
Agreement, this Agreement shall continue in effect through the 24-month anniversary of the Change of Control, subject to any earlier termination 
of the Employee’s status as an employee pursuant to this Agreement; provided , further , that in no event shall any termination of this Agreement 
result in any forfeiture of rights that accrued prior to the date of termination.  
   

(b)           During the Employment Term, the Company hereby agrees to continue the Employee in its employ, subject to the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement.  During the Employment Term, (i) the Employee’s position (including status, offices, titles and reporting 
requirements), authority, duties and responsibilities shall be at least commensurate in all material respects with the most significant of those held, 
exercised and assigned at any time during the 180-day period immediately preceding the Change of Control and (ii) the Employee’s services shall 
be performed during normal business hours at the location of the Company’s principal executive office at the time of the Change of Control, or the 
office or location where the Employee was employed immediately preceding the Change of Control or any relocation of any such site to a location 
that is not more than 50 miles from its location at the time of the Change of Control.  The Employee’s position, authority, duties and responsibilities 
after a Change of Control shall not be considered commensurate in all material respects with the Employee’s position, authority, duties and 
responsibilities prior to a Change of Control unless after the Change of Control the Employee holds an equivalent position with, and exercises 
substantially equivalent authority, duties and responsibilities on behalf of, the Post-Transaction Company.  
   

3.2            Compensation and Benefits.   During the Employment Term, the Employee shall be entitled to the following compensation 



and benefits:  
   

(a)            Base Salary .  The Employee shall receive an annual base salary (“ Base Salary ”), which shall be paid in at least 
monthly installments.  The Base Salary shall initially be equal to 12 times the highest monthly base salary that was paid or is payable to the 
Employee, including any base salary which has been earned but deferred by the Employee, by the Company and its Affiliates with respect to any 
month in the 12-month period ending with the month that immediately precedes the month in which the Change of Control occurs.  During the 
Employment Term, the Employee’s Base Salary shall be reviewed at such time as the Company undertakes a salary review of his peer employees 
(but at least annually), and, to the extent that salary increases are granted to his peer employees of the Company (or have been granted during the 
immediately preceding 12-month period to his peer employees of any Affiliate of the Company), the Employee shall be granted a salary increase 
commensurate with any increase granted to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  Any increase in Base Salary shall not serve to 
limit or reduce any other obligation to the Employee under this Agreement.  Base Salary shall not be reduced during the Employment Term 
(whether or not any increase in Base Salary occurs) and, if any increase in Base Salary occurs, the term Base Salary as utilized in this Agreement 
shall refer to Base Salary as so increased from time to time.  
   

(b)            Annual Bonus .  In addition to Base Salary, the Employee shall be awarded, for each fiscal year ending during the 
Employment Term, an annual cash bonus (the “ Bonus ”) in an amount at least equal to the average of the annual bonuses paid to the Employee 
with respect to the three fiscal years that immediately precede the year in which the Change of Control occurs under the Company’s annual bonus 
plan, or any comparable bonus under a successor plan; provided, however, that if the Company has never paid an annual bonus for a full year to the 
Employee, the Employee shall be awarded a Bonus in an amount at least equal to the target bonus for which the Employee is eligible for the fiscal 
year in which the Change of Control occurs, assuming achievement at the target level of the objective performance goals established with respect to 
such bonus and achievement of 100% of any subjective performance goals or criteria otherwise applicable with respect to such bonus.  Each such 
Bonus shall be paid after the end of the fiscal year and no later than the 15 th day of the third month of the fiscal year next following the fiscal year 
for which the Bonus is awarded, unless the Employee shall timely elect to defer the receipt of such Bonus pursuant to the CenturyLink, Inc. 
Supplemental Dollars & Sense Plan.  For purposes of determining the value of any annual bonuses paid to the Employee in any year preceding the 
year in which the Change of Control occurs, all cash and stock bonuses earned by the Employee shall be valued as of the date of the grant.  
   

(c)            Fringe Benefits .  The Employee shall be entitled to fringe benefits commensurate with those provided to his peer 
employees of the Company and its Affiliates, but in no event shall such fringe benefits be less favorable than the most favorable of those provided 
by the Company and its Affiliates for the Employee at any time during the one-year period immediately preceding the Change of Control or, if 
more favorable to the Employee, those provided generally at any time after the Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company and its 
Affiliates.  
   

(d)            Expenses .  The Employee shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all reasonable expenses incurred by 
the Employee in accordance with the most favorable agreements, policies, practices and procedures of the Company and its Affiliates in effect for 
the Employee at any time during the one-year period immediately preceding the Change of Control or, if more favorable to the Employee, as in 
effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  
   

(e)            Benefit Plans .  (i) The Employee shall be entitled to participate in all incentive, savings and retirement plans, practices, 
policies and programs applicable generally to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates, but in no event shall such plans, practices, 
policies and programs provide the Employee with incentive opportunities (measured with respect to both regular and special incentive opportunities 
to the extent that any such distinction is applicable), savings opportunities and retirement benefit opportunities, in each case, less favorable than the 
most favorable of those provided by the Company and its Affiliates for the Employee under any agreements, plans, practices, policies and programs 
as in effect at any time during the one-year period immediately preceding the Change of Control or, if more favorable to the Employee, those 
provided generally at any time after the Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  

   
(i)           The Employee and his family shall be eligible for participation in and shall receive all benefits under welfare benefit 

plans, practices, policies and programs provided by the Company and its Affiliates (including, without limitation, medical, prescription 
drug, dental, disability, salary continuance, employee life, group life, accidental death and travel accident insurance plans and programs) to 
the extent applicable generally to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies 
and programs provide the Employee and his family with benefits, in each case, less favorable than the most favorable of those agreements, 
plans, practices, policies and programs in effect for the Employee and his family at any time during the one-year period immediately 
preceding the Change of Control or, if more favorable to the Employee and his family, those provided generally at any time after the 
Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  

   
(ii)           Without limiting the generality of the Company’s obligations under this subsection (e), the Company shall comply 

with all of its obligations under the benefit plans, practices, policies and programs of the Company and its Affiliates that arise in 
connection with a Change of Control of the Company, including without limitation all obligations that require the Company to (A) fully 
vest participants under the Company’s qualified or non-qualified retirement plans and (B) extend the benefits described in Section 3.5.  

   
   

(f)            Office and Support Staff .  The Employee shall be entitled to an office or offices of a size and with furnishings and 
other appointments, and to secretarial and other assistance, commensurate with those provided to his peer employees of the Company and its 
Affiliates.  
   

(g)            Vacation .  The Employee shall be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the most favorable agreements, plans, 
policies, programs and practices of the Company and its Affiliates as in effect for the Employee at any time during the one-year period immediately 
preceding the Change of Control or, if more favorable to the Employee, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to his peer 
employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  
   

(h)            Indemnification .  If, in connection with any agreement related to a transaction that will result in a Change of Control of 



the Company, an undertaking is made to provide the Board with rights to indemnification from the Company (or from any other 
party to such agreement), the Employee shall, by virtue of this Agreement, be entitled to the same rights to indemnification as are provided to the 
Board pursuant to such agreement.  Otherwise, the Employee shall be entitled to indemnification rights on terms no less favorable to the Employee 
than those available under any Company indemnification agreements or the articles of incorporation, bylaws or resolutions of the Company at any 
time after the Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company.  Such indemnification rights shall be with respect to all claims, actions, 
suits or proceedings to which the Employee is or is threatened to be made a party that arise out of or are connected to his services at any time prior 
to the termination of his employment, without regard to whether such claims, actions, suits or proceedings are made, asserted or arise during or after 
the Employment Term.  
   

(i)            Directors and Officers Insurance .  If, in connection with any agreement related to a transaction that will result in a 
Change of Control of the Company, an undertaking is made to provide the Board with continued coverage following the Change of Control under 
one or more directors and officers liability insurance policies, then the Employee shall, by virtue of this Agreement, be entitled to the same rights to 
continued coverage under such directors and officers liability insurance policies as are provided to the Board, and the Company shall take any steps 
necessary to give effect to this provision.  Otherwise, the Company shall agree to cover the Employee under any directors and officers liability 
insurance policies as are provided generally at any time after the Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company.  
   

3.3            Obligations upon Termination after a Change of Control .  
   

(a)            Termination by Company for Reasons other than Death, Disability or Cause or by the Employee for Good Reason .  If, 
after a Change of Control and during the Employment Term, the Company or any of its Affiliates terminates the Employee’s employment, as 
defined in Treasury Regulations 1.409A-1(h)(1) (“ Separation from Service ”), other than for Cause, death or Disability, or the Employee terminates 
employment for Good Reason, subject to Section 3.3(d) and Section 3.6, if applicable:  
   

(i)           the Company shall pay to the Employee in a lump sum in cash within five business days of the date of termination 
an amount equal to three times the sum of (i) the amount of Base Salary in effect pursuant to Section 3.2(a) hereof at the date of 
termination plus (ii) the average of the annual bonuses paid or to be paid to the Employee with respect to the immediately preceding three 
fiscal years; provided, however, that, if the Employee has in effect a deferral election with respect to any percentage of the annual bonus 
which would otherwise become payable with respect to the fiscal year in which termination occurs, such lump sum payment shall be 
reduced by an amount equal to such percentage times the bonus component of the lump sum payment (which reduction amount shall be 
deferred in accordance with such election);  

   
(ii)           the Company shall pay to the Employee in a lump sum in cash, as promptly as practicable but in no case later than 

the 15 th day of the third month following the end of the fiscal year of the Company in which the termination occurs, a pro rata 
performance bonus, the amount of which shall be determined by multiplying the annual bonus that the Employee would have earned with 
respect to the entire fiscal year in which the termination occurs, assuming that the Employee had served for the entire fiscal year and 
calculated by the Company in good faith to exclude the effects of the Change of Control on the applicable performance metrics used to 
calculate such bonus (including without limitation excluding the effects of any non-recurring transaction costs or any changes in overhead, 
interest, tax, intercompany or other expenses arising out of such transaction), by the fraction obtained by dividing the number of days in 
such year through the date of termination by 365; provided, however, that, if the Employee has in effect a deferral election with respect to 
any percentage of the annual bonus which would otherwise become payable with respect to the fiscal year in which termination occurs, 
such lump sum payment shall be reduced by an amount equal to such percentage times the lump sum payment (which reduction amount 
shall be deferred in accordance with such election); and, further provided , that if the bonus performance period in effect at the date of 
termination is less than a year, then the foregoing paragraph will apply with respect to such shortened performance period and all 
references to an annual period or 365 days shall mean the applicable shortened period or shortened number of days to the extent the 
context requires;  

   
(iii)           if, at the date of termination, the Company shall not yet have paid to the Employee (or deferred in accordance with 

any effective deferral election by the Employee) an annual bonus with respect to a fully completed fiscal year, the Company shall pay to 
the Employee in a lump sum in cash within five business days of the date of termination but in no case after the 15 th day of the third month 
following the end of the fiscal year of the Company in which the termination occurs, an amount determined as follows: (i) if the Board 
(acting directly or indirectly through any committee or subcommittee) shall have already determined the amount of such annual bonus, 
such amount shall be paid, and (ii) if the Board shall not have already determined the amount of such annual bonus, the amount to be paid 
shall be the greater of the amount provided under Section 3.2(b) hereof or the annual bonus that the Employee would have earned with 
respect to such completed fiscal year, based solely upon the actual level of achievement of the objective performance goals established 
with respect to such bonus and assuming the achievement of 100% of any subjective performance goals or criteria otherwise applicable 
with respect to such bonus; provided, however, that, if the Employee has in effect a deferral election with respect to any percentage of the 
annual bonus which would otherwise become payable with respect to such completed fiscal year, such lump sum payment shall be reduced 
by an amount equal to such percentage times the lump sum payment (which reduction amount shall be deferred in accordance with such 
election); provided, further, that any payment under this subsection (iii) (or any payment under any other provision of this Agreement 
calculated by reference to prior or target bonus amounts) shall be payable notwithstanding any provision to the contrary set forth in any 
bonus plan or program of the Company;  

   
(iv)           for a period of three years following the date of termination of employment, or such longer period as may be 

provided by the terms of the appropriate plan, program, practice or policy (the “ Continuation Period ”), the Company shall at its expense 
continue on behalf of the Employee and his dependents and beneficiaries the life insurance, disability, medical, dental and hospitalization 
benefits (including any benefit under any individual benefit arrangement that covers medical, dental or hospitalization expenses not 
otherwise covered under any general Company plan) provided (x) to the Employee at any time during the one-year period prior to the 
Change in Control or at any time thereafter or (y) to other similarly-situated employees who continue in the employ of the Company or its 
Affiliates during the Continuation Period.  If the Employee is a Specified Employee governed by Section 3.3(d), to the extent that any 
benefits provided to the Employee under this Section 3.3(a)(iv) are taxable to the Employee, then, with the exception of medical insurance 



benefits, the value of the aggregate amount of such taxable benefits provided to the Employee pursuant to this Section 3.3(a)
(iv) during the six-month period following the date of termination shall be limited to the amount specified by Code Section 402(g)(1)(B) 
for the year in which the termination occurred.  The Employee shall pay the cost of any benefits that exceed the amount specified in the 
previous sentence during the six-month period following the date of termination, and shall be reimbursed in full by the Company during 
the seventh month after the date of termination.  The coverage and benefits (including deductibles and costs) provided in this Section 3.3
(a)(iv) during the Continuation Period shall be no less favorable to the Employee and his dependents and beneficiaries than the most 
favorable of such coverages and benefits during any of the periods referred to in clauses (x) or (y) above; provided, however, in the event 
of the Disability of the Employee during the Continuation Period, disability benefits shall, to the maximum extent possible, not be paid for 
the Continuation Period but shall instead commence immediately following the end of the Continuation Period.  The Company’s 
obligation hereunder with respect to the foregoing benefits shall be limited to the extent that the Employee obtains any such benefits 
pursuant to a subsequent employer’s benefit plans, in which case the Company may reduce the coverage of any benefits it is required to 
provide the Employee hereunder as long as the aggregate coverages and benefits of the combined benefit plans is no less favorable to the 
Employee than the coverages and benefits required to be provided hereunder.  At the end of the Continuation Period, the Employee shall 
have assigned to him, at no cost and with no apportionment of prepaid premiums, any assignable insurance owned by the Company that 
relates specifically to the Employee unless such assignment is inconsistent with the terms of any split dollar arrangement with the 
Employee.  The Employee will be eligible for coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act at the end of the 
Continuation Period or earlier cessation of the Company’s obligation under the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.3(a)(iv) (or, if the 
Employee shall not be so eligible for any reason, the Company will provide equivalent coverage);  

   
(v)           the Company at its cost shall provide to the Employee outplacement assistance by a reputable firm specializing in 

such services for the period beginning with the termination of employment and ending one year later; and  
   

(vi)           the Company shall discharge its obligations under all other applicable sections of this Article III, including 
Sections 3.4, 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7.  

   
To the extent that the amounts payable under Section 3.3(a)(iv), Section 3.3(a)(v), or Section 3.7 are deemed to be reimbursements and other 
separation payments under Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v), they shall not be deemed to provide for the deferral of compensation 
governed by Code Section 409A.  If they do constitute deferral of compensation governed by Code Section 409A, they shall be deemed to be 
reimbursements or in-kind benefits governed by Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv).  If the previous sentence applies, (i) the amount 
of expenses eligible for reimbursement or in-kind benefits provided during the Employee’s taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for 
reimbursement or in-kind benefits in any other taxable year, (ii) the reimbursement of an eligible expense must be made on or before the last day of 
the Employee's taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred and (iii) the right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits 
shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.  
   
The payments and benefits provided in this Section 3.3(a) and under all of the Company’s employee benefit and compensation plans shall be 
without regard to any plan amendment made after any Change of Control that adversely affects in any manner the computation of payments and 
benefits due the Employee under such plan or the time or manner of payment of such payments and benefits, excluding plan amendments that the 
Company is required by law to implement.  After a Change of Control no discretionary power of the Board or any committee thereof shall be used 
in a way (and no ambiguity in any such plan shall be construed in a way) which adversely affects in any manner any right or benefit of the 
Employee under any such plan.  
   

(b)            Death; Disability; Termination for Cause; or Voluntary Termination .  If, after a Change of Control and during the 
Employment Term, the Employee’s status as an employee is terminated (i) by reason of the Employee’s death or Disability, (ii) by the Company for 
Cause or (iii) voluntarily by the Employee other than for Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligation to the Employee 
or the Employee’s legal representatives (other than the timely payment or provision of those already accrued to the Employee, imposed by law or 
imposed pursuant to employee benefit or compensation plans, programs, practices, policies or agreements maintained by the Company or its 
Affiliates).  
   

(c)            Notice of Termination .  Any termination by the Company for Cause or by reason of the Employee’s Disability, or by 
the Employee for Good Reason, shall be communicated by a Notice of Termination to the other party given in accordance with Section 5.2 of this 
Agreement.  For purposes of this Agreement, a “ Notice of Termination ” means a written notice which (i) indicates the specific termination 
provision in this Agreement relied upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a 
basis for termination of the Employee’s employment under the provision so indicated and (iii) if the effective date of the termination is other than 
the date of receipt of such notice, specifies the termination date (which date shall be not more than 30 days after the giving of such notice), provided 
that the effective date for any termination by reason of the Employee’s Disability shall be the 30th day after the giving of such notice, unless prior 
to such 30th day the Employee shall have resumed the full-time performance of his duties.  The failure by the Employee or the Company to set 
forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Cause, Disability or Good Reason shall not waive 
any right of the Employee or the Company, respectively, hereunder or preclude the Employee or the Company, respectively, from asserting such 
fact or circumstance in enforcing the Employee’s or the Company’s rights hereunder.  
   

(d)            Six-Month Delay for Specified Employees .  Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, payments hereunder which 
constitute deferred compensation under Code Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations thereunder and which are not exempt from coverage by 
Code Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations thereunder shall commence, if Employee is then a Specified Employee and payment is triggered 
by his Separation from Service, on the first day of the seventh month following the date of the Specified Employee’s Separation from Service, or, if 
earlier, the date of death of the Specified Employee.  On the first day of such seventh month or on the first day of the month following the earlier 
death of the Specified Employee, the Specified Employee or his estate or spouse, as the case may be, shall be paid in a lump sum the amount that 
the Specified Employee would have been paid hereunder over the preceding six months (or, if earlier, the months preceding the date of death) but 
for the fact that he was a Specified Employee.  Nevertheless, for all other purposes of this Agreement, the payments shall be deemed to have 
commenced on the date they would have had the Employee not been a Specified Employee, and payment of any remaining benefits shall be made 
as otherwise scheduled hereunder.  



   
3.4            Accrued Obligations and Other Benefits.   It is the intent of this Agreement that upon termination of employment for any 

reason following a Change of Control the Employee or his legal representatives be entitled to receive promptly, and in addition to any other benefits 
specifically provided, (a) the Employee’s Base Salary through the date of termination to the extent not theretofore paid, (b) any accrued vacation 
pay, to the extent not theretofore paid, and (c) any other amounts or benefits required to be paid or provided or which the Employee or his legal 
representatives are entitled to receive under any plan, program, policy, practice or agreement of the Company.  
   

3.5            Stock Options and Other Incentives.   The foregoing benefits provided for in this Article III are intended to be in addition to 
the value or benefit of any stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares or similar awards, the exercisability, vesting or 
payment of which is accelerated or otherwise enhanced upon a Change of Control pursuant to the terms of any stock option, incentive or other 
similar plan or agreement heretofore or hereafter adopted by the Company or the Post-Transaction Company.  
   

3.6            Conditional Payment Reductions .  
   

(a)           Notwithstanding any other contrary provisions in any plan, program or policy of the Company, if all or any portion of 
the benefits payable under this Agreement, either alone or together with other payments and benefits that the Employee receives or is entitled to 
receive from the Company, would constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, the Company shall reduce the 
Employee’s payments and benefits payable under this Agreement to the extent necessary so that no portion thereof shall be subject to the excise tax 
imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, but only if, by reason of such reduction, the net after-tax benefit shall exceed the net after-tax benefit if such 
reduction were not made.  “Net after-tax benefit” for these purposes shall mean (i) the sum of the total amount payable to Employee under the 
Agreement, plus all other payments and benefits which Employee receives or is then entitled to receive from the Company that, alone or in 
combination with the payments and benefits payable under the Agreement, would constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 
280G of the Code (each such benefit hereinafter referred to as an “ Additional Parachute Payment ”), less (ii) the amount of federal income taxes 
payable with respect to the foregoing calculated at the maximum marginal income tax rate for each year in which the foregoing shall be paid to the 
Employee (based upon the rate in effect for such year as set forth in the Code at the time of the payment under the Agreement), less (iii) the amount 
of excise taxes imposed with respect to the payments and benefits described in (i) above by Section 4999 of the Code.  The parachute payments 
reduced under this section shall be those that the Employee determines provide the Employee the best economic benefit and, to the extent any 
parachute payments are economically equivalent with each other, each shall be reduced pro rata; provided , however , that the Employee may elect 
to have the non-cash payments and benefits due the Employee reduced or eliminated prior to any reduction of the cash payments due under this 
Agreement.  
   

(b)           All determinations required to be made under this Section 3.6 shall be made by the accounting firm that was the 
Company’s independent auditor prior to the Change of Control or any other third party mutually acceptable to the Employee and the Company (the 
“ Accounting Firm ”).  The Accounting Firm shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and the Employee.  All fees and 
expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by the Company.  Absent manifest error, any determination by the Accounting Firm shall be 
binding upon the Company and the Employee.  
   

(c)           For purposes of determining whether and the extent to which any payments would constitute a “parachute payment” (i) 
no portion of any payments or benefits that the Employee shall have waived at such time and in such manner as not to constitute a “payment” 
within the meaning of section 280G(b) of the Code shall be taken into account, (ii) no portion of the payments shall be taken into account which, in 
the opinion of tax counsel (“ Tax Counsel ”) reasonably acceptable to the Employee and selected by the Accounting Firm, does not constitute a 
“parachute payment” within the meaning of section 280G(b)(2) of the Code (including by reason of section 280G(b)(4)(A) of the Code) and, in 
calculating the excise tax, no portion of such payments shall be taken into account which, in the opinion of Tax Counsel, constitutes reasonable 
compensation for services actually rendered, within the meaning of section 280G(b)(4)(B) of the Code, in excess of the “base amount” (within the 
meaning set forth in section 280G(b)(3) of the Code) allocable to such reasonable compensation, and (iii) the value of any non-cash benefit or any 
deferred payment or benefit included in the payments shall be determined by the Accounting Firm in accordance with the principles of sections 
280G(d)(3) and (4) of the Code.  
   

3.7            Legal Fees.   The Company agrees to reimburse the Employee for all legal fees and other expenses which the Employee may 
reasonably incur as a result of any contest by the Company or the Post-Transaction Company of the validity or enforceability of, or liability under, 
any provision of this Agreement, but only if, when and to the extent the Employee prevails with respect to such contest.  
   

3.8            Set-Off; Mitigation.   After a Change of Control, the obligations of the Company and its Affiliates to make the payments 
provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, 
defense or other claim, right or action which the Company or its Affiliates may have against the Employee or others, other than as expressly 
provided to the contrary in Section 3.3(a)(iv), Section 3.10 or Section 4.3.  It is the intent of this Agreement that in no event shall the Employee be 
obligated to seek other employment or take any other action to mitigate the amounts or benefits payable to the Employee under any of the 
provisions of this Agreement.  
   

3.9            Certain Pre-Change-of-Control Terminations.   Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Employee’s 
employment shall be deemed to have been terminated following a Change of Control by the Company without Cause (and the Employee shall be 
entitled to receive all payments and benefits associated therewith) if the Employee’s employment is terminated by the Company or any of its 
Affiliates without Cause prior to a Change of Control (whether or not a Change of Control actually occurs) and such termination (i) was at the 
request or direction of a third party who has taken steps designed to effect a Change of Control or otherwise arose in connection with or in 
anticipation of a Change of Control or (ii) occurred after discussions with a third party regarding a possible Change of Control transaction 
commenced and such discussions produced (whether before or after such termination) either a preliminary or definitive agreement with respect to 
such a transaction or a public announcement of the pending transaction (whether or not a Change of Control actually occurs.  
   

3.10            Other Severance Plans.   If the Employee becomes entitled to receive severance benefits under this Article III, the Company 
shall not be required to pay the Employee any additional severance payment under any other severance or salary continuation policy, plan, 



agreement or arrangement maintained by the Company or its Affiliates unless such other policy, plan, agreement or arrangement expressly 
provides to the contrary.  
   
   

ARTICLE IV  
NONDISCLOSURE, NONCOMPETITION AND NONSOLICITATION  

   
4.1            Nondisclosure of Confidential Information .  The Employee acknowledges and agrees that in the course of the Employee’s 

employment the Employee has been in a position to have access to and develop Confidential Information, and will continue to be in position to 
receive and develop Confidential Information during the Employee’s tenure as an employee of the Company or any of its Affiliates.  As long as the 
Employee is an employee of the Company or any of its Affiliates, the Employee shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company all 
Confidential Information which the Employee obtained during the Employee’s employment (whether prior to or after the Agreement Date) and 
shall use such Confidential Information solely in the good faith performance of his duties for the Company and its Affiliates.  If the employment of 
the Employee is terminated for any reason, then, commencing with the termination date and continuing until the fifth anniversary of such date, the 
Employee shall (a) not communicate, divulge or make available to any Person (other than the Company and its Affiliates) any such Confidential 
Information, except with the prior written consent of the Company or as may be required by law or legal process, and (b) deliver promptly to the 
Company upon its written request any Confidential Information in his possession, including any duplicates thereof and any notes or other records 
the Employee has prepared with respect thereto, provided that Employee need not deliver to the Company, and may retain, one copy of any 
personal diaries, calendars, or personal notes of correspondence.  If the provisions of any applicable law or the order of any court would require the 
Employee to disclose or otherwise make available any Confidential Information to a governmental authority or to any other third party, the 
Employee shall give the Company, unless it is unlawful to do so, prompt prior written notice of such required disclosure and an opportunity to 
contest the requirement of such disclosure or apply for a protective order with respect to such Confidential Information by appropriate proceedings.  
   

4.2            Noncompetition; Nonsolicitation; Nondisparagement .   (a)  The Employee agrees that, during the term of this Agreement 
and for a period following the termination date of two years if the Employee’s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause or by the 
Employee without Good Reason or one year if the Employee’s employment is terminated for any other reason, the Employee will not, directly or 
indirectly, in any capacity whatsoever, either on the Employee’s own behalf or on behalf of any other Person with whom the Employee may be 
employed or otherwise associated:  
   

(i)           engage or invest in, own, manage, operate, finance, control, acquire an interest in, be employed by, render 
services to, act as an agent on behalf of, or otherwise in any way participate in, associate with or allow his skill, knowledge, experience or 
reputation to be used by (whether as a proprietor, partner, stockholder, member, director, officer, employee, joint venturer, investor, 
consultant, agent, sales representative, broker or other participant) any Person engaged in or planning to become engaged in the Business 
within any of the jurisdictions listed on Appendix A attached hereto; provided, however , that the Employee may own passive investments 
in not more than 1% of the outstanding securities of any Person engaged in such Business (but without otherwise participating in such 
similar business) if such securities are registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;  

   
(ii)           contact any customer of the Company or its Affiliates to solicit, divert or entice away the business of such 

customer, or otherwise disrupt the relationship between such customer and the Company or its Affiliates;  
   

(iii)           solicit, induce, influence or attempt to influence any supplier, lessor, lessee, licensor, partner, joint venturer, 
potential acquiree or any other person who has a business relationship with the Company or its Affiliates, or who on the termination date is 
engaged in discussions or negotiations to enter into a business relationship with the Company or its Affiliates, to discontinue, reduce or 
limit the extent of such relationship with the Company or any of its Affiliates;  

   
(iv)           make contact with any employee of the Company or its Affiliates for the purpose of soliciting such employee 

for hire, whether as an employee, independent contractor, consultant or otherwise, or otherwise disrupting such employee’s relationship 
with the Company or its Affiliates; or  

   
(v)           make any statement or disclose any information to any customers, suppliers, lenders, lessors, licensees, other 

employees of the Company or its Affiliates or others that is defamatory or derogatory with respect to the business, operations, management 
or other employees of the Company or its Affiliates, or take any other action (excluding making truthful, non-defamatory statements in 
good faith that do not violate any other provision of this Agreement) that could reasonably be expected to injure the Company in its 
business relationships with any of the foregoing parties or result in any other detrimental effect on the Company or its Affiliates.  

   
(b)           The Employee agrees that: (i) the covenants and agreements set forth in this Article IV are reasonable both in scope of 

geographical area and duration, (ii) the Company would not have entered into this Agreement but for such covenants of the Employee, (iii) such 
covenants have been made as a result of arm-length bargaining in order to induce the Company to enter into this Agreement, and (iv) such 
covenants and agreements are reasonable and necessary for the protection of the Confidential Information, assets, goodwill and business of the 
Company.  To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Employee covenants and agrees not to institute, maintain, prosecute or in any way aid in 
the institution, maintenance or prosecution of any lawsuit, action, claim, arbitration or other proceeding against the Company or any of its Affiliates 
with respect to the enforceability of the covenants contained in this Article IV and the Employee hereby irrevocably waives all defenses otherwise 
available to the Employee with respect to the strict enforcement of such covenants and agreements by the Company.  
   

4.3            Injunctive Relief; Forfeiture of Future Payments and Benefits; Other Remedies .  The Employee acknowledges that a 
breach by the Employee of Sections 4.1 or 4.2 herein would cause immediate and irreparable harm to the Company for which an adequate monetary 
remedy does not exist; hence, the Employee agrees that, in the event of a breach or threatened breach by the Employee of the provisions of Sections 
4.1 or 4.2 herein during or after the effective date of the Employee’s termination, the Company shall be entitled to injunctive relief restraining the 
Employee from such violation without the necessity of proof of actual damage or the posting of any bond, except as required by non-waivable, 
applicable law.  Nothing herein, however, shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other remedy at law or in equity to 



which the Company may be entitled under applicable law in the event of a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by the 
Employee, including without limitation the recovery of damages, costs or expenses, such as reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Company as 
a result of any such breach or threatened breach.  In addition to the foregoing remedies, the Company shall have the right upon the occurrence of 
any breach of any nondisclosure, noncompetition or nonsolicitation covenant contained in this Article IV, to cancel any unpaid severance payments, 
salary, bonus, commissions or reimbursements otherwise outstanding at the termination date, including the suspension, reduction or elimination of 
payments and benefits under Article III.  The Employee acknowledges that any such suspension, reduction or elimination of payments would not 
constitute, and should not be characterized as, liquidated damages.  
   

4.4            Governing Law of this Article IV; Consent to Jurisdiction .  Any dispute regarding the reasonableness of the covenants and 
agreements set forth in this Article IV or the territorial scope or duration thereof or the remedies available to the Company upon any breach of such 
covenants and agreements, shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Louisiana.  The parties agree that it is 
their mutual intent that the provisions of this Agreement be enforced to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law, whether now or hereafter 
in effect, and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the parties waive any provision of applicable law that would render any provision of Article 
IV invalid or unenforceable.  
   

ARTICLE V  
MISCELLANEOUS  

   
5.1            Binding Effect; Successors .  

   
(a)           This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and its successors or assigns, but the 

Company may assign this Agreement only (i) to an Affiliate or (ii) pursuant to a merger or consolidation in which the Company is not the 
continuing entity, or the sale or liquidation of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, provided that the assignee or transferee is the 
successor to all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and such assignee or transferee assumes the liabilities, obligations and duties of the 
Company under this Agreement, either contractually on the terms specified below or as a matter of law.  
   

(b)           This Agreement is personal to the Employee and shall not be assignable by the Employee without the consent of the 
Company (there being no obligation to give such consent) other than such rights or benefits as are transferred by will or the laws of descent and 
distribution, which shall inure to the benefit of the Employee’s legal representatives.  
   

(c)           The Company shall require any successor to or assignee of (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, share exchange, 
merger, consolidation or otherwise) all or substantially all of the assets or businesses of the Company (i) to assume unconditionally and expressly 
this Agreement and (ii) to agree to perform or to cause to be performed all of the obligations under this Agreement in the same manner and to the 
same extent as would have been required of the Company had no assignment or succession occurred.  
   

(d)           The Company shall also require all entities that control or that after the transaction will control (directly or indirectly) 
the Company or any such successor or assignee to agree to cause to be performed all of the obligations under this Agreement.  
   

(e)           The obligations of the Company and the Employee which by their nature may require either partial or total performance 
after the expiration of the term of the Agreement shall survive such expiration.  
   

5.2            Notices.   All notices hereunder must be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given upon receipt of delivery by: (a) hand 
(against a receipt therefor), (b) certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, (c) a nationally recognized overnight courier 
service or (d) telecopy transmission with confirmation of delivery.  All such notices must be addressed as follows:  
   
 

If to the Company, to:  
   

CenturyLink, Inc.  
100 CenturyLink Drive  
Monroe, Louisiana 71203  
Attn:  General Counsel  

   
If to the Employee, to:  

   
Glen F. Post, III  
c/o CenturyLink, Inc.  
100 CenturyLink Drive  
Monroe, Louisiana 71203  

 
   
or such other address as to which any party hereto may have notified the other in writing.  
   

5.3            Governing Law.   This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with and governed by the internal laws of the 
State of Louisiana without regard to principles of conflict of laws.  
   

5.4            Withholding.   The Employee agrees that the Company has the right to withhold, from the amounts payable pursuant to this 
Agreement, all amounts required to be withheld under applicable income or employment tax laws, or as otherwise stated in documents granting 
rights that are affected by this Agreement.  
   



5.5            Amendment and Compliance with Law.   No provision of this Agreement may be modified or amended except by an 
instrument in writing signed by both parties.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, it is the intention of the parties to this 
Agreement that no payment or entitlement pursuant to this Agreement will give rise to any adverse tax consequences to the Employee under Code 
Section 409A and Treasury Regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, including those issued after the date hereof (collectively, 
“ Section 409A ”). This Agreement and any amendments hereto shall be interpreted and administered to that end and (2) to the maximum extent 
permitted by law, no effect shall be given to any provision herein, any amendment hereto or any action taken hereunder in a manner that reasonably 
could be expected to give rise to adverse tax consequences under Section 409A and (3) the parties shall take any corrective action reasonably within 
their control that are necessary to avoid such adverse tax consequences.  
   

5.6            Severability.   If any term or provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall at any 
time or to any extent be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect as written, the Employee and the Company intend for any court construing 
this Agreement to modify or limit such provision so as to render it valid and enforceable to the fullest extent allowed by law.  Any such provision 
that is not susceptible of such reformation shall be ignored so as to not affect any other term or provision hereof, and the remainder of this 
Agreement, or the application of such term or provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.  
   

5.7            Waiver of Breach.   Except as expressly provided herein to the contrary, the failure by any party to enforce any of its rights 
hereunder shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such rights, unless such waiver is an express written waiver.  The waiver by either party of a breach 
of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach thereof.  
   

5.8            Remedies Not Exclusive.   No remedy specified herein shall be deemed to be such party’s exclusive remedy, and accordingly, 
in addition to all of the rights and remedies provided for in this Agreement, the parties shall have all other rights and remedies provided to them by 
applicable law, rule or regulation, including without limitation the right to claim interest with respect to any payment not timely made hereunder.  
   

5.9            Company’s Reservation of Rights.   The Employee acknowledges and understands that (i) the Employee is employed at will 
by either the Company or one of its Affiliates (the “ Employer ”), (ii) the Employee serves at the pleasure of the board of directors of the Employer, 
and (iii) the Employer has the right at any time to terminate the Employee’s status as an employee, or to change or diminish his status during the 
Employment Term, subject to the rights of the Employee to claim the benefits conferred by this Agreement.  Notwithstanding any other provisions 
of this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall not entitle the Employee or his legal representatives to any severance or other benefits of 
any kind prior to a Change of Control or to any such benefits if Employee is not employed by the Company or one of its Affiliates on the date of a 
Change of Control, except in each case for those rights afforded under Section 3.9.  
   

5.10            Non-exclusivity of Rights.   Subject to Section 5.9, nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit the Employee’s 
continuing or future participation in any plan, program, policy or practice provided by the Company or any of its Affiliates and for which the 
Employee may qualify, nor shall anything herein limit or otherwise restrict such rights as the Employee may have under any contract or agreement 
with the Company or any of its Affiliates.  
   

5.11            Demand for Benefits.   Unless otherwise provided herein, the payment or payments due hereunder shall be paid to the 
Employee without the need for demand, and to a beneficiary upon the receipt of the beneficiary’s address and social security number.  In all such 
cases, the Employee or beneficiary shall provide all required tax withholding information or forms upon the Company’s request.  Nevertheless, the 
Employee or a Person claiming to be a beneficiary who claims entitlement to a benefit can file a claim for benefits hereunder with the 
Company.  Unless otherwise provided herein, the Company shall accept or reject the claim within ten business days of its receipt.  If the claim is 
denied, the Company shall give the reason for denial in a written notice that refers to the provision of this Agreement that forms the basis of the 
denial.  If any additional information or material is necessary to perfect the claim, the Company will identify these items in writing and explain why 
such additional information is necessary.  
   

5.12            Authority.   The Company represents and warrants that (i) its execution and delivery of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the Board and (ii) no other corporate proceedings are necessary to authorize the Company’s execution, delivery and performance 
of  this Agreement.  
   

5.13            Counterparts.   This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an 
original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  
   

5.14            Interpretation.   Any reference to any section of the Code or the Treasury Regulations shall be deemed to also refer to any 
successor provisions thereto.  
   

5.15            The Employee’s Acknowledgment .  The Employee represents to the Company that he has read and understands, and agrees 
to be bound by, each of the terms of this Agreement, including Article IV.  
   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Employee have caused this Change of Control Agreement to be executed as of the 
Agreement Date.  
   
   
   
  CENTURYLINK , INC.  
    
  By: /s/  R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.          
  R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  
  Executive Vice President and  
  Chief Financial Officer  



   
   

    
    
  EMPLOYEE:  
    
    
  /s/  Glen F. Post, III              
  Glen F. Post, III  
    

  
  



   
Appendix A 

   
PROHIBITED TERRITORIES  

   
1.           The following parishes in the state of Louisiana:  
 

 
 
 

 

  

Acadia  Madison  
Allen  Morehouse  
Ascension  Natchitoches  
Assumption  Orleans  
Avoyelles  Ouachita  
Beauregard  Plaquemines  
Bienville  Pointe Coupee  
Bossier  Rapides  
Caddo  Red River  
Calcasieu  Richland  
Caldwell  Sabine  
Cameron  St. Bernard  
Catahoula  St. Charles  
Claiborne  St. Helena  
Concordia  St. James  
DeSoto  St. John the Baptist  
East Baton Rouge  St. Landry  
East Carroll  St. Martin  
East Feliciana  St. Mary  
Evangeline  St. Tammany  
Franklin  Tangipahoa  
Grant  Tensas  
Iberia  Terrebonne  
Iberville  Union  
Jackson  Vermillion  
Jefferson  Vernon  
Jefferson Davis  Washington  
Lafayette  Webster  
Lafourche  West Baton Rouge  
LaSalle  West Carroll  
Lincoln  West Feliciana  
Livingston  Winn  

2.  Each other state and each foreign country in which, as of the applicable date, the Company or any of its Affiliates is licensed to provide 
communications services or to own and operate facilities providing such services.  



EXHIBIT 10.12 
   

[Form of ]  
CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT  

(For Executive Officers, other than the CEO) 1  
   

CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”), effective as of January 1, 2011 (the “ Agreement Date ”), between 
CenturyLink, Inc., a Louisiana corporation (the “ Company ”), and ___________________ (the “ Employee ”).  
   

W I T N E S S E T H:  
   

WHEREAS , on December 31, 2010, the change of control agreement between the Company and the Employee (the “ Predecessor 
Agreement ”) lapsed;  
   

WHEREAS , the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board ”) has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and its 
shareholders to enter into a replacement change of control agreement providing the Employee with benefits substantially comparable to those 
previously afforded to the Employee under the Predecessor Agreement, subject to a reduction of the amount of cash severance payments payable 
under certain circumstances following a change of control of the Company, a reduction of the period of time during which the Employee will hold 
contingent severance rights following a change of control of the Company, the elimination of certain tax “gross-up” rights, the elimination of 
certain events or conditions triggering the payment of severance benefits, the addition of certain restrictive covenants applicable to the Employee, 
and certain other changes curtailing the Employee’s rights to receive severance benefits upon a change of control of the Company, each on the 
terms and conditions provided below; and  
   

WHEREAS , the Board believes that this Agreement is reasonably designed to retain the services of the Employee and to assure the full 
dedication of the Employee, free from personal distraction, in the event of an actual or pending change of control of the Company;  
   

NOW , THEREFORE , the parties agree as follows:  
   

ARTICLE I  
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS  

   
 
   

1.1            Affiliate.   “Affiliate” (and variants thereof) shall mean a Person that controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control 
with, another specified Person, either directly or indirectly.  
   

1.2            Beneficial Owner.   “Beneficial Owner” (and variants thereof), with respect to a security, shall mean a Person who, directly or 
indirectly (through any contract, understanding, relationship or otherwise), has or shares (i) the power to vote, or direct the voting of, the security, 
or (ii) the power to dispose of, or direct the disposition of, the security.  
   
   

  
1 The form of agreement for Legacy CenturyLink executives with predecessor agreements with CenturyLink varies slightly from the form of 
agreement for Legacy Embarq executives.  See Article II below.  
   
   

  
  



   
1.3            Business .  “Business” shall mean, as of any particular date, the business of (i) providing local or long distance voice, network 

access, Internet access, data or video services, (ii) selling communications products in connection with providing such services or (iii) providing 
any other material services or selling any other material products then performed or sold by the Company or its Affiliates.  
   

1.4            Cause.   (a)  “Cause” shall mean the Employee’s (i) willful breach of Section 4.1 or 4.2 of this Agreement; (ii) conviction of, or 
plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, a felony or other crime involving dishonesty or moral turpitude; (iii) workplace conduct resulting in the 
payment of civil monetary penalties or the incurrence of civil non-monetary penalties that will materially restrict or prevent the Employee from 
discharging his obligations to the Company; (iv) habitual intoxication during working hours or habitual abuse of or addiction to a controlled 
substance; (v) material breach of the Company’s insider trading, corporate ethics and compliance policies and programs or any other Board-adopted 
policies applicable to management conduct; (vi) participation in the public reporting of any information contained in any report filed by the 
Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission that was impacted by the Employee’s knowing or intentional fraudulent or illegal conduct; 
or (vii) substantial, willful and repeated failure to perform duties as instructed by or on behalf of the Board in writing.  
   

(b)           The Employee’s employment shall not be deemed terminated for Cause unless the Company shall have delivered to the 
Employee a termination notice with a copy of a resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-quarters of the entire Board at a 
meeting called partly or wholly for such purpose (after reasonable notice is provided to the Employee and the Employee has had an opportunity, 
with counsel, to be heard by the Board) finding that the Employee should be terminated for Cause and specifying in reasonable detail the grounds 
therefor.  
   

(c)           No action or inaction shall be deemed the basis for Cause unless the Employee is terminated therefor prior to the first 
anniversary of the date on which such action or omission is first known to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  
   

1.5            Change of Control.   “Change of Control” shall mean:  
   

(a)           the acquisition by any Person of Beneficial Ownership of 30% or more of the outstanding shares of the Company’s 
Common Stock, $1.00 par value per share (the “ Common Stock ”), or 30% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then 
outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (a), the following 
acquisitions shall not constitute a Change of Control:  
   

(i)           any acquisition (other than a Business Combination which constitutes a Change of Control under Section 1.5(c) 
hereof) of Common Stock directly from the Company,  

   
(ii)           any acquisition of Common Stock by the Company or its subsidiaries,  

   
(iii)           any acquisition of Common Stock by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by 

the Company or any corporation controlled by the Company, or  
   

(iv)           any acquisition of Common Stock by any entity pursuant to a Business Combination that does not constitute a 
Change of Control under Section 1.5(c) hereof; or  

   
(b)           individuals who, as of the Agreement Date, constitute the Board (the “ Incumbent Board ”) cease for any reason to 

constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the Agreement Date whose 
election, or nomination for election by the Company’s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then comprising 
the Incumbent Board shall be considered a member of the Incumbent Board, unless such individual’s initial assumption of office occurs as a result 
of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or 
consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Incumbent Board; or  
   

(c)           consummation of a reorganization, share exchange, merger or consolidation (including any such transaction involving 
any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company), or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company (a “ Business 
Combination ”); provided, however, that in no such case shall any such transaction constitute a Change of Control if immediately following such 
Business Combination, constitute a Change of Control if immediately following such Business Combination, 
   
   

(i)           the individuals and entities who were the Beneficial Owners of the Company’s outstanding common stock and 
the Company’s voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors immediately prior to such Business Combination 
have direct or indirect Beneficial Ownership, respectively, of more than 50% of the then outstanding shares of common stock, and more 
than 50% of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, of 
the Post-Transaction Company (as defined in Section 1.13 hereof), and  

   
(ii)           except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business Combination, no Person (excluding the 

Post-Transaction Company and any employee benefit plan or related trust of the Company, the Post-Transaction Company or any 
subsidiary of either corporation) Beneficially Owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the then outstanding shares of common stock of 
the corporation resulting from such Business Combination or 20% or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting 
securities of such corporation, and  

   
(iii)           at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the Post-Transaction Company were members 

of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business 
Combination; or  

  



   
(d)           approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.  

   
1.6            Code.   “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.  

   
1.7            Confidential Information .  “Confidential Information” shall mean any information, knowledge or data of any nature and in 

any form (including information that is electronically transmitted or stored on any form of magnetic or electronic storage media) that directly or 
indirectly relates to the past, current or prospective business of the Company and its Affiliates, whether generated by the Company, any of its 
Affiliates, or any of their respective employees, officers, directors, representatives, consultants, agents or independent contractors, and whether or 
not marked confidential, including without limitation information relating to operations, products, services, assets, liabilities, franchises, customers, 
financial condition, results of operations, finances, prospects, strategies, business plans, budgets, projections, pricing information, business 
acquisitions, joint ventures, processes, research and development ideas, trade secrets, supplier lists, supplier information, distribution and sales data, 
consultants’ reports, marketing strategies, proprietary computer software, and internal notes and memoranda relating to any of the foregoing; 
provided , however , that “Confidential Information” shall not include any information that (i) is or becomes generally available to the public other 
than as a result of a breach of this Agreement, or (ii) is or becomes available to the Employee on a non-confidential basis from a source other than 
the Company, its Affiliates or their respective representatives, provided that such source is not known by the Employee to have violated any 
confidentiality agreement with the Company in connection with such disclosure.  
   

1.8            Company.   “Company” shall mean CenturyLink, Inc. and shall include any successor to or assignee of (whether direct or 
indirect, by purchase, share exchange, merger, consolidation or otherwise) all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company that 
assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise.  
   

1.9            Disability.   “Disability” shall mean a condition that would entitle the Employee to receive benefits under the long-term 
disability insurance policy applicable to the Company’s officers at the time because the Employee is totally disabled or partially disabled, as such 
terms are defined in the policy then in effect.  If the Company has no long-term disability plan in effect, “Disability” shall occur if (a) the Employee 
is rendered incapable because of physical or mental illness of satisfactorily discharging his duties and responsibilities to the Company for a period 
of 90 consecutive days, (b) a duly qualified physician chosen by the Company and acceptable to the Employee or his legal representatives so 
certifies in writing, and (c) the Board determines that the Employee has become disabled.  
   

1.10            Employment Term.   “Employment Term” shall mean the period commencing on the date of a Change of Control and ending 
on the 18-month anniversary of such date.  
   

1.11            Good Reason.   “Good Reason” shall mean any of the following events or conditions described in this Section 1.11, but only if 
the Employee shall have provided written notice to the Company within 90 days of the initial existence or occurrence of such event or condition and 
the Company shall have failed to cure such event or condition within 30 days of its receipt of such notice:  
   

(a)           Any failure of the Company or its Affiliates to provide the Employee with a position, authority, duties and 
responsibilities at least commensurate in all material respects with the most significant of those held, exercised and assigned at any time during the 
180-day period immediately preceding the Change of Control.  The Employee’s position, authority, duties and responsibilities after a Change of 
Control shall not be considered commensurate in all material respects with the Employee’s position, authority, duties and responsibilities prior to a 
Change of Control unless after the Change of Control the Employee holds an equivalent position with, and exercises substantially equivalent 
authority, duties and responsibilities on behalf of, either the Post-Transaction Company or the Company;  
   

(b)           The assignment to the Employee of any duties inconsistent in any material respect with the Employee’s position 
(including status, offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by Section 3.1(b) of this 
Agreement, or any other action that results in a diminution in any material respect in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities;  
   

(c)           A reduction of the Employee’s base salary in effect as of the date of the Change of Control without the Employee’s 
consent, except for across-the-board salary reductions similarly affecting all or substantially all similarly-situated officers of the Company and the 
Post-Transaction Company;  
   

(d)           The Employee is advised of, manifests an awareness of, or becomes aware of facts that would cause a reasonable person 
to inquire into any failure in any material respect by the Company or its Affiliates to comply with any of the provisions of this Agreement; or  
   

(e)           Any directive requiring the Employee to be based at any office or location other than as provided in Section 3.1(b)(ii) 
hereof or requiring the Employee to travel on business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately prior to the Change of Control.  
   

1.12            Person.   “Person” shall mean a natural person or entity, and shall also mean the group or syndicate created when two or more 
Persons act as a syndicate or other group (including, without limitation, a partnership or limited partnership) for the purpose of acquiring, holding, 
or disposing of a security, except that “Person” shall not include an underwriter temporarily holding a security pursuant to an offering of the 
security.  
   

1.13            Post-Transaction Company.   Unless a Change of Control results from a Business Combination (as defined in Section 1.5(c) 
hereof), “Post-Transaction Company” shall mean the Company after the Change of Control.  If a Change of Control results from a Business 
Combination, “Post-Transaction Company” shall mean the corporation or other entity resulting from the Business Combination unless, as a result of 
such Business Combination, an ultimate parent entity controls such resulting entity, the Company or all or substantially all of the Company’s assets 
either directly or indirectly, in which case “Post-Transaction Company” shall mean such ultimate parent entity.  
   

1.14            Specified Employee.  “ Specified Employee” shall mean the Employee if the Employee is a key employee under Treasury 
Regulations Section 1.409A-1(i) because of final and binding action taken by the Board or its Compensation Committee, or by operation of law or 



such regulation.  
   

ARTICLE II  
STATUS OF CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENTS  

   
[This Agreement supersedes the Predecessor Agreement and any and all other prior agreements or arrangements between the Company 

and the Employee that provide for severance benefits in the event of a Change of Control of the Company, as defined therein, and is effective as of 
the Agreement Date for any Change of Control of the Company occurring after such date; provided, however , that the Employee shall continue to 
be entitled to severance benefits, if any, payable to the Employee under the Predecessor Agreement or any other prior agreements or arrangements 
between the Employee and the Company in connection with the change of control of the Company as a result of its business combination with 
Embarq Corporation effected on July 1, 2009 (subject to any waiver of benefits under such agreements or arrangements furnished in writing by the 
Employee to the Company).] [PARAGRAPH Applicable to Legacy CenturyLink Executives]  
   

[This Agreement supersedes any and all prior agreements or arrangements between the Company and the Employee that provide for 
severance benefits in the event of a Change of Control of the Company, as defined therein, and is effective as of the Agreement Date for any 
Change of Control of the Company occurring after such date; provided, however , that the Employee shall continue to be entitled to severance 
benefits, if any, payable to the Employee under any prior agreements or arrangements between the Employee and either the Company or Embarq 
Corporation in connection with the change of control of either such company as a result of their business combination effected on July 1, 2009 
(subject to (i) any waiver of benefits under such agreements or arrangements furnished in writing by the Employee to the Company or Embarq 
Corporation and (ii) the understanding that in no event shall the Employee be entitled to receive severance benefits from both the Company and 
Embarq Corporation with respect to such business combination).] [ALTERNATIVE PARAGRAPH Applicable to Legacy Embarq Executives]  
   

ARTICLE III  
CHANGE OF CONTROL BENEFITS  

   
3.1            Terms of Employment after Change of Control.   (a)  This Agreement shall commence on the Agreement Date and continue 

in effect through December 31, 2012; provided, however , that, commencing on January 1, 2013 and each January 1 thereafter, the term of this 
Agreement shall automatically be extended for one additional year unless, not later than June 30 of the preceding year, the Company or the 
Employee shall have given written notice that it does not wish to extend this Agreement; provided, further, that, notwithstanding any such non-
extension notice by the Company, if a Change of Control of the Company shall have occurred during the original or extended term of this 
Agreement, this Agreement shall continue in effect through the 18-month anniversary of the Change of Control, subject to any earlier termination 
of the Employee’s status as an employee pursuant to this Agreement; provided , further , that in no event shall any termination of this Agreement 
result in any forfeiture of rights that accrued prior to the date of termination.  
   

(b)           During the Employment Term, the Company hereby agrees to continue the Employee in its employ, subject to the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement.  During the Employment Term, (i) the Employee’s position (including status, offices, titles and reporting 
requirements), authority, duties and responsibilities shall be at least commensurate in all material respects with the most significant of those held, 
exercised and assigned at any time during the 180-day period immediately preceding the Change of Control and (ii) the Employee’s services shall 
be performed during normal business hours at the location of the Company’s principal executive office at the time of the Change of Control, or the 
office or location where the Employee was employed immediately preceding the Change of Control or any relocation of any such site to a location 
that is not more than 50 miles from its location at the time of the Change of Control.  The Employee’s position, authority, duties and responsibilities 
after a Change of Control shall not be considered commensurate in all material respects with the Employee’s position, authority, duties and 
responsibilities prior to a Change of Control unless after the Change of Control the Employee holds an equivalent position with, and exercises 
substantially equivalent authority, duties and responsibilities on behalf of, either the Post-Transaction Company or the Company.  
   

3.2            Compensation and Benefits.   During the Employment Term, the Employee shall be entitled to the following compensation 
and benefits:  
   

(a)            Base Salary .  The Employee shall receive an annual base salary (“ Base Salary ”), which shall be paid in at least 
monthly installments.  The Base Salary shall initially be equal to 12 times the highest monthly base salary that was paid or is payable to the 
Employee, including any base salary which has been earned but deferred by the Employee, by the Company and its Affiliates with respect to any 
month in the 12-month period ending with the month that immediately precedes the month in which the Change of Control occurs.  During the 
Employment Term, the Employee’s Base Salary shall be reviewed at such time as the Company undertakes a salary review of his peer employees 
(but at least annually), and, to the extent that salary increases are granted to his peer employees of the Company (or have been granted during the 
immediately preceding 12-month period to his peer employees of any Affiliate of the Company), the Employee shall be granted a salary increase 
commensurate with any increase granted to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  Any increase in Base Salary shall not serve to 
limit or reduce any other obligation to the Employee under this Agreement.  Base Salary shall not be reduced during the Employment Term 
(whether or not any increase in Base Salary occurs) and, if any increase in Base Salary occurs, the term Base Salary as utilized in this Agreement 
shall refer to Base Salary as so increased from time to time.  
   

(b)            Annual Bonus .  In addition to Base Salary, the Employee shall be awarded, for each fiscal year ending during the 
Employment Term, an annual cash bonus (the “ Bonus ”) in an amount at least equal to the average of the annual bonuses paid to the Employee 
with respect to the three fiscal years that immediately precede the year in which the Change of Control occurs under the Company’s annual bonus 
plan, or any comparable bonus under a successor plan; provided, however, that if the Company has never paid an annual bonus for a full year to the 
Employee, the Employee shall be awarded a Bonus in an amount at least equal to the target bonus for which the Employee is eligible for the fiscal 
year in which the Change of Control occurs, assuming achievement at the target level of the objective performance goals established with respect to 
such bonus and achievement of 100% of any subjective performance goals or criteria otherwise applicable with respect to such bonus.  Each such 
Bonus shall be paid after the end of the fiscal year and no later than the 15 th day of the third month of the fiscal year next following the fiscal year 
for which the Bonus is awarded, unless the Employee shall timely elect to defer the receipt of such Bonus pursuant to the CenturyLink, Inc. 
Supplemental Dollars & Sense Plan.  For purposes of determining the value of any annual bonuses paid to the Employee in any year preceding the 



year in which the Change of Control occurs, all cash and stock bonuses earned by the Employee shall be valued as of the date of 
the grant.  
   

(c)            Fringe Benefits .  The Employee shall be entitled to fringe benefits commensurate with those provided to his peer 
employees of the Company and its Affiliates, but in no event shall such fringe benefits be less favorable than the most favorable of those provided 
by the Company and its Affiliates for the Employee at any time during the one-year period immediately preceding the Change of Control or, if 
more favorable to the Employee, those provided generally at any time after the Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company and its 
Affiliates.  
   

(d)            Expenses .  The Employee shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all reasonable expenses incurred by 
the Employee in accordance with the most favorable agreements, policies, practices and procedures of the Company and its Affiliates in effect for 
the Employee at any time during the one-year period immediately preceding the Change of Control or, if more favorable to the Employee, as in 
effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  
   

(e)            Benefit Plans .  (i) The Employee shall be entitled to participate in all incentive, savings and retirement plans, practices, 
policies and programs applicable generally to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates, but in no event shall such plans, practices, 
policies and programs provide the Employee with incentive opportunities (measured with respect to both regular and special incentive opportunities 
to the extent that any such distinction is applicable), savings opportunities and retirement benefit opportunities, in each case, less favorable than the 
most favorable of those provided by the Company and its Affiliates for the Employee under any agreements, plans, practices, policies and programs 
as in effect at any time during the one-year period immediately preceding the Change of Control or, if more favorable to the Employee, those 
provided generally at any time after the Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  

   
(ii)           The Employee and his family shall be eligible for participation in and shall receive all benefits under welfare 

benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by the Company and its Affiliates (including, without limitation, medical, 
prescription drug, dental, disability, salary continuance, employee life, group life, accidental death and travel accident insurance plans and 
programs) to the extent applicable generally to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates, but in no event shall such plans, 
practices, policies and programs provide the Employee and his family with benefits, in each case, less favorable than the most favorable of 
those agreements, plans, practices, policies and programs in effect for the Employee and his family at any time during the one-year period 
immediately preceding the Change of Control or, if more favorable to the Employee and his family, those provided generally at any time 
after the Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  

   
(iii)           Without limiting the generality of the Company’s obligations under this subsection (e), the Company shall 

comply with all of its obligations under the benefit plans, practices, policies and programs of the Company and its Affiliates that arise in 
connection with a Change of Control of the Company, including without limitation all obligations that require the Company to (A) fully 
vest participants under the Company’s qualified or non-qualified retirement plans and (B) extend the benefits described in Section 3.5.  

   
(f)            Office and Support Staff .  The Employee shall be entitled to an office or offices of a size and with furnishings and 

other appointments, and to secretarial and other assistance, commensurate with those provided to his peer employees of the Company and its 
Affiliates.  
   

(g)            Vacation .  The Employee shall be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the most favorable agreements, plans, 
policies, programs and practices of the Company and its Affiliates as in effect for the Employee at any time during the one-year period immediately 
preceding the Change of Control or, if more favorable to the Employee, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to his peer 
employees of the Company and its Affiliates.  
   

(h)            Indemnification .  If, in connection with any agreement related to a transaction that will result in a Change of Control of 
the Company, an undertaking is made to provide the Board with rights to indemnification from the Company (or from any other party to such 
agreement), the Employee shall, by virtue of this Agreement, be entitled to the same rights to indemnification as are provided to the Board pursuant 
to such agreement.  Otherwise, the Employee shall be entitled to indemnification rights on terms no less favorable to the Employee than those 
available under any Company indemnification agreements or the articles of incorporation, bylaws or resolutions of the Company at any time after 
the Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company.  Such indemnification rights shall be with respect to all claims, actions, suits or 
proceedings to which the Employee is or is threatened to be made a party that arise out of or are connected to his services at any time prior to the 
termination of his employment, without regard to whether such claims, actions, suits or proceedings are made, asserted or arise during or after the 
Employment Term.  
   

(i)            Directors and Officers Insurance .  If, in connection with any agreement related to a transaction that will result in a 
Change of Control of the Company, an undertaking is made to provide the Board with continued coverage following the Change of Control under 
one or more directors and officers liability insurance policies, then the Employee shall, by virtue of this Agreement, be entitled to the same rights to 
continued coverage under such directors and officers liability insurance policies as are provided to the Board, and the Company shall take any steps 
necessary to give effect to this provision.  Otherwise, the Company shall agree to cover the Employee under any directors and officers liability 
insurance policies as are provided generally at any time after the Change of Control to his peer employees of the Company.  
   

3.3             Obligations upon Termination after a Change of Control .  
   

(a)            Termination by Company for Reasons other than Death, Disability or Cause or by the Employee for Good Reason .  If, after a 
Change of Control and during the Employment Term, the Company or any of its Affiliates terminates the Employee’s employment, as defined in 
Treasury Regulations 1.409A-1(h)(1) (“ Separation from Service ”), other than for Cause, death or Disability, or the Employee terminates 
employment for Good Reason, subject to Section 3.3(d) and Section 3.6, if applicable:  
   

(i)           the Company shall pay to the Employee in a lump sum in cash within five business days of the date of 



termination an amount equal to two times the sum of (i) the amount of Base Salary in effect pursuant to Section 3.2(a) 
hereof at the date of termination plus (ii) the average of the annual bonuses paid or to be paid to the Employee with respect to the 
immediately preceding three fiscal years; provided, however, that, if the Employee has in effect a deferral election with respect to any 
percentage of the annual bonus which would otherwise become payable with respect to the fiscal year in which termination occurs, such 
lump sum payment shall be reduced by an amount equal to such percentage times the bonus component of the lump sum payment (which 
reduction amount shall be deferred in accordance with such election);  

   
(ii)           the Company shall pay to the Employee in a lump sum in cash, as promptly as practicable but in no case later 

than the 15 th day of the third month following the end of the fiscal year of the Company in which the termination occurs, a pro rata 
performance bonus, the amount of which shall be determined by multiplying the annual bonus that the Employee would have earned with 
respect to the entire fiscal year in which the termination occurs, assuming that the Employee had served for the entire fiscal year and 
calculated by the Company in good faith to exclude the effects of the Change of Control on the applicable performance metrics used to 
calculate such bonus (including without limitation excluding the effects of any non-recurring transaction costs or any changes in overhead, 
interest, tax, intercompany or other expenses arising out of such transaction), by the fraction obtained by dividing the number of days in 
such year through the date of termination by 365; provided, however, that, if the Employee has in effect a deferral election with respect to 
any percentage of the annual bonus which would otherwise become payable with respect to the fiscal year in which termination occurs, 
such lump sum payment shall be reduced by an amount equal to such percentage times the lump sum payment (which reduction amount 
shall be deferred in accordance with such election); and, further provided , that if the bonus performance period in effect at the date of 
termination is less than a year, then the foregoing paragraph will apply with respect to such shortened performance period and all 
references to an annual period or 365 days shall mean the applicable shortened period or shortened number of days to the extent the 
context requires;  

   
(iii)           if, at the date of termination, the Company shall not yet have paid to the Employee (or deferred in accordance 

with any effective deferral election by the Employee) an annual bonus with respect to a fully completed fiscal year, the Company shall pay 
to the Employee in a lump sum in cash within five business days of the date of termination but in no case after the 15 th day of the third 
month following the end of the fiscal year of the Company in which the termination occurs, an amount determined as follows: (i) if the 
Board (acting directly or indirectly through any committee or subcommittee) shall have already determined the amount of such annual 
bonus, such amount shall be paid, and (ii) if the Board shall not have already determined the amount of such annual bonus, the amount to 
be paid shall be the greater of the amount provided under Section 3.2(b) hereof or the annual bonus that the Employee would have earned 
with respect to such completed fiscal year, based solely upon the actual level of achievement of the objective performance goals 
established with respect to such bonus and assuming the achievement of 100% of any subjective performance goals or criteria otherwise 
applicable with respect to such bonus; provided, however, that, if the Employee has in effect a deferral election with respect to any 
percentage of the annual bonus which would otherwise become payable with respect to such completed fiscal year, such lump sum 
payment shall be reduced by an amount equal to such percentage times the lump sum payment (which reduction amount shall be deferred 
in accordance with such election); provided, further, that any payment under this subsection (iii) (or any payment under any other 
provision of this Agreement calculated by reference to prior or target bonus amounts) shall be payable notwithstanding any provision to 
the contrary set forth in any bonus plan or program of the Company;  

   
(iv)           for a period of two years following the date of termination of employment, or such longer period as may be 

provided by the terms of the appropriate plan, program, practice or policy (the “ Continuation Period ”), the Company shall at its expense 
continue on behalf of the Employee and his dependents and beneficiaries the life insurance, disability, medical, dental and hospitalization 
benefits (including any benefit under any individual benefit arrangement that covers medical, dental or hospitalization expenses not 
otherwise covered under any general Company plan) provided (x) to the Employee at any time during the one-year period prior to the 
Change in Control or at any time thereafter or (y) to other similarly-situated employees who continue in the employ of the Company or its 
Affiliates during the Continuation Period.  If the Employee is a Specified Employee governed by Section 3.3(d), to the extent that any 
benefits provided to the Employee under this Section 3.3(a)(iv) are taxable to the Employee, then, with the exception of medical insurance 
benefits, the value of the aggregate amount of such taxable benefits provided to the Employee pursuant to this Section 3.3(a)(iv) during the 
six-month period following the date of termination shall be limited to the amount specified by Code Section 402(g)(1)(B) for the year in 
which the termination occurred.  The Employee shall pay the cost of any benefits that exceed the amount specified in the previous sentence 
during the six-month period following the date of termination, and shall be reimbursed in full by the Company during the seventh month 
after the date of termination.  The coverage and benefits (including deductibles and costs) provided in this Section 3.3(a)(iv) during the 
Continuation Period shall be no less favorable to the Employee and his dependents and beneficiaries than the most favorable of such 
coverages and benefits during any of the periods referred to in clauses (x) or (y) above; provided, however, in the event of the Disability of 
the Employee during the Continuation Period, disability benefits shall, to the maximum extent possible, not be paid for the Continuation 
Period but shall instead commence immediately following the end of the Continuation Period.  The Company’s obligation hereunder with 
respect to the foregoing benefits shall be limited to the extent that the Employee obtains any such benefits pursuant to a subsequent 
employer’s benefit plans, in which case the Company may reduce the coverage of any benefits it is required to provide the Employee 
hereunder as long as the aggregate coverages and benefits of the combined benefit plans is no less favorable to the Employee than the 
coverages and benefits required to be provided hereunder.  At the end of the Continuation Period, the Employee shall have assigned to 
him, at no cost and with no apportionment of prepaid premiums, any assignable insurance owned by the Company that relates specifically 
to the Employee unless such assignment is inconsistent with the terms of any split dollar arrangement with the Employee.  The Employee 
will be eligible for coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act at the end of the Continuation Period or earlier 
cessation of the Company’s obligation under the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.3(a)(iv) (or, if the Employee shall not be so eligible 
for any reason, the Company will provide equivalent coverage);  

   
(v)           the Company at its cost shall provide to the Employee outplacement assistance by a reputable firm specializing 

in such services for the period beginning with the termination of employment and ending one year later; and  
   

(vi)           the Company shall discharge its obligations under all other applicable sections of this Article III, including 
Sections 3.4, 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7.  



   
To the extent that the amounts payable under Section 3.3(a)(iv), Section 3.3(a)(v), or Section 3.7 are deemed to be reimbursements and other 
separation payments under Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v), they shall not be deemed to provide for the deferral of compensation 
governed by Code Section 409A.  If they do constitute deferral of compensation governed by Code Section 409A, they shall be deemed to be 
reimbursements or in-kind benefits governed by Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv).  If the previous sentence applies, (i) the amount 
of expenses eligible for reimbursement or in-kind benefits provided during the Employee’s taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for 
reimbursement or in-kind benefits in any other taxable year, (ii) the reimbursement of an eligible expense must be made on or before the last day of 
the Employee's taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred and (iii) the right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits 
shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.  
   
The payments and benefits provided in this Section 3.3(a) and under all of the Company’s employee benefit and compensation plans shall be 
without regard to any plan amendment made after any Change of Control that adversely affects in any manner the computation of payments and 
benefits due the Employee under such plan or the time or manner of payment of such payments and benefits, excluding plan amendments that the 
Company is required by law to implement.  After a Change of Control no discretionary power of the Board or any committee thereof shall be used 
in a way (and no ambiguity in any such plan shall be construed in a way) which adversely affects in any manner any right or benefit of the 
Employee under any such plan.  
   

(b)            Death; Disability; Termination for Cause; or Voluntary Termination .  If, after a Change of Control and during the 
Employment Term, the Employee’s status as an employee is terminated (i) by reason of the Employee’s death or Disability, (ii) by the Company for 
Cause or (iii) voluntarily by the Employee other than for Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligation to the Employee 
or the Employee’s legal representatives (other than the timely payment or provision of those already accrued to the Employee, imposed by law or 
imposed pursuant to employee benefit or compensation plans, programs, practices, policies or agreements maintained by the Company or its 
Affiliates).  
   

(c)            Notice of Termination .  Any termination by the Company for Cause or by reason of the Employee’s Disability, or by 
the Employee for Good Reason, shall be communicated by a Notice of Termination to the other party given in accordance with Section 5.2 of this 
Agreement.  For purposes of this Agreement, a “ Notice of Termination ” means a written notice which (i) indicates the specific termination 
provision in this Agreement relied upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a 
basis for termination of the Employee’s employment under the provision so indicated and (iii) if the effective date of the termination is other than 
the date of receipt of such notice, specifies the termination date (which date shall be not more than 30 days after the giving of such notice), provided 
that the effective date for any termination by reason of the Employee’s Disability shall be the 30th day after the giving of such notice, unless prior 
to such 30th day the Employee shall have resumed the full-time performance of his duties.  The failure by the Employee or the Company to set 
forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Cause, Disability or Good Reason shall not waive 
any right of the Employee or the Company, respectively, hereunder or preclude the Employee or the Company, respectively, from asserting such 
fact or circumstance in enforcing the Employee’s or the Company’s rights hereunder.  
   

(d)            Six-Month Delay for Specified Employees .  Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, payments hereunder which 
constitute deferred compensation under Code Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations thereunder and which are not exempt from coverage by 
Code Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations thereunder shall commence, if Employee is then a Specified Employee and payment is triggered 
by his Separation from Service, on the first day of the seventh month following the date of the Specified Employee’s Separation from Service, or, if 
earlier, the date of death of the Specified Employee.  On the first day of such seventh month or on the first day of the month following the earlier 
death of the Specified Employee, the Specified Employee or his estate or spouse, as the case may be, shall be paid in a lump sum the amount that 
the Specified Employee would have been paid hereunder over the preceding six months (or, if earlier, the months preceding the date of death) but 
for the fact that he was a Specified Employee.  Nevertheless, for all other purposes of this Agreement, the payments shall be deemed to have 
commenced on the date they would have had the Employee not been a Specified Employee, and payment of any remaining benefits shall be made 
as otherwise scheduled hereunder.  
   

3.4            Accrued Obligations and Other Benefits.   It is the intent of this Agreement that upon termination of employment for any 
reason following a Change of Control the Employee or his legal representatives be entitled to receive promptly, and in addition to any other benefits 
specifically provided, (a) the Employee’s Base Salary through the date of termination to the extent not theretofore paid, (b) any accrued vacation 
pay, to the extent not theretofore paid, and (c) any other amounts or benefits required to be paid or provided or which the Employee or his legal 
representatives are entitled to receive under any plan, program, policy, practice or agreement of the Company.  
   

3.5            Stock Options and Other Incentives.   The foregoing benefits provided for in this Article III are intended to be in addition to 
the value or benefit of any stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares or similar awards, the exercisability, vesting or 
payment of which is accelerated or otherwise enhanced upon a Change of Control pursuant to the terms of any stock option, incentive or other 
similar plan or agreement heretofore or hereafter adopted by the Company or the Post-Transaction Company.  
   

3.6            Conditional Payment Reductions .  
   

(a)           Notwithstanding any other contrary provisions in any plan, program or policy of the Company, if all or any portion of 
the benefits payable under this Agreement, either alone or together with other payments and benefits that the Employee receives or is entitled to 
receive from the Company, would constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, the Company shall reduce the 
Employee’s payments and benefits payable under this Agreement to the extent necessary so that no portion thereof shall be subject to the excise tax 
imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, but only if, by reason of such reduction, the net after-tax benefit shall exceed the net after-tax benefit if such 
reduction were not made.  “Net after-tax benefit” for these purposes shall mean (i) the sum of the total amount payable to Employee under the 
Agreement, plus all other payments and benefits which Employee receives or is then entitled to receive from the Company that, alone or in 
combination with the payments and benefits payable under the Agreement, would constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 
280G of the Code (each such benefit hereinafter referred to as an “ Additional Parachute Payment ”), less (ii) the amount of federal income taxes 
payable with respect to the foregoing calculated at the maximum marginal income tax rate for each year in which the foregoing shall be paid to the 



Employee (based upon the rate in effect for such year as set forth in the Code at the time of the payment under the Agreement), 
less (iii) the amount of excise taxes imposed with respect to the payments and benefits described in (i) above by Section 4999 of the Code.  The 
parachute payments reduced under this section shall be those that the Employee determines provide the Employee the best economic benefit and, to 
the extent any parachute payments are economically equivalent with each other, each shall be reduced pro rata; provided , however , that the 
Employee may elect to have the non-cash payments and benefits due the Employee reduced or eliminated prior to any reduction of the cash 
payments due under this Agreement.  
   

(b)           All determinations required to be made under this Section 3.6 shall be made by the accounting firm that was the 
Company’s independent auditor prior to the Change of Control or any other third party mutually acceptable to the Employee and the Company (the 
“ Accounting Firm ”).  The Accounting Firm shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and the Employee.  All fees and 
expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by the Company.  Absent manifest error, any determination by the Accounting Firm shall be 
binding upon the Company and the Employee.  
   

(c)           For purposes of determining whether and the extent to which any payments would constitute a “parachute payment” (i) 
no portion of any payments or benefits that the Employee shall have waived at such time and in such manner as not to constitute a “payment” 
within the meaning of section 280G(b) of the Code shall be taken into account, (ii) no portion of the payments shall be taken into account which, in 
the opinion of tax counsel (“ Tax Counsel ”) reasonably acceptable to the Employee and selected by the Accounting Firm, does not constitute a 
“parachute payment” within the meaning of section 280G(b)(2) of the Code (including by reason of section 280G(b)(4)(A) of the Code) and, in 
calculating the excise tax, no portion of such payments shall be taken into account which, in the opinion of Tax Counsel, constitutes reasonable 
compensation for services actually rendered, within the meaning of section 280G(b)(4)(B) of the Code, in excess of the “base amount” (within the 
meaning set forth in section 280G(b)(3) of the Code) allocable to such reasonable compensation, and (iii) the value of any non-cash benefit or any 
deferred payment or benefit included in the payments shall be determined by the Accounting Firm in accordance with the principles of sections 
280G(d)(3) and (4) of the Code.  
   

3.7            Legal Fees.   The Company agrees to reimburse the Employee for all legal fees and other expenses which the Employee may 
reasonably incur as a result of any contest by the Company or the Post-Transaction Company of the validity or enforceability of, or liability under, 
any provision of this Agreement, but only if, when and to the extent the Employee prevails with respect to such contest.  
   

3.8            Set-Off; Mitigation.   After a Change of Control, the obligations of the Company and its Affiliates to make the payments 
provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, 
defense or other claim, right or action which the Company or its Affiliates may have against the Employee or others, other than as expressly 
provided to the contrary in Section 3.3(a)(iv), Section 3.10 or Section 4.3.  It is the intent of this Agreement that in no event shall the Employee be 
obligated to seek other employment or take any other action to mitigate the amounts or benefits payable to the Employee under any of the 
provisions of this Agreement.  
   

3.9            Certain Pre-Change-of-Control Terminations.   Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Employee’s 
employment shall be deemed to have been terminated following a Change of Control by the Company without Cause (and the Employee shall be 
entitled to receive all payments and benefits associated therewith) if the Employee’s employment is terminated by the Company or any of its 
Affiliates without Cause prior to a Change of Control (whether or not a Change of Control actually occurs) and such termination (i) was at the 
request or direction of a third party who has taken steps designed to effect a Change of Control or otherwise arose in connection with or in 
anticipation of a Change of Control or (ii) occurred after discussions with a third party regarding a possible Change of Control transaction 
commenced and such discussions produced (whether before or after such termination) either a preliminary or definitive agreement with respect to 
such a transaction or a public announcement of the pending transaction (whether or not a Change of Control actually occurs.  
   

3.10          Other Severance Plans.   If the Employee becomes entitled to receive severance benefits under this Article III, the Company 
shall not be required to pay the Employee any additional severance payment under any other severance or salary continuation policy, plan, 
agreement or arrangement maintained by the Company or its Affiliates unless such other policy, plan, agreement or arrangement expressly provides 
to the contrary.  
   
   

ARTICLE IV  
NONDISCLOSURE, NONCOMPETITION AND NONSOLICITATION  

   
4.1            Nondisclosure of Confidential Information .  The Employee acknowledges and agrees that in the course of the Employee’s 

employment the Employee has been in a position to have access to and develop Confidential Information, and will continue to be in position to 
receive and develop Confidential Information during the Employee’s tenure as an employee of the Company or any of its Affiliates.  As long as the 
Employee is an employee of the Company or any of its Affiliates, the Employee shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company all 
Confidential Information which the Employee obtained during the Employee’s employment (whether prior to or after the Agreement Date) and 
shall use such Confidential Information solely in the good faith performance of his duties for the Company and its Affiliates.  If the employment of 
the Employee is terminated for any reason, then, commencing with the termination date and continuing until the fifth anniversary of such date, the 
Employee shall (a) not communicate, divulge or make available to any Person (other than the Company and its Affiliates) any such Confidential 
Information, except with the prior written consent of the Company or as may be required by law or legal process, and (b) deliver promptly to the 
Company upon its written request any Confidential Information in his possession, including any duplicates thereof and any notes or other records 
the Employee has prepared with respect thereto, provided that Employee need not deliver to the Company, and may retain, one copy of any 
personal diaries, calendars, or personal notes of correspondence.  If the provisions of any applicable law or the order of any court would require the 
Employee to disclose or otherwise make available any Confidential Information to a governmental authority or to any other third party, the 
Employee shall give the Company, unless it is unlawful to do so, prompt prior written notice of such required disclosure and an opportunity to 
contest the requirement of such disclosure or apply for a protective order with respect to such Confidential Information by appropriate proceedings.  
   

4.2            Noncompetition; Nonsolicitation; Nondisparagement .  (a)  The Employee agrees that, during the term of this Agreement and 



for a period following the termination date of two years if the Employee’s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause or by the 
Employee without Good Reason or one year if the Employee’s employment is terminated for any other reason, the Employee will not, directly or 
indirectly, in any capacity whatsoever, either on the Employee’s own behalf or on behalf of any other Person with whom the Employee may be 
employed or otherwise associated:  
   

(i)           engage or invest in, own, manage, operate, finance, control, acquire an interest in, be employed by, render 
services to, act as an agent on behalf of, or otherwise in any way participate in, associate with or allow his skill, knowledge, experience or 
reputation to be used by (whether as a proprietor, partner, stockholder, member, director, officer, employee, joint venturer, investor, 
consultant, agent, sales representative, broker or other participant) any Person engaged in or planning to become engaged in the Business 
within any of the jurisdictions listed on Appendix A attached hereto; provided, however , that the Employee may own passive investments 
in not more than 1% of the outstanding securities of any Person engaged in such Business (but without otherwise participating in such 
similar business) if such securities are registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;  

   
(ii)           contact any customer of the Company or its Affiliates to solicit, divert or entice away the business of such 

customer, or otherwise disrupt the relationship between such customer and the Company or its Affiliates;  
   

(iii)           solicit, induce, influence or attempt to influence any supplier, lessor, lessee, licensor, partner, joint venturer, 
potential acquiree or any other person who has a business relationship with the Company or its Affiliates, or who on the termination date is 
engaged in discussions or negotiations to enter into a business relationship with the Company or its Affiliates, to discontinue, reduce or 
limit the extent of such relationship with the Company or any of its Affiliates;  

   
(iv)           make contact with any employee of the Company or its Affiliates for the purpose of soliciting such employee 

for hire, whether as an employee, independent contractor, consultant or otherwise, or otherwise disrupting such employee’s relationship 
with the Company or its Affiliates; or  

   
(v)           make any statement or disclose any information to any customers, suppliers, lenders, lessors, licensees, other 

employees of the Company or its Affiliates or others that is defamatory or derogatory with respect to the business, operations, management 
or other employees of the Company or its Affiliates, or take any other action (excluding making truthful, non-defamatory statements in 
good faith that do not violate any other provision of this Agreement) that could reasonably be expected to injure the Company in its 
business relationships with any of the foregoing parties or result in any other detrimental effect on the Company or its Affiliates.  

   
(b)           The Employee agrees that: (i) the covenants and agreements set forth in this Article IV are reasonable both in scope of 

geographical area and duration, (ii) the Company would not have entered into this Agreement but for such covenants of the Employee, (iii) such 
covenants have been made as a result of arm-length bargaining in order to induce the Company to enter into this Agreement, and (iv) such 
covenants and agreements are reasonable and necessary for the protection of the Confidential Information, assets, goodwill and business of the 
Company.  To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Employee covenants and agrees not to institute, maintain, prosecute or in any way aid in 
the institution, maintenance or prosecution of any lawsuit, action, claim, arbitration or other proceeding against the Company or any of its Affiliates 
with respect to the enforceability of the covenants contained in this Article IV and the Employee hereby irrevocably waives all defenses otherwise 
available to the Employee with respect to the strict enforcement of such covenants and agreements by the Company.  
   

4.3            Injunctive Relief; Forfeiture of Future Payments and Benefits; Other Remedies .  The Employee acknowledges that a 
breach by the Employee of Sections 4.1 or 4.2 herein would cause immediate and irreparable harm to the Company for which an adequate monetary 
remedy does not exist; hence, the Employee agrees that, in the event of a breach or threatened breach by the Employee of the provisions of Sections 
4.1 or 4.2 herein during or after the effective date of the Employee’s termination, the Company shall be entitled to injunctive relief restraining the 
Employee from such violation without the necessity of proof of actual damage or the posting of any bond, except as required by non-waivable, 
applicable law.  Nothing herein, however, shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other remedy at law or in equity to 
which the Company may be entitled under applicable law in the event of a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by the Employee, 
including without limitation the recovery of damages, costs or expenses, such as reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Company as a result of 
any such breach or threatened breach.  In addition to the foregoing remedies, the Company shall have the right upon the occurrence of any breach of 
any nondisclosure, noncompetition or nonsolicitation covenant contained in this Article IV, to cancel any unpaid severance payments, salary, 
bonus, commissions or reimbursements otherwise outstanding at the termination date, including the suspension, reduction or elimination of 
payments and benefits under Article III.  The Employee acknowledges that any such suspension, reduction or elimination of payments would not 
constitute, and should not be characterized as, liquidated damages.  
   

4.4            Governing Law of this Article IV; Consent to Jurisdiction .  Any dispute regarding the reasonableness of the covenants and 
agreements set forth in this Article IV or the territorial scope or duration thereof or the remedies available to the Company upon any breach of such 
covenants and agreements, shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Louisiana.  The parties agree that it is 
their mutual intent that the provisions of this Agreement be enforced to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law, whether now or hereafter 
in effect, and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the parties waive any provision of applicable law that would render any provision of Article 
IV invalid or unenforceable.  
   

ARTICLE V  
MISCELLANEOUS  

   
5.1            Binding Effect; Successors .  

   
(a)           This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and its successors or assigns, but the 

Company may assign this Agreement only (i) to an Affiliate or (ii) pursuant to a merger or consolidation in which the Company is not the 
continuing entity, or the sale or liquidation of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, provided that the assignee or transferee is the 
successor to all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and such assignee or transferee assumes the liabilities, obligations and duties of the 



Company under this Agreement, either contractually on the terms specified below or as a matter of law.  
   

(b)           This Agreement is personal to the Employee and shall not be assignable by the Employee without the consent of the 
Company (there being no obligation to give such consent) other than such rights or benefits as are transferred by will or the laws of descent and 
distribution, which shall inure to the benefit of the Employee’s legal representatives.  
   

(c)           The Company shall require any successor to or assignee of (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, share exchange, 
merger, consolidation or otherwise) all or substantially all of the assets or businesses of the Company (i) to assume unconditionally and expressly 
this Agreement and (ii) to agree to perform or to cause to be performed all of the obligations under this Agreement in the same manner and to the 
same extent as would have been required of the Company had no assignment or succession occurred.  
   

(d)           The Company shall also require all entities that control or that after the transaction will control (directly or indirectly) 
the Company or any such successor or assignee to agree to cause to be performed all of the obligations under this Agreement.  
   

(e)           The obligations of the Company and the Employee which by their nature may require either partial or total performance 
after the expiration of the term of the Agreement shall survive such expiration.  
   

5.2            Notices.   All notices hereunder must be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given upon receipt of delivery by: (a) hand 
(against a receipt therefor), (b) certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, (c) a nationally recognized overnight courier 
service or (d) telecopy transmission with confirmation of delivery.  All such notices must be addressed as follows:  
   
 

If to the Company, to:  
   

CenturyLink, Inc.  
100 CenturyLink Drive  
Monroe, Louisiana 71203  
Attn:  General Counsel  

   
If to the Employee, to:  

   
{Insert name and address}  

   
or such other address as to which any party hereto may have notified the other in writing.  
   

5.3            Governing Law.   This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with and governed by the internal laws of the 
State of Louisiana without regard to principles of conflict of laws.  
   

5.4            Withholding.   The Employee agrees that the Company has the right to withhold, from the amounts payable pursuant to this 
Agreement, all amounts required to be withheld under applicable income or employment tax laws, or as otherwise stated in documents granting 
rights that are affected by this Agreement.  
   

5.5            Amendment and Compliance with Law.   No provision of this Agreement may be modified or amended except by an 
instrument in writing signed by both parties.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, it is the intention of the parties to this 
Agreement that no payment or entitlement pursuant to this Agreement will give rise to any adverse tax consequences to the Employee under Code 
Section 409A and Treasury Regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, including those issued after the date hereof (collectively, 
“ Section 409A ”). This Agreement and any amendments hereto shall be interpreted and administered to that end and (i) to the maximum extent 
permitted by law, no effect shall be given to any provision herein, any amendment hereto or any action taken hereunder in a manner that reasonably 
could be expected to give rise to adverse tax consequences under Section 409A and (ii) the parties shall take any corrective action reasonably within 
their control that are necessary to avoid such adverse tax consequences.  
   

5.6            Severability.   If any term or provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall at any 
time or to any extent be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect as written, the Employee and the Company intend for any court construing 
this Agreement to modify or limit such provision so as to render it valid and enforceable to the fullest extent allowed by law.  Any such provision 
that is not susceptible of such reformation shall be ignored so as to not affect any other term or provision hereof, and the remainder of this 
Agreement, or the application of such term or provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.  
   

5.7            Waiver of Breach.   Except as expressly provided herein to the contrary, the failure by any party to enforce any of its rights 
hereunder shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such rights, unless such waiver is an express written waiver.  The waiver by either party of a breach 
of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach thereof.  
   

5.8            Remedies Not Exclusive.   No remedy specified herein shall be deemed to be such party’s exclusive remedy, and accordingly, 
in addition to all of the rights and remedies provided for in this Agreement, the parties shall have all other rights and remedies provided to them by 
applicable law, rule or regulation, including without limitation the right to claim interest with respect to any payment not timely made hereunder.  
   

5.9            Company’s Reservation of Rights.   The Employee acknowledges and understands that (i) the Employee is employed at will 
by either the Company or one of its Affiliates (the “ Employer ”), (ii) the Employee serves at the pleasure of the board of directors of the Employer, 
and (iii) the Employer has the right at any time to terminate the Employee’s status as an employee, or to change or diminish his status during the 
Employment Term, subject to the rights of the Employee to claim the benefits conferred by this Agreement.  Notwithstanding any other provisions 



of this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall not entitle the Employee or his legal representatives to any severance or other 
benefits of any kind prior to a Change of Control or to any such benefits if Employee is not employed by the Company or one of its Affiliates on the 
date of a Change of Control, except in each case for those rights afforded under Section 3.9.  
   

5.10            Non-exclusivity of Rights.   Subject to Section 5.9, nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit the Employee’s 
continuing or future participation in any plan, program, policy or practice provided by the Company or any of its Affiliates and for which the 
Employee may qualify, nor shall anything herein limit or otherwise restrict such rights as the Employee may have under any contract or agreement 
with the Company or any of its Affiliates.  
   

5.11            Demand for Benefits.   Unless otherwise provided herein, the payment or payments due hereunder shall be paid to the 
Employee without the need for demand, and to a beneficiary upon the receipt of the beneficiary’s address and social security number.  In all such 
cases, the Employee or beneficiary shall provide all required tax withholding information or forms upon the Company’s request.  Nevertheless, the 
Employee or a Person claiming to be a beneficiary who claims entitlement to a benefit can file a claim for benefits hereunder with the 
Company.  Unless otherwise provided herein, the Company shall accept or reject the claim within ten business days of its receipt.  If the claim is 
denied, the Company shall give the reason for denial in a written notice that refers to the provision of this Agreement that forms the basis of the 
denial.  If any additional information or material is necessary to perfect the claim, the Company will identify these items in writing and explain why 
such additional information is necessary.  
   

5.12            Authority.   The Company represents and warrants that (i) its execution and delivery of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the Board and (ii) no other corporate proceedings are necessary to authorize the Company’s execution, delivery and performance 
of  this Agreement.  
   

5.13            Counterparts.   This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an 
original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  
   

5.14            Interpretation.   Any reference to any section of the Code or the Treasury Regulations shall be deemed to also refer to any 
successor provisions thereto.  
   

5.15            The Employee’s Acknowledgment .  The Employee represents to the Company that he has read and understands, and agrees 
to be bound by, each of the terms of this Agreement, including Article IV.  
   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Employee have caused this Change of Control Agreement to be executed as of the 
Agreement Date.  
   
   

   
   
   
   

  CENTURYLINK , INC.  
    
  By: ____________________________  
       Glen F. Post, III  
       President and Chief Executive Officer  
    
    
  EMPLOYEE:  

   
  _____________________________  

                     {insert name}  

  
  



   
   

Appendix A 
   

PROHIBITED TERRITORIES  
   
 
   

 

   
   

   

  

1.  The following parishes in the state of Louisiana:  

Acadia  Madison  
Allen  Morehouse  
Ascension  Natchitoches  
Assumption  Orleans  
Avoyelles  Ouachita  
Beauregard  Plaquemines  
Bienville  Pointe Coupee  
Bossier  Rapides  
Caddo  Red River  
Calcasieu  Richland  
Caldwell  Sabine  
Cameron  St. Bernard  
Catahoula  St. Charles  
Claiborne  St. Helena  
Concordia  St. James  
DeSoto  St. John the Baptist  
East Baton Rouge  St. Landry  
East Carroll  St. Martin  
East Feliciana  St. Mary  
Evangeline  St. Tammany  
Franklin  Tangipahoa  
Grant  Tensas  
Iberia  Terrebonne  
Iberville  Union  
Jackson  Vermillion  
Jefferson  Vernon  
Jefferson Davis  Washington  
Lafayette  Webster  
Lafourche  West Baton Rouge  
LaSalle  West Carroll  
Lincoln  West Feliciana  
Livingston  Winn  

2.  Each other state and each foreign country in which, as of the applicable date, the Company or any of its Affiliates is licensed to provide 
communications services or to own and operate facilities providing such services.  



Exhibit 10.14(d) 
   

December 15, 2010  
   
Glen F. Post, III  
Chief Executive Officer  
CenturyLink, Inc.  
100 CenturyLink Drive  
Monroe, LA 71203  
 

 
Dear Glen,  
   

On July 22, 2010, I notified you that December 31, 2010 would be my last date of employment under my Employment Agreement.  For 
the tax and other reasons we have discussed since then, my last date of employment will be December 15, 2010.  This letter agreement, which 
supersedes our July 22, 2010 letter agreement in its entirety, sets forth our agreement regarding the termination of my services.  
   

We agree as follows:  
   

   

   

   
I agree to provide to you the release of claims contemplated by Section 4.04(b) of my Employment Agreement within the time frame 

specified in such section.  In addition, we each agree that reasonably promptly following December 15, 2010, we each will execute and deliver to 
the other (i) any other releases or documents required under the Employment Agreement, and (ii) such other instruments as may reasonably be 
requested by the other.  
   

Please sign below, acknowledging the adequacy of this instrument under the Employment Agreement and our mutual agreement for 
December 15, 2010 to serve as the Termination Date thereunder on the terms and subject to the conditions specified above.  
   

 
Agreed and accepted as of the  
date of this letter agreement:  
 
 
CENTURYLINK, INC.  
 
 
By:   /s/ Glen F. Post, III                                                                           
           Glen F. Post, III  
           Chief Executive Officer and President  
 
EMBARQ CORPORATION  
 

RE:  Employment Agreement dated March 3, 2008 between Embarq Corporation (“Embarq”) and Thomas A. Gerke (“Executive”), as amended 
October 26, 2008 by Amendment to Employment Agreement (“Amendment No. 1”) among Embarq, Executive and CenturyTel, Inc. 
(“CenturyLink”), as amended December 20, 2008 by Amendment 2008-2 to the Employment Agreement between Embarq and Executive 
(collectively the “Employment Agreement” )  

   1.  December 15, 2010 will serve as (i) the Termination Date under my Employment Agreement, (ii) my last day of employment for any 
payments under my Employment Agreement or any other programs or plans of CenturyLink or its subsidiaries that are governed by 
Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and (iii) my last day as a member of the Board of Directors of CenturyLink.  I 
will not perform any services on behalf of CenturyLink or its subsidiaries after the Termination Date.  This letter agreement 
constitutes timely Notice of the CIC Good Reason contemplated by Section 3 of Amendment No. 1.  

   2.  In exchange for agreeing to change my Termination Date, you agree that between December 16, 2012 and December 31, 2012, I will 
receive, as additional severance pay, all payments of CIC Benefits as described in Section 4.02 of my Employment Agreement that I 
would have received if I remained an executive officer of CenturyLink through December 31, 2010, all of which will be paid in the 
same amounts, at the same times and in the same manner as would have applied if I remained employed and in office through 
December 31, 2010.  

   3.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 1 above, for purposes of determining my annual bonus, my tenure of service as an employee 
or director, the vesting of my equity grants, and all other benefits, accruals or payments under the benefit plans and programs of 
CenturyLink and its wholly-owned subsidiaries applicable to me as of December 15, 2010, I will be deemed to have remained an 
executive officer and director of CenturyLink through December 31, 2010.  Thus, for example, my annual bonus for the portion of my 
severance period beginning on December 16, 2010 and ending on December 31, 2010, will be calculated as though I had remained an 
employee and executive officer of CenturyLink during that time, rather than calculated at the “Capped Incentive Payout” rate specified 
in my Employment Agreement.  

  Very trouly yours,  
   

  /s/ Tom Gerke          
  Tom Gerke  
    



 
By: /s/ Glen F. Post, III                                                                           
           Glen F. Post, III  
           Chief Executive Officer and President  



Exhibit 10.14(o) 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO  
THE EMBARQ SUPPLEMENTAL EXECUTIVE  

RETIREMENT PLAN  
 

WHEREAS , Embarq Corporation (the “Company”) maintains the Embarq Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the “Plan”), which 
was most recently restated effective January 1, 2009;  
 

WHEREAS , the Company desires to freeze the Plan effective January 1, 2011 in connection with the amendment to the Embarq 
Retirement Pension Plan (the “Retirement Pension Plan”) freezing the benefit accruals thereunder as of December 31, 2010;  
 

WHEREAS , the Company reserved the right to amend the Plan in Section 8.9 of the Plan;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE , the Plan is amended effective as of the dates specified below, as follows:  
 
   
I.  
   

Effective January 1, 2010, the definition of “Committee” in Section 2.1, Definitions , is amended to read as follows:  
 

“Committee” means the CenturyLink Retirement Committee.  
 

II.  
   

Effective January 1, 2011, Section 3, Participation , is amended by adding a new sentence at the end thereof to read as follows:  
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective January 1, 2011, no employee shall become a covered employee and participate in the Plan if his 
employment with the Employer began after December 31, 2010.  

 
   

III.  
   

Effective January 1, 2011, Section 4.1, Computation of Benefit , is amended by adding a new paragraph at the end thereof to read 
as follows:  
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in accordance with Section 3.12 of the Retirement Pension Plan (pursuant to which the Retirement 
Allowance under the Retirement Pension Plan is frozen as of December 31, 2010), the benefits under the Plan, including any Enhanced 
Benefit, shall be frozen at the level accrued as of December 31, 2010, and shall not increase after such date.  Accordingly, any service, 
compensation, or severance pay after December 31, 2010, shall be disregarded when computing a Participant’s benefit under this Section 
4.1, or any Enhanced Benefit.  However, service shall continue to be counted for the purpose of determining vesting or eligibility for 
retirement, early retirement, and other features under the Plan or the Retirement Pension Plan, the availability of which are dependent on a 
Participant’s service.  

 
   

IV.  
   

Effective January 1, 2010, Sections 7.1 and 7.2 of the Plan are amended and restated to read as follows:  
 

 

 
V.  

   
Effective January 1, 2010, Sections 7.3 through 7.10 are deleted, and the remaining Sections 7.11 through 7.13 are renumbered 

accordingly.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has executed this amendment on this 27th day of December, 2010.  
   
   

   7.1  Amendment .  The Board shall have the authority to amend and to terminate the Plan.  

   7.2  Administration and Interpretation .  The Plan shall be administered by the Committee.  The Committee shall have full power and 
authority to interpret and administer the Plan and, subject to the provisions herein set forth, to prescribe, amend and rescind rules 
and regulations and make all other determinations necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan.  The decision of the 
Committee relating to any question concerning or involving the interpretation or administration of the Plan shall be final and 
conclusive.  

  EMBARQ CORPORATION  
    
    
  By :/s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  Name:   R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      



  Title:   EVP, CFO and Assistant Secretary  
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CenturyLink, Inc.  
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS  

(UNAUDITED)  
   
   

    Year ended December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008    
    (Dollars in thousands)    
                    
Net income before extraordinary item    $ 947,705       511,254       365,732   
Income taxes      582,951       301,881       194,357   
                          
Pre-tax income before extraordinary item      1,530,656       813,135       560,089   
                          
Adjustments to earnings:                          
        Fixed charges      557,497       370,433       202,463   
        Preferred stock dividends      (19 )     (19 )     (246 )   
        Gross earnings from unconsolidated cellular partnership      (16,369 )     (19,087 )     (12,045 ) 
        Distributed earnings from unconsolidated cellular partnership      16,029       20,100       15,960   
                          
Earnings, as adjusted    $ 2,087,794       1,184,562       766,221   

                          
Fixed charges:                          
        Interest expense    $ 557,478       370,414       202,217   
        Preferred stock dividends (pre-tax)      19       19       246   
              Total fixed charges    $ 557,497       370,433       202,463   

                          
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred stock dividends      3.74       3.20       3.78   



    Exhibit 21 
CENTURYLINK, INC.        

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT        
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2010        

        
    State of      
    incorporation      
Subsidiary  or   formation      
        
Actel, LLC  Delaware      
Carolina Telephone and Telegraph Company LLC  North Carolina      
Centel Capital Corporation  Delaware      
Centel Corporation  Kansas      
Centel Directories LLC  Delaware      
Centel SPE LLC  Delaware      
Centel-Texas, Inc.  Texas      
Central Telephone Company  Delaware      
Central Telephone Company of Texas  Texas      
Central Telephone Company of Virginia  Virginia      
CenturyLink Sales Solutions, Inc. Delaware     
Century Marketing Solutions, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Acquisitions, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Arkansas Holdings, Inc.  Arkansas      
CenturyTel Broadband Services, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Broadband Wireless, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Fiber Company II, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Holdings Alabama, Inc.  Alabama      
CenturyTel Holdings Missouri, Inc.  Missouri      
CenturyTel Holdings, Inc.  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Investments of Texas, Inc.  Delaware      
CenturyTel Investments, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Long Distance, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Midwest - Michigan, Inc.  Michigan      
CenturyTel of Adamsville, Inc.  Tennessee      
CenturyTel of Alabama, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Arkansas, Inc.  Arkansas      
CenturyTel of Central Arkansas, LLC  Arkansas      
CenturyTel of Central Indiana, Inc.  Indiana      
CenturyTel of Central Louisiana, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Central Wisconsin, LLC  Delaware      
CenturyTel of Chatham, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Chester, Inc.  Iowa      
CenturyTel of Claiborne, Inc.  Tennessee      
CenturyTel of Colorado, Inc.  Colorado      
CenturyTel of Cowiche, Inc.  Washington      
CenturyTel of Eagle, Inc.  Colorado      
CenturyTel of East Louisiana, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Eastern Oregon, Inc.  Oregon      
CenturyTel of Evangeline, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Fairwater-Brandon-Alto, LLC  Delaware      
CenturyTel of Forestville, LLC  Delaware      
CenturyTel of Idaho, Inc.  Delaware      
CenturyTel of Inter Island, Inc.  Washington      
CenturyTel of Lake Dallas, Inc.  Texas      
CenturyTel of Larsen-Readfield, LLC  Delaware      
CenturyTel of Michigan, Inc.  Michigan      
CenturyTel of Minnesota, Inc.  Minnesota      
CenturyTel of Missouri, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Monroe County, LLC  Wisconsin      
CenturyTel of Montana, Inc.  Oregon      
CenturyTel of Mountain Home, Inc.  Arkansas      
CenturyTel of North Louisiana, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of North Mississippi, Inc.  Mississippi      
CenturyTel of Northern Michigan, Inc.  Michigan      
CenturyTel of Northern Wisconsin, LLC  Delaware      
CenturyTel of Northwest Arkansas, LLC  Delaware      
CenturyTel of Northwest Louisiana, Inc.  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Northwest Wisconsin, LLC  Delaware      
CenturyTel of Odon, Inc.  Indiana      
CenturyTel of Ohio, Inc.  Ohio      



CenturyTel of Ooltewah-Collegedale, Inc.  Tennessee      
CenturyTel of Oregon, Inc.  Oregon      
CenturyTel of Port Aransas, Inc.  Texas      
CenturyTel of Postville, Inc.  Iowa      
CenturyTel of Redfield, Inc.  Arkansas      
CenturyTel of Ringgold, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of San Marcos, Inc.  Texas      
CenturyTel of South Arkansas, Inc.  Arkansas      
CenturyTel of Southeast Louisiana, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Southern Wisconsin, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Southwest Louisiana, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of the Gem State, Inc.  Idaho      
CenturyTel of the Midwest-Kendall, LLC  Delaware      
CenturyTel of the Midwest-Wisconsin, LLC  Delaware      
CenturyTel of the Northwest, Inc.  Washington      
CenturyTel of the Southwest, Inc.  New Mexico      
CenturyTel of Upper Michigan, Inc.  Michigan      
CenturyTel of Washington, Inc.  Washington      
CenturyTel of Wisconsin, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel of Wyoming, Inc.  Wyoming      
CenturyTel Security Systems Holding Company, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Service Group, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Solutions, LLC  Louisiana      
CenturyTel Supply Group, Inc.  Louisiana      
CenturyTel TeleVideo, Inc.  Louisiana      
CenturyTel/Teleview of Wisconsin, Inc.  Wisconsin      
Coastal Long Distance Services, LLC  Georgia      
Coastal Utilities, Inc.  Georgia      
Embarq Capital Corporation  Delaware      
Embarq Communications of Virginia, Inc.  Virginia      
Embarq Communications, Inc.  Delaware      
Embarq Corporation  Delaware      
Embarq Directory Trademark Company, LLC  Delaware      
Embarq Florida, Inc.  Florida      
Embarq Holdings Company LLC  Delaware      
Embarq Interactive Holdings LLC  Delaware      
Embarq Interactive Markets LLC  Delaware      
Embarq Management Company  Delaware      
Embarq Mid-Atlantic Management Services Company  North Carolina      
Embarq Midwest Management Services Company  Kansas      
Embarq Minnesota, Inc.  Minnesota      
Embarq Missouri, Inc.  Missouri      
Embarq Network Company LLC  Delaware      
Embarq Payphone Services, Inc.  Florida      
Embarq Risk (Bermuda) Limited  Bermuda      
Embarq, Inc.  Kansas      
EQ Central Texas Equipment LLC  Texas      
EQ Equipment Leasing, Inc.   Delaware      
EQ Management Equipment LP  Nevada      
EQ United Texas Equipment LLC  Texas      
Gallatin River Communications, LLC  Delaware      
Gulf Communications, LLC  Delaware      
Gulf Long Distance, LLC  Alabama      
Gulf Telephone Company  Alabama      
Madison River Communications Corp.  Delaware      
Madison River Communications, LLC  Delaware      
Madison River Long Distance Solutions, LLC  Delaware      
Mebtel Long Distance Solutions, LLC  North Carolina      
Mebtel, Inc.  North Carolina      
NOCUTS, Inc.  Pennsylvania      
Perry Protection Services, Inc.  Florida      
SC Eight Company  Kansas      
SC Five Company  Kansas      
SC Four Company  Kansas      
SC One Company  Kansas      
SC Seven Company  Kansas      
SC Six Company  Kansas      
SC Three Company  Kansas      
SC Two Company  Kansas      
Spectra Communications Group, LLC  Delaware      



 

Telcon, Inc.  Texas      
Telephone USA of Wisconsin, LLC  Delaware      
The Winter Park Telephone Company  Florida      
United Telephone Company of Eastern Kansas  Delaware      
United Telephone Company of Florida  Florida      
United Telephone Company of Indiana, Inc.  Indiana      
United Telephone Company of Kansas  Kansas      
United Telephone Company of New Jersey, Inc.  New Jersey      
United Telephone Company of Ohio  Ohio      
United Telephone Company of Pennsylvania LLC, The  Pennsylvania      
United Telephone Company of Southcentral Kansas  Arkansas      
United Telephone Company of Texas, Inc.  Texas      
United Telephone Company of the Carolinas LLC  South Carolina      
United Telephone Company of the Northwest  Oregon      
United Telephone Company of the West  Delaware      
United Telephone Southeast LLC  Virginia      
United Teleservices, Inc.  Kansas      
Valley Network Partnership  Virginia      
Vista-United Telecommunications   Florida      
        
        
      Certain of the Company's smaller subsidiaries have been intentionally omitted from this exhibit  
pursuant to rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.      
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
   
   
 
   
   
The Board of Directors  
CenturyLink, Inc.:  
   
We consent to incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (No. 333-165607 and No. 333-157188) on Form S-3, the Registration 
Statements (No. 33-60061, No. 333-160391, No. 333-37148, No. 333-60806, No. 333-150157, No. 333-124854 and No. 333-150188) on Form S-8, 
and the Registration Statements (No. 33-48956, No. 333-17015, No. 333-167339 and No. 333-155521) on Form S-4 of CenturyLink, Inc. of our 
reports dated March 1, 2011, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of CenturyLink, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows, and stockholders’ equity for each of the years in the 
three-year period ended December 31, 2010, and related financial statement schedule, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2010, which reports appear in the December 31, 2010 annual report on Form 10-K of CenturyLink, Inc.  
   
   
   
   
   
 
   
   
 
   
   
/s/ KPMG LLP  
   
March 1, 2011  
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CERTIFICATIONS  
 
I, Glen F. Post, III, Chief Executive Officer and President, certify that:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

1  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of CenturyLink, Inc.;  
     
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

   a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

  b)  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

   c)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and  

   d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter of 2010) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:  

   a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

   b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Date:  March 1, 2011   /s/ Glen F. Post, III          
  Glen F. Post, III  
  Chief Executive Officer  
     and President  
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CERTIFICATIONS  

 
I, R. Stewart Ewing, Jr., Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, certify that:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of CenturyLink, Inc.;  
     
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

   a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   b)  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

   c)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and  

   d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter of 2010) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:  

   a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

   b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Date:  March 1, 2011   /s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.      
  R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  
  Executive Vice President and  
     Chief Financial Officer  
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CenturyLink, Inc.  
 

March 1, 2011  
 
 
   
   
   
Securities and Exchange Commission  
100 F Street, N.E.  
Washington, D.C. 20549  
 

Re:          CenturyLink, Inc.  
Certification of Contents of Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2010  
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

 
Ladies and Gentlemen:  
 

The undersigned, acting in their capacities as the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of CenturyLink, Inc. (the 
“Company”), certify that the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13
(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and that the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the 
financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods covered by such report.  
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the 
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  
 
Very truly yours,  
 

 

 /s/ Glen F. Post, III                         /s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.              
Glen F. Post, III  R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  
Chief Executive Officer  Executive Vice President and  
  and President    Chief Financial Officer  
    


